

REPORT

17 May 2019

A GAP ANALYSIS ON STANDARDS FOR ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE: A GUIDE

PROJECT PARTNERS







TABLE OF CONTENTS

REPOR	RTING STANDARDS FOR ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE	
A GUI	DE FOR KENYA	1
l.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	SUMMARY OF STANDARDS	1
Env	vironment	1
Soc	cial	2
Go	vernance	3
ENVIR	ONMENT	3
OBSE	RVATIONS ON STANDARDS IN KENYA	3
A.	CURRENT INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL TOPICS AND STANDARDS	4
1.	Energy consumption within the organisation	5
2.	Energy consumption outside of the organisation	
3.	Energy intensity	5
4.	Reduction in Energy Consumption (Energy Conservation)	6
5.	Reduction in energy requirements of products and services	9
6	- 10. Water and Effluents	10
11.	Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to, protected areas or area biodiversity value outside protected areas	
12.	Significant impacts of activities, products, and services on biodiversity	25
13.	Habitats Protected or Restored	27
14.	IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species with habitats in areas operations	•
15.	- 19. Emissions	39
20.	Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS)	49
21.	Nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulfur oxides (SOX), and other significant air emissions	52
22.	Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations	52
23.	& 24. Supplier Environmental Assessment	53
24 ((a) Waste and Land Contamination	55
SOCIA	L 60	
OBSE	RVATIONS ON THE INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL TOPICS AND STANDARDS	60
B.	CURRENT INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL (KENYAN) STANDARDS	61
LABO	UR TOPICS AND STANDARDS	61
25	Employment	61

26.	Labour / Management Relations	80
27.	Training and Education	87
28.	Diversity and Equal Opportunity	89
29.	Non-discrimination	95
HUMAI	N RIGHTS AND COMMUNITY TOPICS AND STANDARDS	97
30.	Occupational Health and Safety	97
31.	Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining	106
32.	Child Labour	108
33.	Forced or compulsory labour	111
34.	Security Practices	112
35.	Rights of indigenous people (Ogiek and Endorois people)	118
36.	Human Rights Assessment	120
37.	Local Communities	125
CUSTO	MER RESPONSIBILITY TOPICS AND STANDARDS	131
	Supplier Social Assessment	
39.	Public Policy	134
40.	Customer health and safety	135
41.	Marketing and labelling	137
42.	Customer Privacy (including losses of customer data and breaches of customer privacy)	138
43.	Socioeconomic Compliance	140
GOVER	RNANCE	144
CURRE	NT INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL TOPICS AND STANDARDS	144
OBSEF	EVATIONS ON STANDARDS IN KENYA	145
C.	GOVERNANCE STANDARDS (INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL) WITH COMPARISON ANALYS	SIS 147
44.	Governance Structure	147
45.	Delegating Authority	151
46.	Executive level responsibility for economic, environment and social topics	153
47.	Consulting stakeholders on economic, environment and social topics	154
48.	Composition of the highest governance body and its committee	157
49.	Chair of the highest governance body	162
50.	Nominating and selecting the highest governance body	163
51.	Conflicts of interest	166
52 .	Role of highest governance body in setting purpose, values and strategy	169
53.	Collective knowledge of highest governing body	170
54.	Evaluating the highest governance body's performance	171
55.	Identifying and managing economic, environmental, and social topics	173

56.	Effectiveness of risk management processes	176
57.	Review of economic, environmental and social topics	183
58.	Highest governance body's role in sustainability reporting	184
59.	Communicating critical concerns	185
60.	Nature and total number of critical concerns	187
61.	Remuneration policies	188
62.	Process for determining remuneration	191
63.	Stakeholders involvement in remuneration	193
64.	Annual total compensation ratio	195
65.	Percentage increase in annual total compensation ratio	197
66.	Operations assessed for risks related to corruption	198
67.	Communications and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures	202
68.	Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken	204
BIBLIOGRAPHY		208
Annexe 1		214

REPORTING STANDARDS FOR ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

A GUIDE FOR KENYA

I. INTRODUCTION

This report is prepared by JMiles & Co. under a terms of contract with FSD Africa to carry out a gap analysis between the international ESG reporting standards and the Kenyan ESG reporting standards. The client is the Ministry of Petroleum and Mining who is the owner of the report. The project funder is FSD Africa.

FSD Africa is a non-profit company which aims to increase prosperity, create jobs and reduce poverty by bringing about a transformation in financial markets SSA, and in the economies they serve. It provides know-how and capital to champions of change whose ideas, influence and actions will make finance more useful to African businesses and households. It is funded by the UK aid from the UK Government.

This report will (a) provide a guide to international environment, social and governance requirements when contemplating international financing; (b) identify Kenyan standards relevant to environment, social and governance, and (c) highlight the gaps in the Kenyan legislation/regulation/guidelines in Kenya.

Each section of this report sets out: (i) general observations on each section; (ii) the GRI reporting requirements, which any organisation would have to comply with in order to be competitive in obtaining international financing (in **blue**); (iii) the relevant international standards and the sources from which they are drawn (in **black**); (iv) the relevant Kenyan standards and the sources from which they are drawn (in **red**); and (v) the gap if any, between international and local standards (in **green**).

II. SUMMARY OF STANDARDS

The headline topic are summarised below and follow the same numbering throughout the report:

Environment

Energy

- 1. Energy consumption within the organisation
- 2. Energy consumption outside of the organisation
- 3. Energy intensity
- 4. Reduction of energy consumption
- 5. Reduction in energy requirements of products and services

Water and Effluents

- 6. Interactions with water as a shared resource
- 7. Management of water discharge-related impacts
- 8. Water withdrawal
- 9. Water discharge
- 10. Water consumption

Biodiversity

- 11. Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas
- 12. Significant impacts of activities, products, and services on biodiversity
- 13. Habitats protected or restored
- 14. IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species with habitats in areas affected by operations

Emissions

- 15. Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions
- 16. Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions
- 17. Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions
- 18. GHG emissions intensity
- 19. Reduction of GHG emissions
- 20. Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS)
- 21. Nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulfur oxides (SOX), and other significant air emissions

Environmental Compliance

22. Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations

Supplier Environmental Assessment

- 23. New suppliers that were screened using environmental criteria
- 24. Negative environmental impacts in the supply chain and actions taken
- 24(a) Waste and Land Contamination

Social

<u>Labour</u>

- 25. Employment
- 26. Labour / Management Relations
- 27. Training and Education
- 28. Diversity and equal opportunity
- 29. Non-discrimination

Human Rights and Community

- 30. Occupational Health & Safety
- 31. Freedom of association and collective bargaining
- 32. Child Labour
- 33. Forced or compulsory labour
- 34. Security Practices
- 35. Rights of indigenous people
- 36. Human rights assessment
- 37. Local Communities

Customer Responsibility

- 38. Supplier Social Assessment
- 39. Public Policy
- 40. Customer Health Safety
- 41. Marketing and Labelling
- 42. Customer Privacy
- 43. Socioeconomic Compliance

Governance

Governance and Risk Management

- 44. Governance Structure
- 45. Delegating Authority
- 46. Executive level responsibility for economic, environment and social topics
- 47. Consulting stakeholders on economic, environment and social topics
- 48. Composition of the highest governance body and its committee
- 49. Chair of the highest governance body
- 50. Nominating and selecting the highest governance body
- 51. Conflicts of interest
- 52. Role of highest governance body in setting purpose, values and strategy
- 53. Collective knowledge of highest governing body
- 54. Evaluating the highest governance body's performance
- 55. Identifying and managing economic, environmental, and social topics
- 56. Effectiveness of risk management processed
- 57. Review of economic, environmental and social topics
- 58. Highest governance body's role in sustainability reporting
- 59. Communicating critical concerns
- 60. Nature and total number of critical concerns
- 61. Remuneration policies
- 62. Process for determining remuneration
- 63. Stakeholders involvement in remuneration
- 64. Annual total compensation ratio
- 65. Percentage increase in annual total compensation ratio

Anti-Corruption

- 66. Operations assessed for risks related to corruption
- 67. Communications and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures
- 68. Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

ENVIRONMENT

OBSERVATIONS ON STANDARDS IN KENYA

During our research into international and local standards we would make the following observations:

- i. With regard to energy conservation, the local standards cover the broad requirements of the international standards. However, there are still gaps in providing guidance on the various initiatives that companies can undertake to improve efficiency and conserve energy. The Energy Act 2019 confers wide powers to the Ministry of Energy to implement regulations and policies dealing with the same. We anticipate given that the Energy Act 2019 came into force very recently, that regulations will be promulgated that cater for current gaps.
- ii. Local standards on water and effluents broadly meet the requirements under international standards. However, it is noteworthy that under local standards a number of the international standards on water and effluents are only applicable to companies, which are required to undertake an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) to obtain a licence or permit under the relevant legislations. In the gap analysis we have taken the application of such local standards as satisfying the relevant international standards relating to all companies (regardless of whether an EIA is applicable or not).
- iii. For protected areas, there are wide gaps between the international and local standards. The international standards provide for specific conservation obligations and restriction of activities in all protected areas. The local standards do not have uniform standards for all protected areas. We have relied on the Wildlife Conservation and Management (Activities in Protected Areas) Regulations 2015 and Wildlife Conservation and Management (Marine Protected and Marine Conservation Areas) Regulations 2016 in the Report. However, we were unable to ascertain if those regulations are already in force. The local standards do not cover areas surrounding protected areas.
- iv. With regard to biodiversity and emissions, the local standards comply with the international standards.
- v. With regard to waste and land contamination, the local standards broadly meet the requirements of international standards. However, it is noteworthy that under local standards a number of the international standards on waste are only applicable to companies which are required to undertake and Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) to obtain a licence or permit under the relevant legislation. Notwithstanding this, in the gap analysis we have taken the application of such local standards as satisfying the relevant international standards relating to all companies (regardless of whether an EIA is applicable or not). Furthermore, with regard to transboundary movement of waste, the key international standards are contained in the Basel and the Bamako Conventions. Both Conventions have been ratified by Kenya and we have used them as the applicable local standards (though they have not been fully incorporated in local law).
- vi. There is a gap in the international and local standards relating to internal policies on environmental awareness and supplier environmental analysis. While local standards encourage companies to implement policies to raise awareness of environmental issues with employees and down the supply chain, the obligation to comply with the international standard are limited to a particular class of companies (those that are regulated by the relevant legislation).

A. CURRENT INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL TOPICS AND STANDARDS

- 1. Energy consumption within the organisation
- 2. Energy consumption outside of the organisation
- 3. Energy intensity

GRI Reporting Standards (302-1)

- a. Total fuel consumption within the organisation from non-renewable sources, in joules or multiples, and including fuel types used.
- b. Total fuel consumption within the organisation from renewable sources, in joules or multiples, and including fuel types used.
- c. In joules, watt-hours or multiples, the total:
 - i. electricity consumption;
 - ii. heating consumption;
 - iii. cooling consumption; and
 - iv. steam consumption.
- d. In joules, watt-hours or multiples, the total:
 - i. electricity sold;
 - ii. heating sold;
 - iii. cooling sold; and
 - iv. steam sold.
- e. Total energy consumption within the organisation, in joules or multiples.
- f. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.
- g. Source of the conversion factors used.

GRI Reporting Standards (302-2)

- a. Energy consumption outside of the organisation, in joules or multiples.
- b. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.
- c. Source of the conversion factors used.

GRI Reporting Standards (302-3)

- Energy intensity ratio for the organisation.
- b. Organisation-specific metric (the denominator) chosen to calculate the ratio.
- c. Types of energy included in the intensity ratio; whether fuel, electricity, heating, cooling, steam, or all.

d. Whether the ratio uses energy consumption within the organisation, outside of it, or both.

Standards

All of the above standards deal with calculation of energy consumption and, as far as we are aware, there are no international standards for these items.

4. Reduction in Energy Consumption (Energy Conservation)

GRI Reporting Standards (302-4)

- a. Amount of reductions in energy consumption achieved as a direct result of conservation and efficiency initiative, in joules or multiples;
- b. Types of energy included in the reductions; whether fuel, electricity, heating, cooling, steam, or all;
- c. Basis for calculating reductions in energy consumption, such as base year or baseline, including rationale for choosing it; and
- d. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.

Standards

- (a) To implement technical and financially feasible and cost effective measures for improving efficiency in its consumption of energy. Integrate the principles of cleaner production into product design and production processes with the objective of conserving energy.¹
- Comply with the national energy efficiency and conservation programme.²
- Comply with the methods of energy utilisation for purposes of energy efficiency and conservation.³
- Furnish factual information on energy utilization for the purpose of inspection and to assure that energy conservation measures are in accordance with the standards, criteria and procedures provided in regulations.⁴
- Carry out energy audits, with energy auditors licensed by the Energy Regulatory Commission ("ERC"), at least once every three years.⁵
- Implement at least 50% of the energy audit recommendations within three years.⁶
- Submit all energy audit reports, implementation plans and energy policies.⁷

¹ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 2; See also Sessional Paper Number 4 Energy Policy of Kenya, S. 6.6.6 (1)

² Energy Act 2019, S. 187

³ Energy Act 2019, S. 188 (1)

⁴ Energy Act 2019, S. 188 (2)

⁵ The Energy (Energy Management) Regulations 2012, s. 6(1)

⁶ The Energy (Energy Management) Regulations 2012, s. 8 (1)

⁷ The Energy (Energy Management) Regulations 2012, s. 9(1); See also Sessional Paper Number 4 Energy Policy of Kenya, S. 6.6.6 (1)

- Keep records of information required under regulations under this Act at the designated factory for a minimum of five years.8
- There are sufficient local standards which provide a framework for methods of improving efficiency in energy consumption. However, the ERC is yet to implement the various programmes and standards under the new Energy Act. The current regulations dealing with energy efficiency deal with promoting energy efficiency but there is limited guidance on the types of initiatives to be undertaken to conserve energy. Companies looking for investment should comply with international standards on technical and financially feasible and cost effective measures for improving efficiency in their consumption of energy.
- (b) Implement an Energy Management Program, which should include:
 - identification, and regular measurement and reporting of principal energy flows within a facility at unit process level:
 - preparation of mass and energy balance;
 - definitions and regular reviews of energy performance targets, which are adjusted to account iii. for changes in major influencing factors on energy use;
 - Regular comparison and monitoring of energy flows with performance targets to identify where iv. action should be taken to reduce energy use; and
 - Regular reviews of targets, which may include comparison with benchmark data, to confirm that targets are set at appropriate levels.9
- Adopt and implement measures to conserve energy and improve efficiency in harnessing, processing, conversion, transportation, storage of energy, cogeneration, heat recovery and in the use of energy as shall be required.10
- Certain designated factories and building under the new Energy Act require owners to conserve energy and audit and analyse energy consumption.
- The provisions of the Energy (Energy Management) Regulation, 2012 apply with regard to preparation of audit reports.
- The current local standards comply with the requirement for preparation and content of energy management programs, in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (c) For energy-using systems, a systematic analysis of energy efficiency improvements and cost reduction opportunities:
 - Demand/Load Side Management by reducing loads on energy system;

⁸ Energy Act 2019, S. 188

⁹ Article 8 (2) (b) of the Energy Charter Protocol on Energy Efficiency and Related Environmental Aspects and IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 2

- ii. Supply side Management by:
 - a. Reducing losses in energy distribution;
 - b. Improve energy conservation efficiency;
 - c. Exploit energy purchasing opportunities; and
 - d. Use lower-carbon fuels.11
- Shall conserve energy, audit and analyses energy consumption in a building in accordance with the standards, criteria, and procedures as prescribed by regulations.¹²
- There are no local standards dealing with energy efficiency and conservation in energy-using systems. Companies seeking investment should comply with international standards on energy efficiency in energy-using systems.
- (d) In process heating, an analysis of saving opportunities should be undertaken and applied in each of the following processes:
 - Heating Load Reduction (such as, recover heat from hot process or exhaust streams to reduce system loads);
 - ii. Heat Distribution Systems (such as, use of flash steam recovery systems to reduce losses due to evaporation of high pressure condensate); and
 - iii. Energy Conversion System Efficiency Improvements (such as, regularly monitoring CO, oxygen or CO2 content of flue gases to verify that the combustion system are using the minimum practical excess air volumes).¹³
- Install and use of solar heating systems in all premises within the jurisdiction of local authorities with hot water requirements of a capacity exceeding one hundred.¹⁴
- Incorporate solar water heating systems in all new premises designs and extensions or alterations to existing premises.¹⁵
- Save for the use of solar heating, there are no local standards dealing with energy efficiency and conservation in process heating. Companies looking for investment should comply with international standards on energy conservation in process heating.
- (e) In process cooling, cost efficient measures to improve process cooling should be applied by:
 - Load Reduction (such as, ensuring adequate insulation to reduce heat gains through cooling system structure and to below-ambient temperature refrigerant pipes and vessels);

¹¹ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 2

¹² Energy Act 2019, S. 189 (1)

¹³ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 2

¹⁴ The Energy (Solar Water Heating) Regulations 2012, S. 3(1) and (2)

¹⁵ Ibid

- ii. Energy Conversion (such as, improving system design, minimizing temperature differences, elevating evaporating temperature); and
- iii. Refrigerant Compression Efficiency (such as, considering turndown efficiency when specifying chillers). 16
- Local standards are limited to restriction of use of HCFCs and CFC in cooling processes (discussed below).
- There are no local standards dealing with energy efficiency and conservation in process cooling.
 Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard on energy efficiency in cooling processes.
- (f) Reduction or efficient use of energy in compressed air systems:
 - i. Load Reduction (such as, examination of each true user of compressed air to identify the air volume needed and the pressure at which this should be delivered); and
 - ii. Distribution (monitor pressure losses in filters and replace as appropriate).¹⁷
- No local standards.
- There are no specific guidelines or local standards dealing with energy efficiency and conservation in process cooling. Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard on energy efficiency in cooling processes.
- (g) Use of energy efficient technologies, products and services. 18
- Establishment of a renewable energy feed-in-tariff system with the objective of encouraging uptake of, and stimulate innovation in, renewable energy technology¹⁹.
- The National Energy Plan shall guide the selection of appropriate technology to meet energy demands²⁰
- Requiring installation of new technology to reduce air pollution²¹
- Local standards comply with the requirements under the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- 5. Reduction in energy requirements of products and services

¹⁶ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 2

¹⁷ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 2

¹⁸ Article 6(3) of the Energy Charter Protocol on Energy Efficiency and Related Environmental Aspects

¹⁹ Section 91, Energy Act 2019

²⁰ Section 5(5)(d), Energy Act 2019

²¹ Section 78(c), Environmental Management and Co-ordination Act, 1999

GRI Reporting Standards (302-5)

- a. Reductions in energy requirements of sold products and services achieved during the reporting period, in joules or multiples.
- b. Basis for calculating reductions in energy consumption, such as base year or baseline, including the rationale for choosing it.
- c. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.

Standards

The above reporting obligations deal with calculation only, and, we have not included the international standards within this report.

6 - 10. Water and Effluents

Water is a finite and shared resource. As well as being a basic human right and fundamental to healthy ecosystems, water is vital to the functioning of the global economy. However, increasing demand and competition, climate change and pollution are putting pressure on global water resources, creating risks for business and society. This in turn generates risks and opportunities for investors.²²

Water is a national resource and is vested and held by the national government in trust for the people of Kenya.²³ The Constitution of Kenya provides that every person has the right to clean and safe water in adequate quantities and to reasonable standards of sanitation.²⁴

GRI Reporting Standards (303-1)

- a. A description of how the organisation interacts with water, including how and where water is withdrawn, consumed, and discharged, and the water-related impacts caused or contributed to, or directly linked to the organisation's activities, products or services by a business relationship (e.g., impacts caused by runoff).
- b. A description of the approach used to identify water-related impacts, including the scope of assessments, their timeframe, and any tools or methodologies used.
- c. A description of how water-related impacts are addressed, including how the organisation works with stakeholders to steward water as a shared resource, and how it engages with suppliers or customers with significant water-related impacts.
- d. An explanation of the process for setting any water-related goals and targets that are part of the organisation's management approach, and how they relate to public policy and the local context of each area with water stress.

GRI Reporting Standards (303-2)

²² https://www.unpri.org/esg-issues/environmental-issues/water

²³ Section 5 of the Water Act

²⁴ Article 43 (d)of the Constitution

- a. A description of any minimum standards set for the quality of effluent discharge, and how these minimum standards were determined, including:
 - i. how standards for facilities operating in locations with no local discharge requirements were determined;
 - ii. any internally developed water quality standards or guidelines;
 - iii. any sector-specific standards considered; and
 - iv. whether the profile of the receiving waterbody was considered.

GRI Reporting Standards (303-3)

- a. Total water withdrawal from all areas in mega litres, and a breakdown of this total by the following sources, if applicable:
 - i. Surface water;
 - ii. Groundwater:
 - iii. Seawater;
 - iv. Produced water; and
 - v. Third-party water.
- b. Total water withdrawal from all areas with water stress in megaliters, and a breakdown of this total by the following sources, if applicable:
 - i. Surface water:
 - ii. Groundwater:
 - iii. Seawater;
 - iv. Produced water; and
 - v. Third-party water, and a breakdown of this total by the withdrawal sources listed in i-iv.
- c. Breakdown of total water withdrawal from each of the sources listed in Disclosures 303-3-a and 303-3-b in megaliters by the following categories:
 - Freshwater (≤1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids);
 - ii. Other water (>1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids).
- d. Any contextual information necessary to understand how the data has been compiled, such as any standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.

GRI Reporting Standards (303-4)

- a. Total water discharge to all areas in megaliters, and a breakdown of this total by the following types of destination, if applicable:
 - i. Surface water:
 - ii. Groundwater:
 - iii. Seawater; and
 - iv. Third-party water and the volume of this total sent for use to other organizations, if applicable.

- b. A breakdown of total water discharge to all areas in megaliters by the following categories:
 - i. Freshwater (≤1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids); and
 - ii. Other water (>1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids).
- c. Total water discharge to all areas with water stress in megaliters, and a breakdown of this total by the following categories:
 - i. Freshwater (≤1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids); and
 - ii. Other water (>1,000 mg/L Total Dissolved Solids).
- d. Priority substances of concern for which discharges are treated, including:
 - i. how priority substances of concern were defined, and any international standard;
 - ii. authoritative list, or criteria used;
 - iii. the approach for setting discharge limits for priority substances of concern; and
 - iv. number of incidents of non-compliance with discharge limits.
- e. Any contextual information necessary to understand how the data have been compiled, such as any standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.

GRI Reporting Standards (303-5)

- a. Total water consumption from all areas in megaliters.
- b. Total water consumption from all areas with water stress in megaliters.
- Change in water storage in megaliters, if water storage has been identified as having a significant water-related impact.
- d. Any contextual information necessary to understand how the data have been compiled, such as any standards, methodologies, and assumptions used, including whether the information is calculated, estimated, modelled, or sourced from direct measurements, and the approach taken for this, such as the use of any sector-specific factors.

Standards

- (a) Collaborate with local communities to ensure water is responsibly governed and shared.²⁵This includes supporting and strengthening the participation of local communities in improving water and sanitation management.²⁶
- Ensuring sustainable exploitation, utilisation, management and conservation of the environment and natural resources, and ensure the equitable sharing of the accruing benefits.²⁷
- Public consultation when issuing of permits and licences concerning water use²⁸

²⁵ https://www.worldwildlife.org/initiatives/corporate-water-stewardship

²⁶ IFC Performance standards .EHS

²⁷ Article 69(2) of the Constitution of Kenya

²⁸ Section 40(4) and 87, Water Act 2016

- As a general requirement on stakeholder consultation on environmental issues:
 - With regard to projects on community land, there needs to be consultation with stakeholders and the community on environmental, social, cultural and economic impact²⁹.
 - All activities requiring an EIA, including activities under the Mining Act and Petroleum (Exploration, Development and Production) Act, need to go through consultation and public participation. Information regarding all project activities within the project cycle (planning, implementation, decommissioning) materials used, products, waste and waste disposal, economic and social benefits should be provided. The views of the public on all these activities should be incorporated in the project report³⁰.
 - The requirement for public participation is also covered in the EMCA³¹

Draft Legislation

- Build the capacity of local communities in negotiations for benefit sharing and implementation of related projects.³²
- The local standards comply with the requirements under the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (b) Water footprint analysis³³ by conducting a comprehensive water-use assessment to understand the extent to which the organisation uses water in the direct production of goods and services and across the value chain.³⁴ Organisations are also encouraged to conduct an independent verification of water use data to include independent verification by third party and international assurance standard used and level of assurance declared.³⁵
- There is no requirement to carry out a footprint analysis, however this information may be requested at the stage of conducting and Environmental Impact Assessment ("*EIA*") or an environment audit.
- Organisations carrying out activities requiring an EIA will need to provide water use data³⁶.
- Local standards comply with international standards in so far as providing independently verified water use data. As such, there is no gap in this respect. However, companies looking for investment should carry out a water footprint analysis to comply with international standards.
- (c) Collaborate with other water users and stakeholders to address shared risks, including water stressed sites and seize opportunities.³⁷

²⁹ Section 36, Community Land Act, Act No. 27 of 2016

³⁰ Guideline 2.44, Environment Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedures

³¹ Sections 3(5)(a), 37(1) and 40(2) of EMCA

³² Natural Resources (Benefit Sharing) Bill, 2018

³³ https://d2ouvy59p0dg6k.cloudfront.net/downloads/sabmiller_water_footprinting_report_final_.pdf; http://www.waterfootprint.org/

³⁴ https://ceowatermandate.org/about/the-six-commitment-areas/#1529600036526-75d9e107-daea

³⁵ EWT O7 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Date Model Methodology

³⁶ Section 40(4), Water Act 2016

³⁷ https://ceowatermandate.org/about/the-six-commitment-areas/#1529600036526-75d9e107-daea; IFC Performance Standards; EWT 25 and EWT 08, FTSE Russell RC5 Data Model Methodology

- In water stressed sites, the Water Resource Authority (WRA) can require that water users apply or reapply for a permit. Following the application, the WRA shall re-allocate the water use per applicant. The allocation shall be subject to public consultation³⁸.
- The local standards do not cover voluntary collaboration with stakeholders. Companies looking for investment should comply with international standards and have policies in place to voluntarily collaborate with other water users and stakeholder to address shared risk in stressed sites.
- (d) Develop and implement good water governance policies, setting out clear goals and guidelines for action. The policy should identify the organisation's impact on water, defining water management practices and the mitigation factors.³⁹
- There are no corresponding local standards requiring all companies to implement such policies. However, companies requiring a permit or a licence for water use will be required to undertake an EIA. The EIA will require the company to implement policies and action plans on water management practices and action plans for the project cycle⁴⁰. In addition, Strategic Environmental Assessments are required to be carried out before implementation of policies, plans and programmes⁴¹.
- Local standards only require companies to have internal policies if an EIA is required. Where
 applicable, companies looking to comply with ESG standards should develop and implement good
 water governance policies regardless of whether an EIA is required.
- (e) Set targets for processes related to water conservation and waste-water treatment.⁴²
- There are no corresponding local standards requiring all organisations to set target related to water conservation and waste-water treatment. Organisations requiring a permit or a licence for water use will be required to undertake an EIA. The EIA may require the organisation to set such targets, however there is no definitive requirement 43. Furthermore, organisations are encouraged to implement internal policies in line with local, international laws, and local strategies on water.44
- The local standards do not make the setting of targets on water conservation and waste-water treatment a requirement. Where applicable, companies looking to comply with ESG standards should set targets for processes related to water conservation and waste-water treatment.
- (f) Raise awareness of water sustainability within the organisation, suppliers and consumers.⁴⁵

39

https://d2ouvy59p0dg6k.cloudfront.net/downloads/ceo_water_mandate__guide_to_responsible_business_engagement_with_water_policy.pdf; Alliance for Water Stewardship; EWT_08 and EWT_13, FTSE Russell ESG_RC5 Data Model Methodology

https://ceowatermandate.org/about/the-six-commitment-areas/#1529600036526-75d9e107-daea; The GEMI Water Sustainability: EWT34 and EWT 35. FTSE Russell RC5 Data Model Methodology

³⁸ Section 47, Water Act 2016

⁴⁰ Section 7, Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations 2003

⁴¹ Chapter 4, NEMA – Environmental Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedure

⁴³ Section 7, Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations 2003

⁴⁴ Water Act No.43 of 2016

 $^{^{45} \, \}underline{\text{https://ceowatermandate.org/about/the-six-commitment-areas/\#1529600036526-75d9e107-daea} \; ; \; Alliance \; for \; Water \; Stewardship$

- There are no local standards requiring organisations to raise awareness of water sustainability within the organisation, supplier and consumers. However, during an EIA, an applicant is required to set programmes on internal training on environmental impact.⁴⁶
- Local standards do not address the requirement of raising awareness on water sustainability in the
 international standard. Companies looking to comply with ESG standards should have policies in
 place to raise awareness of water sustainability down the supply chain.
- (g) Monitor and communicate performance with internal and external stakeholders.⁴⁷
- There is no requirement for all organisations to monitor and communicate performance with internal and external stakeholders. Those organisations subject to an EIA are meant to put in place policies and programmes monitoring environmental issues. Furthermore, NEMA can subject an entity to an audit process which requires monitoring and stakeholder involvement.
- The local standards have no specific provisions on monitoring and communicating performance with internal and external stakeholders. This requirement is covered in the EIA process but there are no specific requirement⁴⁸. Companies looking for investment should comply with the requirement to monitor and communicate performance with internal and external stakeholders in the international standard.
- (h) Determine the volume of wastewater discharged, the types and loads of pollutants within that wastewater, the short- and long-term effects of those pollutants on receiving waterways, and the impacts of those changes on human health, human access to safe water, and ecosystem function.⁴⁹
- Obtaining an effluent discharge license before discharging any effluent from sewage treatment works industry or other point sources.⁵⁰ Point sources mean, "any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ditch, channel, conduit, tunnel, well, discrete fissure, container, rolling stock, concentrated animal feeding operation or vessel or other floating craft from which pollutants are or may be discharged." An applicant for an effluent discharge should, among others, analyse and disclose the nature and composition of effluent, maximum quantities of discharge and point of discharge.⁵¹
- A licensee is required to carry out daily effluent discharge quality and quantity monitoring and submit quarterly records to NEMA.⁵²
- The local standards meet the requirements of the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (i) Build infrastructure to treat contaminated water.⁵³

⁴⁶ NEMA, Environmental Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedure

⁴⁷ https://docs.wbcsd.org/2012/08/Water_for_Business_Interactif.pdf; IFC

⁴⁸ Chapter 3, Environmental Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedures

⁴⁹ https://ceowatermandate.org/accounting/core-functions/water-quality/; The GEMI Water Sustainability Tool; EWT 30 and EWT 31 FTSE Russel RC5 Data Model Methodology

⁵⁰ Regulation 6(a) of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁵¹ Seventh Schedule of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁵² Regulation 14 of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁵³ https://ceowatermandate.org/about/the-six-commitment-areas/#1529600036526-75d9e107-daea ; IFC Performance Standards

- Implementing conditions imposed on the effluent discharge license, such as installing water treatment plants, so as not to exceed the prescribed pollution levels.⁵⁴
- Local standards comply with requirements under the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (j) Treat contaminated water to make it safe for human consumption and aquatic life before discharge. 55
- Ensuring that there are measures in place for the receipt and handling of the effluent without causing pollution to the environment, harm to human health, damage to the sewerage system or contravening applicable laws.⁵⁶
- Implementing the conditions imposed on the effluent discharge license and also implement measures, such as installing water treatment plants, so as not to exceed the prescribed pollution levels.⁵⁷
- The local standards comply with requirements under the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (k) Develop appropriate response policy to address the organisation's source of pollution or contamination.⁵⁸
- Organisations should refrain from any act which directly or indirectly causes, or may cause immediate or subsequent water pollution⁵⁹.
- Organisations subject to an EIA, are required to put in place programmes for the reduction of pollution and contamination and appropriate mitigation measure⁶⁰.
- The local standards meet the international requirement with regard to entities that have to undertake an EIA. In order to meet international standards, all companies should comply with the international standard.
- (I) Minimise the quantity of solids generated by the water treatment process through optimising coagulation processes.⁶¹
- There are no corresponding local standards. However, this can be imposed as a requirement to permit or licence for water use and/or discharge.

⁵⁴ Regulation 4 of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁵⁵ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation; Alliance for Water Stewardship

⁵⁶Section 108 of the Water Act

⁵⁷ Regulation 4 of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁵⁸ https://ceowatermandate.org/about/the-six-commitment-areas/#1529600036526-75d9e107-daea; Alliance for Water Stewardship

⁵⁹ Regulation 4 of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁶⁰ Chapter 2, The Environmental Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedures

⁶¹ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation;

- There are local standards dealing with installing anti-pollution equipment for the treatment of waste emanating from the activities of an organisation.⁶² An anti-pollution equipment shall be determined by the best practicable means, environmentally sound practice or other prescribed guidelines.⁶³ However, these provisions do not specifically deal with the reduction of quantity of solids generated from water treatment
- The local standards do not specifically require the minimisations of solids in waste treatment. Where
 applicable, companies looking for investment should have mechanisms and processes in place to
 minimise the solids in waste treatment.
- (m) Sample water before discharge to evaluate potential adverse effects on ground water or surface water.⁶⁴
- Obtaining an effluent discharge license before discharging any effluent from sewage treatment
 works industry or other point sources.⁶⁵ A licensee is required to carry out daily effluent discharge
 quality and quantity monitoring and submit quarterly records to NEMA. The daily monitoring will
 guide an organisation on whether the discharge meets the prescribed standard and whether it has
 any adverse effects on ground water or surface water.
- Obtaining a water permit before discharging a pollutant into any water resource.⁶⁶ A water resource is defined as any ,"means any lake, pond, swamp, marsh, stream, watercourse, estuary, aquifer, artesian basin or other body of flowing or standing water, whether above or below the ground, and includes sea water and transboundary waters within the territorial jurisdiction of Kenya⁷⁶⁷
- Local standards require sampling of water only if a licence, permit or EIA is required. All companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (n) Assess potential impact on soil, groundwater, and surface water, in the context of protection, conservation and long-term sustainability of water and land resources, when land is used as part of any waste or wastewater treatment system.⁶⁸
- It is a requirement to obtain an effluent discharge license before discharging any effluent from sewage treatment works industry or other point sources⁶⁹. A licensee is required to carry out daily effluent discharge quality and quantity monitoring and submit quarterly records to NEMA.
- Conducting an environmental impact assessment and obtaining a license for any activity that is likely to have adverse impact on the environment.⁷⁰
- Local standards comply with the requirements under international standards. As such, there is no gap.

⁶² Regulation 14 (1) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Waste Management Regulations), 2006.

⁶³ Regulation 14 (2) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Waste Management Regulations), 2006

⁶⁴ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation

⁶⁵ Regulation 6(a) of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁶⁶ Section 36 (c)of the Water Act No.43 of 2016

⁶⁷ Section 2 of the Water Act No.43 of 2016

⁶⁸ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation

⁶⁹ Regulation 6(a) of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁷⁰ Regulation 6(b) of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

- (o) Special disposal of sludge if the source water contains elevated levels of toxic metals, such as arsenic, radionuclides.⁷¹
- Obtaining an effluent discharge license before discharging any effluent from sewage treatment works industry or other point sources.⁷² NEMA may impose such terms and conditions when issuing an effluent discharge license which may include special disposal of sludge.
- Local standards do not specifically require special disposal of sludge if source water contains
 elevated levels of toxic metals. Where applicable, companies should comply with this international
 standard.
- (p) Regenerate activated carbon in water treatment (e.g. by returning spent carbon to the supplier).⁷³
- No applicable local standards.
- Where applicable, companies looking for investments should comply with the requirements of the international standard.
- (q) Evaluate potential adverse effects of surface water withdrawal on the downstream ecosystems and use of appropriate environmental flow assessment to determine acceptable withdrawal rates.⁷⁴
- Conducting an EIA and obtaining a license for any activity that is likely to have adverse impact on the quantity and quality of water ⁷⁵ which includes water withdrawal. NEMA may issue an environmental impact assessment licence on such terms and conditions as may be appropriate and necessary to facilitate sustainable development and sound environmental management. ⁷⁶
- Obtaining a water permit before using water from a water resource.⁷⁷ One of the considerations for granting a permit, among others, is the likely effect of proposed water use on the water resource and on other water user which means that an organisation should evaluate potential adverse effects of surface water withdrawal.
- Local standards comply with the requirements in international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (r) Design structures related to surface water withdrawal, including dams and water intake structures, to minimise impacts on aquatic life.⁷⁸
- Obtaining approval to erect, reconstruct, place, alter, extend, remove or demolish any structure or part of any structure in, or under the river, lake, sea or wetland.⁷⁹

⁷¹ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation

⁷² Regulation 6(a) of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁷³ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation

⁷⁴ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation

⁷⁵ Regulation 6(b) of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁷⁶ Section 63 of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁷⁷ Section 36 (a) Water Act No.43 of 2016. This does not apply to use of water for domestic purposes, abstraction of water in a spring situated wholly within the boundaries of a land owner or for storage of water in or abstraction of water from a reservoir constructed for storage purposes as provided by Section 37 of the Water Act.

⁷⁸ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation

⁷⁹ Section 42 (1) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination Act

- Obtaining an environmental impact assessment license for any activity that is likely to have adverse
 impact on the quantity and quality of water ⁸⁰ which may include designing structures related to
 surface withdrawal.
- Local standards meet the requirements in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (s) Evaluate potential adverse effects of groundwater withdrawal and modify extraction rates and locations.⁸¹
- Obtaining an environmental impact assessment license before abstracting ground water or carrying out any activity, near lakes, rivers, streams, springs and wells, that is likely to have any adverse impact on the quantity and quality of water.⁸²
- Obtaining a water permit before using water from a water resource subject to the exemptions provided. 83
- Local standards meet the requirements in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (t) Mitigate water related risks by reducing, reusing, recycling, restoring and recovering water.84
- There are no corresponding local standards. However, organisations have a duty to implement environmentally sound management practices as well as comply with the prescribed pollution mitigation measures.⁸⁵
- There are no specific local standards dealing with reuse of water. Companies looking for investment should have measures in place to mitigate water related risks by reducing, reusing, recycling, restoring and recovering water.
- (u) Disclosing an organisation's water management plan (including water recycling) at the company level/site specific. This should also include disclosure on the organisation's number and/or proportion of sites with a water management plan⁸⁶.
- (v) Identifying an organisation's operations in water stressed levels regions and disclosing the number and/or proportion of facilities, assets, production, revenue in the water-stressed regions⁸⁷.
- (w) Disclosing the number of incidents of non-compliance with water quality/quantity permits, standards and regulations⁸⁸.

⁸⁰ Regulation 6(b) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁸¹ IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation

⁸² Regulation 6 (b) of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006

⁸³ Refer to fn 44

⁸⁴ file:///C:/Users/ek/Downloads/WBCSD Business%20Guide%20to%20Circular%20Water%20Management.pdf

⁸⁵ Regulation 8 of the Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations, 2006; Climate Change Act

⁸⁶ EWT 24, FTSE Russell RC5 Data Model Methodology

⁸⁷ EWT 26, FTSE Russell RC5 Data Model Methodology

⁸⁸ EWT29, FTSE Russell RC5 Data Model Methodology

- With regard to international standards (u), (v) and (w) above, all entities which are required to obtain an EIA are meant to disclose any water management plan, details relating to operations in water stressed areas and incidents of water quality and quantity permits. The disclosure shall be made to NEMA and other agencies. There is no requirement to disclose this information to other stakeholders.
- Local standards do not provide for disclosure of this information outside of the licencing and EIA process. Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.

11. Operational sites owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to, protected areas or areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas

A protected area is a clearly defined geographical space, recognised, dedicated and managed, through legal or other effective means, to achieve the long-term conservation of nature with associated ecosystem services and cultural values.

Article 8 of the Convention on Biological Diversity⁸⁹ deals with Protected Areas and requires:

- i. Regulation or management of biological resources important for the conservation of biological diversity whether within or outside protected areas, with a view to ensuring their conservation and sustainable use; and
- ii. Promotion of environmentally sound and sustainable development in areas adjacent to protected areas with a view to furthering protection of these areas.

GRI Reporting Standards (304-1)

- a. For each operational site owned, leased, managed in, or adjacent to, protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value outside protected areas, the following information:
 - i. Geographic location;
 - ii. Subsurface and underground land that may be owned, leased, or managed by the organisation;
 - iii. Position in relation to the protected area (in the area, adjacent to, or containing portions of the protected area) or the high biodiversity value area outside protected areas;
 - iv. Type of operation (office, manufacturing or production, or extractive);
 - v. Size of operational site in km2 (or another unit, if appropriate);
 - vi. Biodiversity value characterized by the attribute of the protected area or area of high biodiversity value outside the protected area (terrestrial, freshwater, or maritime ecosystem); and
 - vii. Biodiversity value characterised by listing of protected status (such as IUCN Protected Area Management Categories, Ramsar Convention, national legislation).

Standards

-

⁸⁹ United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity 1992

(a) All protected areas should aim to:

- i. conserve the composition, structure, functions and evolutionary potential of diversity;
- ii. contribute to regional conservation;
- iii. maintain diversity of landscape or habitat and of associated species and ecosystems;
- iv. be of sufficient size to ensure the integrity and long-term maintenance of the specified conservation targets or be capable of being increased to achieve this end;
- v. maintain value for which it was assigned in perpetuity;
- vi. be operating under the guidance of a management plan, and a monitoring and evaluation programme that supports adaptive management; and
- vii. possess a clear and equitable governance system. 90

All protected areas should aim where appropriate to:

- conserve significant landscape features, geomorphology and geology;
- ii. provide regulatory ecosystem services, including buffering against the impacts of climate change;
- iii. conserve natural and scenic areas of national and international significance for cultural, spiritual and scientific purposes;
- iv. deliver benefits to resident and local communities consistent with the other objectives of management;
- v. deliver recreational benefits consistent with the other objectives of management;
- vi. facilitate low-impact scientific research activities and ecological monitoring related to and consistent with the values of the protected area; and
- vii. use adaptive management strategies to improve management effectiveness and governance quality over time. ⁹¹
- The Cabinet Secretary for Tourism and Wildlife may declare an area to be a:
 - i. National park protected area;
 - ii. Marine protected area;
 - iii. Wetland protected area; and
 - iv. Zoned to have wildlife conservation and management as their land use priority⁹².
- The Cabinet Secretary of Environment may declare any area of land, sea, lake, forests or river to be a protected natural environment for the purpose of promoting and preserving specific ecological processes, natural environment systems, natural beauty or species of indigenous wildlife or the preservation of biological diversity in general⁹³
- Under local standards, protected areas are not categorised based on conservation objectives and
 principles but based on sector. There is no uniform law dealing with all protected areas in Kenya or
 specific conservation initiates which are unique to protected areas. The broad international
 standards for conservation initiatives in protected areas are covered in Management Plans⁹⁴. Local
 standards only provide for activities which are regulated in different protected areas. As such,

⁹⁰ IUCN Guidelines for Applying Protected Area Management Categories 2008

⁹¹ IUCN Guidelines for Applying Protected Area Management Categories 2008

⁹² Section 31 and Schedule 11, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

⁹³ Section 54, Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

⁹⁴ Schedule 5, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act

- companies looking for investment should comply with international standards on conservation initiatives in protected areas.
- (b) The types of activities that protected areas would normally prohibit in all sites that are part of the formal protected areas system include:
 - i. killing, taking or disturbing any endangered, threatened or otherwise legally protected native species, whether marine or terrestrial;
 - ii. disturbing or damaging the critical habitat of any endangered, threatened or otherwise legally protected native species, including removing the nest or contents of the nest of a species;
 - iii. destroying or damaging a site serving important ecosystem functions that has been designated or identified for special protection (for example, a protected water catchment area);
 - iv. removing, damaging, demolishing or excavating any part of a cultural site, natural monument, historic shipwreck or other significant cultural site inside a protected area;
 - v. entering any part of an area that is closed to that user group or individual;
 - vi. interfering with, damaging, removing or replacing any official notices or signs;
 - vii. introducing any Invasive Alien Species or exotic species;
 - viii. using explosives or poisons;
 - ix. using or having in possession any prohibited weapon, including any firearm or spear-fishing gun;
 - x. discharging toxic or hazardous substances, including but not limited to petroleum or substances made from petroleum, and household cleaners;
 - xi. landing an aircraft or driving or otherwise using a motorized vehicle in areas where doing so is prohibited, whether on land or water;
 - xii. flying an aircraft in prohibited airspace above a protected area:
 - xiii. disposing of or dumping sewage, solid waste, refuse, rubbish or litter anywhere other than in designated containers or areas;
 - xiv. damaging or defacing any physical structures inside a protected area; and
 - xv. conducting any mining exploration or exploitation activities within or directly affecting a protected area, whether terrestrial or marine. 95

-

⁹⁵ IUCN Guidelines for Protected Areas Legislation

- Section 15 of the Wildlife Conservation and Management (Marine Protected and Marine Conservation Areas) Regulations 2016 ("WCMMR"), lists activities which are prohibited in marine conservation and marine prohibited areas.
- Any activity which is likely to have adverse effects on the environment, including the seepage of toxic waste into streams, rivers, lakes and wetlands is prohibited.⁹⁶
- No person shall mine or quarry in a national park. Mining and quarrying in a national parks will only be allowed with a licence, if⁹⁷:
 - i. the area does not contain endangered or threatened species;
 - ii. the area is not a critical habitat and ecosystem wildlife;
 - iii. the area is not an important catchment area or source of springs; and
 - iv. the miner has undertaken a bond the value of the rehabilitation of the site.
- It is an offence to⁹⁸:
 - enter or resides in a national park or reserve otherwise than under licence, permit or in the course of his duty as authorized officer or a person lawfully employed in the park or reserve, as the case may be;
 - ii. set fire to any vegetation in any wildlife protected area or allows any fire lighted by himself or his servants to enter a wildlife protected area;
 - iii. carry out logging in a national park or reserve;
 - iv. clear and cultivates any land in the national park or reserve;
 - v. wilfully damage any object of geological, prehistoric, archaeological, historic, marine or other scientific interest within a wildlife protected area, or knowingly removes or attempts to remove any such object or any portion than in the course of his duty thereof from wildlife protected areas;
 - vi. convey into a protected area or is found within a protected area in possession of any firearm, ammunition, arrow, spear, snare, trap or similar device without authorization; and
 - vii. undertake any extractive activity in marine protected areas.
- Local standards on prohibited activities in protected areas are based on sector. There are gaps in the activities which are prohibited under international standards and local standards. A company

⁹⁶ Section 30, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

⁹⁷ Section 45, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

⁹⁸ Section 102, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

looking to comply with international standards should not carry out any of the prohibited activities in any designated protected area in Kenya.

- (c) Activities in Protected Areas requiring written permission are as follows:
 - i. reside on, occupy or cultivate any land or plant, or otherwise grow or harvest any crop, whether on land or sea;
 - access, explore or harvest any genetic resources;
 - iii. use or manipulate any waters within a protected area;
 - iv. take, collect, remove or alter any flora or fauna (with the exception of endangered, threatened or otherwise legally protected flora or fauna, where such actions should be prohibited, as noted above);
 - v. hunting or fishing by specific communities or groups for subsistence purposes;
 - vi. hunt or fish for sport or recreation;
 - vii. construct or destroy any building or other structure, whether on land or sea;
 - viii. undertake scientific research at the student or professional level, whether for public, private or academic purposes;
 - ix. carry on any still photography or make any film or video recording for sale or commercial use;
 - x. operate a business or solicit, sell or attempt to sell any goods or services, including tour companies and tourist businesses;
 - xi. distribute pamphlets, leaflets, announcements or other information of a commercial or community nature;
 - xii. land an aircraft on land or sea, or fly in protected airspace above a protected area;
 - xiii. engage in any charitable or fund-raising activity;
 - xiv. organize or arrange a special public event (such as a concert);
 - xv. organize or arrange a private event (such as a wedding) where the gathering is over a specified number of people (for example, 25 persons, depending on the capacity of the site); and
 - xvi. remove or excavate any earth or beach sand.99
- Section 7 of the Wildlife Conservation and Management (Activities in Protected Areas) Regulations ("WCMAPA") provides for prohibited activities in protected areas which require the special permission of the KWS.

-

⁹⁹ IUCN Guidelines for Protected Areas Legislation

- No person shall undertake research on the wildlife sector without a permit granted by the Wildlife Research and Training Institute¹⁰⁰.
- Section 8 of the WCMAPA authorises the following activities (with prior authorisation of KWS): night game viewing filming for commercial purposes; research; mining; restoration of ecosystems; infrastructure development; collecting stamps, free entry; and sport fishing in terrestrial parks.
- With regard to marine protected areas, section 7 of the WCMMR states that:
 - a. Except on a grant of permit from the KWS, no person shall be allowed to injure, damage, take, or possess any living, or cultural, marine resource whether for personal or commercial interest.
 - b. KWS may grant a permit for research in a marine protected area.
- With regard to protected wetlands, the only activities permitted are: research; eco-tourism; restoration or enhancement of wetlands.¹⁰¹
- With regard to protected wetlands, the regulated activities are: brick making; sports fishing and other
 recreational activities; cultivation; drainage; commercial exploitation of wetland resources; sewerage
 filtration; fishing using fishing gear and weirs; fishing farming and other forms of aquaculture;
 construction of roads and railways; installation of telephone lines and other communication facilities;
 burning.¹⁰²
- The Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Conservation of Biological Diversity and Resources, Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit Sharing) Regulations 2006 ("Biodiversity Regulations"), requires that in a Protected National Environment declared under the EMCA, the following activities will only be permitted with a Licence:
 - a. activities which have an adverse impact on any ecosystem;
 - b. activities which lead to the introduction of any exotic species; and
 - c. lead to unsustainable use of natural resources.
- Under local standards, activities requiring prior approval do not cover all the activities under international standards. In addition, the activities that do require prior approval are not applicable to all protected areas. Companies looking for investment should be cautious when carrying out activities in protected areas which require prior approval under international standards.

12. Significant impacts of activities, products, and services on biodiversity

GRI Reporting Standard (304-2)

 Nature of significant direct and indirect impacts on biodiversity with reference to one or more of the following:

¹⁰⁰ Section 59, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁰¹ Regulation 8, EMC (Wetlands, River Banks, Lake Shores and Sea Shore Management) Regulations, 2009

¹⁰² Schedule 2, Regulation 8, EMC (Wetlands, River Banks, Lake Shores and Sea Shore Management) Regulations, 2009

- i. Construction or use of manufacturing plants, mines, and transport infrastructure;
- ii. Pollution (introduction of substances that do not naturally occur in the habitat from point and non-point sources);
- iii. Introduction of invasive species, pests, and pathogens;
- iv. Reduction of species;
- v. Habitat conversion;
- vi. Changes in ecological processes outside the natural range of variation (such as salinity or changes in groundwater level); and
- vii. Significant direct and indirect positive and negative impacts with reference to the following: i. Species affected; ii. Extent of areas impacted; iii. Duration of impacts; iv. Reversibility or irreversibility of the impacts.

Standards

- (a) Identify processes and categories of activities that have or are likely to have significant adverse impacts on the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity, and monitor their effects. 103 Key considerations in the identification process include:
 - i. would the project potentially cause adverse impacts to habitats (e.g. modified, natural, and critical habitats) and/or ecosystems and ecosystem services?
 - ii. are any project activities proposed within or adjacent to critical habitats and/or environmentally sensitive areas, including legally protected areas (e.g. nature reserve, national park), areas proposed for protection, or recognized as such by authoritative sources and/or indigenous peoples or local communities? does the project involve changes to the use of lands and resources that may have adverse impacts on habitats, ecosystems, and/or livelihoods?
 - iii. would project activities pose risks to endangered species?
 - iv. would the project pose a risk of introducing invasive alien species?
 - v. does the project involve harvesting of natural forests, plantation development, or reforestation?
 - vi. does the project involve the production and/or harvesting of fish populations or other aquatic species?
 - vii. does the project involve significant extraction, diversion or containment of surface or ground water?
 - viii. does the project involve utilization of genetic resources? (e.g. collection and/or harvesting, commercial development)

-

¹⁰³ Article 7(c) of the Convention on Biological Diversity 1992

- ix. would the project generate potential adverse transboundary or global environmental concerns?
- x. would the project result in secondary or consequential development activities which could lead to adverse social and environmental effects, or would it generate cumulative impacts with other known existing or planned activities in the area? 104
- All policies, plans and programmes for implementation shall be subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA)¹⁰⁵.
- When applying of an EIA licence, a project report will include details *inter alia* concerning the nature of the project, potential environmental impacts and mitigation measures 106.
- If NEMA finds that the project will have a significant impact on the environment without adequate
 mitigation measures, it will require the proponent to undertake an EIA¹⁰⁷. The EIA will include the all
 the considerations at regulation 16 and 18 and Schedule 2 of the Environment (Impact Assessment
 and Audit) Regulations 2003.
- Local standards satisfy the requirements under international standards. As such, there is no gap.

13. Habitats Protected or Restored

Area Protected: "area that is protected from any harm during operational activities, and where the environment remains in its original state with a healthy and functioning ecosystem."

Area Restored: "area that was used during or affected by operational activities, and where remediation measures have either restored the environment to its original state, or to a state where it has a healthy and functioning ecosystem"

Biodiversity: "the variability among living organisms from all sources including, *inter alia*, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; this includes diversity within species, between species and of ecosystems¹⁰⁸"

GRI Reporting Standards (304-3)

- (a) Size and location of all habitat areas protected or restored, and whether the success of the restoration measure was or is approved by independent external professionals.
- (b) Whether partnerships exist with third parties to protect or restore habitat areas distinct from where the organisation has overseen and implemented restoration or protection measures.
- (c) Status of each area based on its condition at the close of the reporting period.

¹⁰⁴ UNDP Social and Environment Standards – Standard 1: Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Natural Resource Management (Guidance Note)

¹⁰⁵ Section 57A, Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

¹⁰⁶ Regulation 7, Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations, 2003

¹⁰⁸ Article 2 of the Convention on Biological Diversity 1992

(d) Standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.

Standards

- (a) In-situ conservation initiatives:
- promote the protection of ecosystems, natural habitats and the maintenance of viable populations of species in natural surroundings¹⁰⁹;
- Ensure sustainable exploitation, utilization, management and conservation of the environment and natural resources, and ensure the equitable sharing of the accruing benefits.¹¹⁰
- Proponents should have regard to management plans which are put in place to manage national parks, marine protected areas, wildlife conservancy and sanctuaries, to ensure that a project is in compliance with the relevant management policy for a particular area¹¹¹. The management plan will include the information contained in the fifth schedule of WCMA. It is an offence to wilfully and without reasonable cause to contravene an approved management plan.¹¹²
- NEMA must approve the following activities in relation to a rivers, lake, sea or wetland in Kenya:
 - a) erect, reconstruct, place, alter, extend, remove or demolish any structure or part of any structure in, or under the river, lake, sea or wetland;
 - b) excavate, drill, tunnel or disturb the river, lake, sea or wetland;
 - c) introduce any animal, whether alien or indigenous, dead or alive, in any river, lake, sea or wetland;
 - d) introduce or plant any part of a plant specimen, whether alien or indigenous, dead or alive, in any river, lake, sea or wetland;
 - e) deposit any substance in a lake, river or wetland or in, on or under its bed, if that substance would or is likely to have adverse environmental effects on the river, lake, sea or wetland;
 - f) direct or block any river, lake, sea or wetland from its natural and normal course; and
 - g) drain any lake, river, sea or wetland. 113
- NEMA shall issue guidelines and prescribe measures for the sustainable use of hill tops, hill sides and mountainous areas¹¹⁴. We are in the process of researching whether these guidelines were published.

¹⁰⁹ Article 8 (a), Convention on Biological Diversity 1992

¹¹⁰ Article 69(1). Constitution of Kenya 2010

¹¹¹ Section 44, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹¹² Section 88, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹¹³ Section 42, Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

¹¹⁴ Section 47, Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

- No person shall engage in bio-prospecting involving any wildlife resources or export from Kenya any wildlife resources for the purpose of bio-prospecting without a permit¹¹⁵
- The National Land Commission shall identify ecologically sensitive areas that are within public lands and demarcate or take any other justified action on those areas and act to prevent environmental degradation and climate change¹¹⁶.
- The local standards on the promotion and protection of ecosystems, natural habitats and the maintenance of viable populations of species, comply with the requirements in international standards. As such, there is no gap.

Forest

- Work to achieve and maintain tree cover of at least 10% of the land and area in Kenya¹¹⁷
- Plots shall not be allocated¹¹⁸:
 - i. within an important water catchment area;
 - ii. on a slope exceeding 30% inclination;
 - iii. within 30 meters on either side of a river course or wetland, spring or other water source;
 - iv. in a firebreak, road reserve, natural glade, natural forest area and an area under mature plantation.
- The Kenya Forest Service (KFS) shall only give its consent for quarrying operations in a forest area
 if:
 - i. the area does not contain rare, threatened or endangered species;
 - ii. the forest does not have cultural importance or contain sacred trees or groves;
 - iii. an EIA or audit has been carried out; or
 - iv. the forest is an important catchment area or source of springs119
- Prohibited activities in forest except under a licence or permit, include: 120
 - i. fell, cut, take, burn, injure or remove any forest produce;
 - ii. be or remain therein between the hours of 7 p.m. and 6 a.m. unless using a recognised road or footpath, or is taking part in cultural, scientific or recreational activities;
 - iii. erect any building or livestock enclosure, except where the same is allowed for a prescribed fee;

¹¹⁵ Section 22, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹¹⁶ Section 11. Land Act No. 6 of 2012

¹¹⁷ Article 69(2), Constitution of Kenya 2010

¹¹⁹ Section 46, Forest Conservation and Management Act No. 34 of 2016

¹²⁰ Section 64, Forest Conservation and Management Act No. 34 of 2016

- iv. smoke, where smoking is by notice prohibited, or kindle, carry or throw down any fire, match or other lighted material;
- v. de-pasture or allow any livestock to be therein;
- vi. clear, cultivate or break up land for cultivation or for any other purpose;
- vii. enter any part thereof which may be closed to any person;
- viii. collect any honey or beeswax, or hang on any tree or elsewhere any honey barrel or other receptacle for the purpose of collecting any honey or beeswax, or enter therein for the purpose of collecting honey and beeswax, or be therein with any equipment designed for the purpose of collecting honey or beeswax;
- ix. construct any road or path;
- x. set fire to, or assist any person to set fire to, any grass or undergrowth or any forest produce;
- xi. possess, bring or introduce any chain saw or logging tools or equipment; and damage, alter, shift, remove or interfere in any way whatsoever with any beacon, boundary mark, fence notice or notice board.
- Ensure compliance with management plans for the sustainable use of forests.¹²¹
- No person shall fell, cut, damage or remove, trade in or export any protected tree species.
- Requirement for a permit from KFS for the import or export of any forest produce.
- The local standards on *in situ* conservation initiatives in forests comply with the requirements under international standards. As such, there is no gaps.
- ii. promote environmentally sound and sustainable development in areas adjacent to protected areas with a view to furthering protection of these areas¹²³;
- The Cabinet Secretary for Tourism and Wildlife is mandated to provide guidelines on the "selection and management of buffer zones near protected area" 124. Buffer zones near protected areas are identified in certain Management Programmes, however there are no specific guidelines for applicants.
- There are no local standards dealing with the same. Companies looking for investment should comply with international standards relating to sustainable development in areas adjacent to protected areas.

¹²¹ Section 42 and 45. Forest Conservation and Management Act No. 34 of 2016

¹²² Section 40, Forest Conservation and Management Act No. 34 of 2016

¹²³ Article 8(e), Convention of Biological Diversity, 1992

¹²⁴ Section 51 (b), Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

- iii. rehabilitate and restore degraded ecosystems and promote the recovery of threatened species, inter alia, through the development and implementation of plans or other management strategies¹²⁵;
- See local standards for (viii) below.
- Local standards comply with the requirement in the international standard on the recovery of threatened species.
- iv. establish or maintain means to regulate, manage or control the risks associated with the use and release of living modified organisms resulting from biotechnology which are likely to have adverse environmental impacts that could affect the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity, taking also into account the risks to human health 126;
- Under the Biosafety Act¹²⁷, a person shall not introduce into the environment a genetically modified organism without the written approval of the National Biosafety Authority¹²⁸
- A person wishing to import a genetically modified organism shall apply for and obtain written approval from the Biosafety Authority¹²⁹.
- A person shall not:
 - a. release into the environment a genetically modified organism without the approval of the National Biosafety Authority; and
 - b. place on the market a genetically modified organism without the approval of the National Biosafety Authority¹³⁰.
- Where there is release on genetically modified organisms into the environment, the National Biosafety Authority and the applicant shall take measures to monitor the release, protect human health and the environment and promote public awareness and participation of the environmental release¹³¹
- The local standards comply with the requirements in the international standard concerning the management and control of living modified organisms. As such, there is no gap.
- v. prevent the introduction of, control or eradicate those alien species which threaten ecosystems, habitats or species¹³²;
- NEMA must approve activity that may result in the introduction of "exotic species" 133

128 Section 19 of the Biosafety Act No. 2 of 2009

¹²⁵ Article 8(f), Convention on Biological Diversity, 1992

¹²⁶ Article 8(g) Convention on Biological Diversity, 1992

¹²⁷ Biosafety Act No. 2 of 2009

¹²⁹ Regulation 4, Biosafety (Import, Export and Transit) Regulations, 2011

¹³⁰ Regulation 5 and 6, Biosafety (Environmental Release) Regulations, 2009

¹³¹ Regulations 10,11, 12, Biosafety (Environmental Release) Regulations, 2009

¹³² Article 8(h), Convention of Biodiversity, 1992

¹³³ Regulation 4, Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Conservation of Biological Diversity and Resources, Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit Sharing) Regulations, 2006

- The local standards comply with the requirements in the international standard concerning the introduction of "alien species". As such, there is no gap.
- vi. endeavour to provide the conditions needed for compatibility between present uses and the conservation of biological diversity and the sustainable use of its components¹³⁴;
- One of the main goals of the Kenya National Biodiversity Strategy Action Plan is to promote compatibility between present uses and the conservation of biological diversity and the sustainable use of its components.
- The local standards comply with the requirement in the international standard concerning compatibility between present uses and the conservation of biological diversity. As such, there is no gap.
- vii. subject to its national legislation, respect, preserve and maintain knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities embodying traditional lifestyles relevant for the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity and promote their wider application with the approval and involvement of the holders of such knowledge, innovations and practices and encourage the equitable sharing of the benefits arising from the utilisation of such knowledge, innovations and practices;
- The Cabinet Secretary in the Ministry of Environment may declare traditional interests of local communities customarily resident within or around a lake basin, wetland, coastal zone or river basin or forest to be a protected interest¹³⁵
- NEMA shall maintain and monitor an inventory of biological diversity in Kenya¹³⁶.
- A proponent shall include in a project report the economic and socio-cultural impacts to the local community and the nation in general¹³⁷
- Ecological consideration to be taken into account when considering an environmental impact assessment include: biological diversity; sustainable use; ecosystem maintenance; social considerations; landscape; land uses; and water¹³⁸
- The Protection of Traditional Knowledge and Cultural Expressions Act¹³⁹, provides for the:
 - a. protection of traditional knowledge
 - b. the right to every community to have the exclusive right to authorise or prevent the exploitation of traditional knowledge
 - c. access to traditional knowledge associated with genetic resources

¹³⁴ Article 8(i), Convention on Biological Diversity, 1992

¹³⁵ Section 43, Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

¹³⁶ Regulations 6 and 7, Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Conservation of Biological Diversity and Resources, Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit Sharing) Regulations, 2006

¹³⁷ Regulation 7, Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations, 2003

¹³⁸ Schedule 2, Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations, 2003

¹³⁹ Act No. 33 of 2016

- d. protection of cultural heritage
- e. protection of traditional knowledge and cultural expressions against unlawful acts
- Local standards comply with the requirement in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.

viii. protection of threatened species and populations¹⁴⁰;

- Schedule 6 of the WCMA contains a list of species declared to be critically endangered, vulnerable, nearly threatened and protected species¹⁴¹. A person cannot carry out any activity involving a specimen of a listed species without the approval of the KWS¹⁴².
- NEMA shall impose bans, restrictions or similar measures on the access and use of any threatened species¹⁴³. NEMA shall:
 - a. issue licences for the establishment and maintenance of facilities for the recovery and rehabilitation of threatened species.
 - b. determine full recovery and rehabilitation measures of threatened species to ensure restoration into its natural habitat.
- Under the Wildlife Conservation and Management (Protection of Endangered and Threatened Ecosystems, Habitats and Species) Regulations 2016:
 - a. The activities in regulation 6 on listed ecosystems are prohibited.
 - b. Regulation 9 provides for the restricted activities with regard to listed species.
 - c. Regulation 10 provides for the management of listed species.
- Local standards comply with the requirements in international standards concerning protection of threatened species and populations. As such, there is no gap.
- ix. where a significant adverse effect on biological diversity has been determined, regulate or manage the relevant processes and categories of activities. 144
- If a significant adverse effect on biological diversity is identified, NEMA can require that processes
 and activities are regulated following an EIA or audit report¹⁴⁵. However, there are no local standards
 on the categories of activities to be regulated.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the requirements in the international standard to manage activities where significant adverse effect on biological diversity has been determined.

¹⁴⁰ Article 8(k), Convention on Biological Diversity, 1992

¹⁴¹ Section 47, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁴² Section 48. Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁴³ Regulation 5, Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Conservation of Biological Diversity and Resources, Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit Sharing) Regulations, 2006

¹⁴⁴ Article 8 (I) of the Convention on Biological Diversity 1992

¹⁴⁵ Section 58, Environmental Management and Co-ordination Act

- (b) Ex-situ conservation initiatives¹⁴⁶:
- i. adopt measures for the recovery and rehabilitation of threatened species and for their reintroduction into their natural habitats under appropriate conditions.
- The KWS shall develop and implement recovery plans for the conservation and management of listed species¹⁴⁷
- NEMA is mandated to issue guidelines for the management of:
 - a. germplasm banks;
 - b. botanical gardens;
 - c. zoos and aquaria;
 - d. animal orphanages;
 - e. any other facilities recommended by NEMA.
- NEMA is also mandated to ensure that species threatened with extinction which are conserved ex situ are re-introduced into their native habitats and ecosystems where –
 - (a) the threat to the species has been terminated; or
 - (b) a viable population of the threatened species has been achieved 148.
- Local standards comply with the international requirements on the recovery and rehabilitation of threatened species. As such, there is no gap.
- (c) Adopt measures relating to the use of biological resources to avoid or minimize adverse impacts on biological diversity.¹⁴⁹
- Protect and enhance intellectual property in, and indigenous knowledge of, biodiversity and the genetic resources of the communities.¹⁵⁰
- Protect genetic resources and biological diversity. 151
- Any person who intends to access genetic resources in Kenya shall apply to NEMA for an access permit.¹⁵²

¹⁴⁶ Article 9 of the Convention on Biological Diversity 1992

¹⁴⁷ Section 49 and Schedule 7, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁴⁸ Section 52, Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

¹⁴⁹ Article 10 (b) of the Convention on Biological Diversity 1992

¹⁵⁰ Article 69 1 (c), Constitution of Kenya 2010

¹⁵¹ Article 69 1 (e), Constitution of Kenya 2010

¹⁵² Regulation 9, Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Conservation of Biological Diversity and Resources, Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit Sharing) Regulations, 2006

- Key terms and conditions of an access permit shall include 153:
 - a. duplicates and holotypes of all genetic resources collected shall be deposited with the relevant lead agency;
 - b. records of all intangible components of plant genetic material collected shall be deposited with the NEMA;
 - c. reasonable access to all genetic resources collected shall be guaranteed to all Kenyan citizens whether such genetic resources and intangible components are held locally or abroad;
 - d. all agreements entered into with respect to access of genetic resources shall be strictly for the purposes for which they were entered into;
 - e. the furnishing of quarterly reports to the NEMA on the status of research, including all discoveries from research involving genetic resources and/or intangible components thereof;
 - f. the holder of an access permit shall inform the NEMA of all discoveries made during the exercise of the right of access granted under the access permit; and
 - g. Any scientific research concerning genetic resources will require a licence from the National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation. No licence shall be granted for activities which adversely impact the environment and/or may result in the exploitation of intellectual property of communities' rights to traditional knowledge¹⁵⁴.
- The local standards comply with the requirements in the international standard on the use of biological resources. As such, there is no gap.
- (d) There shall be no significant conversion or degradation of natural habitats, unless all the following are demonstrated:
 - i. no other viable alternatives within the region exists for development of the project on modified habitat:
 - ii. consultation has established the views of stakeholders, including affected communities, with respect to the extent of conversion and degradation; and
 - iii. any conversion or degradation is mitigated according to the mitigation hierarchy. 155
- There are no local standards addressing degradation of natural habitats.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard when projects involve conversion or degradation of natural habitats.

¹⁵³ Regulation 15, Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Conservation of Biological Diversity and Resources, Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit Sharing) Regulations, 2006

¹⁵⁴ Section 12, Science, Technology and Innovation Act 28 of 2013

¹⁵⁵ IFC - Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Management of Living Natural Resources - Performance Standard 6

- (e) In areas of natural habitat, mitigation measures will be designed to achieve no net loss of biodiversity where feasible. Appropriate actions include:
 - i. avoiding impacts on biodiversity through the identification and protection of set-asides;
 - ii. implementing measures to minimize habitat fragmentation, such as biological corridors;
 - iii. restoring habitats during operations and/or after operations; and
 - iv. implementing biodiversity offsets. 156
- There are no local standards addressing mitigation measures in natural habitats.
- Companies whose projects are on or affect natural habitats should comply with the international standard on mitigation measures.
- (f) In areas of critical habitat, project activities will not be implemented unless the following is demonstrated:
 - i. no other viable alternatives within the region exists for development of the project on modified or natural habitats that are not critical;
 - ii. the project does not lead to measurable adverse impacts on those biodiversity values for which the critical habitat was designated, and on the ecological processes supporting those biodiversity values;
 - iii. the project does not lead to a net reduction in the global and/or national/regional population of any critically endangered or endangered species over a reasonable period of time; and
 - iv. a robust, appropriately designed, and long-term biodiversity monitoring and evaluation program is integrated into the management program. 157
- NEMA and other lead agencies shall monitor: environmental phenomena; operations of an industry; environmental changes generally and in relation to particular projects.¹⁵⁸
- KWS and NEMA have the mandate to publish national wildlife conservation and management strategies. 159
- Based on baseline date of the EIA, a comprehensive monitoring and evaluation plan should be designed, this would be important in implementation and operation stages of the project as a measure of compliance.¹⁶⁰

¹⁵⁶ IFC - Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Management of Living Natural Resources - Performance Standard 6

¹⁵⁷ IFC - Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Management of Living Natural Resources - Performance Standard 6

¹⁵⁸ Regulation 40, Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations, 2003

¹⁵⁹ Section 5, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013 and section 41A Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

¹⁶⁰ Guideline 2.6.5, NEMA Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedures 2002

- The Cabinet Secretary for Tourism and Wildlife may declare any land to be a national reserve where the land is:
 - a. rich in biodiversity and wildlife resources or contains endangered and threatened species;
 - b. an important catchment area critical for the sustenance of a wildlife conservation area; or
 - c. an important wildlife buffer, zone, migratory route, corridor or dispersal areas¹⁶¹.
- The Cabinet Secretary for Tourism and Wildlife may declare any marine area to be a marine conservation area where the area is –
 - a. rich in biodiversity or harbours endangered and threatened marine species; and
 - b. a critical habitat for a variety of marine resources¹⁶².
- Local standards comply with requirements in international standards concerning critical habitats. As such, there is no gap.
- (g) Employ a mitigation hierarchy as a framework for managing the risks and potential impacts of development projects on biodiversity and ecosystem services:
 - i. Avoidance measures taken to anticipate and prevent adverse impacts on biodiversity before actions or decisions are taken that could lead to such impacts (examples: site selection; project design; and scheduling).
 - ii. Minimisation measures taken to reduce the duration, intensity, significance and/or extent of impacts (including, direct, indirect and cumulative impacts, as appropriate) that cannot be completely avoided, as far as is practically feasible (examples: physical controls; operational controls; abatement controls).
 - iii. Restoration measures take to repair degradation or damage to specific biodiversity features and ecosystem services of concern.
- NEMA may issue and serve on any person in respect of any matter relating to the management of
 the environment an environmental restoration order to restore the environment or prevent the
 person of whom it is served from taking any action which would harm the environment¹⁶³
- An environmental restoration order may require a person on whom it is served to— (a) take such action as will prevent the commencement or continuation or cause of pollution; (b) restore land, including the replacement of soil, the replanting of trees and other flora and the restoration as far as may be, of outstanding geological, archaeological or historical features of the land or the area contiguous to the land or sea as may be specified in the particular order; (c) take such action to prevent the commencement or continuation or cause of environmental hazard; (d) cease to take any action which is causing or may contribute to causing pollution or an environmental hazard; (e) remove or alleviate any injury to land or the environment or to the amenities of the area;

¹⁶¹ Section 35(1), Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁶² Section 36, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁶³ Section 108, Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

- (f) prevent damage to the land or the environment, aquifers beneath the land and flora and fauna in, on or under or about the land or sea specified in the order or land or the environment contiguous to the land or sea specified in the order; (g) remove any waste or refuse deposited on the land or sea specified in the order and dispose of the same in accordance with the provisions of the order; and (h) pay any compensation specified in the order.
- The holder of a mining prospecting licence shall comply with terms of an environmental rehabilitation and restoration plan¹⁶⁴
- An applicant for a prospecting licence, a retention licence or a mining licence shall provide a bond or some other form of financial security called an environmental protection bond sufficient to cover the costs associated with the implementation of the environmental and rehabilitation obligations¹⁶⁵
- Local standards do not have a requirement for a mitigation hierarchy covering avoidance, minimisation and restoration. Companies looking for investment should employ a mitigation hierarchy to manage risks and potential impacts of development projects on biodiversity and ecosystem services, in accordance with the international standard.
 - iv. Offsets measurable conservation outcomes, resulting from actions applied to areas not impacted by the project, that compensate for significant, adverse impacts of a project that cannot be avoided, minimized and/or restored (examples: 'Restoration' offsets; 'Protection' offsets. 166
- The EIA study report shall include information on alternative technologies and processes available
 and reasons for preferring the chosen technology and processes. The report should also include
 alternatives including project site and a management plan on mitigation measures ¹⁶⁷. Local
 standards to not provide specific requirements for offsets.
- Companies looking for investment should include and employ offsets in their mitigation hierarchy and projects in order to comply with the international standard.
- (h) Organisations should use qualified professionals to properly identify biodiversity values and ecosystem services and to propose appropriate mitigation options¹⁶⁸
- The project report and the EIA shall be carried out by an expert approved by NEMA¹⁶⁹
- The report in the EIA shall identify fully the proposed measures that shall be implemented to address the identified adverse effects. Similarly, the effectiveness of these measures towards achieving desired objectives shall be assessed. A wide range of options will be proposed to prevent, reduce, remedy, or compensate for the various adverse effects. ¹⁷⁰

¹⁶⁴ Section 77, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁶⁵ Section 181, Mining Act No. 12 of 2016

¹⁶⁶ CSBI – A cross-sector guide for implementing the Mitigation Hierarchy (The Biodiversity Consultancy)

¹⁶⁷ Regulation 18. Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations, 2003

¹⁶⁸ UNDP Social and Environment Standards – Standard 1: Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Natural Resource Management (Guidance Note)

¹⁶⁹ Regulation 13, Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations, 2003

¹⁷⁰ Guideline 2.6.4, NEMA Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedures 2002

- Local standards comply with the requirements in international standards for the use of qualified professionals to identify biodiversity issues. As such, there is no gap.
- 14. IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species with habitats in areas affected by operations

GRI Reporting Standards (304-4)

- (a) Total number of IUCN Red List species and national conservation list species with habitats in areas affected by the operations of the organisation, by level of extinction risk:
 - i. critically endangered;
 - ii. endangered;
 - iii. vulnerable;
 - iv. near threatened; and
 - v. least concern.

Standards

- (a) The project should not lead to a net reduction in the global and/or national/regional population of any Critically Endangered or Endangered species¹⁷¹ over a reasonable period of time.
- (b) The export of any specimen of a species included in Appendix I to III of the United Nations Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Flora and Fauna 1979, shall require the prior grant and presentation of an export permit.
- Schedule 6 of the Wildlife Conservation and Management Act contains a list of species declared to be critically endangered, vulnerable, nearly threatened and protected species¹⁷². A person cannot carry out any activity involving a specimen of a listed species without the approval of the KWS¹⁷³.
- NEMA shall impose bans, restrictions or similar measures on the access and use of any threatened species¹⁷⁴. NEMA shall:
 - (a) issue licences for the establishment and maintenance of facilities for the recovery and rehabilitation of threatened species; and
 - (b) determine full recovery and rehabilitation measures of threatened species to ensure restoration into its natural habitat.
- Local standards comply with requirements in the international standard on conservation of listed species. As such, there is no gap.

15. - 19. Emissions

¹⁷¹ As listed in the IUCN Red List of threatened species

¹⁷² Section 47, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁷³ Section 48, Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

¹⁷⁴ Regulation 5, Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Conservation of Biological Diversity and Resources, Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit Sharing) Regulations, 2006

Green House Gases ("GHG") are gases that trap heat in the atmosphere and contribute to climate change. These gases include, and not limited to, carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide and fluorinated gases. Increased consumption of non-renewable energy has led to an increase in GHGs emissions leading to global warming. International standards are required to determine the impact an organisation has on the environment and can indicate an organisations' contribution to sustainable development.¹⁷⁵

Direct emissions occur from sources that are controlled by an organisation, for example, emissions from production, motor vehicles among others. Indirect emissions come from the generation of electricity purchased for consumption in the organisation whereas other emissions occur from sources not owned or controlled by an organisation such as transport related activities.

Emissions are regulated at the national level. The Constitution provides that every person has the right to a clean and healthy environment¹⁷⁶ which includes the right to protect the environment for the benefit of future generations.¹⁷⁷These rights are to be achieved through the State's sustainable exploitation, utilisation and conservation of the environment and natural resources and to ensure equitable sharing of the benefits.¹⁷⁸ There are no legislation on corporate standards, however, the Climate Change Act Council may impose climate change obligations on private entities.¹⁷⁹

Global Reporting Standards (305-1)

- a. Gross direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions in metric tonnes of CO2 equivalent.
- b. Gases included in the calculation; whether CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, or all.
- c. Biogenic CO2 emissions in metric tons of CO2 equivalent.
- d. Base year for the calculation, if applicable, including:
 - i. the rationale for choosing it;
 - ii. emissions in the base year; and
 - iii. the context for any significant changes in emissions that triggered recalculations of base year emissions.
- e. Source of the emission factors and the global warming potential (GWP) rates used, or a reference to the GWP source.
- f. Consolidation approach for emissions; whether equity share, financial control, or operational control.
- g. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.

Global Reporting Standards (305-2)

- a. Gross location-based energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions in metric tons of CO2 equivalent.
- b. If applicable, gross market-based energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions in metric tons of CO2 equivalent.

¹⁷⁵ GRI standards- 305 on emissions.

¹⁷⁶ Article 42 of the Constitution

¹⁷⁷ Article 42(a) of the Constitution

¹⁷⁸ Article 69 (1) (a) of the Constitution

¹⁷⁹ Section 16 of the Climate Change Act No.11 of 2016

- c. If available, the gases included in the calculation; whether CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, or all.
- d. Base year for the calculation, if applicable, including:
 - i. the rationale for choosing it;
 - ii. emissions in the base year;
 - iii. the context for any significant changes in emissions that triggered recalculations of base year emissions; and
- e. Source of the emission factors and the global warming potential (GWP) rates used, or a reference to the GWP source.
- f. Consolidation approach for emissions; whether equity share, financial control, or operational control.
- g. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.

Global Reporting Standards (305-3)

- a. Gross other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions in metric tons of CO2 equivalent.
- b. If available, the gases included in the calculation; whether CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, or all.
- c. Biogenic CO2 emissions in metric tons of CO2 equivalent.
- d. Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions categories and activities included in the calculation.
- e. Base year for the calculation, if applicable, including:
 - i. the rationale for choosing it;
 - ii. emissions in the base year; and
 - iii. the context for any significant changes in emissions that triggered recalculations of base year emissions.
- f. Source of the emission factors and the global warming potential (GWP) rates used, or a reference to the GWP source.
- g. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.

Global Reporting Standards (305-4)

- a. GHG emissions intensity ratio for the organization.
- b. Organisation-specific metric (the denominator) chosen to calculate the ratio.
- c. Types of GHG emissions included in the intensity ratio; whether direct (Scope 1), energy indirect (Scope 2), and/or other indirect (Scope 3).
- d. Gases included in the calculation; whether CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, or all.

Global Reporting Standards (305-5)

- GHG emissions reduced as a direct result of reduction initiatives, in metric tons of CO2 equivalent.
- b. Gases included in the calculation; whether CO2, CH4, N2O, HFCs, PFCs, SF6, NF3, or all.
- c. Base year or baseline, including the rationale for choosing it.
- d. Scopes in which reductions took place; whether direct (Scope 1), energy indirect (Scope 2), and/or other indirect (Scope 3).
- e. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.

<u>Standards</u>

- (a) Carbon footprint analysis. This is done by identifying and calculating GHG emission. 180 Identification and calculation of GHG emission defers from sector to sector and organisation are advised to use the most accurate calculation approach and appropriate for their reporting context. 181
- The local standards do not require a carbon foot print analysis.
- An organisation would be able to conduct a carbon footprint analysis if the following prescribed requirements are met:
 - a. Measuring emission and exposure levels in accordance with the prescribed test methods. 182 This analysis is only expected of organisations whose activities fall under the prescribed list of stationary sources of pollution. Stationary source of pollution means, "any fixed building, structure, facility, installation, equipment or any motor vehicle, waterborne craft, aircraft or diesel locomotive deposited, parked, moored, or otherwise remaining temporarily in place, which emits or may emit any air pollutant."183
 - b. Submitting an annual emissions report ¹⁸⁴in the prescribed format. ¹⁸⁵ This is a requirement for controlled facilities only. ¹⁸⁶ An organisation should confirm whether its activities fall in the list of controlled facilities ¹⁸⁷.
 - c. Monitoring and controlling the emission of priority air pollutants from mobile emission sources to avoid exceeding the prescribed emissions limit. 188 Mobile emission sources relate to engines

IPPCC Guidelines, 1996 also refer to a hierarchy of calculation approaches and techniques

¹⁸⁰ GHG Protocol, Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard;

The UNEP, UN-Habitat and world bank recommend that emissions are reported from four categories i.e. energy, agriculture, forestry and other land use change (known as AFOLU) and waste http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTUWM/Resources/340232-1205330656272/4768406-1291309208465/Annexes.pdf;

¹⁸² Regulation 52(1) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁸³ Section 2 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁸⁴ Regulation 19 (1) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁸⁵ Part V of the Fifth Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁸⁶ Regulation 19 (1) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁸⁷ Fourteenth Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁸⁸ Regulation 25 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014; Priority air pollutants are listed in the Second Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

and equipment that can be moved from one location to the next and include pollution from road, rail, air, marine and inland water transport and conveyance equipment. 189

- d. Analysing the levels of emission. The local standards have a general prohibition on natural persons and organisations against emissions of any liquid, solid or gaseous substances in levels exceeding the prescribed limit of priority air pollutants, which would upset or exceed the ambient air tolerance limit. 190 The prescribed priority air pollutant limits includes the limit for gases which fall under GHGs. 191 By conducting an analysis on the levels of emissions, an organisation would be able to conduct a carbon footprint analysis.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard and produce a carbon footprint analysis.
- (b) Annual quantification of direct and indirect GHG emissions in accordance with estimated sector methodologies or good practice. Projects that produce more than 25,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide should quantify the direct, indirect and other emissions. To promote transparency, organisations should be encouraged to conduct independent verification of operational GHG emissions data by a third party or an international assurance standard. 194
- Controlled facilities should submit an annual emission report. The emissions report should include estimates of annual emissions in the prescribed format. ¹⁹⁵ The emissions report includes quantification of direct and indirect GHG emissions.
- There are no specific local standards for organisations that produce more than 25,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide, however an organisation's level of emission of gaseous substances should not exceed the prescribed limits for ambient air quality standards. 196 In addition, controlled and non-controlled facilities should not exceed the prescribed emission limits. 197 Controlled facilities are required to obtain an emissions licence. 198 A non-controlled facility that exceeds the prescribed emission levels more than three times in a period of six months shall be required to make an application for an emissions licence. 199
- Local standards comply with international requirements on annual quantification of direct and indirect GHG emissions. As such, there is no gap.

¹⁸⁹ Part IV of the of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁹⁰ Regulation 5 and 6 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014. Ambient Air Quality Standards are requisite to protect human health and allow and adequate margin of safety

¹⁹¹ Listed in the First Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁹² The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change provides estimation methodologies. This can also be found in various intergovernmental agencies and international conventions

¹⁹³ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012- Standard 3

¹⁹⁴ ECC41 FTSE Russell RC5 Data Model Methodology

¹⁹⁵ Part V of the Fifth Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁹⁶ Paragraph 5 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014.

¹⁹⁷ Third Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014. The Fourteenth Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014 provides a list of the Controlled Facilities

¹⁹⁸ Regulation 14 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

¹⁹⁹ Paragraph 14(2) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

- (c) Setting GHG emissions targets and monitoring the progress in achieving the targets set.²⁰⁰ The type of target an organisation chooses depends on its products and production methods, policy environment, and business model.
- There are no specific local standards on setting GHG emission targets and monitoring the progress in achieving the targets set. However, an organisation's internal target for emissions level of liquids, solids or gaseous substances should not exceed the prescribed standards for emission.²⁰¹
- Companies looking for investment should set targets and monitor GHG emissions in accordance with the international standards.
- (d) Reducing GHG emissions from core business and project related emissions, which includes direct indirect and other emissions.²⁰²
- Reducing GHG emissions to reach the prescribed emission level due to the general prohibition on exceeding the prescribed levels of emission of priority air pollutants which include GHGs. In addition, controlled and non-controlled facilities should reduce their GHG emissions to meet the prescribed parameters of emission.²⁰³
- Using a fuel catalyst which improves fuel economy, enhances combustion, and reduces harmful emissions that adversely affect human, animal and plant health and degrade the environment.²⁰⁴
- Any internal combustion engine should not emit smoke or other air contaminants in excess of the prescribed emission standards.²⁰⁵
- Develop policies and strategies for reducing GHG emissions.²⁰⁶
- If likely to emit, poisonous, harmful, injurious or offensive substances, into the atmosphere, they shall use the best practicable means to— (a) prevent such emissions into the atmosphere; and (b) render harmless and inoffensive the substances which may be emitted.²⁰⁷
- Local standards comply with the requirement in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (e) Use of climate technologies to reduce GHGs emissions which include use renewable sources to produce energy such as solar power, wind energy or hydropower as energy consumption accounts for the majority of their directly measurable GHG emissions.²⁰⁸ Use of 'soft' climate technologies,

²⁰⁰ GHG Protocol, Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard; IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012; ECC 38 and 39 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Date Model Methodology

²⁰¹ Third Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014.

²⁰² IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012- Standard 3, Paris Agreement , 29 January 2016

²⁰³ Second and Third Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

²⁰⁴ Regulation 7 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Fossil Fuel Emission) Regulations, 2007

²⁰⁵ Regulation 4 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Fossil Fuel Emission) Regulations, 2007 and First Schedule of the Regulations

²⁰⁶ Climate Change Act

²⁰⁷ Occupational Safety and Health Act, No 15 of 2007

²⁰⁸ https://www.unenvironment.org/explore-topics/energy/what-we-do/renewable-energy; UN Framework Convention on Climate Change

such as energy-efficient practices or training for using equipment²⁰⁹. This may also be enhanced by formulating and implementing policies or commitment statements to address the issue, reduce or avoid the impact or improve efficiency.²¹⁰

- Adapting or installing air pollution technologies for mitigation of GHGs in accordance with the
 prescribed guidelines.²¹¹Equipment used in the control of GHGs is presumed to meet best available
 technology if the owner or operator can demonstrate that the prescribed emission levels can be
 met.²¹²
- Ensure utilisation of the renewable energy technologies such as solar, wind power, geothermal among others.²¹³
- Using a fuel catalyst which improves fuel economy, enhances combustion, and reduces harmful emissions that adversely affect human, animal and plant health and degrade the environment.²¹⁴
- Researching, designing and developing energy efficient technologies as well as championing the growth of bio-fuels and renewable energies as alternative sources of energy.²¹⁵
- Local standards comply with requirements in international standards on use of best available technologies for reduction in GHG emissions. As such, there is no gap.
- (f) Promotion of sustainable forms of agriculture.²¹⁶
- Encouraging the adoption of environmental friendly management techniques in agriculture²¹⁷.
- Land owners and lessees of agricultural land, being stewards, have the obligation to cultivate the lands they own or lease and make the land economically productive on a sustainable and environmentally friendly manner.²¹⁸
- Formulation of policies and strategies that promote sustainable agriculture.²¹⁹

https://unfccc.int/ttclear/misc /StaticFiles/gnwoerk static/NAD EBG/54b3b39e25b84f96aeada52180215ade/b8ce50e79b574690886602169f4f479b.pdf

⁰⁹

²¹⁰ ECC31 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²¹¹ Regulation 71 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014. The guidelines on technologies are set out at Part X of the Fifth Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014.

²¹² Part X paragraph (a) of the Fifth Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014. The prescribed emission levels are set out at the Third Schedule of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014.

²¹³ The Energy Act 2006, Article 6 of the Kyoto Protocol

²¹⁴ Regulation 7 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Fossil Fuel Emission) Regulations, 2007

²¹⁵ An initiative under the Kenya Industrial Research and Development Institute (KIRDI) which is a national research institute established in 1979 under the Ministry of Trade and Industry.

²¹⁶ Kyoto Protocol

²¹⁷ Constitution of Kenya, The East African Community Treaty,

²¹⁸ Section 4 of the Crops Act No.16 of 2013

²¹⁹ Kenya Climate Smart Agriculture Implementation Framework, 2018-2027 (KCSAIF) http://www.kilimo.go.ke/wpcontent/uploads/2018/11/KCSAIF-2018-_2027-1.pdf

- Developing appropriate systems to promote balanced, diversified and sustained agricultural development and to optimise agricultural production through adaptive and investigative research.²²⁰
- Local standards comply with requirements in international standards on use of sustainable forms of agriculture. As such, there is no gap.
- (g) Considering mitigation of the effects of global warming by re-forestation²²¹ and afforestation projects. This may also include membership of business associations and the organisation's position on public policy and regulation.²²²
- Working to achieve and maintain a tree cover of at least 10% of the land area in Kenya²²³ by promotion of afforestation activities.²²⁴
- Nurturing, promotion and supporting innovations and best practices in forest conservation.²²⁵
- Raising awareness on effects of deforestation, reforestation and afforestation on global warming.²²⁶
- Implementing principles of international conventions such as the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), Kyoto Protocol, Paris Agreement and any other convention which forms part of the Kenyan legislation.
- Local standards comply with requirements in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (h) Track emissions to compare emissions over the years which should also take into account structural changes such as mergers or acquisitions.²²⁷ This should also cover tracking the intensity of the emissions measured, disclosed and reduced.²²⁸
- There are no specific local standards in relation to tracking of emissions. However, as noted above, the local legislations have a general prohibition on natural persons and organisations against emissions of any liquid, solid or gaseous substances in levels exceeding the prescribed limit of priority air pollutants and, which would upset or exceed the ambient air tolerance limit. By continuous monitoring of emission levels, an organisation would be able to track its emissions over the years.
- Licensees of controlled facilities have a reporting obligation and are required to prepare and submit an annual emissions report.²²⁹ The annual emission reports can be used to track emissions over the years.
- Companies looking for investment should carry out an analysis comparing the emissions over the years in accordance with the international standard.

²²⁰ Section 32 of the Kenya Agricultural And Livestock Research Act No. 17 of 2013

²²¹ https://www.cfr.org/report/global-climate-change-regime

²²² ECC03 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²²³ Article 69 (b) of the Constitution of Kenya

²²⁴ Section 21 of the Forest Conservation and Management Act No.34 of 2016

²²⁵ Section 27 of the Forest Conservation and Management Act No.34 of 2016

²²⁶ http://www.environment.go.ke/?cat=29; Green Belt Movement, WWF

²²⁷ GHG Protocol, Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard

²²⁸ ECC12 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²²⁹ Paragraph 19 (1) of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014; and

- (i) Quantification of other emissions into the air such as nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulphur oxides (SOX), and other significant air emissions.²³⁰
- There are local standards for quantification of other emissions into the air²³¹. As noted above, the
 local legislations have a general prohibition on natural persons and organisations against emissions
 of any liquid, solid or gaseous substances in levels exceeding the prescribed limit and which include
 nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulphur oxides (SOX), and other emissions.
- Local standards comply with international standards on quantification of other emissions in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (j) Report reductions in GHG emissions by reporting direct, indirect and other emissions separately.²³²
- There are no specific local standards in reporting reductions. However and as mentioned above, licensees of controlled facilities have a reporting obligation and the report would reveal any reduction in emission levels.
- State departments and national government entities have a duty to;
 - (a) Report on sectoral GHG emissions for the national inventory. 233
 - (b) Report annually to the Climate Change Council on the status and progress of performance and implementation of all assigned climate change duties and functions.²³⁴
- Companies looking for investment should report reductions in GHG emissions as required in the international standard.
- (k) Carbon financing.²³⁵Carbon markets aim to reduce GHG emissions cost-effectively by setting limits on emissions and enabling the trading of emission units, which are instruments representing emission reductions. Trading enables entities that can reduce emissions at lower cost to be paid to do so by higher-cost emitters, thus lowering the economic cost of reducing emissions.²³⁶
- Implementing the Clean Development Mechanisms (CDM) under the Kyoto Protocol²³⁷. The Energy Act²³⁸ defines Clean Development Mechanisms as, "a mechanism that allows emission-reduction projects in developing countries to earn certified emission reduction (CER) credits each equivalent to one tonne of carbon dioxide, which can be traded or sold, or used by industrialized countries to a meet a part of their emission reduction targets under the Kyoto Protocol"²³⁹

²³⁰ GHG Protocol, Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard; Global Reporting Initiative

²³¹ Section 52 and 53 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations, 2014

²³² GHG Protocol, Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard; ECC 40 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Date Model Methodology

²³³ Section 15 of the Climate Change Act No.11 of 2016

²³⁴ Section 15(5)(d) of the Climate Change Act No. 11 of 2016

²³⁵ https://www.unhcr.org/55005b069.pdf

²³⁶ http://www.sdfinance.undp.org/content/sdfinance/en/home/solutions/carbon-markets.html#mst-0

²³⁷ the Kyoto Protocol came into force on 26 May 2005 and forms part of the Kenyan law

²³⁸ No 12 of 2006

²³⁹ Regulation 2 of the Energy (Solar Water Heating) Regulations, 2012.

- Harnessing opportunities for carbon credit trading to promote the development and exploitation of renewable energy sources.²⁴⁰ These opportunities are not specified however, some organisation have implemented and registered projects that generate carbon credits.²⁴¹ These projects are registered with the CDM registry.²⁴²
- Sustainable exploitation, utilisation and conservation of the environment and natural resources.²⁴³
 Carbon trading promotes sustainable development by reducing carbon emissions. Therefore, this
 constitutional provision may be interpreted to include carbon trading as well as other means of
 sustainable development.
- Training farmers in sustainable land management.²⁴⁴
- Local standards comply with the requirements regarding carbon trading in the international standard.
 As such, there is no gap.
- (I) Formulate policies or commitment statements to (a) address the issue of emissions, (b) reduce or avoid the impact of emissions or improve efficiency²⁴⁵ and to support policy initiatives on reduction of emissions.²⁴⁶
- Implementing policies and strategies formulated in the National Action Plan on Climate Change.
- Local standards comply with the requirements regarding formulating policies and commitment statements in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (m) Capacity building for employees on GHG-reducing practices and practices adopted by the company.²⁴⁸ This also includes incorporating climate-related risk management procedures in the organisation.²⁴⁹
 - Encouraging public participation in the management, protection and conservation of the environment²⁵⁰, including public participation in the development of strategies, laws and policies relating to climate change.²⁵¹
 - The Government should raise awareness on environmental conservation and management. 252 This also includes implementation of environmental education in the curriculum. 253
 - Requirement for capacity development in the National Action Plan on Climate Change.

²⁴⁰ Section 103 (g) of the Energy Act

²⁴¹ For example, Kenya Electricity Generating Company (KenGen) has implemented green projects.

²⁴² https://cdm.unfccc.int/about/index.html

²⁴³ Article 69 (1) (a) of the Constitution of Kenya

²⁴⁴ http://projects-beta.worldbank.org/en/results/2015/08/18/training-kenyan-farmers-sustainable-land-management

²⁴⁵ ECC01 ,FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²⁴⁶ GHG Protocol, Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard

²⁴⁷ http://www.kccap.info/

²⁴⁸ GHG Protocol, Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard

²⁴⁹ ECC 50, FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²⁵⁰ Article 69 (d) of the Constitution of Kenya:

²⁵¹ Section 24 (1) of the Climate Change Act;

²⁵² http://www.environment.go.ke/?p=91

²⁵³ http://www.unesco.org/new/en/nairobi/about-this-office/single

view/news/kenya launched its first education for sustainable developme/

- The local standards on capacity development on GHG emissions do not apply to companies.
 Companies looking for investment should adopt policies and practices to educate employees on GHG-reducing practices, in accordance with the international standard.
- (n) Promote good practice in environmental management and design.²⁵⁴
- No local standard obligating companies to promote good practice in environment management and design.
- Companies looking for investment should promote good practice in environmental management and design, in accordance with the international standard.

20. Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS)

Ozone depleting substances are chemicals that destroy the Earth's protective ozone and include chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs), halon, carbon tetrachloride (CCl4), methyl chloroform (CH3CCl3), hydrochromofluorocarbons (HBFCs), hydrochlorofluorocarbons (HCFCs), methyl bromide (CH3Br), and bromochloromethane (CH2BrCl) among others.

The Montreal Protocol's objective is to cut down the production and consumption of ozone-depleting substances, in order to reduce their presence in the atmosphere and thus protect the Earth's ozone layer.

Kenya has ratified the 1985 Vienna Convention on the Protection of the Ozone Layer and the 1987 Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer and its subsequent amendments. As such, these convention form part of Kenyan law.

Global Reporting Standards (305-6)

- (a) Production, imports, and exports of ODS in metric tons of CFC-11 (trichlorofluoromethane) equivalent.
- (b) Substances included in the calculation.
- (c) Source of the emission factors used.
- (d) Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used

Standards

- (a) Replace ODS-dependent equipment used in industries with ozone friendly equipment.²⁵⁵
- Encouraging and promotion of replacement of ODS-dependent equipment in industries with ozone friendly equipment.²⁵⁶

²⁵⁴ https://www.ifad.org/elearning/IFAD_ESA_Procedures_FINAL.pdf

²⁵⁵ http://projects.worldbank.org/P036004/montreal-protocol-reduction-consumption-ozone-depleting-substances-project?lang=en; Montreal Protocol

²⁵⁶ Montreal Protocol

- Continually phasing out ODS-dependent equipment.²⁵⁷
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (b) Use air-conditioning and refrigeration equipment that do not use HCFCs as refrigerant.²⁵⁸
- Encouraging and promotion of air-conditioning and refrigeration equipment that do not use HCFCs as refrigerant. This is being achieved by the Ministry of Environment's commissioning of the Refrigeration and Air Conditioning (RAC) Policy Workshop.²⁵⁹
- Continually phasing out refrigeration equipment that uses HCFCs and adopting modern cooling technologies with low energy consumption and operate using natural refrigerants.²⁶⁰
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap
- (c) Buy and use of aerosol products that do not use HCFCs or CFCs as propellants.²⁶¹
- Encouraging and promotion of use of aerosol products that use HCFCs or CFCs as propellants²⁶²
- Gradually phasing out buy and use of aerosol products that do use HCFCs or CFCs as propellants²⁶³
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (d) Conduct regular inspection and maintenance of air-conditioning and refrigeration appliances to prevent and minimise refrigerant leakage.²⁶⁴
- Encourage regular inspection and maintenance of air-conditioning and refrigeration appliances to prevent and minimise refrigerant leakage.²⁶⁵
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap
- (e) For existing air-conditioning and refrigeration appliances that operate on HCFCs or CFCs, the refrigerant should be recovered or recycled whenever an overhaul of equipment is carried out.²⁶⁶

²⁵⁷ Montreal Protocol; http://www.environment.go.ke/?p=4803

²⁵⁸ http://projects.worldbank.org/P036004/montreal-protocol-reduction-consumption-ozone-depleting-substances-project?lang=en; Montreal Protocol

²⁵⁹ http://www.environment.go.ke/?p=4803

²⁶⁰http://www.environment.go.ke/?p=4803

²⁶¹ http://projects.worldbank.org/P036004/montreal-protocol-reduction-consumption-ozone-depleting-substances-project?lang=en ; Montreal Protocol

²⁶² Montreal Protocol

²⁶³ Regulation 13 of the Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Controlled Substances) Regulations, 2007

²⁶⁴ http://projects.worldbank.org/P036004/montreal-protocol-reduction-consumption-ozone-depleting-substances-project?lang=en; Montreal Protocol

²⁶⁵ Montreal Protocol

 $^{{}^{266} \}underline{\ http://projects.worldbank.org/P036004/montreal-protocol-reduction-consumption-ozone-depleting-substances-project?lang=en} \ ; Montreal Protocol$

- Encourage recovery or recycling of equipment whenever an overhaul is carried out.²⁶⁷
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap
- (f) Replace or retrofit such equipment to operate on non-HCFCs refrigerant should also be considered.²⁶⁸
- Gradually phasing out equipment to operate on non-HCFCs refrigerant.
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap
- (g) When motor vehicle air-conditioners need servicing, make sure that the refrigerants are properly recovered and recycled instead of being vented to the atmosphere.²⁷⁰
- Promoting and encouraging recovery and recycling of refrigerants.²⁷¹
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap
- (h) Develop/select alternatives mainly in refrigeration, air-conditioning, and foam products that are climate-friendly and do not release CFCs.²⁷²
- Encouraging use and adoption of technology that mitigates climate change risk.²⁷³
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap
- (i) Quantification of ODPs and reporting.274
- There are no corresponding local standards.
- Companies looking for investment should quantify ODP's and report on the same, in accordance with the international standard.
- (j) Set targets on reduction of ODPs.²⁷⁵
- There are no local standards on setting targets on reduction of ODPs.
- Companies looking for investment should set targets on reduction of ODP's and report on the same, in accordance with the international standard.

²⁶⁷ Montreal Protocol

²⁶⁸ http://projects.worldbank.org/P036004/montreal-protocol-reduction-consumption-ozone-depleting-substances-project?lang=en ; Montreal Protocol

²⁶⁹ Montreal Protocol

²⁷⁰ http://projects.worldbank.org/P036004/montreal-protocol-reduction-consumption-ozone-depleting-substances-project?lang=en; Montreal Protocol

²⁷¹ Montreal Protocol

²⁷² http://projects.worldbank.org/P036004/montreal-protocol-reduction-consumption-ozone-depleting-substances-project?lang=en;

²⁷³ Montreal Protocol; Climate Change Act

^{274,}GRI Standards

²⁷⁵ GRI Standards

21. Nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulfur oxides (SOX), and other significant air emissions

Global Reporting Standards (305-7)

- a. Significant air emissions, in kilograms or multiples, for each of the following:
 - i. NOX
 - ii. SOX
 - iii. Persistent organic pollutants (POP)
 - iv. Volatile organic compounds (VOC)
 - v. Hazardous air pollutants (HAP)
 - vi. Particulate matter (PM)
 - vii. Other standard categories of air emissions identified in relevant regulations
- b. Source of the emission factors used.
- c. Standards, methodologies, assumptions, and/or calculation tools used.

Standards

See Standards 15 – 19 above for the international and local standards and gap analysis.

22. Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations

Environmental compliance relates to an organisation's conformity to environmental laws, regulations, standards under domestic and international laws.

GRI Reporting Standards (307)

- a. Significant fines and non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws and/or regulations in terms of:
 - i. total monetary value of significant fines;
 - ii. total number of non-monetary sanctions; and
 - iii. cases brought through dispute resolution mechanisms.
- b. If the organisation has not identified any non-compliance with environmental laws and/or regulations, a brief statement of this fact is sufficient.

Standards

(a) Develop and implement internal policies in line with local and global standards on environmental compliance.²⁷⁶

²⁷⁶ Draft Guidelines

- No local standards on developing and implementing policies in line with local and global standards on environmental compliance.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (b) Raise awareness within the organisation and within the supply chain relating to environmental compliances and policies adopted by an organisation.²⁷⁷
- There are no corresponding local standards. However, Ignorance of the law does not afford any excuse for any act or omission which would otherwise constitute an offence. ²⁷⁸ Therefore, an organisation should aim to raise awareness on environmental compliance.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (c) Monitor local and global development on environmental laws and reporting standards.²⁷⁹
- There are no corresponding local standards.
- Companies looking for investment should have internal policies in place to comply with the international standard.

23. & 24. Supplier Environmental Assessment

In order to keep track and reduce adverse environmental impacts it is paramount to consider the entire supply chain to achieve a common goal. Businesses are therefore encouraged to support a precautionary approach to environmental challenges.²⁸⁰

GRI Reporting Standard (308-1)

a. Percentage of new suppliers that were screened using environmental criteria.

GRI Reporting Standards (308-2)

- a. Number of suppliers assessed for environmental impacts.
- b. Number of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential negative environmental impacts.
- Significant actual and potential negative environmental impacts identified in the supply chain.
- d. Percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential negative environmental impacts with which improvements were agreed upon because of assessment.

http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTRANETENVIRONMENT/Resources/GuidanceNoteonEnvironmentalRegulationandStandardsupdate.pdf; https://www.oecd.org/environment/outreach/34499651.pdf; GRI Standards

 $\frac{http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTRANETENVIRONMENT/Resources/GuidanceNoteonEnvironmentalRegulationandStandardsupdate.pdf\ ; \\ \frac{https://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTRANETENVIRONMENT/Resources/GuidanceNoteonEnvironmentalRegulationandStandardsupdate.pdf\ ; \\ \frac{https://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTRANETENVIRONMENT/Resources/GuidanceNoteonEnvironment/Standardsupdate.pdf\ ; \\ \frac{https://siteresources/GuidanceNoteonEnvironment/Standardsupdate.pdf\ ; \\ \frac{h$

²⁷⁷

²⁷⁸ Section 7 of the Penal Code Cap 63, Laws of Kenya

²⁷⁹

²⁸⁰ https://www.unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission/principles

e. Percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential negative environmental impacts with which relationships were terminated because of assessment, and why.

Standards

- (a) Conduct due diligence on new and existing suppliers for environmental impacts and compliance. 281
- There are no corresponding local standards. However, organisations should take collective responsibility to protect and conserve the environment and ensure ecologically sustainable development and use of natural resources which on interpretation may include conducting due diligence.²⁸²
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard. Raising awareness
 on the need to protect the environment as a collective responsibility will encourage and promote
 environmental management and compliance at organisation level, stakeholder level and at national
 level.
- (b) Report on the organisation's awareness of potential negative environmental impacts in the supply chain.²⁸³
- There are no corresponding local standards.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (c) Undertake initiatives to promote greater environmental responsibility.²⁸⁴
- There are no corresponding local standards however, organisation should take collective responsibility in the protection and conservation of the environment, to ensure ecologically sustainable development and use of natural resources²⁸⁵.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (d) Implement policies addressing environmental impacts that may include changing an organisation's procurement practices, adjusting performance expectations, capacity building, training, changes to processes, as well as terminating supplier relationships.²⁸⁶
- There are no corresponding local standards however, organisations should promote awareness on the importance of sustainable management of the environment and its resources with a view to ensuring a balanced and equitable use of such resources for the benefit of present and future generations.²⁸⁷

http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTRANETENVIRONMENT/Resources/GuidanceNoteonEnvironmentalRegulationandStandardsupdate.pdf; https://www.oecd.org/environment/outreach/34499651.pdf; GRI Standards; ESC 09 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²⁸¹

²⁸² Article 69 (2) of the Constitution of Kenya

²⁸³ GRI Standards: ESC 10 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²⁸⁴ https://www.unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission/principles;

²⁸⁵ Article 69 (2) of the Constitution of Kenya

²⁸⁶ GRI Standards ;ESC 08 , ESC 12 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²⁸⁷ Article 69 (1) (b) of the Constitution of Kenya

- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (e) Encourage the development and diffusion of environmentally friendly technologies. 288
- There are no local standards.
- Promote awareness on the importance of sustainable management of the environment and its resources with a view to ensuring a balanced and equitable use of such resources for the benefit of present and future generations²⁸⁹.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (f) Collaborate with suppliers to mitigate negative environmental impacts.²⁹⁰
- There are no corresponding local standards however, organisations should take collective responsibility to protect and conserve the environment and ensure ecologically sustainable development and use of natural resources.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (g) Monitoring of suppliers including disclosure of (a) physical inspection audits, or reporting on number or proportion of suppliers monitored or audited and (b) results and specific action taken on any noncompliance by suppliers.²⁹¹
- There are no corresponding local standards however, organisations should take collective responsibility to protect and conserve the environment and ensure ecologically sustainable development and use of natural resources.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.
- (h) Formulate and implement supplier /sourcing policies or commitment statement that addresses: energy use, climate change impact including CO2/GHG emissions, water use, biodiversity impacts, Environmental issues, pollution, waste and resource use.²⁹²
- There are no corresponding local standards however, organisations should take collective responsibility to protect and conserve the environment and ensure ecologically sustainable development and use of natural resources.
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.

24 (a) Waste and Land Contamination

²⁸⁸ https://www.unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission/principles

²⁸⁹ Article 69 (1) (b) of the Constitution of Kenya

²⁹⁰ GRI Standards; https://www.unglobalcompact.org/what-is-gc/mission/principles ;ESC 10 FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²⁹¹ ESC11, FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

²⁹² ESC 02,03,04,05 of FTSE Russell ESG RC5 Data Model Methodology

GRI Reporting Standard (306 -2)

- a. Total weight of hazardous waste, with a breakdown by the following disposal methods where applicable: i. Reuse; ii. Recycling; iii. Composting; iv. Recovery, including energy recovery; v. Incineration (mass burn); vi. Deep well injection; vii. Landfill; viii. On-site storage.
- Total weight of non-hazardous waste, with a breakdown by the following disposal methods where applicable: i. Reuse; ii. Recycling; iii. Composting; iv. Recovery, including energy recovery; v. Incineration (mass burn); vi. Deep well injection; vii. Landfill; viii. On-site storage;
- How the waste disposal method has been determined: i. Disposed of directly by the organization, or otherwise directly confirmed; ii. Information provided by the waste disposal contractor; and iii.
 Organizational defaults of the waste disposal contractor.

GRI Reporting Standard (306-4)

- a. Total weight for each of the following: i. Hazardous waste transported; ii. Hazardous waste imported; iii. Hazardous waste exported; iv. Hazardous waste treated.
- b. Percentage of hazardous waste shipped internationally.
- c. Standards, methodologies, and assumptions used.

Standards

- (a) Ensure that the generation of hazardous waste and other wastes is reduced²⁹³.
- No person shall discharge or dispose of any wastes, whether generated within or outside Kenya, in such manner as to cause pollution to the environment or ill health to any person.²⁹⁴
- Any person who own or controls a facility or premises which generates waste shall minimize the waste generated by adopting cleaner production principles.²⁹⁵
- Local standards comply with the requirements in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (b) Persons involved in the management of hazardous wastes or other wastes should take such steps as are necessary to prevent pollution due to hazardous wastes and other wastes arising from such management²⁹⁶.
- The Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Waste Management) Regulations, 2006 ("Waste Management Regulations"), provides for the following:
 - (a) The use of waste generators to minimize waste generated and segregation of waste by generator.

²⁹³ Article 2(a) of the Basel Convention

²⁹⁴ Section 87, Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999

²⁹⁵ Section 6, Waste Management Regulation

²⁹⁶ Article 2 (c) of the Basel Convention

- (b) Every trade or industrial undertaking shall install at its premises anti-pollution equipment for the treatment of waste emanating from such trade or industrial undertaking;
- (c) No industry shall discharge or dispose of any waste in any state into the environment unless the waste has been treated in a treatment facility.
- (d) A licence is required for activity likely to generate hazardous waste (Schedule 1 of the Regulations).
- (e) If any toxic or hazardous waste is produced, the waste should be treated by incinerators (Schedule 3).
- (f) A company that generates bio-medical waste shall obtain an EIA Licence.
- (g) The holder of a mining permit or licence shall ensure that that the seepage of toxic waste into streams, rivers, lakes and wetlands is avoided and that disposal any toxic waste is done in the approved areas only.²⁹⁷
- (h) During petroleum operations, dispose of waste oil, salt water and refuse in accordance with good international petroleum industry practice, avoiding pollution.²⁹⁸
- Local standards comply with the requirements in the international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (c) Ensure person involved in the management of hazardous wastes or other wastes take steps to prevent pollution due to hazardous and take steps to minimize consequences thereof.
- Persons involved in waste management and disposal must obtain a licence from NEMA and ensure that the waste disposal site or plant operates in an environmentally sound manner²⁹⁹
- Local standards comply with the requirements in the international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (d) Should not export hazardous wastes or other wastes to a Party to the Basel Convention, particularly developing countries who have legislated against such import³⁰⁰.
- Kenya has ratified the Basel Convention.
- Local standards comply with international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (e) No person in a Basel Convention State shall permit hazardous waste or other wastes to be exported to a non-party or to be imported from a non-party³⁰¹.

²⁹⁷ Section 179. Mining Act

²⁹⁸ Model Production Sharing Contract – Petroleum (Exploration and Production) Regulations, 1984

²⁹⁹ Section 11, 12, 13 of the Waste Management Regulations

³⁰⁰ Article 2(e) of the Basel Convention

³⁰¹ Article 5 of the Basel Convention

- Kenya has ratified the Basel Convention.
- Local standards comply with international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (f) A person can only transport or dispose hazardous waste if authorised to do so³⁰².
- A person may only transport waste with a licence issued by NEMA³⁰³
- Local standards comply with the requirements in the international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (g) Hazardous wastes and other wastes that are to be subject of a transboundary movement should be packaged, labelled, and transported in conformity with international recognised practice³⁰⁴.
- Every generator of hazardous waste shall ensure every container or package for storing such waste is securely packaged and labelled.
- Local standards comply with the requirements in the international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (h) Hazardous wastes and other wastes should be accompanied by a movement document from the point at which a transboundary movement commences to the point of disposal³⁰⁵.
- Kenya has ratified the Basel Convention.
- Local standards comply with international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (i) Any export of waste of hazardous waste shall follow the notice and consent provisions in the Basel Convention³⁰⁶.
- No person shall export hazardous wastes without a valid permit issued by the Authority and prior consent from the receiving country³⁰⁷
- Local standards comply with the requirements in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (j) Hazardous waste generators should produce a report on wastes that they generate³⁰⁸
- Reporting requirement pursuant to an EIA.

³⁰² Article 7(a) of the Basel Convention

³⁰³ Section 9, Waste Management Regulations

³⁰⁴ Article 7(b) of the Basel Convention

³⁰⁵ Article 7 (c) of the Basel Convention

³⁰⁶ Article 9 of the Basel Convention

³⁰⁷ Section 27, Waste Management Regulations

³⁰⁸ Article 3(a) Bamako Convention

- Local standards comply with the requirements in the international standards. As such, there is no gap.
- (k) Imposition of strict, unlimited liability as well as joint and several liability on hazardous waste generators³⁰⁹
- Kenya is party to the Bamako Convention.
- In petroleum operations, if petroleum operations may endanger persons or property, cause pollution, harm marine life or interfere with navigation and fishing, the Minister of Petroleum and Mining may order the contractor to take reasonable remedial measures or order the contractor to discontinue the relevant petroleum operations until such measures, or mutually agreed alternatives thereto, are implemented³¹⁰.
- Local standards comply with the requirements in the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (I) Transboundary movement of hazardous wastes under the following situations shall be deemed to be illegal traffic³¹¹:
 - i. If carried out without notification:
 - ii. If carried out without consent;
 - iii. If consent is obtained from States concerned through falsification, misrepresentation or fraud;
 - iv. If it does not confirm in a material way with the documents; or
 - v. If it results in deliberate disposal of hazardous waste in contravention of international law.
- Kenya is party to the Bamako Convention.
- Local standards comply with the international standard. As such, there is no gap.
- (m) Land should be managed to avoid contamination and the risk to human health and ecological receptors³¹²
- The EIA should contain information relating to³¹³:
 - Effect of the proposal on land use and land use potentials; and
 - Effect of the proposal on surrounding land use and land use potential.
- The holder of a mineral right shall not engage in wasteful mining or treatment practices³¹⁴

³⁰⁹ Article 3(b) Bamako Convention

³¹⁰ Model Production Sharing Contract - Petroleum (Exploration and Production) Regulations, 1984

³¹¹ Article 9 Bamako Convention

³¹² IFC - EHS Guidelines on Contaminated Land

³¹³ Schedule 2, Environment (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations, 2003

³¹⁴ Section 43, Mining Act

- Any person who dumps any solid, liquid, toxic or other wastes in a forest without authority of the forest manager commits an offence³¹⁵
- Where an environmental auditor is conducting a control audit on a project, the environmental auditor shall identify any source of land contamination³¹⁶
- Companies looking for investment should comply with the international standard.

SOCIAL

OBSERVATIONS ON THE INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL TOPICS AND STANDARDS

During our research into international and local standards, we made the following observations, relevant to social standards in Kenya:

- i. The laws of Kenya conform to a majority of the international standards with respect to labour topics and standards, human rights and community, and customer responsibility.
- ii. One of the reports taken into account, when analysing the international standards, was the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) ("FTSE Russell"), which is focused on applying the highest industry standards for ESG compliance. We found that these standards are very specific as opposed to the general standards provided by international Conventions. As a result of this, we established that only a few provisions of the labour laws in Kenya conform to the requirements of FTSE Russell. Our recommendation therefore, is that where Kenyan laws do not satisfy the FTSE Russell standard, companies wishing to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for it.
- iii. When preparing the Social international standards, we did not include the requirements that are specific to particular industry sectors, because this Report is general in its nature, in the sense that it is applicable to all companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements. Particularly, we have not included any international standards on Customer Responsibility from FTSE Russell because all the standards on this topic are specific to varying sectors.
- iv. Kenya has ratified a number of international Conventions, which form part of Kenyan law by virtue of Article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya which provides that... any treaty or convention ratified by Kenya shall form part of the law of Kenya... The Conventions particularly relevant to Social standards are attached to this report as Annexe 1. There are instances where there is no local statute or regulation satisfying the international standard, which is derived from a Convention that has been ratified by Kenya. In this regard, even though Kenyan statutes and regulations do not meet the requirements of the international standard, our analysis is that there is no gap on the basis that the convention has been ratified through the constitution.
- v. We also took note of at least two discrepancies between some Kenyan statutes and international Conventions ratified by Kenya (thereby forming part of Kenyan law by virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya). An example of the discrepancy is the period provided for maternity leave, by the Employment Act and the Maternity Protection Act Our recommendation is that companies that

³¹⁵ Section 8, Forest Conservation and Management Act

³¹⁶ Section 35(3), Environment (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations, 2003

wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for the international standard in their company policies.

vi. Lastly, on customer privacy standards at Topic 42 below, it is notable that Kenya is yet to enact a law on Data protection. There is therefore a vacuum in terms of local legislation that exhaustively deals with this topic. However, we are aware that on 3 July 2018, the Data Protection Bill ("the Bill") was introduced to establish a comprehensive data protection regime in Kenya, in tandem with article 31 of the Constitution. The principal object of the Bill is to protect personal data collected, used or stored by both private and public entities. It is now before Parliament, and is awaiting the final reading, before it is presented to the President for assent. Once signed into law, this Act will satisfy the set international standards under customer privacy. In the meantime, our recommendation is that companies wishing to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for the international standards set out for customer privacy.

B. CURRENT INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL (KENYAN) STANDARDS

LABOUR TOPICS AND STANDARDS

25. Employment

An employment relationship is a legal relationship between a worker and an organisation that confers rights and obligations to both parties. This relationship is usually the means for determining whether employment or labour law is applicable or whether commercial law is applicable.

GRI Reporting Standards (401)

- (a) New Employee hires and employee turnover by age group, gender and region
- (b) Benefits, which are standard for full time employees, but are not provided to temporary or part time employees these include as minimum:
 - i. life insurance
 - ii. health care
 - iii. disability and invalidity cover
 - iv. parental leave
 - v. retirement provision
 - vi. stock ownership
 - vii. other

(c)

- i. Total number of employees that were entitled to parental leave by gender
- ii. Total number that took parental leave
- iii. Total Number that returned to work
- iv. Total number that returned to work and were there 12 months later
- v. Return to work and retention rates by gender

Standards

(a) Medical care and medical insurance

- i. Employees are entitled to medical care.³¹⁷ The classes of employees entitled to medical care are as prescribed by national laws and regulations, and these employees should constitute not less than 50% of all employees of the particular organisation, together with their wives and children.³¹⁸
- If, in a contract of service or collective agreement, provision is made for the payment of any allowance in kind to an employee with the employee's consent, the payment may with such consent be made only if the allowance is for the personal use and benefit of the employee, and does not consist of, or include any intoxicating spirit or noxious drug.³¹⁹
- An employer should ensure the sufficient provision of proper medicine for his employees during illness and if possible, medical attendance during serious illness contracted during a period when the employee was present at the workplace.³²⁰
- Employees are liable to pay a standard contribution to the National Hospital Insurance Fund. Such contribution should be through monthly deductions from the employee's salary or other remuneration, and the employer of such person is liable to deduct and to pay the contribution to the National Hospital Insurance Fund Management Board, on behalf of the employee.³²¹
- The above international standard subjects the entitlement to medical care for employees to national laws and regulations. On this basis, there is no gap between the international standard and Kenyan statutes, as the latter require employers to ensure standard contribution to the National Hospital Insurance Fund, which is mandatory for employees working in Kenya. Also, the Employment Act requires employers to ensure that there has been medical attendance for employees who contract illnesses while at the workplace.
- Further, Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- ii. A sick employee should not be expected to work. National laws and regulations of a particular state should further elaborate on this.³²²
- After two consecutive months of service with his employer, an employee is entitled to sick leave of not less than 7 days with full pay, and thereafter to sick leave of 7 days with half paying each period of 12 consecutive months of service.³²³
- On the basis that the international standard is subject to national laws and regulations, local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

³¹⁷ Part II of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102), 1952; article 8 of ILO's Medical Care and Sickness Benefits Convention (No. 130), 1969

³¹⁸ Article 9 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102), 1952

³¹⁹ Section 17(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³²⁰ Section 34 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³²¹ Section 16(1) of the National Hospital Insurance Fund Act No. 9 of 1998

³²² Article 14 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102), 1952

³²³ Section 30(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- iii. Medical insurance should include general practitioner care, specialist care at hospitals for in-patients and out-patients, essential pharmaceutical supplies, pre-natal and post-natal care in cases of pregnancy and hospitalisation where necessary.³²⁴
- The benefits that should be paid out of the National Hospital Insurance Fund should include a daily allowance in respect of hospital treatment and such other benefits in respect of medical treatment as may from time to time be prescribed.³²⁵
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102) of 1952. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

(b) Unemployment benefit

- i. Subject to national laws and regulations, employers should encourage freely chosen and productive employment for identified categories of disadvantaged persons having, or liable to have difficulties in finding lasting employment, such as women, young workers, disabled persons, older workers, the long-term unemployed, migrant workers lawfully resident in the country and workers affected by structural change.³²⁶
- An employer should promote equal opportunity in employment and strive to eliminate discrimination in any employment policy or practice.³²⁷
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee
 or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of race, colour, sex, language, religion,
 political or other opinion, nationality, ethnic or social origin, disability, pregnancy, marital status or
 HIV status, in respect of recruitment.³²⁸
- A person seeking employment in Kenya should register with the National Employment Authority.
 The Authority will establish vacancies available in the private sector and convey this information to
 the job seekers with qualifications that fit the specifications and qualifications required by the
 prospective employers.³²⁹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap. Further, Kenya has ratified the ILO Employment Promotion against Unemployment Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.

(c) Old age benefit

³²⁴ Article 10 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102), 1952

³²⁵³²⁵ Section 10(1) of the National Hospital Insurance Fund Act Chapter 255 Laws of Kenva

³²⁶ Article 8 of ILO's Employment Promotion and Protection against Unemployment Convention (No. 168), 1988

³²⁷ Section 5(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³²⁸ Section 5(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³²⁹ Sections 20 and 29 of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

- i. The prescribed age for retirement from employment should not be more than 65 years or such higher age as may be fixed by national laws and regulations, with due regard to the working ability of elderly persons in the country concerned.³³⁰
- The President may require an officer to retire from the service of the Government at any time after the officer attains the age of fifty years.³³¹
- Section 9 of the Pension Act only provides for the retirement age for government workers, and not
 those in the private sector. Employers in the private sector may therefore use this provision as a
 guide as to the laws on retirement age in Kenya.
- Further, Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention and the ILO Invalidity, Old Age and Survivors' Benefits Convention, which are the sources of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- Therefore, companies in the private sector that wish to comply with ESG standards may use these conventions as a guide relevant to retirement age.
- ii. National laws and regulations should provide for the benefit that a person above the prescribed age should be entitled to. Such entitlement may be suspended if such a person is engaged in gainful activity.³³²
- It is mandatory for an employer to pay to the National Social Security Fund in respect of each employee in his or her employment, the employer's contribution at 6% of the employee's monthly pensionable earnings, and the employee's contribution at 6% of the employee's pensionable earnings deducted from the employee's earnings. 333 These payments are deemed to be contributions towards the employee's retirement, and payable to an employee upon retirement. 334
- An employer may, with the approval of his employees, pay any statutory contributions in respect of such employees into any scheme fund prescribed for that purpose.³³⁵
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

(d) Employment injury benefit

i. Employees are entitled to compensation for accidents or prescribed diseases resulting from employment.³³⁶ In the event that an employee's injury results in incapacity of work, total loss of earning capacity likely to be permanent, or death, the compensation shall be a periodical payment

³³⁰ Article 26(2) of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102), 1952; articles 14 to 18 of ILO's Invalidity, Old-Age and Survivors' Benefits Convention (No. 128), 1967

³³¹ Section 9 of the Pensions Act Chapter 189 Laws of Kenya

³³² Article 26(3) of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102), 1952

³³³ Section 20(1) of the National Social Security Fund Act No. 45 of 2013

³³⁴ Section 36 of the National Social Security Fund Act No. 45 of 2013

³³⁵ Section 33 of the Retirement Benefits Act No. 3 of 1997

³³⁶ Article 32 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102), 1952; article 6 of ILO's Employment Injury Benefits Convention (No. 121), 1964

representing a suitable proportion of the total loss of earning capacity. In the event of death, these periodical payments should be made to the widower / widow and children of such person.³³⁷

- An employee who is involved in an accident arising out of or in the course of employment, resulting
 in the employee's disablement or death is entitled to the benefits set out in the Work Injury Benefits
 Act.³³⁸
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- ii. Each state should prescribe a list of diseases, comprising at least the diseases set out at schedule 1 of ILO's Employment Injury Benefits Convention (No. 121), 1964, which shall be regarded as occupational diseases, or include in its legislation a general definition of occupational diseases broad enough to cover at least the diseases set out at schedule 1 of ILO's Employment Injury Benefits Convention (No. 121), 1964.³³⁹
- Schedule 2 of the Work Injury Benefits Act³⁴⁰ and Schedule 2 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act³⁴¹ set out the prescribed occupational diseases under Kenyan law.
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- iii. Such compensation would include medical care, which should comprise general practitioner and specialist in-patient care and out-patient care, dental care, nursing care, maintenance in hospitals, dental, pharmaceutical and other medical or surgical supplies, and care furnished by members of such other professions as may be legally required from time to time.³⁴²
- An employer should defray any expenses reasonably incurred by an employee as a result of an accident arising out of, and in the course of employment in respect of the following matters:
 - (a) Dental, medical, surgical or hospital treatment;
 - (b) Skilled nursing services:
 - (c) The supply of medicine and surgical dressing;
 - (d) Travelling and subsistence in connection with the employee's journey for treatment in a place within Kenya; and
 - (e) The supply, maintenance, repair and replacement of artificial limbs, crutches and other appliances and apparatus used by persons who are physically disabled.³⁴³
- An employer against whom a claim for compensation under section 26 of the Work Injury Benefits
 Act is lodged should settle the claim within 90 days of lodging of the claim.³⁴⁴
- An employee who suffers temporary total disablement due to an accident that incapacitates the
 employee for 3 days or longer is entitled to receive periodical payments equivalent to the employee's

³³⁷ Articles 36 to 38 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952; article 18 of ILO's Employment Injury Benefits Convention (No. 121), 1964

³³⁸ Section 10(1) & (4) of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

³³⁹ Article 8 of ILO's Employment Injury Benefits Convention (No. 121), 1964

³⁴⁰ No. 13 of 2007

³⁴¹ No. 15 of 2007

³⁴² Articles 34(1) and (2) of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102), 1952; article 10 of ILO's Employment Injury Benefits Convention (No. 121), 1964

³⁴³ Section 47(1) of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

³⁴⁴ Section 26(4) of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

earnings, subject to the minimum and maximum amounts fixe by the Cabinet Secretary for Labour from time to time.³⁴⁵ The periodical payments should not be made after expiry of a period of 12 months.³⁴⁶

- Compensation for permanent disablement should be calculated on the basis of 96 months' earnings subject to the minimum and maximum amounts determined by the Cabinet Secretary in charge of Labour.³⁴⁷
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- iv. Employers should take measures to prevent industrial accidents and occupational diseases, provide rehabilitation services designed to prepare a disabled person wherever possible for the resumption of his previous activity or other suitable gainful activity.³⁴⁸
- Every occupier should ensure the safety, health and welfare at work of all employees working in his workplace.³⁴⁹
- If an injury in respect of which compensation is payable causes disablement of such a nature that the employee is unable to perform the essential functions of life without the constant assistance of another person, the Director of Occupational Safety and Health Services should grant an allowance payable by the employer in addition to any other benefit provided under the Work Injury Benefits Act towards the cost of such help as may be required for a specified period.³⁵⁰
- The provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act and the Work Injury Benefits Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- v. Employers should treat migrant workers the same way as nationals, as regards employment injury benefits.³⁵¹
- An employer should promote equal opportunity in employment and strive to eliminate discrimination in any employment policy or practice.³⁵²
- An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee, or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of race, colour, language or nationality.³⁵³
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

(e) Family benefit

³⁴⁵ Section 28(1) of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

³⁴⁶ Section 28(3) of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

³⁴⁷ Section 30(1) of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

³⁴⁸ Article 26 of ILO's Employment Injury Benefits Convention (No. 121), 1964

³⁴⁹ Section 6(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

³⁵⁰ Section 15(1) of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

³⁵¹ Article 27 of ILO's Employment injury Benefits Convention (No. 121), 1964

³⁵² Section 5(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁵³ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- i. This covers responsibility for the maintenance of children, as prescribed by national laws and regulations.³⁵⁴ Employees are entitled to a periodical payment or the provision of food, clothing, housing, holidays or domestic help, for purposes of maintenance of their children.³⁵⁵
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102) of 1952. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, there is no gap between the international standard and the local standard
- (f) Women in employment and maternity benefit
- Female employees are entitled to maternity medical care, which should include at least, pre-natal, confinement and post-natal care either by medical practitioners or by qualified midwives, and hospitalisation where necessary.³⁵⁶
- If, in a contract of service or collective agreement, provision is made for the payment of any allowance in kind to an employee with the employee's consent, the payment may with such consent be made only if the allowance is for the personal use and benefit of the employee, and does not consist of, or include any intoxicating spirit or noxious drug.³⁵⁷
- An employer should ensure the sufficient provision of proper medicine for his employees during illness and if possible, medical attendance during serious illness contracted during a period when the employee was present at the workplace.³⁵⁸
- Employees are liable to pay a standard contribution to the National Hospital Insurance Fund. Such contribution should be through monthly deductions from the employee's salary or other remuneration, and the employer of such person is liable to deduct and to pay the contribution to the National Hospital Insurance Fund Management Board, on behalf of the employee.³⁵⁹
- The Employment Act and the National Hospital Insurance Fund Act are set within the spirit of the international standard. In addition to this, Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- ii. Women falling under the maternity benefit are entitled to periodical payment (a total of their previous earnings).³⁶⁰
- Women in maternity leave are entitled to full pay.³⁶¹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard.

³⁵⁴ Article 40 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁵⁵ Article 42 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁵⁶ Article 49(1) and (2) of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁵⁷ Section 17(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁵⁸ Section 34 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁵⁹ Section 16(1) of the National Hospital Insurance Fund Act No. 9 of 1998

³⁶⁰ Article 50, read together with article 65 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁶¹ Section 29(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- iii. Employers should ensure that appropriate measures are adopted to ensure that pregnant or breastfeeding women are not obliged to perform work which is prejudicial to the health of the mother or child.³⁶²
- Employers should not dismiss an employee, injure the employee, or discriminate against or disadvantage an employee in respect of the employee's employment, or alter the employee's position to the detriment of the employee by reason only that the employee has made a complaint about a matter which the employee considers is not safe or is a risk to his health.³⁶³
- An employee who has left a work place, which the employee has reasonable justification to believe
 presents imminent and serious danger to life and health should not be dismissed, discriminated
 against or disadvantaged for such action by the employer.³⁶⁴
- Although the Occupational Health and Safety Act does not make a specific provision in relation to pregnant and lactating mothers, the above provisions are set within the spirit of international standards.
- In addition to this, Kenya has ratified the ILO Maternity Protection Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- iv. Women are entitled to maternity leave of not less than 14 weeks.³⁶⁵
- A female employee is entitled to 3 months maternity leave with full pay.³⁶⁶
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Maternity Protection Convention (No. 183) of 2000. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, the standard also forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- From a reading of the international standard derived from the ILO Maternity Protection Convention and the provision under the Employment Act, one notes that there is a disparity between the periods of maternity leave. The international standard provides for 14 weeks of maternity leave while the Employment Act provides for 3 months, which equates to 12 weeks.
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Maternity Protection Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- There is therefore a contradiction between the two laws. Companies in Kenya however generally
 comply with the provisions of the Employment Act as far as maternity leave is concerned. For
 companies looking to meet the ESG requirements, it is advisable for employers to comply with the
 international standard.
- v. Women are entitled to leave, before and after the maternity leave period in the case of illness, complications or risk of complications arising out of pregnancy or childbirth. The nature and the

³⁶² Article 3 of ILO's Maternity Protection Convention (No. 183), 2000

³⁶³ Article 8(1)(a) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

³⁶⁴ Section 14(2) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

³⁶⁵ Article 4(1) of ILO's Maternity protection Convention (No. 183), 2000

³⁶⁶ Section 29(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

maximum duration of such leave may be specified in accordance with national laws and regulations.³⁶⁷

- Where the maternity leave has been extended with the consent of the employer, or immediately on expiry of maternity leave before resuming her duties, a female employee proceeds on sick leave or with the consent of the employer, on annual leave, compassionate leave or any other leave, the 3 months maternity leave will be deemed to expire on the last day of such extended leave.³⁶⁸
- After two consecutive months of service with his employer, an employee is entitled to sick leave of not less than 7 days with full pay, and thereafter to sick leave of 7 days with half paying each period of 12 consecutive months of service.³⁶⁹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard.
- vi. Medical benefits should be provided to the woman and her child in accordance with national laws and regulations. Medical benefits include prenatal, childbirth and post-natal care, as well as hospitalisation care where necessary.³⁷⁰
- If, in a contract of service or collective agreement, provision is made for the payment of any allowance in kind to an employee with the employee's consent, the payment may with such consent be made only if the allowance is for the personal use and benefit of the employee, and does not consist of, or include any intoxicating spirit or noxious drug.³⁷¹
- An employer should ensure the sufficient provision of proper medicine for his employees during illness and if possible, medical attendance during serious illness contracted during a period when the employee was present at the workplace.³⁷²
- Employees are liable to pay a standard contribution to the National Hospital Insurance Fund. Such contribution should be through monthly deductions from the employee's salary or other remuneration, and the employer of such person is liable to deduct and to pay the contribution to the National Hospital Insurance Fund Management Board, on behalf of the employee.³⁷³
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard.
- vii. It is unlawful for an employer to terminate the employment of a woman during her pregnancy or absence on leave (maternity leave or leave due to sickness) during a period following her return to work, except on grounds unrelated to the pregnancy or childbirth.³⁷⁴
- On expiry of a female employee's maternity leave, the female employee has the right to return to the job which he held immediately prior to her maternity leave or to a reasonable suitable job on terms and conditions not less favourable than those which would have applied had she not been on maternity leave.³⁷⁵

³⁶⁷ Article 5 of ILO's Maternity protection Convention (No. 183), 2000

³⁶⁸ Section 29(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁶⁹ Section 30(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁷⁰ Article 6(7) of ILO's Maternity protection Convention (No. 183), 2000

³⁷¹ Section 17(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁷² Section 34 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁷³ Section 16(1) of the National Hospital Insurance Fund Act No. 9 of 1998

³⁷⁴ Article 8(1) of ILO's Maternity protection Convention (No. 183), 2000

³⁷⁵ Section 29(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- A female employee's pregnancy or any reason connected with her pregnancy does not constitute fair reasons for dismissal or for the imposition of a disciplinary penalty.³⁷⁶
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard.
- viii. A woman is guaranteed the right to return to the same position or an equivalent position, and paid at the same rate at the end of her maternity leave.³⁷⁷
- On expiry of a female employee's maternity leave, the female employee has the right to return to the job which she held immediately prior to her maternity leave or to a reasonable suitable job on terms and conditions not less favourable than those which would have applied had she not been on maternity leave.³⁷⁸
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard.
- ix. Maternity should not constitute a source of discrimination in employment, and this includes a prohibition from requiring a test for pregnancy when a woman is applying for employment.³⁷⁹
- An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of pregnancy,³⁸⁰ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.³⁸¹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard.
- x. A woman has the right to take one or more daily breaks or a daily reduction of hours of work to breastfeed her child. These breaks or the reduction of daily hours of work shall be counted as working time and remunerated accordingly.³⁸²
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Maternity Protection Convention (No. 183) of 2000. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, the standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, there is no gap between the international standard and the local standard
- xi. Employers should provide support services and facilities, such as on-site child care at workplaces and flexible working arrangements for women.³⁸³
- No local standard.

³⁷⁶ Section 46(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁷⁷ Article 8(2) of ILO's Maternity protection Convention (No. 183), 2000

³⁷⁸ Section 29(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁷⁹ Article 9 of ILO's Maternity protection Convention (No. 183), 2000

³⁸⁰ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁸¹ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁸² Article 10 of ILO's Maternity protection Convention (No. 183), 2000

³⁸³ Article 180(b) of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action) Fourth World Conference on Women

- There is no legal requirement for employers to provide on-site child care at workplaces and flexible working arrangements. Therefore, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should implement this international standard.
- xii. Governments should enact and enforce laws against sexual and other forms of harassment in all workplaces.³⁸⁴
- An employer who employs 20 or more employees should issue a policy statement on sexual harassment after consultation with the employees or their representatives. This policy should be brought to the attention of all employees. The policy should stipulate:
 - (a) That every employee is entitled to employment that is free of sexual harassment;
 - (b) That the employer will take steps to ensure that no employee is subjected to sexual harassment:
 - (c) That the employer will take disciplinary measures against any person who subjects any employee to sexual harassment;
 - (d) How complaints of sexual harassment may be brought to the attention of the employer; and
 - (e) That the employer will not disclose the name of the complainant or the circumstances related to the complaint to any person except where disclosure is necessary for the purpose of investigating the complaint or taking disciplinary measures in relation thereto.³⁸⁵
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

(g) Disability and invalidity benefit

- i. This benefit covers inability to engage in any gainful activity to an extent prescribed by national laws and regulations, which inability is likely to be permanent or persists after the exhaustion of sickness benefit.³⁸⁶ Such employees are entitled to periodical payment, and such payment would vary for different categories of employees.³⁸⁷
- The Persons with Disabilities Act establishes the National Development Fund for persons with disabilities as a permanent fund, and the income therefrom should be for the benefit of persons with disabilities in Kenya.³⁸⁸
- A member of the National Social Security Fund will be entitled to invalidity pension if he suffers mental or physical disability of a permanent total incapacity as certified by a medical board, and had made not less than 36 monthly contributions immediately preceding the date of the invalidity.³⁸⁹
- The provisions of the Persons with Disabilities Act and the National Social Security Fund Act are set within the spirit of international standards.

³⁸⁴ Article 180(c) of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action) Fourth World Conference on Women; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS30 at page 89

³⁸⁵ Section 6(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁸⁶ Article 54 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁸⁷ Article 56 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁸⁸ Section 32 of the Persons with Disabilities Act No. 14 of 2003

³⁸⁹ Section 38(1) of the National Social Security Fund No. 45 of 2013

- Further, Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- ii. Such payment would be granted throughout a specified period, or until the old age benefit becomes payable.³⁹⁰
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102) of 1952. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, there is no gap between the international standard and the local standard

(h) Survivors' benefit

- i. This benefit covers loss of support suffered by a widow or child as a result of the death of the breadwinner. In the case of the widow, the right to benefit is conditional on her being presumed, in accordance with national laws or regulations, to be incapable of self-support.³⁹¹
- A survivors' pension should be paid to the dependents, if a member of the National Social Security Fund dies before pensionable age and was contributing to the pension fund at the time of his death, and not less than 36 monthly contributions had been made by the said member immediately preceding the date of death.³⁹²
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- ii. This benefit also extends to the beneficiaries of the breadwinner.³⁹³
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Invalidity, Old Age and Survivors' Benefits Convention (no. 128) of 1967.
 In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, there is no gap between the international standard and the local standard
- iii. Persons falling under this benefit shall be entitled to periodical payment, as prescribed by national laws and regulations.³⁹⁴
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102) of 1952. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, there is no gap between the international standard and the local standard

(i) Equality of treatment of non-national residents

³⁹⁰ Article 58 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁹¹ Article 60 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁹² Section 37(1) of the National Social Security Fund No. 45 of 2013

³⁹³ Article 22(1)(b) of ILO's Invalidity, Old Age and Survivors' Benefits Convention (No. 128), 1967

³⁹⁴ Article 62 of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

- i. Non-national residents should have the same rights at the workplace as national residents.³⁹⁵
- It is the duty of the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour, labour officers and the Industrial Court to promote and guarantee equality of opportunity for a person who is a migrant worker or a member of the family of the migrant worker, lawfully within Kenya.³⁹⁶
- An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of <u>race</u>, colour, sex, language, religion, political or other opinion, nationality, ethnic or social origin, disability, pregnancy, marital status or HIV status.³⁹⁷
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

(i) Family responsibilities

- i. In promoting harmonisation of work and family responsibilities for women and men, employers should adopt appropriate measures so that women and men are able to take temporary leave from employment, have transferable employment and retirement benefits and make arrangements to modify work hours without sacrificing their prospects for development and advancement at work and in their careers.³⁹⁸
- A female employee is entitled to 3 months maternity leave with full pay.³⁹⁹
- A male employee is entitled to 2 weeks paternity leave with full pay.⁴⁰⁰
- Other than provision of maternity and paternity leave, the Employment Act does not provide for any special leave or special treatment that men and women with family responsibilities should enjoy. Therefore, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should consider incorporating this international standard into their policies.
- ii. Persons with family responsibilities who are engaged / wish to engage in employment should exercise this right without being subject to discrimination and without conflict between their employment and family responsibilities.⁴⁰¹
- Employers should not discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.⁴⁰²
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

³⁹⁵ Article 68(1) of ILO's Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No.102), 1952

³⁹⁶ Section 5(1)(b) of Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁹⁷ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

³⁹⁸ Article 180(a) of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action) Fourth World Conference on Women

³⁹⁹ Section 29(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁰⁰ Section 29(8) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁰¹ Article 3 of ILO's Workers with family responsibilities convention (No. 156), 1981

⁴⁰² Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- iii. Measures compatible with national conditions and possibilities should take account of the needs of workers with family responsibilities in community planning, and to develop community services, public or private, such as child care and family services and facilities.⁴⁰³
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Workers with Family Responsibilities Convention (No. 156) of 1981. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, there is no gap between the international standard and the local standard
- iv. Measures compatible with national conditions and possibilities shall be taken to enable workers with family responsibilities to become and remain integrated in the labour force, as well as to re-enter the labour force after an absence due to those responsibilities.⁴⁰⁴
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Workers with Family Responsibilities Convention (No. 156) of 1981. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, there is no gap between the international standard and the local standard
- v. Family responsibilities will not constitute a valid reason for termination of employment. 405
- No employer should terminate the employment of an employee unfairly. 406 A termination of employment by an employer is unfair if the employer fails to prove:
 - (a) That the reason for termination is valid:
 - (b) That the reason for the termination is a fair reason related to the employee's conduct, capacity or compatibility, or based on the operational requirements of the employer; and
 - (c) That the employment was terminated in accordance with fair procedure. 407
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

(k) Employee remuneration

- i. Each state should establish a system of minimum wages which covers all groups of wage earners whose terms of employment are such that the coverage would be appropriate.⁴⁰⁸
- The Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour practices in Kenya has a duty to establish a General Wages Council, an Agricultural Wages Council and an Export Processing Zones Wages Council, whose functions shall be to:
 - (a) Investigate the remuneration and conditions of employment in any sector;

⁴⁰³ Article 5 of ILO's Workers with family responsibilities convention (No. 156), 1981

⁴⁰⁴ Article 7 of ILO's Workers with family responsibilities convention (No. 156), 1981

⁴⁰⁵ Article 8 of ILO's Workers with family responsibilities convention (No. 156), 1981

⁴⁰⁶ Section 45(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁰⁷ Section 45(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁰⁸ Article 1 of ILO's Minimum Wage Fixing Convention (No. 131), 1970; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS08 at page 88; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS14 at page 88

- (b) Invite and consider written and oral representations from interested parties; and
- (c) Make recommendations to the Cabinet Secretary on minimum wage remuneration and conditions of employment.⁴⁰⁹
- After considering the recommendations of the wages council, the Cabinet Secretary should publish
 a wages order in the Kenya Gazette. The wages order should constitute the minimum rates of
 remuneration or conditions of employment, which cannot be varied by agreement.⁴¹⁰
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- ii. Set minimum wages should not be abated, and failure to apply them should make the person or persons concerned liable to appropriate penal or other sanctions.⁴¹¹
- Every worker has the right to fair remuneration.⁴¹²
- If the contract of an employee to whom a wages order applies provides for the payment of less remuneration than the statutory minimum remuneration, then the remuneration established by the wages order should be inserted in the contract in substitution of those terms.⁴¹³
- An employer who fails to pay to an employee to whom a wages regulation order applies at least the statutory minimum remuneration commits an offence. If an employer is found guilty of this offence, the court may, in addition to any other penalty, order the employer to pay the employee the difference between the amount which ought to have been paid in terms of the wages order and the amount which was actually paid.⁴¹⁴
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (I) Paid educational leave
- i. Employees are entitled to paid educational leave. Paid educational leave should not be denied to workers on the ground of race, colour, sex, religion, political opinion, national extraction or social origin.⁴¹⁵
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Paid Education Leave Convention (No. 140) of 1974. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, there is no gap between the international standard and the local standard
- (m) Holidays with pay

⁴⁰⁹ Sections 43 and 44 of the Labour Institutions Act No. 12 of 2007

⁴¹⁰ Sections 46 and 48 of the Labour Institutions Act No. 12 of 2007

⁴¹¹ Article 2(1) of ILO's Minimum Wage Fixing Convention (No. 131), 1970

⁴¹² Article 41(2)(a) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁴¹³ Section 48(1)(b) of the Labour Institutions Act No. 12 of 2007

⁴¹⁴ Section 48(3) of the Labour Institutions Act No. 12 of 2007

⁴¹⁵ Article 8 of ILO's Paid education leave convention (No.140), 1974

- i. Employees are entitled to an annual paid holiday of a specified minimum length, specified by national laws and regulations. The length however, should not be less than three working weeks for one year of service.⁴¹⁶
- An employee is entitled to not less than 21 working days of leave with full pay, after every 12 consecutive months of service with his employer.⁴¹⁷
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- ii. A minimum period of service may be required for entitlement to any annual holiday with pay. This period shall be determined through the appropriate machinery in the country concerned. However, such period cannot exceed 6 months.⁴¹⁸
- For 21 days of annual leave, an employee ought to have completed 12 consecutive months of service with his employer.⁴¹⁹
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Holidays with Pay Convention (No. 132) of 1970. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, the standard also forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- From a reading of the international standard and the provision under the Employment Act, one notes
 that there is a disparity between the limit for the period of service for entitlement to any annual
 holiday with pay. The international standard provides for a limit of 6 months while the Employment
 Act provides for 12 months.
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Holidays with Pay Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- There is therefore a contradiction between the two laws. Companies in Kenya however generally
 comply with the provisions of the Employment Act in terms of the period of service for entitlement to
 any annual holiday with pay.
- Companies looking to comply with ESG standards should conform to this international standard.
- iii. Public and customary holiday should not be counted as part of the minimum annual holiday. 420
- An employee is entitled to not less than 21 working days of leave with full pay, after every 12 consecutive months of service with his employer.⁴²¹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

⁴¹⁶ Article 3 of ILO's Holidays with pay convention (No. 132), 1970

⁴¹⁷ Section 28(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴¹⁸ Article 5(1) and (2) of ILO's Holidays with pay convention (No. 132), 1970

⁴¹⁹ Section 28(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴²⁰ Article 6(1) of ILO's Holidays with pay convention (No. 132), 1970

⁴²¹ Section 28(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- iv. Periods of incapacity for work resulting from sickness or injury should not be counted as part of the minimum annual holiday. National laws and regulations may set out what conditions have to be met.⁴²²
- After two consecutive months of service with his employer, an employee is entitled to sick leave of not less than 7 days with full pay, and thereafter to sick leave of 7 days with half paying each period of 12 consecutive months of service. 423 The Employment Act provides for both sick leave and annual leave separately. 424
- The provisions of the Employment Act are set within the spirit of international standards.
- v. Every person taking a holiday should receive in respect of the full period of that holiday at least his normal remuneration. 425
- An employee is entitled to not less than 21 working days of leave with full pay, after every 12 consecutive months of service with his employer. 426
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- vi. Unless fixed by national laws and regulations, the time at which the holiday is to be taken is to be determined by the employer, after consultation with the employed person.⁴²⁷
- Unless otherwise provided for in an agreement between the employer and the employee, or in a collective agreement, an employer may divide the minimum annual leave entitlement into different parts to be taken at different intervals, upon receiving the employee's consent.⁴²⁸ One part of these parts should consist of at least 2 uninterrupted working weeks.⁴²⁹ This 2 week period should be granted and taken during the 12 consecutive months of service with the employee's employer, and the remainder of the annual leave with pay to be taken not later than 18 months from the end of the leave earning period.⁴³⁰
- On the basis that the international standard is subject to national laws and regulations, local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- vii. Upon termination of employment, a person who has completed a minimum period of service (length of which shall be determined by national laws and regulations, but shall not exceed 6 months) should receive a holiday with pay proportionate to the length of service for which he has not received such a holiday, or compensation in lieu thereof, or the equivalent holiday credit.⁴³¹

⁴²² Article 6(2) of ILO's Holidays with pay convention (No. 132), 1970

⁴²³ Section 30(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴²⁴ Sections 28 and 30 of the Employment Act

⁴²⁵ Article 7(10 of ILO's Holidays with pay convention (No. 132), 1970

⁴²⁶ Section 28(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴²⁷ Article 10(1) of ILO's Holidays with pay convention (No. 132), 1970

⁴²⁸ Section 28(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴²⁹ Section 28(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴³⁰ Section 28(4) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴³¹ Article 11 of ILO's Holidays with pay convention (No. 132), 1970

- Where employment is terminated after completion of two or more consecutive months of service, an
 employee is entitled to not less than 1.75 days of leave with full pay, in respect of each completed
 month of service in that period, to be taken consecutively.⁴³²
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

(n) Migrant workers

- i. Migrant workers should enjoy the same treatment accorded to nationals of the particular state, in respect of remuneration, conditions of work and terms of employment.⁴³³
- It is the duty of the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour, labour officers and the Industrial Court to promote and guarantee equality of opportunity for a person who is a migrant worker or a member of the family of a migrant worker, lawfully within Kenya.⁴³⁴
- An employer should promote equal opportunity in employment and strive to eliminate discrimination in any employment policy or practice.⁴³⁵
- An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee, or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of race, colour, language or nationality.⁴³⁶
- An employer should pay his employees equal remuneration for work of equal value. 437
- Local laws adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

(o) Hours of work

- i. The working hours of persons employed in any public or private industrial undertaking or in any branch thereof, should not exceed 8 hours in the day, and 48 hours in the week. 438 This limit of hours of work may be exceeded:
 - In case of accident, actual or threatened, or in case of urgent work to be done to machinery or plant, or in case of "force majeure", but only so far as may be necessary to avoid serious interference with the ordinary working of the undertaking.⁴³⁹
 - In those processes which are required because of the nature of the process to be carried on continuously by a succession of shifts, subject to the condition that the working hours shall not exceed fifty-six in the week on the average. Such regulation of the hours of work shall in no

⁴³² Section 28(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴³³ Article 25(1) of the International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their families

⁴³⁴ Section 5(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴³⁵ Section 5(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴³⁶ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴³⁷ Section 5(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴³⁸ Article 2 of ILO's Hours of Work (Industry) Convention (No. 001) 1919; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS07 at page 88; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS14 at page 88 ⁴³⁹ Article 3 of ILO's Hours of Work (Industry) Convention (No. 001) 1919

case affect any rest days which may be secured by the national law to the workers in such processes in compensation for the weekly rest day.⁴⁴⁰

- ii. The hours of work of persons working in the following establishments should not exceed 48 hours in the week and 8 hours in the day:
 - commercial or trading establishments, including postal, telegraph and telephone services and commercial or trading branches of any other establishments;
 - establishments and administrative services in which the persons employed are mainly engaged in office work; and
 - mixed commercial and industrial establishments, unless they are deemed to be industrial establishments.⁴⁴¹
 - An employer should regulate the working hours of each employee. An employee should be entitled
 to at least 1 rest day in every period of 7 days.⁴⁴²
 - Kenya has ratified the ILO Hours of Work (Industry) Convention (No. 001) of 1919, and the ILO Hours of Work (Commerce & Offices) Convention (No. 030) of 1930. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, the standard also forms part of the laws of Kenya.
 - The Employment Act does not prescribe the maximum number of hours an employee should work
 for in day, and section 27 gives the employer the discretion to make a determination on this matter.
 Notably, Kenya has ratified the conventions setting out the international standards on hours of work.
 Therefore, a company that is keen comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this
 international standard.

(p) Multinational enterprises

- Multinational enterprises situated in various states should respect the rights of employees, giving regard to the applicable law and prevailing labour relations and employment practices and applicable international labour standards.⁴⁴³
 - An employer is defined as any person, public body, firm, corporation or company which has entered
 into a contract of service to employ any individual and includes the agent, foreman, manager or
 factor of such a person, public body, firm, corporation or company.⁴⁴⁴
 - Terms and conditions of employment set out in the Employment Act of Kenya constitute the minimum terms and conditions of employment of an employee and any agreement to relinquish vary or amend the said terms will be null and void.⁴⁴⁵

⁴⁴⁰ Article 3 of ILO's Hours of Work (Industry) Convention (No. 001) 1919

⁴⁴¹ Article 3 of the Hours of Work (Commerce & Offices) Convention (No. 030) 1930; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS07 at page 88; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS14 at page 88

⁴⁴² Section 27 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁴³ Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁴⁴⁴ Section 2 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁴⁵ Section 3(6) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- A multinational enterprise falls within the description of an employer under the Employment Act.
 Therefore, local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there
 is no gap.
- ii. In considering changes in their operations which would have major employment effects, in particular in the case of the closure of an entity involving collective lay-offs or dismissals, multinational enterprises should provide reasonable notice of such changes to representatives of the workers in their employment and their organisations. Multinational enterprises should also co-operate with the worker representatives and appropriate governmental authorities so as to mitigate to the maximum extent practicable adverse effects.⁴⁴⁶
 - If an employer wishes to terminate an employment contract on account of redundancy, the employer has to notify the trade union to which the employee is a member (if the employee is a member of a trade union), and the labour officer in charge of the area where the employee is employed, of the reasons for, and the extent of the intended redundancy not less than 1 month prior to the date of the intended date of termination on account of redundancy.⁴⁴⁷ Where the employee is not a member of a trade union, the employer should notify the employee personally in writing, and the labour office.⁴⁴⁸
 - Local laws adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- iii. Multinational enterprises should give priority to the employment, occupational development, promotion and advancement of nationals of the host country at all levels in cooperation.⁴⁴⁹
 - The National Employment Authority Act which has the purpose of providing a framework and facilitation of employment of Kenyans in the national government, the private sector and the informal sector in Kenya,⁴⁵⁰ defines an employer as any person, public body, firm, corporation or company who or which has entered into a contract of service to employ any individual and includes the agent, foreman, manager or factor of such person, public body, firm, corporation or company.⁴⁵¹
 - The National Employment Authority of Kenya encourages private and public institutions to employ Kenyans in all positions, including positions of leadership and management.⁴⁵² The Government of Kenya shall take affirmative action measures and actions designed to promote the employment of Kenyans in management and other levels of employment regardless of their years of employment.⁴⁵³
 - Local laws adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

26. Labour / Management Relations

This is an organisation's consultative practices with employees and their representatives, including its approach to communicating significant operational changes.

⁴⁴⁶ Clause 6 of Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁴⁴⁷ Section 40(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁴⁸ Section 40(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁴⁹ Article 1 of the Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

⁴⁵⁰ Section 3 of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

⁴⁵¹ Section 2 of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

⁴⁵² Section 37(1) of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

⁴⁵³ Section 37(3) of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

GRI Reporting Standards (402)

- a. Minimum number of weeks' notice provided to employees prior to implementation of significant operational changes that could affect them
- b. For organisations with collective bargaining agreements report whether the notice period and provisions for consultation and negotiation are specified in collective agreements.

<u>Standards</u>

- (a) Both workers and employers have the right to establish and join organisations of their own choosing without interference from public authorities. In exercising this right, workers and employers shall have due regard to the law of the land (the law of the land shall not be such as to impair this right).⁴⁵⁴
- Every worker has the right to form, join or participate in the activities and programmes of a trade union.⁴⁵⁵ Every employer has the right to form and join an employer's organisation and to participate in its activities and programmes.⁴⁵⁶
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Employees are entitled to join trade unions. An employer cannot dismiss or otherwise prejudice a worker by reason of his membership to a particular trade union.⁴⁵⁷
- Every worker has the right to form, join or participate in the activities and programmes of a trade union.⁴⁵⁸
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Employees have a right to enter into collective bargaining agreements (agreements in writing regarding working conditions and terms of employment concluded between an employer, a group of employers or one or more employers' organisations, on the one hand, and one or more representative workers' organisations, or, in the absence of such organisations, the representatives of the workers duly elected and authorised by them in accordance with national laws and regulations, on the other hand). Collective bargaining agreements should bind the signatories thereto and those on whose behalf the agreement is concluded. Stipulations in employment contracts which are contrary to a collective bargaining agreement should be regarded as null and void and automatically replaced by the corresponding stipulations of the collective bargaining agreement.⁴⁵⁹

⁴⁵⁴ Articles 2 – 9 of ILO's Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention (No. 87), 1948; article 48 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

⁴⁵⁵ Article 41(2)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁴⁵⁶ Article 41(3) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁴⁵⁷ Article 1 of ILO's Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention (No. 98), 1949; article 48 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006); Paragraph 1(b), Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁴⁵⁸ Article 41(2)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁴⁵⁹ Articles 1 – 3 of ILO's Collective Agreements Recommendation (No. 91), 1951; articles 5 and 6 of Collective Bargaining Convention (No. 154), 1981; article 55 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006); Paragraph 2(a), Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

- Every trade union, employers' organisation and employer has the right to engage in collective bargaining. 460
- A collective agreement binds the parties to the agreement, all unionisable employees employed by the employer, or the employers who are, or become members of an employers' organisation party to the agreement, to the extent that the agreement relates to their employees.⁴⁶¹
- The terms of the collective agreement should be incorporated into the contract of employment of every employee covered by the collective agreement.⁴⁶²
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) Employers and workers should promote consultation and cooperation on matters of mutual concern not within the scope of collective bargaining machinery, or not normally dealt with by other machinery concerned with the determination of terms and conditions of employment.⁴⁶³
- No local standard
- This international standard is not a requirement under Kenyan legislation. Therefore, companies that
 are keen to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for it.
- (e) Employers should provide information to workers' representatives which is needed for meaningful negotiations on conditions of employment, and enables them to obtain a true and fair view of the performance of the entity or, where appropriate, the enterprise as a whole.⁴⁶⁴
- An employer should disclose to a trade union all relevant information that will allow the trade union to effectively negotiate on behalf of employees.⁴⁶⁵
- The Labour Relations Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (f) Workers' representatives should enjoy effective protection against any act prejudicial to them, including dismissal, based on their status or activities as workers' representatives, in so far as they act in conformity with existing laws or collective agreements or other jointly agreed arrangements.⁴⁶⁶
- The following do not constitute fair reasons for dismissal or imposition of a disciplinary penalty:
 - (a) An employee's membership or proposed membership of a trade union;
 - (b) The participation or proposed participation of an employee in the activities of a trade union outside working hours, or, with the consent of the employer, within working hours; and/or

⁴⁶⁰ Article 41(5) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁴⁶¹ Section 59(1) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁴⁶² Section 59(3) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁴⁶³ Article 1 of ILO's Co-operation at the Level of the Undertaking Recommendation (No. 94), 1952; article 63 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006), Paragraph 3, Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁴⁶⁴ Paragraphs 2(b) and (c). Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁴⁶⁵ Section 57(2) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁴⁶⁶ Article 1 of ILO's Workers' Representatives Convention (No. 135), 1971; article 53 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006); FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS14 at page 88

- (c) An employee seeking office as, or acting, or having acted in the capacity of an officer of a trade union or a workers' representative. 467
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (g) Adequate welfare facilities and services should be provided for seafarers both in port and on board ship.⁴⁶⁸
- The Kenya Maritime Authority has the duty to oversee matters pertaining to the training, recruitment and welfare of seafarers⁴⁶⁹.
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (h) The employment of a worker should not be terminated unless there is a valid reason for such termination connected with the capacity or conduct of the worker or based on the operational requirements of the undertaking, establishment or service.⁴⁷⁰
- No employer should terminate the employment of an employee unfairly. A termination of employment by an employer is unfair if the employer fails to prove that the reason for the termination is valid, that the reason for the termination is a fair reason, and that the employment was terminated in accordance with fair procedure.⁴⁷¹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (i) The employment of a worker should not be terminated for reasons related to the worker's conduct or performance before he is provided an opportunity to defend himself against the allegations made, unless the employer cannot reasonably be expected to provide this opportunity.⁴⁷²
- Before terminating the employment of an employee on the grounds of misconduct, poor performance
 or physical incapacity, an employee should explain to the employee the reason for which the
 employer is considering termination. The employee will be entitled to have another employee or a
 shop floor union representative of his choice present during this explanation.⁴⁷³ An employer should
 consider any representations the employee may have.⁴⁷⁴
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (j) A worker who considers that his employment has been unjustifiably terminated is entitled to appeal against that termination to an impartial body, such as a court, labour tribunal, arbitration committee or arbitrator.⁴⁷⁵

⁴⁶⁷ Section 46(c), (d) & (e) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁶⁸ Article 2 of ILO's Seafarers' Welfare Convention (No. 163), 1987

⁴⁶⁹ Section 51 of the Kenya Maritime Authority Act CAP 370 of the Laws of Kenya

⁴⁷⁰ Article 4 of ILO's Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158), 1982

⁴⁷¹ Section 45(1) & (2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁷² Article 7 of ILO's Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158), 1982

⁴⁷³ Section 41(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁷⁴ Section 41(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁷⁵ Article 8(1) of ILO's Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158), 1982

- An employee who has been summarily dismissed, or his employer has unfairly terminated his
 employment without justification, may, within 3 months of the date of dismissal present a complaint
 to a labour officer.⁴⁷⁶
- An employee may also refer this issue to the Employment and Labour Relation Court.⁴⁷⁷
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (k) A worker whose employment is to be terminated is entitled to a reasonable period of notice or compensation in lieu thereof, unless he is guilty of serious misconduct, that is, misconduct of such a nature that it would be unreasonable to require the employer to continue his employment during the notice period.⁴⁷⁸ Arbitrary dismissal procedures should be avoided.⁴⁷⁹
- Where the employment contract is for daily payment of wages, it is terminable by either the employer
 or the employee at the close of any day without notice.⁴⁸⁰
- Where the contract is for payment of wages periodically at intervals of less than one month, the contract is terminable by either the employer or the employee at the end of the next period following the giving of notice in writing.⁴⁸¹
- Where the contract is to pay wages or salaries periodically at intervals of one month or more, the
 contract is terminable by either the employer or the employee at the period of 28 days following the
 giving of a notice in writing. Either the employer or employee may terminate the employment
 contract without notice upon payment to the other party of the remuneration which would have been
 earned. 483
- The provisions of the Employment Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (I) A worker whose employment has been terminated is entitled, in accordance with national law and practice, to:
 - a severance allowance or other separation benefits, the amount of which should be based on length of service and the level of wages, and paid directly by the employer or by a fund constituted by employers' contributions; or
 - ii. benefits from unemployment insurance or assistance or other forms of social security, such as old-age or invalidity benefits, under the normal conditions to which such benefits are subject; or
 - iii. a combination of such allowance and benefits. 484

⁴⁷⁶ Section 47(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁷⁷ Section 47(4) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007; Section 12 of the Employment and Labour Relations Act No. 20 of 2011

⁴⁷⁸ Article 11 of ILO's Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158), 1982

⁴⁷⁹ Article 35 of the ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

⁴⁸⁰ Section 35(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁸¹ Section 35(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁸² Section 35(1)(c) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁸³ Section 36 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁸⁴ Article 12(1) of ILO's Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158), 1982; Article 36 of the Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

- Where the contract to pay wages or salaries periodically at intervals of one month or more is terminated by an employer, the employee is entitled to service pay for every year worked.⁴⁸⁵
- The provisions of the Employment Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (m) When the employer contemplates terminations for reasons of an economic, technological, structural or similar nature, the employer should:
 - 27. provide the workers' representatives concerned in good time with relevant information including the reasons for the terminations contemplated, the number and categories of workers likely to be affected and the period over which the terminations are intended to be carried out; and
 - 28. give, in accordance with national law and practice, the workers' representatives concerned, as early as possible, an opportunity for consultation on measures to be taken to avert or to minimise the terminations and measures to mitigate the adverse effects of any terminations on the workers concerned such as finding alternative employment.⁴⁸⁶
- If an employer wishes to terminate an employment contract on account of redundancy, the employer has to notify the trade union to which the employee is a member (if the employee is a member of a trade union), and the labour officer in charge of the area where the employee is employed, of the reasons for, and the extent of the intended redundancy not less than 1 month prior to the date of the intended date of termination on account of redundancy.⁴⁸⁷ Where the employee is not a member of a trade union, the employer should notify the employee personally in writing, and the labour office.⁴⁸⁸
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (n) When an employer contemplates terminations for reasons of an economic, technological, structural or similar nature, it should notify, in accordance with national law and practice, the competent authority as early as possible, giving relevant information, including a written statement of the reasons for the terminations, the number and categories of workers likely to be affected and the period over which the terminations are intended to be carried out.⁴⁸⁹
- If an employer wishes to terminate an employment contract on account of redundancy, the employer has to notify the trade union to which the employee is a member (if the employee is a member of a trade union), and the labour officer in charge of the area where the employee is employed, of the reasons for, and the extent of the intended redundancy not less than 1 month prior to the date of the intended date of termination on account of redundancy.⁴⁹⁰ Where the employee is not a member of a trade union, the employer should notify the employee personally in writing, and the labour office.⁴⁹¹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

⁴⁸⁵ Section 35(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁸⁶ Article 13(1) of ILO's Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158), 1982; paragraph 6, Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁴⁸⁷ Section 40(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁸⁸ Section 40(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁸⁹ Article 14(1) of ILO's Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158), 1982

⁴⁹⁰ Section 40(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁹¹ Section 40(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- (o) There should be a prescribed minimum period of time specified by national laws and regulations before carrying out employee terminations for reasons of an economic, technological, structural or similar nature. 492
- Under Kenyan law, it should be a period of not less than one month.⁴⁹³
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (p) There ought to be company involvement in initiatives or commitment to frameworks, on labour standards, including participation in workshops or industry / topic specific initiatives or collaboration, and membership of, or public commitment to a recognised international framework.⁴⁹⁴
- No local standard
- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (q) Company policy on labour standards should be communicated globally to employees and translated into relevant languages.⁴⁹⁵
- No local standard
- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (r) An employer should conduct risk assessment regarding labour issues for potential new operations or projects (due diligence), and existing operations or projects.⁴⁹⁶
- No local standard
- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model

 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (s) In instances of labour standards non-compliance, a company should disclose the number of incidents and the specific action taken regarding the non-compliance.⁴⁹⁷

⁴⁹² Article 14(3) of ILO's Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158), 1982

⁴⁹³ Section 40(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁴⁹⁴ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS10 at page 88

⁴⁹⁵ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS12 at page 88

⁴⁹⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS13 at page 88

⁴⁹⁷ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS21 at page 89

No local standard

- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (t) A company should address bullying and/or harassment by providing a confidential reporting channel or whistleblowing system or manager training on training on handling of reports or instances of bullying or harassment.⁴⁹⁸

No local standard

- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (u) A company should have a record of: (i) full time staff voluntary turnover rates; (ii) percentage of employees that are contractors or temporary staff; (iii) percentage of global staff with a disability; and percentage of women in the global workforce.⁴⁹⁹
- An employer shall keep a written record of all employees employed by him, with whom he has entered into a contract.⁵⁰⁰
- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.

27. Training and Education

Training and upgrading employee skills, and performance and career development reviews. It also includes transition assistance programs to facilitate continued employability, and the management of career endings due to retirement or termination.

GRI Reporting Standards (404)

- a. Average hours of training that the organisation's employees have undertaken during the reporting period by (1) gender (2) employee category.
- b. Type and scope of programs implemented and assistance provided to upgrade employee skills.

⁴⁹⁸ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS30 at page 89

⁴⁹⁹ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS24, SLS25, SLS32 & SLS33 at page 89

⁵⁰⁰ Section 74 of the Employment Act, No. 11 of 2007

- c. Transition assistance programs provided to facilitate continued employability and the management of career endings resulting from retirement or termination of employment.
- d. Percentage of total employee by gender and by employment category who received who received a regular performance and career development review during the reporting period.

Standards

- (a) An employee is entitled to paid educational leave for a specified period of time during working hours, with adequate financial entitlement, to be prescribed by national laws and regulations.⁵⁰¹
- Kenya has ratified the ILO Paid Education Leave Convention (No. 140) of 1974. In accordance with article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this standard forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- On the above basis, local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Leadership and self-esteem training should be provided, to assist women and girls, particularly those with special needs, women with disabilities and women belonging to racial and ethnic minorities to strengthen their self-esteem and to encourage them to take decision-making positions.⁵⁰²
- No local standards
- Kenyan laws do not require companies to meet the above international standard. Therefore, a company that wishes to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (c) Gender-sensitive training for women and men should be provided to promote non-discriminatory working relationships and respect for diversity in work and management styles.⁵⁰³
- No local standards
- Kenyan laws do not require companies to meet the above international standard. Therefore, a company that wishes to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (d) Employers should encourage employee personal development training to enhance abilities to individual skills, through policy or commitment statements to provide employee personal development training, and a detailed description of the personal development training that is provided.⁵⁰⁴
- No local standards

⁵⁰¹ Article 1 of Paid Educational Leave Convention (No. 140), 1974

⁵⁰² Paragraph 195(a) of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: Fourth World Conference on Women

⁵⁰³ Paragraph 195(d) of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: Fourth World Conference on Women

⁵⁰⁴ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS29 at page 89; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model –

⁵th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS26 at page 90

- Kenyan laws do not require companies to meet the above international standard. Therefore, a company that wishes to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (e) Multinational enterprises should facilitate training opportunities for their employees. 505
- No local standards
- Kenyan laws do not require companies to meet the above international standard. Therefore, a company that wishes to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (f) Multinational enterprises should ensure that relevant training is provided for all levels of workers employed by them in the host country, as appropriate, to meet the needs of the enterprise as well as the development policies of the country. Such training should, to the extent possible, develop generally useful skills and promote career opportunities and lifelong learning.⁵⁰⁶
- No local standards
- Kenyan laws do not require companies to meet the above international standard. Therefore, a company that wishes to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (g) Multinational enterprises operating in developing countries should participate, along with national enterprises, in programmes, including special funds, encouraged by host governments and supported by employers' and workers' organisations. These programmes should have the aim of encouraging skill formation, lifelong learning and development as well as providing vocational guidance, and should be jointly administered by the parties which support them.⁵⁰⁷
- No local standards
- Kenyan laws do not require companies to meet the above international standard. Therefore, a company that wishes to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.

28. Diversity and Equal Opportunity

When an organisation actively promotes diversity and equality at work, it can generate significant benefits for both the organisation and workers. For example, the organisation can gain access to a larger and more diverse set of potential workers. These benefits also flow through to society in general, as greater equality promotes social stability and supports further economic development.

GRI Reporting Standards (405)

a. Percentage of individuals within the organisation's governance bodies in each of the following diversity categories:

⁵⁰⁵ Paragraph 4, Section II of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁵⁰⁶ Article 38 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

⁵⁰⁷ Article 39 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

- i. Gender:
- ii. Age group (under 30; 30-50 and over 50); and
- iii. Other indicators of diversity when relevant.
- b. Percentage of employees per employee category in each of the following diversity categories:
 - i. Gender:
 - ii. Age Group; and
 - iii. Other Indicators, such as minority or vulnerable groups.
- c. Ratio of the basic salary and remuneration of women to men for each employee category by significant location of operations.
- d. Definition used for 'significant locations of operations'

Standards

- (a) The principle of equal remuneration for men and women workers for work of equal value should apply to all workers. This principle may be applied by means of national laws or regulations, legally established or recognised machinery for wage determination, collective agreements between employers and workers, or a combination of these various means.⁵⁰⁸
- Women and men have the right to equal treatment, including the right to equal opportunities in political, economic and social spheres.⁵⁰⁹
- An employer should pay his employees equal remuneration for work of equal value.
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Employers should promote equality of opportunity and treatment in respect of employment and occupation, with a view to eliminating any discrimination based on race, colour, sex, religion, political opinion, national extraction or social origin.⁵¹¹
- Every person is equal before the law and has the right to equal protection and equal benefit of the law.⁵¹²
- An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee on any ground, including race, sex, pregnancy, marital status, health status, ethnic or social origin, colour, age, disability religion, political or other opinion, nationality, conscience, belief, culture, dress, language,

⁵⁰⁸ Article 2 of ILO's Equal Remuneration Convention (No. 100), 1951; paragraph 178(a) of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: Fourth World Conference on Women; article 29 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

⁵⁰⁹ Article 27(3) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010

⁵¹⁰ Section 5(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵¹¹ Article 2 of ILO's Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention (No. 111), 1958; article 28 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006); FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS03 at page 87; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS16 at page 89

⁵¹² Article 27(1) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

HIV status or birth, ⁵¹³ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment. ⁵¹⁴

- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Every person, without distinction as to race, colour, or national or ethnic origin, has the right to work, to free choice of employment, to just and favourable conditions of work, to protection against unemployment, to equal pay for equal work, just and favourable remuneration, and the right to form and join a trade union.⁵¹⁵
- It is the duty of the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour, labour officers and the Industrial Court to promote and guarantee equality of opportunity for a person who is a migrant worker or a member of the family of the migrant worker, lawfully within Kenya. The No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of race or nationality, The respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.
- An employer should pay his employees equal remuneration for work of equal value.⁵¹⁹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) Special measures must be taken to ensure equality in dignity and rights for individuals and groups wherever necessary, while ensuring that they are not such as to appear racially discriminatory. Particular attention should be paid to racial or ethnic groups which are socially or economically disadvantaged, so as to afford them, on a completely equal footing and without discrimination or restriction, the protection of the laws and regulations and the advantages of the social measures in force.⁵²⁰
- It is the duty of the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour, labour officers and the Industrial Court to promote and guarantee equality of opportunity for a person who is a migrant worker or a member of the family of the migrant worker, lawfully within Kenya.⁵²¹
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee
 or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of race, nationality, ethnic or social
 origin, ⁵²² in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment,
 termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment. ⁵²³
- An employer should pay his employees equal remuneration for work of equal value.

⁵¹³ Article 27(4) & (5) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010; section 5(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵¹⁴ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵¹⁵ Article 5(e)(i) & (ii) of the UN Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (1965)

⁵¹⁶ Section 5(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵¹⁷ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵¹⁸ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵¹⁹ Section 5(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵²⁰ Article 9(2) of the UNESCO Declaration on Race and Racial Prejudice (1978)

⁵²¹ Section 5(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵²² Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵²³ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵²⁴ Section 5(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (e) Discrimination against women in the field of employment should be eliminated, in order to ensure, on a basis of equality of men and women, the same rights, in particular:
 - i. the right to work;
 - ii. the right to the same employment opportunities as men, including the application of the same criteria for selection in matters of employment;
 - iii. the right to free choice of profession and employment, the right to promotion, job security and all benefits and conditions of service and the right to receive vocational training and retraining, including apprenticeships, advanced vocational training and recurrent training;
 - iv. the right to equal remuneration, including benefits, and to equal treatment in respect of work of equal value, as well as equality of treatment in the evaluation of the quality of work;
 - v. the right to social security, particularly in cases of retirement, unemployment, sickness, invalidity and old age and other incapacity to work, as well as the right to paid leave; and
 - vi. the right to protection of health and to safety in working conditions, including the safeguarding of the function of reproduction.⁵²⁵
- Women and men have the right to equal treatment, including the right to equal opportunities in political, economic and social spheres.⁵²⁶
- An employer should pay his employees equal remuneration for work of equal value.
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee
 or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of sex,⁵²⁸ in respect of recruitment,
 training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other
 matters arising out of the employment.⁵²⁹
- The provisions of the Employment Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there
 is no gap.
- (f) In a bid to strengthen women's economic capacity and commercial networks, mechanisms should be established to grant contracts on a non-discriminatory basis.
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee
 or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of sex,⁵³⁰ in respect of recruitment,
 training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other
 matters arising out of the employment.⁵³¹

⁵²⁵ Article 11(1) of the United Nations Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women

⁵²⁶ Article 27(3) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010

⁵²⁷ Section 5(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵²⁸ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵²⁹ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵³⁰ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵³¹ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- The provisions of the Employment Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there
 is no gap.
- (g) Employers should develop workplace policies against gender discrimination, especially considering older women workers, in hiring and promotion, and in the extension of employment benefits and social security, as well as regarding discriminatory working conditions and sexual harassment.
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee
 or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of sex,⁵³² in respect of recruitment,
 training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other
 matters arising out of the employment.⁵³³
- An employer who employs 20 or more employees should issue a policy statement on sexual harassment after consultation with the employees or their representatives. This policy should be brought to the attention of all employees. The policy should stipulate:
 - (a) That every employee is entitled to employment that is free of sexual harassment;
 - (b) That the employer will take steps to ensure that no employee is subjected to sexual harassment;
 - (c) That the employer will take disciplinary measures against any person who subjects any employee to sexual harassment;
 - (d) How complaints of sexual harassment may be brought to the attention of the employer; and
 - (e) That the employer will not disclose the name of the complainant or the circumstances related to the complaint to any person except where disclosure is necessary for the purpose of investigating the complaint or taking disciplinary measures in relation thereto.⁵³⁴
- The provisions of the Employment Act are set within the spirit of international standards. However, there is no express provision for older women. The Employment Act factors in women in general when making provision with regards to gender discrimination and sexual harassment. Therefore, in order for a company to fully comply with the Social requirements under ESG, then precise provision has to be made for this international standard.
- (h) Employees have the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion. This right includes the freedom to have a religion or belief of his choice, and freedom, either individually or in community with others and in public or private, to manifest his religion or belief in worship, observance, practice and teaching. No employee should be discriminated on grounds of religion or belief.⁵³⁵
- Every person has the right to freedom of conscience, religion, thought, belief and opinion. Every person has the right, either individually or in community with others, in public or in private, to manifest

⁵³² Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵³³ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵³⁴ Section 6(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵³⁵ Articles 1, 2 & 6 of the United Nations Declaration on the Elimination of all Forms of Intolerance and Discrimination based on Religion and Belief (1981)

any religion or belief through worship, practice, teaching or observance, including observance of a day of worship.⁵³⁶

- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of religion,⁵³⁷ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.⁵³⁸
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (i) Employees belonging to national or ethnic, religious and linguistic minorities have the right to enjoy their own culture, to profess and practise their own religion, and to use their own language, in private and in public, freely and without interference or any form of discrimination, without prejudice to the enjoyment by all persons of universally recognised human rights and fundamental freedoms.⁵³⁹
- Every person has the right to freedom of conscience, religion, thought, belief and opinion. Every person has the right, either individually or in community with others, in public or in private, to manifest any religion or belief through worship, practice, teaching or observance, including observance of a day of worship.⁵⁴⁰
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of religion, language, ethnic or social origin, ⁵⁴¹ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment. ⁵⁴²
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (j) Employers should take measures to ensure women's equal access to full participation in power structures and decision-making in the organisation.⁵⁴³
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee
 or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of sex,⁵⁴⁴ in respect of recruitment,
 training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other
 matters arising out of the employment.⁵⁴⁵
- The provisions of the Employment Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (k) Multinational enterprises should be guided throughout their operations by the principle of equality of opportunity and treatment in employment and not discriminate against their workers with respect to

⁵³⁶ Article 32(1) & (2) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁵³⁷ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵³⁸ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵³⁹ Articles 2(1) and 8(2) of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Persons belonging to National and Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities (1992)

⁵⁴⁰ Article 32(1) & (2) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁵⁴¹ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁴² Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁴³ Article 192 of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: Fourth World Conference on Women

⁵⁴⁴ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁴⁵ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

employment or occupation on such grounds as race, colour, sex, religion, political opinion, national extraction or social origin, or other status, unless selectivity concerning worker characteristics furthers established governmental policies which specifically promote greater equality of employment opportunity or relates to the inherent requirements of a job.⁵⁴⁶

- An employer is defined as any person, public body, firm, corporation or company which has entered into a contract of service to employ any individual and includes the agent, foreman, manager or factor of such a person, public body, firm, corporation or company.⁵⁴⁷
- Every person is equal before the law and has the right to equal protection and equal benefit of the law.⁵⁴⁸ An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee on any ground, including race, sex, pregnancy, marital status, health status, ethnic or social origin, colour, age, disability religion, political or other opinion, nationality, conscience, belief, culture, dress, language, HIV status or birth, ⁵⁴⁹ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.⁵⁵⁰
- A multinational enterprise falls within the description of an employer under the Employment Act.
 Therefore, local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there
 is no gap.

29. Non-discrimination

Discrimination is the act and the result of treating people unequally by imposing unequal burdens or denying benefits, instead of treating each person fairly on the basis of individual merit. Discrimination can also include harassment. This is defined as a course of comments or actions that are unwelcome, or should reasonably be known to be unwelcome, to the person towards whom they are addressed.

GRI Reporting Standards (406)

- a. Total number of incidents of discrimination during the reporting period.
- b. Status of the incidents and the actions taken with reference to the following:
 - i. Incident renewed by the organisation;
 - ii. Remediation plans being implemented;
 - iii. Remediation plans that have been implemented with results renewed; and
 - iv. Incident no longer subject to action.

Standards

(a) Please refer to the international and local standards set out under 'Diversity and Equal Opportunity', at Standard 28 above.

⁵⁴⁶ Paragraph 1(e) Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁵⁴⁷ Section 2 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁴⁸ Article 27(1) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁵⁴⁹ Article 27(4) & (5) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010; section 5(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁵⁰ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- (b) Migrant workers should not be discriminated based on their sex, race, colour, language, religion or conviction, political or other opinion, national, ethnic or social origin, nationality, age, economic position, property, marital status, birth or other status.⁵⁵¹
- It is the duty of the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour, labour officers and the Industrial Court to promote and guarantee equality of opportunity for a person who is a migrant worker or a member of the family of the migrant worker, lawfully within Kenya.⁵⁵² No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of race or nationality,⁵⁵³ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.⁵⁵⁴
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Migrant workers should not be discriminated and treated less favourably than nationals of the State of employment in respect of remuneration and other conditions of work, which include: (a) overtime, hours of work, weekly rest, holidays with pay, safety, health, termination of the employment relationship and any other conditions of work which, according to national law and practice, are covered by these terms; and (b) other terms of employment, which include, minimum age of employment, restriction on work and any other matters which, according to national law and practice, are considered a term of employment.⁵⁵⁵
- It is the duty of the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour, labour officers and the Industrial Court to
 promote and guarantee equality of opportunity for a person who is a migrant worker or a member of
 the family of the migrant worker, lawfully within Kenya.⁵⁵⁶
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of race or nationality,⁵⁵⁷ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.⁵⁵⁸
- An employer should pay his employees equal remuneration for work of equal value.
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) Migrant workers shall not be discriminated against taking part in meetings and activities of trade unions.⁵⁶⁰

⁵⁵¹ Article 7 of the United Nations Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Family (1990)

⁵⁵² Section 5(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁵³ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁵⁴ Section 5(30(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁵⁵ Article 25(1) of the United Nations Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Family (1990)

⁵⁵⁶ Section 5(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁵⁷ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁵⁸ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁵⁹ Section 5(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁵⁶⁰ Article 26 of the United Nations Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Family (1990)

- Every worker has the right to form, join or participate in the activities and programmes of a trade union.⁵⁶¹
- An employer should promote and guarantee equality of opportunity in employment and strive to eliminate discrimination in any employment policy or practice.⁵⁶²
- The provisions of the Constitution of Kenya, the Employment Act and the Labour Relations Act are set within the spirit of international standards.

HUMAN RIGHTS AND COMMUNITY TOPICS AND STANDARDS

30. Occupational Health and Safety

The right to a healthy and safe workplace is recognised as a human right. The health and safety of workers can be affected by both the work they perform and the workplace where it is performed.

GRI Reporting Standards (403)

- a. The level at which each formal joint management worker health and safety committee typically operates within the organisation.
- b. Percentage of workers whose
- c. work or workplace is controlled by the organisation, that is controlled by the organisation that are represented by formal joint management worker health and safety committees.
- d. Types of injury, injury rate occupational disease rate, lost day rate, absentee rate and work related fatalities for all employees, with a breakdown by:
 - i. region; and
 - ii. gender.
- e. Types of injury, injury rate and work related fatalities for all workers (excluding employees) whose work or workplace is controlled by the organisation with a breakdown by:
 - i. region; and
 - ii. gender.
- f. System of rules applied in recording and reporting accidents statistics.
- g. Whether there are workers whose work or workplace is controlled by the organisation involved in occupational activities who have a high incident or high risk of specific diseases.
- h. Whether formal agreements (whether local or global) with trade unions cover health and safety.

⁵⁶¹ Article 41(2)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁵⁶² Section 5(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007; Section 8 of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

i. If so the extent as a percentage, to which various health and safety topics are covered by these agreements.

Standards

- (a) Employees should be trained in one capacity or another, for purposes of achieving adequate levels of safety and health at the workplace.⁵⁶³
- Employers should ensure that employees participate in the application and review of safety and health measures.⁵⁶⁴
- Employers should ensure that an employee from other undertakings or establishments including contractors engaged in work at the occupier's workplace receive appropriate instructions regarding safety and health risks including emergency procedures at the workplace during their activities at the workplace and action to be taken in case of an emergency.⁵⁶⁵
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Each state should formulate, implement and periodically review a coherent national policy on occupational safety, occupational health and the working environment, in order to prevent accidents and injury to health arising out of, linked with or occurring in the course of work. 566 The national policy shall indicate the functions of employers in respect of occupational safety and health and the working environment. 567
- The Director of Occupational Safety and Health Services should ensure adequate consultations on proposed occupational safety and health standards regulations and codes of practice, and should develop a 5 year strategic plan for improving occupational safety and health, and ensure that this plan meets the existing and future needs of industry and the community.⁵⁶⁸
- Under the Occupational Safety and Health Act, the mandate of formulating, implementing and reviewing rules in relation to occupational health and safety is bestowed upon a director of occupational safety and health services. The provisions of the Act are therefore set within the spirit of international standards.
- Additionally, Kenya has ratified the ILO Occupational Safety and Health Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Employers, in consultation with workers and their representatives, should set out in writing an Occupational Safety and Health policy, which should be:

⁵⁶³ Article 6 of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981; article 53 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006), Paragraph 4(c) Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011); Article 19(d) of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981;

FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS05 at page 70 & SHS13 at page 71

⁵⁶⁴ Section 6(2)(g) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁶⁵ Section 99(4) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁶⁶ Article 4 of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981

⁵⁶⁷ Article 6 of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981; article 53 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006), Paragraph 4(c) Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁵⁶⁸ Section 23(3) & (4) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

- i. specific to the organisation and appropriate to its size and the nature of its activities;
- ii. concise, clearly written, dated and made effective by the signature or endorsement of the employer or the most senior accountable person in the organisation;
- iii. communicated and readily accessible to all persons at their place of work;
- iv. reviewed for continuing suitability; and
- v. made available to relevant external interested parties, as appropriate. 569
- Employers should prepare and as often as may be appropriate, revise a written statement of their general policies with respect to the safety and health at work of its employees and the organisation and arrangements for the time being in force for carrying out that policy.⁵⁷⁰
- While Kenyan law requires a company to have in place a policy with regards to the safety and health
 a work of its employees, this requirement is not specific, as it does not specify what a company
 should ensure is included in the policy. Therefore, companies that wish to comply with ESG
 requirements should ensure that its health and safety policy conforms to the international standard.
- (d) An employer should ensure that there is board oversight of management of health and safety risks at the workplace, and there should be a named positon responsible for this at the board level.⁵⁷¹
- No local standard
- As far as we are aware, there is a gap under Kenyan law, as far as this particular standard is concerned, as there is no legal requirement under Kenyan law, mandating the board of directors to oversee health and safety risks at the workplace. Kenyan legislation does not make any provisions that satisfy the above international standard.
- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (e) A worker who has removed himself from a work situation which he has reasonable justification to believe presents an imminent and serious danger to his life or health, shall be protected from undue consequences in accordance with national conditions and practice.⁵⁷²
- Employers should not dismiss an employee, injure the employee, or discriminate against or disadvantage an employee in respect of the employee's employment, or alter the employee's position to the detriment of the employee by reason only that the employee has made a complaint about a matter which the employee considers is not safe or is a risk to his health.⁵⁷³

⁵⁶⁹ Article 3.1.1 of the ILO Guidelines on Occupational Safety and Health Management Systems (2001); FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS01, SHS04, SHS05 & SHS39 at page 70, SHS08 at page 71

⁵⁷⁰ Section 7(1)(a) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁷¹ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model - 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS03 at page 70

⁵⁷² Article 13 of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981

⁵⁷³ Article 8(1)(a) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

- An employer should not make any deduction from an employee's remuneration or levy, or permit to be levied on any of his employees and any charge in respect of anything done or provided in pursuance of the Occupational Safety and Health Act.⁵⁷⁴
- An employee who has left a work place, which the employee has reasonable justification to believe
 presents imminent and serious danger to life and health should not be dismissed, discriminated
 against or disadvantaged for such action by the employer.⁵⁷⁵
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (f) Employers are required to ensure that, in as far as is reasonably practicable, the workplaces, machinery, equipment and processes under their control are safe and without risk to health.⁵⁷⁶
- Employers should carry out appropriate risk assessments in relation to the safety and health of
 employees, and on the basis of these results, adopt preventive and protective measures to ensure
 that under all conditions of their intended use, all machinery, equipment, tools and processes under
 the control of the employer are safe and are without risk to health and comply with the requirements
 of safety and health provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act.⁵⁷⁷
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (g) Employers are required to ensure that, in so far as is reasonably practicable, the chemical, physical and biological substances and agents under their control are without risk to health when the appropriate measures of protection are taken.⁵⁷⁸
- Every occupier (including employers) should carry out appropriate risk assessments in relation to the safety and health of employees, and on the basis of these results, adopt preventive and protective measures to ensure that under all conditions of their intended use, all chemicals, machinery, equipment, tools and processes under the control of the occupier are safe and are without risk to health and comply with the requirements of safety and health provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act.⁵⁷⁹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (h) Employers are required to provide, where necessary, adequate protective clothing and protective equipment to prevent, in so far as is reasonably practicable, risk of accidents or of adverse effects on health.⁵⁸⁰
- Every employer should provide and maintain for the use of employees in any workplace where employees are exposed to wet or to any injurious or offensive substance, adequate, effective and suitable protective clothing and appliances, including where necessary, suitable gloves, footwear, goggles and head covering.⁵⁸¹

⁵⁷⁴ Section 10(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁷⁵ Section 14(2) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁷⁶ Article 16(1) of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981

⁵⁷⁷ Section 6(3) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁷⁸ Article 16(2) of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981

⁵⁷⁹ Section 6(3) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁸⁰ Article 16(3) of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981

⁵⁸¹ Section 101 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (i) Employers are required to provide, where necessary, measures to deal with emergencies and accidents, including adequate first-aid arrangements.⁵⁸²
- An employer should provide and maintain appliances and services for the rendering of first aid to its employees in case of any accident.⁵⁸³
- Every employer should ensure that an employee from other undertakings or establishments including contractors engaged in work at the occupier's workplace receive appropriate instructions regarding safety and health risks including emergency procedures at the workplace during their activities at the workplace and action to be taken in case of an emergency.⁵⁸⁴
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (j) Occupational safety and health measures should not involve any expenditure for the workers. 585
- An employer should ensure that the medical examination of employees working in hazardous environments which may be prescribed by the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour from time to time should take place without loss of earnings for the employees and if possible within normal working hours during their employment.⁵⁸⁶
- Every employer should ensure that an employee from other undertakings or establishments including contractors engaged in work at the occupier's workplace receive appropriate instructions regarding safety and health risks including emergency procedures at the workplace during their activities at the workplace and action to be taken in case of an emergency.⁵⁸⁷ This training should not be at the expense of the employee and shall take place during working hours.⁵⁸⁸
- The Occupational Safety and Health Act is specific in terms of what should not involve any expenditure for the workers. Sections 99 and 103 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act only envisage training in relation to safety and health risks at the workplace, and any medical examination of employees working in hazardous environments. While these provisions are set within the spirit of international standards, they do not cover all measures.
- However, Kenya has ratified the ILO Occupational Safety and Health Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- (k) Employers should establish occupational health services in consultation with worker representatives and workers. Occupational health services shall be established by laws or regulations, or by collective agreements, or in any other manner approved by the state after consultation with the representative organisations of employers and workers concerned.⁵⁸⁹

⁵⁸² Article 18 of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981

⁵⁸³ Section 45 of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

⁵⁸⁴ Section 99(4) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁸⁵ Article 21 of ILO's Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155), 1981

⁵⁸⁶ Section 103 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁸⁷ Section 99(4) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁸⁸ Section 99(5) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁸⁹ Articles 3(2) and 6 of ILO's Occupational Health Services Convention (No. 161), 1985

- Employers should establish a safety and health committee at the workplace in accordance with prescribed regulations if there are 20 or more persons employed at the workplace, or if the Director of the Occupational Safety and Health Services directs the establishment of such a committee at a workplace.⁵⁹⁰
- Employers should ensure that a thorough safety and health audit of its workplace is carried out at least once every 12 months by a safety and health advisor, who shall issue a report of such an audit containing the prescribed particulars to the occupier.⁵⁹¹
- The Occupational Safety and Health Act complies with the requirement of the international standard, save that the former establishes a requirement for formation of a safety and health committee at the workplace, if there are 20 or more persons employed at the workplace. The international standard requires all companies regardless of the number of employees, to comply with the requirement. Companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should therefore make provision for this international standard.
- (I) Personnel providing occupational health services should enjoy full professional independence from employers, workers, and their representatives, where they exist.⁵⁹²
- The Occupational Safety and Health Act establishes the office of the director of occupational safety and health services responsible for the administration of the Act. The role of the director is independent from that of the employer and the workers.⁵⁹³
- The provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (m) The surveillance of workers' health in relation to work should involve no loss of earnings for them, should be free of charge and should take place as far as possible during working hours.⁵⁹⁴
- An employer should ensure that the medical examination of employees working in hazardous environments which may be prescribed by the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour from time to time should take place without loss of earnings for the employees and if possible within normal working hours during their employment.⁵⁹⁵
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (n) Workers should be informed of health hazards involved in their work. 596
- Every employer should maintain a record of hazardous chemicals used at the workplace, crossreferenced to the appropriate chemical safety data sheets, which record should be accessible to all employees concerned and their representatives.⁵⁹⁷

⁵⁹⁰ Section 9(1)(b) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁹¹ Section 11(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁹² Article 10 of ILO's Occupational Health Services Convention (No. 161), 1985

⁵⁹³ Section 27 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁹⁴ Article 12 of ILO's Occupational Health Services Convention (No. 161), 1985

⁵⁹⁵ Section 103 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁹⁶ Article 13 of ILO's Occupational Health Services Convention (No. 161), 1985

⁵⁹⁷ Section 85(8) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

- Employers should ensure that employees participate in the application and review of safety and health measures. 598
- Employers should ensure that an employee from other undertakings or establishments including contractors engaged in work at the occupier's workplace receive appropriate instructions regarding safety and health risks including emergency procedures at the workplace during their activities at the workplace and action to be taken in case of an emergency.⁵⁹⁹
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (o) Occupational health services should be informed of occurrences of ill health amongst workers and absence from work for health reasons, in order to be able to identify whether there is any relation between the reasons for ill health or absence and any health hazards which may be present at the workplace. Personnel providing occupational health services shall not be required by the employer to verify the reasons for absence from work.⁶⁰⁰
- An employer should notify the area occupational safety and health officer of any accident, dangerous occurrence or occupational poisoning which as occurred at the workplace.⁶⁰¹ Where an accident in a workplace causes the death of a person, the employer should inform the area occupational safety and health officer within 24 hours of the occurrence of the accident.⁶⁰²
- The provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (p) Employers should take into account pregnant and lactating mothers when developing policies required to alleviate and eliminate environmental and occupational health hazards associated with work in the workplace.⁶⁰³
- No local standard
- As far as we are aware, there is a gap under Kenyan law, as far as this particular standard is concerned, as there is no legal requirement under Kenyan law, specifically mandating a company to take into account the above international standard, as far as occupational health hazards are concerned.
- The Occupational Health and Safety Act is however set within the spirit of international standards as it provides this requirement for all employees, and does not categorise employees into different classes.
- Companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should nevertheless make specific provision for this international standard.

⁵⁹⁸ Section 6(2)(g) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁵⁹⁹ Section 99(4) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁶⁰⁰ Article 15 of ILO's Occupational Health Services Convention (No. 161), 1985

⁶⁰¹ Section 21(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007; Section 22(1) of the Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

⁶⁰² Section 21(2)(a) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁶⁰³ Paragraph 106(p) of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: Fourth World Conference on Women

- (q) Employers should record and investigate occupational accidents and diseases, commuting accidents and dangerous occurrences and incidents.⁶⁰⁴
- An employer should send a written notice of any disease specified in the second schedule of the Occupational Safety and Health Act occurring in a workplace to the Director of Occupational Safety and Health Services.⁶⁰⁵
- Whilst the Occupational Health and Safety Act is set within the spirit of international standards as it
 mandates an employer to report any accidents occurring at the workplace, it does not require the
 employer to keep a record of, or investigate, the incidents. Therefore, companies that wish to comply
 with ESG requirements should make specific provision for this international standard.
- (r) Employers should keep a record of work-related fatalities over 3 years per 1000 employees relative to sector peers. 606
- An employer should notify the area occupational safety and health officer of any accident, dangerous occurrence or occupational poisoning which has occurred at the workplace.⁶⁰⁷ Where an accident in a workplace causes the death of a person, the employer should inform the area occupational safety and health officer within 24 hours of the occurrence of the accident, and send a written notice of the accident in the prescribed form to the area occupational safety and health officer within 7 days of the occurrence of the accident.⁶⁰⁸
- The provision of the Occupational Safety and Health Act does not match the requirement of the international standard. However, it is set within the spirit of international standards as it makes it a requirement for a company to report on such matters. This would imply that a company also has to keep a record. However, for good measure, companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (s) Workers and their representatives should be given appropriate information by the employer about the arrangements for recording and notifying information required for benefits in the case of occupational injury and occupational disease, occupational accidents, occupational diseases, commuting accidents, dangerous occurrences and incidents.⁶⁰⁹
- No local standard
- The provisions under Kenyan legislation only go as far as to provide for the requirements set out in (r) above. There is therefore a gap in terms of this international standard. Companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (t) Employers should ensure that there is independent verification by a third party, of the health and safety data generated by the employer, and that there are clear disclosures of the international assurance standard used, and the level of assurance.⁶¹⁰

⁶⁰⁴ Article 2.1.1 of ILO's Code of Practice in Recording and Notification of Occupational Accidents and Diseases (1996); FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS37, SHS15, SHS38 & SHS40 at page 71

⁶⁰⁵ Section 22(3) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁶⁰⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS36 at page 74

⁶⁰⁷ Section 21(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁶⁰⁸ Section 21(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁶⁰⁹ Article 3.1.9 of ILO's Code of Practice in Recording and Notification of Occupational Accidents and Diseases (1996);

FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS37 at page 71

⁶¹⁰ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model - 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS10 at page 71

- An occupational safety and health officer has the power to enter, inspect and examine, by day or by night, a workplace, when he has reasonable cause to believe that any person is employed therein.
 The occupational health and safety officer may require the production of the registers, certificates, notices and documents kept in pursuance of the Occupational Safety and Health Act.
- The provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act are set within the spirit of international standards. On this basis, there is no gap.
- (u) Employers should be in a position to provide a percentage of sites with OHSAS 1801 certification (which involves a framework used to identify, control and decrease the risks associated with health and safety within the workplace).⁶¹¹
- Every occupier (including employers) should ensure the safety, health and welfare at work of all persons at the workplace. This would include, the provision and maintenance of plant and systems and procedures of work that are safe and without risks to health, arrangements for ensuring safety and absence of risks to health in connection with the use, handling, storage and transport of articles and substances, the provision of such information, instruction, training and supervision as is necessary to ensure the safety and health at work of every person employed, the maintenance of any workplace under the employer's control, in a condition that is safe and without risks to health and the provision and maintenance of means of access to and egress from it that are safe and without such risks to health, the provision and maintenance of a working environment for every person employed that is safe, without risks to health, and adequate as regards facilities and arrangements for the employees welfare at work, informing all persons employed of any risks from new technologies and imminent danger, and ensuring that every person employed participates in the application and review of safety and health measures.⁶¹²
- The provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act are set within the spirit of international standards. On this basis, there is no gap.
- (v) Employers should put in place a company statement on programmes to address global health issues including HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria.⁶¹³
- No local standard.
- There is no requirement for the fulfilment of the above standard under Kenyan law. Therefore, companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (w) Multinational enterprises should make available their relevant experience within the organisation as a whole, including any knowledge of special hazards. They should also make available to the representatives of the workers, and upon request, to the competent authorities and the workers' and employers' organizations in all countries in which they operate, information on the safety and health standards relevant to their local operations, which they observe in other countries.⁶¹⁴

⁶¹¹ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS12 at page 71

⁶¹² Section 6(1) & (2) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁶¹³ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHS02 & SHS11 at page 71

⁶¹⁴ Article 44 of ILO's Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

- Every occupier (including employers) should ensure the safety, health and welfare at work of all
 persons at the workplace. The duty of an occupier includes the provision of such information as is
 necessary to ensure the safety and health at work of every person employed.⁶¹⁵
- An employer is defined as any person, public body, firm, corporation or company which has entered
 into a contract of service to employ any individual and includes the agent, foreman, manager or
 factor of such a person, public body, firm, corporation or company.⁶¹⁶
- On the basis that multinational enterprises fall within the definition of an employer under the Employment Act, then the provisions of the Occupational Safety and Health Act are set within the spirit of international standards. There is therefore no gap with respect to this international standard.

31. Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining

Freedom of association refers to the right of employers and workers to form, to join and to run their own organisations without prior authorisation or interference by the state or any other entity. Collective bargaining refers to all negotiations, which take place between one or more employers' organisations, on the one hand, and one or more workers' organisations (trade unions), the other, for determining working conditions and terms of employment or for regulating relations between employers and workers.

GRI Reporting Standards (407)

- a. Operations and suppliers in which workers rights to exercise freedom of association or collective bargaining may be violated or at significant risk either in in terms of:
 - i. type of operation (manufacturing plant) and supplier; and
 - ii. continues or geographic areas with operations and suppliers considered at risk.
- b. Measures taken by the organisation in the reporting period intended to support rights to exercise freedom of association and collective bargaining.

- (a) Workers have the right to establish and join organisations of their own choosing without previous authorisation.⁶¹⁷ No worker should be compelled to join an association.⁶¹⁸
- Every person has the right to freedom of association, which includes the right to form, join or participate in the activities of an association of any kind. A person should not be compelled to join an association of any kind.⁶¹⁹

⁶¹⁵ Section 6(1) & (2) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁶¹⁶ Section 2 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁶¹⁷ Article 2 of ILO's Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention (No. 87), 1948; article 20(1) of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948); article 22(1) of the United Nations International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights; article 48 of the ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006); FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS05 at page 87

⁶¹⁸ Article 2092) of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948); article 48 of the ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006)

⁶¹⁹ Article 36(1) & (2) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

- Every person has the right to freedom of association, which includes the right to form, join or participate in the activities of an association of any kind. 620
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Workers' organisations have the right to establish and join federations and confederations. Such organisation, federation or confederation has the right to affiliate with international organisations of workers and employers.⁶²¹
- Every trade union has the right to participate in forming a federation of trade unions, join a federation
 of trade unions and to participate in its lawful activities, and affiliate with, and participate in the affairs
 of any international workers organisation.⁶²²
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Workers have a right to join trade unions. 623
- Every worker has the right to form, join or participate in the activities and programmes of a trade union. 624
- Every employee has the right to participate in forming a trade union or federation of trade unions, join a trade union or leave a trade union. 625
- An employee who has not attained the age of 18 years but appears to be above the apparent age
 of 16 years may be a member of a trade union and shall enjoy all the rights of a member, but shall
 not form part of the executive or trustee of the trade union.⁶²⁶
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) Employers should eliminate racial discrimination amongst their employees, and guarantee the right to peaceful assembly and association.⁶²⁷
- No person shall discriminate against an employee or any person seeking employment for exercising the right to freedom of association.⁶²⁸
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

⁶²⁰Article 36 of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁶²¹Article 5 of ILO's Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention (No. 87), 1948; article 8(b) of the United Nations International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (1966)

⁶²² Section 8 of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007; article 41(4)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁶²³ Article 1 of ILO's Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention (No. 98), 1949; article 155 of the ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy

^{(2006),} Paragraph 1(a), Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁶²⁴ Article 41(2)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010; section 5(2) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁶²⁵ Section 4(1) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁶²⁶ Section 32 of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁶²⁷ Article 5(ix) of the United Nations Convention on the Elimination of all forms of Racial Discrimination (1965)

⁶²⁸ Section 5(1) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

- (e) Collective bargaining should be made possible for all groups of workers. 629
- Every trade union has the right to engage in collective bargaining.⁶³⁰
- An employer should recognise a trade union for purposes of collective bargaining if that trade union represents the simple majority of unionisable employees.⁶³¹
- An employer that has recognised a trade union should conclude a collective agreement with the recognised trade union setting out terms and conditions of service for all unionisable employees.⁶³²
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (f) Migrant workers have the right to form associations and trade unions in the state of employment for the promotion and protection of their economic, social, cultural and other interests, 633 to join freely any trade union and any such association as aforesaid, subject only to the rules of the organisation concerned, and to seek the aid and assistance of any trade union. 634
- No person should discriminate against an employee or any person seeking employment for exercising the right to freedom of association.⁶³⁵
- Although it does not specifically provide for migrant workers, the provisions of the Labour Relations
 Act satisfies the requirements of the above international standard. We therefore there conclude that
 there is no gap.
- Also, Kenya has ratified the United Nations International Convention on the Protection of the Rights
 of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families, which is the source of this international
 standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the
 laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.

32. Child Labour

Work which deprives children of their childhood, their potential and their dignity and that is harmful to their physical or mental development, including by interfering with their education.

GRI Reporting Standards (408)

- a. Operations and supplies considered to have significant risk for incidents of:
 - i. child labour; and/or
 - ii. young workers exposed to hazardous work

⁶²⁹ Article 5(2)(a) of ILO's Collective Bargaining Convention (No. 154), 1981; paragraphs 1(b) & 2(a) Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011); FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS06 at page 87

⁶³⁰ Article 41(5) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010

⁶³¹ Section 54 of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁶³² Section 57 of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁶³³ Article 40(1) of the United Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (1990).

⁶³⁴ Article 26(b) & (c) of the United Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (1990)

⁶³⁵ Section 5(1) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

- b. As in (a) above in terms of:
 - i. type of operation (such as manufacturing) and supplier; and
 - ii. countries of geographic areas with operations and suppliers considered at risk.
- c. Measures taken by the organisation in the reporting period intended to contribute to the effective abolition of child labour.

- (a) Employers should not employ anyone under the minimum age prescribed by national laws and regulations for admission to employment or work.⁶³⁶
- No person should employ a child who has not attained the age of 13 years whether gainfully or otherwise in any undertaking.⁶³⁷
- Every child (who has not attained the age of 18 years) should be protected from economic exploitation and any work that is likely to interfere with the child's education, or be harmful to the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral or social development.⁶³⁸
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Minimum age prescribed by national laws and regulations should not be less than the age of completion of compulsory schooling and, in any case, should not be less than 15 years. 639 Minimum age for employment could be specified to 14 years for states whose economy and educational facilities are insufficiently developed. 640
- No person should employ a child who has not attained the age of 13 years whether gainfully or otherwise in any undertaking.⁶⁴¹
- The provision of the Employment Act does not conform to the requirement of the international standard, because, whilst the international standard stipulates that minimum age prescribed by national laws and regulations should not be less than the age of completion of compulsory schooling, and in any event, not less than 15 years, the Employment Act provides for 13 years as the minimum age. There is therefore a discrepancy in terms of the international standards and the Employment Act.
- However, Kenya is a signatory to the ILO Minimum Age Convention. Further, Kenya has ratified the ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya.

⁶³⁶ Article 2(1) of ILO's Minimum Age Convention (No. 138), 1973; article 26 of the ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006); paragraph 1(c) Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011); FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS14 at page 88; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS01 at page 87

⁶³⁷ Section 56(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁶³⁸ Section 10(1) of the Children Act No. 8 of 2001

⁶³⁹ Article 2(3) of ILO's Minimum Age Convention (No. 138), 1973

⁶⁴⁰ Article 2(4) of ILO's Minimum Age Convention (No. 138), 1973

⁶⁴¹ Section 56(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- There is disparity between the Employment Act and the convention. Companies that wish to comply
 with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (c) The minimum age for admission to any type of employment or work which by its nature or the circumstances in which it is carried out is likely to jeopardise the health, safety or morals of young persons shall not be less than 18 years. 642 However, competent authorities may authorise employment or work as from the age of 16 years on condition that the health, safety and morals of the young persons concerned are fully protected by the employer, and that the young persons have received adequate specific instruction or vocational training in the relevant branch of activity. 643
- Employers should not allow a person below the apparent age of 18 years to be employed at any
 workplace or work process, or perform work, which by its nature or the circumstances, in which it is
 carried out, is likely to harm the person's safety or health.⁶⁴⁴
- Each child should be protected from any work that is likely to be hazardous or harmful to the child's health.⁶⁴⁵
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) Subject to national laws and regulations, employment or work of persons aged 13 to 15 years on light work which is not likely to be harmful to their health or development, and not such as to prejudice their attendance at school, their participation in vocational orientation or training programmes is allowed.⁶⁴⁶
- A child between 13 and 16 years of age may be employed to perform light work which is:
 - (a) Not likely to be harmful to the child's health or development; or
 - (b) Not such as to prejudice the child's attendance at school, his participation in vocational orientation or training programmes approved by the Cabinet Secretary in charge of labour relations. The Cabinet Secretary may make rules prescribing light work in which a child of between 13 16 years of age may be employed and the terms and conditions of that employment.⁶⁴⁷
- No person should employ a child between 13 16 years of age, other than one serving under a
 contract of apprenticeship or indentured learnership in accordance with the provisions of the
 Industrial Training Act, in an industrial undertaking to attend to machinery.⁶⁴⁸
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

⁶⁴² Article 3(1) of ILO's Minimum Age Convention (No. 138), 1973; article 32 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989)

⁶⁴³ Article 3(3) of ILO's Minimum Age Convention (No. 138), 1973

⁶⁴⁴ Section 97 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No 15 of 2007

⁶⁴⁵ Section 10(1) of the Children Act No. 8 of 2001

⁶⁴⁶ Article 7(1) of ILO's Minimum Age Convention (No. 138), 1973

⁶⁴⁷ Section 56 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁶⁴⁸ Section 58 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- (e) Employers should not subject children (under the age of 18), to the worst forms of child labour which comprise:
 - all forms of slavery or practices similar to slavery, such as the sale and trafficking of children, debt bondage and serfdom and forced or compulsory labour, including forced or compulsory recruitment of children for use in armed conflict;
 - ii. the use, procuring or offering of a child for prostitution, for the production of pornography or for pornographic performances;
 - iii. the use, procuring or offering of a child for illicit activities, in particular for the production and trafficking of drugs as defined in the relevant international treaties; and/or
 - iv. work which, by its nature or the circumstances in which it is carried out, is likely to harm the health, safety or morals of children.⁶⁴⁹
- No person should employ a child in any activity which constitutes worst form of child labour. The
 Cabinet Secretary concerned with labour matters should make regulations declaring any work,
 activity or contract of service harmful to the health, safety or morals of a child.⁶⁵⁰ Rule 12(3) read
 together with Schedule 4 of the Employment (General) Rules set out a list of activities deemed to
 be harmful to the health, safety and morals of a child.⁶⁵¹
- The Employment Act and the Employment (General) Rules do not provide an exhaustive list encompassing all the examples provided by the international standards. There is therefore a gap in this respect.
- However, Kenya has ratified the ILO Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, which is the source
 of this international standard. By virtue of article 2 (6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention
 constitutes part of the laws of Kenya.

33. Forced or compulsory labour

All work or service which is extracted from any person under the menace of any penalty and for which the said person has not offered himself voluntarily.

GRI Reporting Standards (409)

- a. Operations and suppliers considered to have significant risk for incidents of forced or compulsory labour either in terms of:
 - i. type of operation (such as manufacturing plant) and supplier; and
 - ii. countries or geographic arears with operations and suppliers considered at risk.
- b. Measures taken by the organisation in the reporting period intended to contribute to the elimination of all forms of forced or compulsory labour.

⁶⁴⁹ Article 2(3) of ILO's Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention (No. 182), 1999; article 26 of the ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006); Paragraph 1(c) Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011)

⁶⁵⁰ Section 53 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁶⁵¹ Employment (General) Rules 2014

- (a) No employee should be held in slavery or servitude. 652
- A person should not be held in slavery or servitude.⁶⁵³
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Employers should not subject their employees to forced or compulsory labour. 654
- A person should not be required to perform forced labour.⁶⁵⁵
- No person shall use or assist any other person in recruiting, trafficking or using forced labour. 656
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

34. Security Practices

Conduct of security personnel trained in human rights and policies towards third parties and the potential risk for excessive use of force or other violations of human rights.

GRI Reporting Standards (410)

- (a) Percentage of security personnel who have received formal training in the organisation's human right policies or specific procedures and their application to security.
- (b) Whether training requirements also apply to third party organisations providing security personnel.

- (a) To operate in accordance with the Code. 657
- Under Kenyan law, there is established the Private Security Regulation Act which applies to private security officers, security guards, private security service providers, private security firms and private investigators.⁶⁵⁸

Article 8(1) and (2) of the United Nations Convention on Civil and Political Rights (1966); the United Nations Slavery
 Convention (1926); article 4 of the United Nations Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948); article 11(1) of the United Nations Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (1990)
 Article 30(1) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010

⁶⁵⁴ Article 1 of ILO's Forced Labour Convention, 1930 (No. 29); Article 11(2) of the United Nations Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Families (1990); paragraphs 23 – 25 of the of the ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy (2006); paragraph 1(d) Section V of the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011); FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS02 at page 87; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS14 at page 88 655 Article 30(2) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010

⁶⁵⁶ Section 4 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁶⁵⁷ International Code of Conduct for Private Security Service Providers (ICCPSSP) (2010) Paragraphs 16 and 44

⁶⁵⁸ Section 4 of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

- A registered private security provider should not act in a manner that violates national or international law. 659
- The International Code of Conduct for Private Security Service Providers does not form part of Kenyan law. However, Kenya has in place the Private Security Regulation Act which governs the conduct of private security providers. This Act also requires private security providers not to act in a manner that violates international law. In this respect, it could be said that private security providers are mandated to comply with the International Code of Conduct for Private Security Service Providers. Local law therefore adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) To establish and maintain an effective internal governance framework in order to deter, monitor, report and effectively address adverse impacts on human rights.⁶⁶⁰
- A registered private security provider should develop internal systems of governance including a
 code of conduct, and policies on the recruitment, training, financial and contractual policies and
 registration of employees, amongst other things, and these systems will be open to public scrutiny
 at all times.⁶⁶¹
- A registered private security provider should promptly and thoroughly investigate complaints of inappropriate or illegal behaviours by staff, and should inform the police of these actions when appropriate.⁶⁶²
- Although the Private Security Regulation Act does not expressly provide for the requirement of a
 framework to monitor adverse impacts on human rights, it requires each security services provider
 to develop internal systems of governance which would include a code of conduct. It also requires
 a private security provider to investigate complaints of inappropriate or illegal behaviours by its staff.
 One could therefore say that these provisions would encompass a framework to monitor adverse
 impacts on human rights.
- However, for good measure, companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make specific provision for this international standard.
- (c) To establish objective and measurable standards for providing security services based on the code. 663
- A registered private security provider should develop internal systems of governance including a
 code of conduct, and policies on the recruitment, training, financial and contractual policies and
 registration of employees, amongst other things, and these systems will be open to public scrutiny
 at all times.⁶⁶⁴

⁶⁵⁹ Section 68 read together with paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁶⁰ ICCPSSP paragraphs 21 and 25; IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 Standard 4

⁶⁶¹ Section 68 read together with paragraph j, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁶² Section 68 read together with paragraph k, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁶³ ICCPSSP paragraphs 27; IFC PSESS Standard 4

⁶⁶⁴ Section 68 read together with paragraph j, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) To comply with all human rights laws. 665
- The rights and fundamental freedoms set out in the Constitution of Kenya bind all state organs and all persons. 666 This will include security service providers.
- Local law adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (e) Security personnel must take all reasonable steps to avoid the use of force. If force is used it shall be in a manner consistent with applicable law.⁶⁶⁷
- A registered private security provider should develop standard operating procedures and put in place strict and detailed guidelines on the use of minimal force in accordance with international best practices.⁶⁶⁸
- Local laws adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (f) No use of firearms against persons except in self defence or defence of others against the imminent threat of death or several injury.⁶⁶⁹
- A private security service provider should not allow the use of firearms in the rendering of security service.⁶⁷⁰
- Under Kenyan law, private security firms are not permitted to use firearms. This international standard is therefore currently not applicable for companies in Kenya. However, the Private Security Regulatory Authority, in January 2019 gave a green light to private security officers to carry guns as the first line of defence against any incident, after undergoing a rigorous six-month mandatory training on the use and handling of guns.⁶⁷¹ We are therefore monitoring any changes that may be effected on the laws, given this new development.
- (g) No seizure or holding of any person except when apprehending persons to defend themselves or others against an imminent threat of violence or following an attack or crime committed by such persons against organisation personnel or against clients or property under their protection pending the handover of such detained persons to the competent authority at the earliest opportunity. Any such apprehension must be consistent with applicable national law and be reported to the organisation without delay.⁶⁷²

⁶⁶⁵ IFCPSESS standard 4; ICCPSSP paragraphs 2 and 6

 ⁶⁶⁶ Article 20 of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016
 ⁶⁶⁷ ICCPSSP paragraph 30

⁶⁶⁸ Section 68 read together with paragraph e, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁶⁹ ICCPSSP paragraph 31

⁶⁷⁰ Section 53(1) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁷¹ The Standard Newspaper of 19 January 2019, available at the following link:

https://www.standardmedia.co.ke/article/2001309922/private-security-guards-to-be-issued-with-guns-in-six-months

⁶⁷² ICCPSSP paragraph 34

- A private security service provider, a security guard or a security officer may arrest a person who
 commits an offence within the premises in which that provider, guard or officer is responsible for and
 immediately hand over the person to the nearest police station or post. This right to arrest should be
 responsibly exercised and should not infringe on any right or fundamental freedom of a person.⁶⁷³
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (h) Personnel will not engage in torture or other cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment. 674
- Every person has the right to freedom from torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment.⁶⁷⁵
- A registered private security provider should promptly and thoroughly investigate complaints of inappropriate or illegal behaviour by staff, and should inform the police of these actions when appropriate.⁶⁷⁶
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (i) Personnel will not engage in sexual exploitation and abuse or gender based violence or crimes. Personnel must remain vigilant for all instances of sexual or gender based violence and where discovered report such instances to competent authorities.⁶⁷⁷
- Any person, who being in a position of authority, or holding a public office, who persistently makes any sexual advances or requests which he or she knows, or has reasonable grounds to know, are unwelcome, is guilty of the offence of sexual harassment and shall be liable to imprisonment for a term of not less than three years or to a fine of not less than one hundred thousand shillings or to both.⁶⁷⁸
- An employer who employs 20 or more employees should issue a policy statement on sexual harassment after consultation with the employees or their representatives. This policy should be brought to the attention of all employees. The policy should stipulate:
 - (a) That every employee is entitled to employment that is free of sexual harassment;
 - (b) That the employer will take steps to ensure that no employee is subjected to sexual harassment;
 - (c) That the employer will take disciplinary measures against any person who subjects any employee to sexual harassment;
 - (d) How complaints of sexual harassment may be brought to the attention of the employer; and
 - (e) That the employer will not disclose the name of the complainant or the circumstances related to the complaint to any person except where disclosure is necessary for the purpose of investigating the complaint or taking disciplinary measures in relation thereto.⁶⁷⁹

675 Article 25(a) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁶⁷³ Section 46 of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁷⁴ ICCPSSP paragraph 35

⁶⁷⁶ Section 68 read together with paragraph k, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁷⁷ ICCPSSP paragraph 38

⁶⁷⁸ Section 23(1) of the Sexual Offences Act No. 3 of 2006 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁷⁹ Section 6(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (i) No use of slavery, forced or compulsory labour. 680
- A person should not be held in slavery or servitude.⁶⁸¹ A person should not be required to perform forced labour.⁶⁸² No person shall use or assist any other person in recruiting, trafficking or using forced labour.⁶⁸³
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (k) No child (anyone under the age of 18) labour.684
- Every child (who has not attained the age of 18 years) should be protected from economic exploitation and any work that is likely to interfere with the child's education, or be harmful to the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral or social development.⁶⁸⁵
- Employers should not allow a person below the apparent age of 18 years to be employed at any
 workplace or work process, or perform work, which by its nature or the circumstances, in which it is
 carried out, is likely to harm the person's safety or health.⁶⁸⁶
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (I) No discrimination on grounds of race, colour, sex, religion, social origin, social status disability or sexual orientation, when hiring personnel and will select personnel on the basis of inherent requirements of the contract.⁶⁸⁷
- A registered private security provider should ensure that the staff it engages are recruited according
 to objective criteria and have no criminal record, not committed past human rights violations and not
 been dishonourably discharged from state organs that provide security services or similar agencies
 abroad.⁶⁸⁸
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly, against an employee or prospective employee
 or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of race, colour, sex, language, religion,
 political or other opinion, nationality, ethnic or social origin, disability, pregnancy, marital status or

-

⁶⁸⁰ ICCPSSP paragraph 40

⁶⁸¹ Article 30(1) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁸² Article 30(2) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

 ⁶⁸³ Section 4 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016
 684 ICCPSSP paragraph 41 and 46

⁶⁸⁵ Section 10(1) of the Children Act No. 8 of 2001 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁸⁶ Section 97 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No 15 of 2007 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016 687 ICCPSSP paragraph 42

⁶⁸⁸ Section 68 read together with paragraph d, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

HIV status in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or matters arising out of the employment.⁶⁸⁹

- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (m) All personnel must be individually identifiable whenever they are carrying out activities in the discharge of their contractual responsibilities.⁶⁹⁰
- The Cabinet Secretary in charge of internal security, in consultation with the Private Security Regulatory Authority may make regulations for the purpose of the proper administration of and giving effect to this Act. These regulations would provide for the provision of uniforms and equipment to employees of private security firms.⁶⁹¹
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard in so far as they take into consideration the uniforms that the private security providers would utilise. The Private Security Regulation Act mandates the Cabinet Secretary in charge of internal security to formulate regulations that would expand on the uniforms to be used by the private security providers. At the time of submitting this report, we spoke to the office of the Ministry of Interior, who explained that they are in the process of finalising the regulations, and that they would be published sometime in 2019. We anticipate that these regulations would provide more substance to section 70 of the Private Security Regulations Act, which includes the provision of uniforms to be used by private security providers.
- In the meantime, companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (n) Organisations will exercise due diligence in the selection of personnel including verification, vetting and ongoing performance reviews.⁶⁹²
- A registered private security provider should ensure that the staff it engages are recruited according
 to objective criteria and have no criminal record, not committed past human rights violations and not
 been dishonourably discharged from state organs that provide security services or similar agencies
 abroad.⁶⁹³
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard, save for the requirement of the conduct of ongoing performance reviews. Companies that wish to fully comply with ESG requirements should ensure ongoing performance reviews for its employees.
- (o) Organisations will exercise due diligence in the selection, vetting and ongoing performance review of all subcontractors.⁶⁹⁴

⁶⁸⁹ Section 5(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007 read together with Section 68 and paragraph a, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁹⁰ ICCPSSP paragraph 43

⁶⁹¹ Section 70 of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁹² ICCPSSP paragraph 45

⁶⁹³ Section 68 read together with paragraph d, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁹⁴ ICCPSSP paragraph 50 and 51

- A registered private security provider should ensure that the staff it engages are recruited according
 to objective criteria and have no criminal record, not committed past human rights violations and not
 been dishonourably discharged from state organs that provide security services or similar agencies
 abroad.⁶⁹⁵
- The Private Security Regulations Act only provides for the vetting of employees of the private security firm, and does not envisage subcontractors. Therefore, companies that wish to fully comply with ESG requirements should make provision for ongoing performance reviews for its subcontractors.
- (p) Organisations will ensure that all personnel performing security services receive initial and recurrent professional training and are also fully aware of this Code.⁶⁹⁶
- A registered private security provider should provide basic training for new employees, where state
 institutions do not provide it, and internal training systems which cover international and national law,
 cultural sensitivity, first aid and gender issues and further training on a continuous basis.⁶⁹⁷
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (g) Organisations will establish grievance procedures to address claims alleging breach of this Code. 698
- No local standards as the International Code of Conduct for Private Security Service Providers does not form part of the laws of Kenya.
- There is a gap with respect to this international standard as the International Code of Conduct for Private Security Service Providers does not form part of Kenyan law. Therefore, in order to fully comply with the Social requirements in terms of ESG compliance, private security firms should ensure compliance of paragraphs 66 – 68 of the International Code of Conduct for Private Security Service Providers.

35. Rights of indigenous people (Ogiek and Endorois people)

Generally identified as tribal people in independent countries where social, cultural and economic conditions distinguish them from other sections of the national community and whose status is regulated wholly or partially by their own customs or traditions or by special laws or regulations.

GRI Reporting Standard (411)

- (a) Total number of identified incidents of violations involving the rights of indigenous peoples during the reporting period.
- (b) Status of the incidents and actions taken with reference to the following:
 - i. Incident reviewed by the organization;

⁶⁹⁵ Section 68 read together with paragraph d, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁹⁶ ICCPSSP paragraphs 55

⁶⁹⁷ Section 68 read together with paragraph c, Second Schedule (Code of Conduct for Private Security Providers) of the Private Security Regulation Act No. 13 of 2016

⁶⁹⁸ ICCPSSP paragraph 66

- ii. Remediation plans being implemented;
- iii. Remediation plans that have been implemented, with results reviewed through routine internal management review processes;
- iv. Incident no longer subject to action.

- (a) To consult the peoples concerned, through appropriate procedures and in particular through their representative institutions whenever consideration is being given to legislative or administrative measures which may affect them directly⁶⁹⁹
- The right to be consulted through appropriate procedures.⁷⁰⁰
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Indigenous people should not be removed from the lands which they occupy.⁷⁰¹
- Indigenous people have the right not to be removed from their lands which they occupy. 702
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard, as Kenya has ratified the ILO Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, which is the source of this international standard.
 By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Indigenous peoples shall have the right to the natural resources pertaining to their land, including the right to participate in the use, management and conservation of these resources.⁷⁰³
- Indigenous people have the right to use of natural resources pertaining to their land.
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) To adopt special measures to ensure the effective protection with regard to recruitment and conditions of employment of workers belonging to these peoples, to the extent that they are not effectively protected by laws applicable to workers in general.⁷⁰⁵
- Right not to be discriminated against at work places⁷⁰⁶
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

⁶⁹⁹ ILO Convention, Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, C169, 1989 Article 6(1); article 18 of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples

⁷⁰⁰ Article 7 of Kenya Constitution; See also Joseph Letuya & 21 others v Attorney General & 5 others [2014] eKLR

⁷⁰¹ ILO Convention, Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, C169, 1989 Article 16

⁷⁰² ILO Convention, Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, C169, 1989 Article 16

⁷⁰³ ILO Convention, Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, C169, 1989 Article 15 (1) and (2)

⁷⁰⁴ William Arap Ng' Asia & 29 others v. Baringo County Council, Koibatek County Council and the Attorney General, High Court of Kenya at Nakuru, Civil suit No.522 of 1998 (unreported)

⁷⁰⁵ ILO Convention, Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, C169, 1989 Article 20.

⁷⁰⁶ Articles 27 and 41 of the Constitution of Kenya 2010; Articles 5(5 and 6) of the Employment Act 2007.

- (e) Organizations must conduct due diligence to ensure that:⁷⁰⁷
 - i. The process used for identifying indigenous and tribal peoples' lands is consistent with the International standards
 - ii. Legal or other procedures for resolving indigenous peoples' land claims and disputes are acceptable and have been subject to consultation
 - iii. The title to land has derived originally from indigenous peoples and whether this title was obtained properly, in accordance with the law, and without taking advantage of lack of understanding of laws in order to secure possession.
 - iv. The relevant government authorities have recognized the indigenous peoples' rights to natural resources.
 - v. Appropriate consultation has taken place prior to the granting of exploration and exploitation licenses.
 - vi. Mechanisms are in place to enable the communities concerned to participate in the benefits of the project and to compensate them fairly
- On the basis that Kenya is a signatory of the ILO Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, and the application of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, the above international standard is mirrored under Kenyan law.
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard, as Kenya is a signatory
 to the ILO Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention, which is the source of this international
 standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the
 laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.

36. Human Rights Assessment

The international standard that establishes the expectations of responsible conduct for organisations with respect to human rights is the UN 'Guiding principles on Business and Human rights' as endorsed by UN Human Rights Council in 2011.

GRI Reporting Standards (412)

- a. The total number and percentage of operations that have been subject to human rights reviews or human rights impact assessments, by country.
- b. Total Number of hours in the reporting period devoted to training on human rights policies or procedures concerning aspects on human rights that are relevant to operations.
- c. Percentage of employees trained during the reporting period in human rights policies or procedures concerning aspects of human rights that are relevant to operations.

-

⁷⁰⁷ IFC, 2007: ILO Convention No. 169 and the Private Sector.

- d. Total number and percentage of significant investment agreements and contracts that include human rights clauses or underwent human rights screening.
- e. Definition used for 'significant investment agreements'.

- (a) See Standards on Forced or Compulsory Labour.
- A person should not be held in slavery or servitude.⁷⁰⁸ A person should not be required to perform forced labour.⁷⁰⁹ No person shall use or assist any other person in recruiting, trafficking or using forced labour.⁷¹⁰
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Workers shall have the right to establish and join federations and confederations of their own choosing.⁷¹¹
- Every worker has the right to form, join or participate in the activities and programmes of a trade union.⁷¹²
- Every employee has the right to participate in forming a trade union or federation of trade unions, join a trade union or leave a trade union.⁷¹³
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Workers shall have the right to draw up their constitutions and rules to elect their representative in full freedom to organise their administration and activities and to formulate their programmes.⁷¹⁴
- Every trade union has the right to draw up its own constitution and rules.⁷¹⁵
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) Workers shall enjoy adequate protection against acts of anti-union discrimination in respect of their employment.⁷¹⁶
- An employer should not discriminate against an employee or any person seeking employment for exercising his right to join a trade union.⁷¹⁷
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

⁷⁰⁸ Article 30(1) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010

⁷⁰⁹ Article 30(2) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010

⁷¹⁰ Section 4 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁷¹¹ ILO Convention 87 of 1948 Article 2 and 5

⁷¹² Article 41(2)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010; section 5(2) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁷¹³ Section 4(1) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁷¹⁴ ILO Convention 87 of 1948 Article 3

⁷¹⁵ Section 8(a) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁷¹⁶ ILO Convention 98 of 1949 Article 1

⁷¹⁷ Section 5(1) of the Employment Act No. 14 of 2007

- (e) Organisations, in determining rates of remuneration for their employees shall promote and ensure the application to all workers of the principle of equal remuneration for men and women workers for work of equal value.⁷¹⁸
- An employer should pay his employees equal remuneration for work of equal value.⁷¹⁹
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (f) The minimum age for admission to any type of employment or work which by its nature or the circumstances in which it is carried out is likely to jeopardise the health, safety or morals of young persons shall not be less than 18 years.⁷²⁰
- Employers should not allow a person below the apparent age of 18 years to be employed at any workplace or work process, or perform work, which by its nature or the circumstances, in which it is carried out, is likely to harm the person's safety or health.⁷²¹
- Each child should be protected from any work that is likely to be hazardous or harmful to the child's health.⁷²²
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (g) The minimum age for admission to employment or work shall be not less than the age of compulsory schooling and, in any case, shall be less than 15 years: save for exceptions contained in Articles 6 and 7 of ILO Convention 138 of 1973.⁷²³
- No person should employ a child who has not attained the age of 13 years whether gainfully or otherwise in any undertaking.⁷²⁴
- The provision of the Employment Act does not conform to the requirement of the international standard, because, whilst the international standard stipulates that minimum age prescribed by national laws and regulations should not be less than the age of completion of compulsory schooling, and in any event, not less than 15 years, the Employment Act provides for 13 years as the minimum age. There is therefore a discrepancy in terms of the international standards and the Employment Act.
- However, Kenya is a signatory to the ILO Minimum Age Convention, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no gap.
- Companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should therefore make provision for this
 international standard.

⁷¹⁸ ILO Convention 100 of 1951 Article 2

⁷¹⁹ Section 5(5) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁷²⁰ ILO Convention 138 of 1973 Article 3

⁷²¹ Section 97 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No 15 of 2007

⁷²² Section 10(1) of the Children Act No. 8 of 2001

⁷²³ ILO Convention 138 of 1973 Article 2

⁷²⁴ Section 56(1) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- Every child (who has not attained the age of 18 years) should be protected from economic exploitation and any work that is likely to interfere with the child's education, or be harmful to the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral or social development.⁷²⁵
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (h) An employer should have a policy addressing children's rights (other than child labour) through: (a) evidence of support for children's rights in company operations or through programmes; and (b) policy or commitment to the Children's Rights and Business Principles.⁷²⁶
- No local standard.
- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model

 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (i) No discrimination on the basis of disability with regards to all matters concerning all forms of employment, including conditions of recruitment, hiring and employment, career advancement and safe and healthy working conditions.⁷²⁷
- An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of disability,⁷²⁸ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.⁷²⁹
- No person should deny a person with disability access to opportunities for suitable employment.⁷³⁰
- No employer should discriminate against a person with a disability in relation to:
 - (a) The advertisement of employment;
 - (b) The recruitment for employment;
 - (c) The creation, classification or abolition of posts:
 - (d) The determination or allocation of wages, salaries, pensions, accommodation, leave or such other benefits.⁷³¹
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (j) To allow persons with disabilities to exercise their labour and trade union rights on an equal basis with others.⁷³²

⁷²⁵ Section 10(1) of the Children Act No. 8 of 2001

⁷²⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR04 at page 79

⁷²⁷ UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 2006 Article 27 (a) (b)

⁷²⁸ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁷²⁹ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁷³⁰ Section 12(1) of the Persons with Disabilities Act No. 14 of 2003

⁷³¹ Section 15(1) of the Persons with Disabilities Act No. 14 of 2003

⁷³² UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 2006 Article 27 (c)

- An employee should promote equal opportunity in employment and strive to eliminate discrimination in any employment policy or practice.⁷³³
- An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee or prospective employee or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of disability, 734 in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment. 735
- No person should require an employee or a person seeking employment not to be or become a member of a trade union or to give up membership of a trade union.⁷³⁶
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (k) To ensure that reasonable accommodation is provided to persons with disabilities in the workplace. 737
- Persons with disabilities are entitled to a barrier-free and disability friendly environment to enable them to have access to buildings, roads and other social amenities and assistive devices and other equipment to promote their mobility.⁷³⁸
- A proprietor of a public building should adapt it to suit persons with disabilities.⁷³⁹
- Whilst the Persons with Disabilities requires an employee to ensure accessibility at the workplace for an employee living with disability, it does not stipulate a requirement for an employer to provide accommodation for its employees who have disabilities. Article 27 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities requires employers to provide reasonable accommodation, as with a view to facilitating access of persons with disabilities to work on an equal basis with others. A commentary on article 27 explains that state parties must ensure that reasonable accommodation is provided to persons with disabilities who request it, and should take effective steps, including through legislation, to ensure that the denial of reasonable accommodation constitutes discrimination.⁷⁴⁰
- It should however be noted that Kenya is a signatory of the United Nations Convention on the Rights
 of Persons with Disabilities, which is the source of this international standard. By virtue of article 2(6)
 of the Constitution of Kenya, this convention constitutes part of the laws of Kenya; hence there is no
 gap.

⁷³³ Section 5(2) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2017

⁷³⁴ Section 5(3)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁷³⁵ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁷³⁶ Section 5(2)(a) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁷³⁷ UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 2006 Article 27 (i)

⁷³⁸ Section 21 of the Persons with Disabilities Act No. 14 of 2003

⁷³⁹ Section 21 of the Persons with Disabilities Act No. 14 of 2003

⁷⁴⁰ "Article 27 of the CRPD and the Right of Inclusive Employment of People with Autism", *Protecting the Rights of People with Autism in the Fields of Education and Employment: International, European and National Perspectives*, edited by Valentina Della Fina and Rachele Cera

- (I) The organisation must have full respect for internationally recognised human rights: a minimum requirement being observation of the International Bill of Human Rights and the principles set out in the ILO Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work.⁷⁴¹
- Kenya has ratified various international conventions on human rights which form part of the laws of Kenya by virtue of article 2(6) of the Constitution of Kenya.
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (m) Organisations must have in place:
 - i. a policy commitment to meet their responsibility to respect human rights;
 - ii. a human rights due diligence process to identify, prevent, mitigate and account for how they address their impacts on human rights; and
 - iii. processes to enable the remediation of any advance human rights impacts they cause or to which they contribute.⁷⁴²
 - No local standard.
 - The Constitution of Kenya of 2010 requires every person living in Kenya to observe, respect, protect and promote and fulfil the rights and fundamental freedoms in the Bill of Rights. This provision would include employers. However, the Employment Act does not have an express provision requiring employers to have in place policies that provide for (m) above. Therefore, companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for (m) above.

37. Local Communities

Persons or group of persons living and / or working in any areas that are economically, socially or environmentally impacted (positively or negatively) by an organisation's operations.

GRI Reporting Standards (413)

- 1. Reporting the percentage of operations with implemented local community engagement, impact assessments and / or development programmes including the use of:
 - social impact assessments including gender impact assessment, based on participating processes;
 - ii. environmental impact assessments and ongoing monitoring;
 - iii. public disclosure of results of environmental and social impact assessments;
 - iv. local community development programmes based on local community needs;
 - v. stakeholder engagement plans based on stakeholder mapping;

⁷⁴¹ UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights 2011 Principle II; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR02 at page 79

⁷⁴² UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Rights Paragraphs 12 / 13; Principles II paragraphs 15 and 16; OECD Guideline for Multinational Enterprises (2011) Section IV paragraphs 1-6; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR01 at page 79

- vi. broad based local community consultation communities and processes that include vulnerable groups;
- vii. works Council's occupational health and safety committees and other worker representative bodies to deal with impacts; and
- viii. formal local community grievances processes.
- 2. Reporting such operations as have significant actual and potential negative impacts on local communities including:
 - i. the location of the operations; and
 - ii. the significant actual and potential negative impacts of operations.

- (a) Employ local workers.⁷⁴³
- The National Employment Authority Act which has the purpose of providing a framework and facilitation of employment of Kenyans in the national government, the private sector and the informal sector in Kenya,⁷⁴⁴ defines an employer as any person, public body, firm, corporation or company who or which has entered into a contract of service to employ any individual and includes the agent, foreman, manager or factor of such person, public body, firm, corporation or company.⁷⁴⁵
- The National Employment Authority of Kenya encourages private and public institutions to employ Kenyans in all positions, including positions of leadership and management.⁷⁴⁶ The Government of Kenya shall take affirmative action measures and actions designed to promote the employment of Kenyans in management and other levels of employment regardless of their years of employment.⁷⁴⁷
- The holder of a mineral right should give preference in employment to members of the community and citizens of Kenya.⁷⁴⁸
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) To adopt a mitigation hierarchy to anticipate and avoid or where avoidance is not possible, minimalise, and where residual impacts remain, compensate / offset for risks and impacts to workers, affected communities and the environment.⁷⁴⁹

⁷⁴³ OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) Section V paragraph 5; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR05 at page 79; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SLS11 at page 88

⁷⁴⁴ Section 3 of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

⁷⁴⁵ Section 2 of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

⁷⁴⁶ Section 37(1) of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

⁷⁴⁷ Section 37(3) of the National Employment Authority Act No. 3 of 2016

⁷⁴⁸ Section 47(1) of the Mining Act No. 12 of 2016

⁷⁴⁹ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 1; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR10 at page 79

- An agreement relating to investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve continuous monitoring and evaluation of the impact of the investment to the community, and measure to mitigate any negative effects of the investment.⁷⁵⁰
- In every petroleum agreement, there is an implied obligation of the contractor to indemnify the Government of Kenya against all claims made by third parties, in respect of any injury, damage or loss caused by, or resulting from, the conduct of any operations carried out by the contractor or subcontractors pursuant to the provisions of any petroleum agreement.⁷⁵¹
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) To ensure the grievances from affected communities and external communications from other stakeholders are responded to and managed appropriately.⁷⁵²
- Where a demand or claim for compensation is disputed, the parties to the dispute shall seek to
 resolve the dispute amicably by agreement reached through negotiations in good faith. Where a
 dispute cannot be resolved through negotiations within a reasonable period of time, either party to
 the dispute may refer the matter to the Cabinet Secretary in charge of mining.⁷⁵³
- Local laws only satisfy the requirements of the international standard, under the Mining Act.
 Therefore, companies falling outside the scope of the Mining Act that get involved with community
 stakeholders that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international
 standard.
- (d) To promote and provide means for adequate engagement with affected communities throughout the project cycle on issues that could potentially affect them and ensure that relevant environmental and social information is disclosed and disseminated.⁷⁵⁴
- Investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve stakeholder consultations and involvement of the community.⁷⁵⁵
- Stakeholder engagement relating to environmental issues in a project cycle are covered in the 'Environment' section above.
- Certain projects subject to EIA must undergo consultation and public participation of affected persons throughout the project cycle (including social considerations).⁷⁵⁶
- Local laws adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

⁷⁵⁰ Section 36(1) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁵¹ Section 9(1)(i) of the Petroleum (Exploration and Production) Act No. 22 of 2012

⁷⁵² IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 4; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR20 at page 80

⁷⁵³ Section 153 of the Mining Act No. 12 of 2016

⁷⁵⁴ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 – Standard 4

⁷⁵⁵ Section 36(1)(b) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁵⁶ Regulations 7(1)(h) & (7)1(i) of the Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations 2003, Act No. 8 of 1999

- (e) Establish and maintain on Environmental and Social Assessment and Management System (ESMS).⁷⁵⁷
- Investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve an environmental, social, cultural and economic impact assessment and continuous monitoring and evaluation of the impact of the investment to the community.⁷⁵⁸
- Certain projects subject to EIA must undergo consultation and public participation of affected persons throughout the project cycle (including social considerations).⁷⁵⁹
- Local laws adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (f) Protect the community health and safety by establishing preventive and control measures consistent with good International Industry Practice.⁷⁶⁰
- An agreement relating to investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve continuous monitoring and evaluation of the impact of the investment to the community, and measures to mitigate any negative effects of the investment.⁷⁶¹
- The holder of any mineral right in respect of a large scale operation should, update its mine plan
 with regard to conditions of employment, health and safety, the management of the environment
 and community social investments.⁷⁶²
- Local laws adequately satisfies the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (g) On projects consider feasible alternate project designs to avoid or minimise physical and / or economic displacement, while balancing environmental, social and financial costs and benefits.⁷⁶³
- Investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve putting measures in place to mitigate any negative effects of the investment.⁷⁶⁴
- The provisions of the Community Land Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (h) Where displacement cannot be avoided offer displaced communities and persons compensation for loss of assets at full replacement cost and other assistance to help them improve or restore their standards of living or livelihoods.⁷⁶⁵

⁷⁵⁷ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 - Standard 1

⁷⁵⁸ Section 36(1)(a) & (c) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁵⁹ Regulations 7(1)(h) & (7)1(i) of the Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations 2003, Act No. 8 of 1999

⁷⁶⁰ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 - Standard 4

⁷⁶¹ Section 36(1) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁶² Section 225(5) of the Mining Act No. 12 of 2016

⁷⁶³ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 - Standard 5

⁷⁶⁴ Section 36(1)(f) of the Community Land No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁶⁵ IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012 - Standard 5

- Investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve payment of compensation where necessary.⁷⁶⁶
- The provisions of the Community Land Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (i) Carry out stakeholder analysis before the commencement of any project and engage with the stakeholders in their own communities. 767
- Investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve stakeholder consultations and involvement of the community.⁷⁶⁸
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (i) Obtain feedback from local workforce and communications on a regular and consistent basis.⁷⁶⁹
- Investment in community should be made after a free, open, consultative process and should involve stakeholder consultations and involvement of the community, and continuous monitoring and evaluation of the impact of the investment to the community.⁷⁷⁰
- Certain projects subject to EIA must undergo consultation and public participation of affected persons throughout the project cycle (including social considerations).⁷⁷¹
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (k) Give local communities the information they need to participate in an informal manner. 772
- Investment in community should be made after a free, open, consultative process and should involve stakeholder consultations and involvement of the community.⁷⁷³
- The provisions of the Community Land Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (I) Document all consultation with local communities and the outcome. 774
- No local standard.

⁷⁶⁶ Section 36(1)(d) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁶⁷ IFC Stakeholder Engagement: A Good Practice Handbook for Companies Doing Business in Emerging Markets (2007) - pages 28 - 34

⁷⁶⁸ Section 36(1)(b) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁶⁹ IFC Stakeholder Engagement: A Good Practice Handbook for Companies Doing Business in Emerging Markets (2007) - page 38

⁷⁷⁰ Section 36(1) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

Regulations 7(1)(h) & (7)1(i) of the Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations 2003, Act No. 8 of 1999
 IFC Stakeholder Engagement: A Good Practice Handbook for Companies Doing Business in Emerging Markets (2007) -

⁷⁷³ Section 36(1) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁷⁴ IFC Stakeholder Engagement: A Good Practice Handbook for Companies Doing Business in Emerging Markets (2007) - page 56; FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR11 at page 80

- While the Community Land Act requires investors to undertake stakeholder engagement and
 consultation, there is no express requirement for the investors to document these consultations.
 Therefore, companies that wish to comply the ESG requirements should make provision for this
 international standard in its policies.
- (m) Employers should have in place a statement of principles or process by which community investments are made. 775

No local standard

- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (n) Employers should have a record of human rights violations, and should disclose the number of incidents, and actions taken regarding incidents of violations.⁷⁷⁶

No local standard

- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (o) Employers should participate in a recognised human rights related initiative or collaboration, which would include, participating in workshops on relevant human rights issues or being a formal member in an industry or topic specific human rights related initiative.⁷⁷⁷

No local standard

- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (p) Employers should keep a record of, and if required disclose, the output/outcome of specific results, achievements or benefits of community investments.⁷⁷⁸

No local standard

It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model
 - 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies

⁷⁷⁵ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR03 at page 79

⁷⁷⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR13 at page 90

⁷⁷⁷ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR14 at page 80

⁷⁷⁸ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR15 at page 80

that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector – specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.

(q) Employers should establish mechanisms to facilitate employee engagement and involvement with charitable partners and this will include evidence of recognising volunteering and specific foundations, targets and structures set up.⁷⁷⁹

No local standard

- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model

 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies
 that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards
 are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies
 looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (r) Employers should keep a record of the total amount of corporate or group donations / community investments made to registered not-for-profit organisations.⁷⁸⁰
- No local standard
- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.

CUSTOMER RESPONSIBILITY TOPICS AND STANDARDS

38. Supplier Social Assessment

Due Diligence is expected of an organisation in order to prevent and mitigate negative social impacts in the supply chain.

GRI Reporting Standards (414)

- a. Percentage of new supplier that were screened using social criteria.
- b. Number of suppliers assessed for social impacts.
- c. Number of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential negative social impacts identified in the supply chain.
- d. Significant actual and potential negative social impacts identified in the supply chain.
- e. Percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual or potential negative social impacts with which improvements were agreed upon as a result of assessment.

⁷⁷⁹ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR16 at page 80

⁷⁸⁰ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SHR17 at page 80

f. As in (a) above but supplies with which relationships were terminated as a result of assessment and why.

- (a) Seek to prevent or mitigate human rights impacts that are directly linked to their operations, products or service by their business relationships, even if they have not contributed to those impacts.⁷⁸¹In this regard, companies should ensure that they have in place policies that address:
 - i. Prevention of child labour:
 - ii. Prevention of forced labour;
 - iii. Non-discrimination / equal opportunities;
 - iv. The right of freedom of association;
 - v. The right to collective bargaining;
 - vi. The elimination of excessive working hours;
 - vii. The right to a minimum or living wage; and
 - viii. Health and safety standards.782
- Investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve putting measures in place to mitigate any negative effects of the investment.⁷⁸³
- The provision of the Community Land Act satisfies the international requirement as it sets down a marker to put measures that would mitigate any negative effects. This statement adequately covers the requirement set out in the international standard. This provision however only covers community land. Therefore, companies carrying out their operations in areas that do not fall within the scope of community land, and wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (b) Statement of policy...'stipulating the enterprise's human rights expectations of its business partners.... is publicly available'.⁷⁸⁴
- No local standard.
- There are no local laws that require companies to make available for the general public a statement
 of policy stipulating its human rights expectations of its business partners. Therefore, companies
 that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (c) Carry human rights due diligence which should cover human rights impacts directly linked to its operations, products or services by its business relationships.⁷⁸⁵

⁷⁸¹ UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Merits (2011) page 13; John Ruggie II paragraph 13

⁷⁸² FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SSC01, SSC02, SSC03, SSC04, SSC05, SSC06, SSC07 and SSC08 at pages 95 & 96

⁷⁸³ Section 36(1)(f) of the Community Land No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁸⁴ UN Guiding Principles on Business and Human Merits (2011) page 16; John Ruggie II paragraph 16

⁷⁸⁵ John Ruggie II paragraph 17

- Investment in community land should be made after a free, open consultative process and should involve an environmental, social, cultural and economic impact assessment and continuous monitoring and evaluation of the impact of the investment to the community.⁷⁸⁶
- The provision of the Community Land Act satisfies the international requirement. This provision however only covers community land. Therefore, companies carrying out their operations in areas that do not fall within the scope of community land, and wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.
- (d) In terms of supply chain, a company should ensure that it has a social policy or code in place which is communicated globally to all suppliers and translated into relevant languages.⁷⁸⁷

No local standard

- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model

 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (e) A company should carry out a risk assessment regarding social issues for potential new suppliers (due diligence) and existing suppliers in order to identify those that are high risk.⁷⁸⁸

No local standard

- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.
- (f) Companies should monitor suppliers for social issues,⁷⁸⁹ and any findings should be disclosed together with the specific actions that should be taken on non-compliance issues.⁷⁹⁰

No local standard

• It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector – specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.

⁷⁸⁶ Section 36(1)(a) & (c) of the Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016

⁷⁸⁷ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SSC09 at page 96

⁷⁸⁸ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SSC10 at page 96

⁷⁸⁹ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SSC12 at page 96

⁷⁹⁰ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SSC18 at page 96

- (g) Companies should provide for capacity building for suppliers which would include supplier training on social issues, supplier mentoring, secondments or supporting suppliers through sharing best practice.⁷⁹¹
- No local standard
- It should be noted that this international standard is derived from the FTSE Russell ESG Data Model

 5th Research Recycle (2018/19), which sets out international reporting obligations for companies that wish to meet the ESG requirements. The report is sector specific, and therefore its standards are formulated to meet the reporting obligations for specific sectors. In this regard, companies looking to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this reporting standard.

39. Public Policy

Organisation's participation in the development of public policy, through activities such as lobbying and making financial or in kind contributions to political parties, politicians or causes.

GRI Reporting Standards (415)

- a. Total monetary value of financial and in kind political contributions made directly and in directly and in directly by the organisation by country and recipient / beneficiary.
- b. If applicable how the monetary value in kind contribution was estimated.

- (a) Not offer (or use third parties to offer) promise or give undue pecuniary or other advantage to public officials nor accept the same.⁷⁹²
- A person commits the offence of giving a bribe if the person offers, promises or gives a financial or other advantage to another person, who knows or believes the acceptance of the financial or other advantage would itself constitute the improper performance of a relevant function or activity.⁷⁹³
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Not make illegal contributions to candidates for public office or to political parties or to other political organisations. Political contributions should fully comply with public disclosure requirements and should be reported to senior management.⁷⁹⁴
- Except where contribution is from a candidate to that candidate's campaign financing account, or from a political party or a referendum committee to that political party's or referendum committee's campaign financing account, no contribution from a single source shall exceed 20% of the total contributions received by that candidate, political party or referendum committee.⁷⁹⁵

⁷⁹¹ FTSE Russell ESG Data Model – 5th Research Recycle (2018/19) SSC17 at page 97

⁷⁹² OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) VII Paragraph 1

⁷⁹³ Section 5(1) of the Bribery Act No. 47 of 2016

⁷⁹⁴ OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) part 1 section VII paragraph 1-7

⁷⁹⁵ Section 12(2) of the Election Campaign Financing Act No. 42 of 2013

- A candidate, a political party or a referendum committee should not receive and keep anonymous contributions or support whether in cash or in kind, or contributions from an illegal source as specified by any law.⁷⁹⁶
- A candidate who, or a political party or a referendum committee which, receives contributions under the Election Campaign Financing Act should issue a receipt for any contribution exceeding twenty thousand shillings.⁷⁹⁷
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) All lobbying activities should be disclosed and provide sufficient, pertinent information on those activities.⁷⁹⁸
- No local standard
- We are not aware of any Kenyan legislation that makes provision for lobbying activities. On the basis
 that there is no requirement, companies are not likely to adhere to this international standard.
 However, companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this
 international standard.
- (d) All lobbying activities shall be carried out with integrity and honesty, providing reliable and accurate information and avoiding conflict of interest.⁷⁹⁹
- No local standard
- We are not aware of any Kenyan legislation that makes provision for lobbying activities. On the basis that there is no requirement, companies are not likely to adhere to this international standard. However, companies that wish to comply with ESG requirements should make provision for this international standard.

40. Customer health and safety

Systematic efforts to address health and safety across the life cycle of a product or service and its adherence to customer health and safety regulations and voluntary codes.

GRI Reporting Standard (416)

- a. Percentage of significant product and service categories for which health and safety impacts are assessed for improvement.
- b. Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and / or voluntary codes concerning the health and safety impacts of products and services within the reporting period by:
 - i. incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in fine or penalty;
 - ii. incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a warning; and
 - iii. incidents of non-compliance with voluntary codes.

⁷⁹⁶ Section 13(1) of the Election Campaign Financing Act No. 42 of 2013

⁷⁹⁷ Section 16(1) of the Election Campaign Financing Act No. 42 of 2013

⁷⁹⁸ OECD Recommendation of the Council on Principles for Transparency and Lobbying (2010) Principle 5

⁷⁹⁹ OECD Recommendation of the Council on Principles for Transparency and Lobbying (2010) Principle 8

- (a) Ensure that goods and services provided meet all agreed or legally required standards for consumer health and safety, including those pertaining to health warnings and safety information.⁸⁰⁰
- Consumers have the right to the protection of their health, safety and economic interests.⁸⁰¹
- A supplier is deemed to warrant that the goods or services supplied under a consumer agreement are of a reasonably merchantable quality.⁸⁰²
- The Constitution of Kenya and the Consumer Protection Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Provide accurate verifiable and clear information that is sufficient to enable consumers make informed decisions on safe use, environmental attributes, maintenance, storage and disposal of goods.⁸⁰³
- Consumer have the right to the information necessary for them to gain full benefit from goods and services.⁸⁰⁴
- It is an unfair practice for a person to make a false, misleading or deceptive representation on goods and services. 805 Section 12(2) of the Consumer Protection Act sets out what constitutes a false, misleading or deceptive representation.
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Ensure a safe and healthy premises for visiting customers.
- Every occupier should conduct his undertaking in such a manner as to ensure that a person who is not his employee who may be affected thereby is not exposed to risks to safety of health.⁸⁰⁶
- Consumer have the right to the protection of their health, safety, and economic interests.⁸⁰⁷
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (d) Marketing Communications should not contain any description of potentially dangerous practices or disregard for health and safety and instructions for use should include appropriate safety warnings and where necessary disclaimers.⁸⁰⁸

⁸⁰⁰ OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) part 1 Section VIII paragraph 1

⁸⁰¹ Section 46(1)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸⁰² Section 5(1) of the Consumer Protection Act No. 46 of 2012; Article 46(1) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸⁰³ OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) part 1 section VIII paragraph 2

⁸⁰⁴ Section 46(1)(b) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸⁰⁵ Section 12(1) of the Consume Protection Act No. 46 of 2012

⁸⁰⁶ Section 17(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁸⁰⁷ Article 46(1)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸⁰⁸ ICC Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice (2011) Article1

- Any person who, in the course of any trade applies a false trade description to any goods; or supplies or offers to supply or has in his possession for supply, any goods to which a false trade description is applied, shall be guilty of an offence.⁸⁰⁹
- The Trade Description Act is set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.

41. Marketing and labelling

Customer access to accurate and adequate information on the positive and negative economic, environmental and social impacts of the products and services they consume both from a product and service labelling and a marketing communications perspective.

GRI Reporting Standard (417)

- a. Whether each of the following types of information is required by the organisation's procedures for product and service information and labelling:
 - i. the sourcing of components of the product and service;
 - ii. content particularly with regard to substances that produce an environmental or social impact;
 - iii. safe use of a product or service; and
 - iv. disposal of the product and environmental and / or social impacts.
- b. Percentage of significant product or service categories covered by and assessed for compliance with such procedures.
- c. The total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and / or voluntary codes concerning product and service information and labelling by:
 - i. incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a fine or a penalty;
 - ii. incidents of non-compliance with regulations in a warning;
 - iii. incidents of non-compliance with voluntary codes.
- d. Total number of incidents of non-compliance with regulations and / or voluntary codes concerning marketing communications including advertising, promotion and sponsorship by:
 - i. incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a fine or penalty;
 - ii. incidents of non-compliance with regulations resulting in a warning;
 - iii. incidents of non-compliance with voluntary codes.

- (a) As per OECD 2011 Section VIII paragraphs 1 & 2: ensuring that the goods and services they provide meet all agreed / legally required standards for consumer health and safety with accurate, verifiable and clear information.
- A supplier is deemed to warrant that the goods or services supplied under a consumer agreement are of a reasonably merchantable quality.⁸¹⁰

⁸⁰⁹ Section 3 of the Trade Description Act 505 Laws of Kenya

⁸¹⁰ Section 5(1) of the Consumer Protection Act No. 46 of 2012

- It is an unfair practice for a person to make a false, misleading or deceptive representation.811
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) All marketing communications should be legal, decent, honest and truthful.812
- It is an unfair practice for a person to make a false, misleading or deceptive representation.⁸¹³
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) All marketing communications should respect human dignity and should not incite or condone any form of discrimination, including that based upon ethnic or national origin, religion, gender, age, disability or sexual orientation.⁸¹⁴
- All licensed broadcasters should ensure that advertisements, either in terms of content, tone or treatment, are not deceptive or are not repugnant to good taste.⁸¹⁵
- The provisions of the Kenya Information and Communications Act are set within the spirit of international standards; hence there is no gap.
- (d) Marketing communications should not contain any statement which is likely to mislead a customer with regards to characteristics of the product such as nature, composition, date of manufacture, range of use, commercial or geographic origin or environmental impact.⁸¹⁶
- Any person who, in the course of any trade applies a false trade description to any goods; or supplies or offers to supply or has in his possession for supply, any goods to which a false trade description is applied, shall be guilty of an offence.⁸¹⁷
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

42. Customer Privacy (including losses of customer data and breaches of customer privacy)

GRI Reporting Standards (418)

- a. Total number of substantiated complaints received concerning breaches of customer privacy categorised by:
 - i. complaints received from outside parties and substantiated by the organisation; and
 - ii. complaints from regulatory bodies
- b. Total number of identified leaks, thefts or losses of customer data.

⁸¹¹ Section 12(1) & (2) of the Consumer Protection Act No. 46 of 2012

⁸¹² ICC Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice (2011) Article 1

⁸¹³ Section 12(1) & (2) of the Consumer Protection Act No. 46 of 2012

⁸¹⁴ ICC Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice (2011) Article 2

⁸¹⁵ Section 46I(i) of the Kenya Information and Communications Act Chapter 411A Laws of Kenya

⁸¹⁶ ICC Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice (2011) Article 5

⁸¹⁷ Section 3 of the Trade Description Act 505 Laws of Kenya

- (a) Respect consumer privacy and take reasonable measures to ensure the security of personal data that they collect, store, process or disseminate.818
- Every person has the right to privacy, which includes the right not to have information relating to their family or private affairs unnecessarily required or revealed, or the privacy of their communications infringed.⁸¹⁹
- A telecommunications operator should ensure that the registration details of a subscriber are kept in a secure and confidential manner, and shall not be disclosed without the written consent of the subscriber.⁸²⁰
- A registration agent should ensure that the registration details of a subscriber are kept in a secure and confidential manner and are not disclosed to any other person.⁸²¹
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) When collecting personal data from consumers ensure that the individuals concerned are aware of the purpose of the collection and any intention to transfer the data to a third party.⁸²²
- No local standard
- Currently, there is no Kenyan legislation addressing this international standard. There is therefore a gap in this respect. However, it is important to note that at the time of drafting this report, there is in place the Data Protection Bill, which was introduced in the Kenyan Parliament on 3rd July 2018. This Bill seeks to establish a comprehensive data protection regime in Kenya. The principal object of the Bill is to protect personal data collected, used or stored by both private and public entities. The Bill recognizes that data protection forms part and parcel of the expectation of the right to privacy as stipulated in article 31 of the Constitution of Kenya. It provides for the legal framework for protection of a person's privacy in instances where personal information is collected, stored, used or processed by another person. The Bill is currently awaiting the third reading in Parliament, before going before the presidency for assent, before it forms part of the laws of Kenya.
- In the meantime, companies looking to comply with the Social requirements of ESG standards should ensure compliance of this international standard.
- (c) Adequate security measures should be in place in order to prevent unauthorised access to or disclosure of the personal data.⁸²³
- No local standard
- See the analysis at (b) above

⁸¹⁸ OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises 2011 Section VIII paragraph 6

⁸¹⁹ Article 31 of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸²⁰ Section 27A(2)(c) of the Kenya Information and Communications Act No. 2 of 1998

⁸²¹ Section 27B(2)(c) of the Kenya Information and Communications Act No. 2 of 1998

⁸²² ICC Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice (2011) Article 19

⁸²³ ICC Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice (2011) Article 19.3

- (d) There should be a privacy policy where personal data is collected, which is available to consumers.⁸²⁴
- No local standard
- See the analysis at (b) above
- (e) Consumers should be advised of their rights to opt out of receiving marketing communications. 825
- No local standard
- See the analysis at (b) above

43. Socioeconomic Compliance

Organisation's overall compliance record as well as compliance with specific laws and regulations in the social and economic area: accounting and tax fraud, corruption, bribery, competition, the provision of products and services or labour issues such as workplace discrimination.

GRI Reporting Standards (419)

- a. Significant fines and non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with laws and / or regulations In the social and economic area in terms of:
 - i. total monetary value of significant fines;
 - ii. total number of non-monetary sanctions; and
 - iii. cases brought through dispute resolution mechanisms.

- (a) Comply with Article V on Employment and Industrial Relations of OECD guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011): concerning the establishment or membership of trade unions, abolition of child labour and compulsory labour, principles of non-discrimination and strong employer / worker relationships.
- Every worker has the right to form, join or participate in the activities and programmes of a trade union. 826
- Every employee has the right to participate in forming a trade union or federation of trade unions, join a trade union or leave a trade union.⁸²⁷
- An employee's refusal or proposed refusal to join or withdraw from a trade union shall not constitute a fair reason for dismissal or the imposition of a disciplinary penalty.⁸²⁸

⁸²⁴ ICC Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice (2011) Article 19.5

⁸²⁵ Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice (2011) Article 19.6

⁸²⁶ Article 41(2)(c) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010; section 5(2) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁸²⁷ Section 4(1) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁸²⁸ Section 46(f) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- Every person is equal before the law and has the right to equal protection and equal benefit of the law.⁸²⁹ An employer should not discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee on any ground, including race, sex, pregnancy, marital status, health status, ethnic or social origin, colour, age, disability religion, political or other opinion, nationality, conscience, belief, culture, dress, language, HIV status or birth, ⁸³⁰ in respect of recruitment, training, promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising out of the employment.⁸³¹
- A collective agreement binds the parties to the agreement, all unionisable employees employed by the employer, or the employers who are, or become members of an employers' organisation party to the agreement, to the extent that the agreement relates to their employees.⁸³² The terms of the collective agreement should be incorporated into the contract of employment of every employee covered by the collective agreement.⁸³³
- Employers are required to observe the terms set out by the Employment Act of Kenya.⁸³⁴
- Every employer should ensure the safety, health and welfare at work of all persons working in his workplace.⁸³⁵
- If an employer wishes to terminate an employment contract on account of redundancy, the employer has to notify the trade union to which the employee is a member (if the employee is a member of a trade union), and the labour officer in charge of the area where the employee is employed, of the reasons for, and the extent of the intended redundancy not less than 1 month prior to the date of the intended date of termination on account of redundancy.⁸³⁶ Where the employee is not a member of a trade union, the employer should notify the employee personally in writing, and the labour office.⁸³⁷
- Every child (who has not attained the age of 18 years) should be protected from economic exploitation and any work that is likely to interfere with the child's education, or be harmful to the child's physical, mental, spiritual, moral or social development.⁸³⁸
- A person should not be required to perform forced labour.⁸³⁹
- No person shall use or assist any other person in recruiting, trafficking or using forced labour.⁸⁴⁰
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (b) Comply with Article VII on Combating Bribery, Bribe Solicitation and Extortion in OECD guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) relating to the offer and acceptance of bribes, development of adequate controls, promoting awareness and illegal contributions to political entities.

⁸²⁹ Article 27(1) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸³⁰ Article 27(4) & (5) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010; section 5(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁸³¹ Section 5(3)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁸³² Section 59(1) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁸³³ Section 59(3) of the Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007

⁸³⁴ No. 11 of 2007

⁸³⁵ Section 6(1) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁸³⁶ Section 40(1)(a) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁸³⁷ Section 40(1)(b) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

⁸³⁸ Section 10(1) of the Children Act No. 8 of 2001

⁸³⁹ Article 30(2) of the Constitution of Kenya, 2010

⁸⁴⁰ Section 4 of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- A person commits the offence of giving a bribe if the person offers, promises or gives a financial or other advantage to another person, who knows or believes the acceptance of the financial or other advantage would itself constitute the improper performance of a relevant function or activity.⁸⁴¹
- Except where contribution is from a candidate to that candidate's campaign financing account, or from a political party or a referendum committee to that political party's or referendum committee's campaign financing account, no contribution from a single source shall exceed 20% of the total contributions received by that candidate, political party or referendum committee.⁸⁴²
- A candidate, a political party or a referendum committee should not receive and keep anonymous contributions or support whether in cash or in kind, or contributions from an illegal source as specified by any law.⁸⁴³
- A candidate who, or a political party or a referendum committee which, receives contributions under the Election Campaign Financing Act should issue a receipt for any contribution exceeding twenty thousand shillings.⁸⁴⁴
- A private entity should put in place procedures appropriate to its size and the scale and to the nature
 of its operation, for the prevention of bribery and corruption.⁸⁴⁵
- The Cabinet Secretary responsible for matters relating to justice should, in consultation with the Ethics and Anti-Corruption Commission, publish guidelines to assist private entities in the preparation of internal procedures in relation to bribery.⁸⁴⁶
- Any facilitation payment made to expedite or secure performance by another person constitutes bribery.⁸⁴⁷
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (c) Comply with Article VIII on Consumer Intentions of OECD guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) concerning competition law, anti-competitive behaviour and co-operation with competition authorities.
- A supplier is deemed to warrant that the goods or services supplied under a consumer agreement are of a reasonably merchantable quality.⁸⁴⁸
- It is an unfair practice for a person to make a false, misleading or deceptive representation.⁸⁴⁹
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard; hence there is no gap.

⁸⁴¹ Section 5(1) of the Bribery Act No. 47 of 2016

⁸⁴² Section 12(2) of the Election Campaign Financing Act No. 42 of 2013

⁸⁴³ Section 13(1) of the Election Campaign Financing Act No. 42 of 2013

⁸⁴⁴ Section 16(1) of the Election Campaign Financing Act No. 42 of 2013

⁸⁴⁵ Section 9(1) of the Bribery Act No. 47 of 2016

⁸⁴⁶ Section 12(1) of the Bribery Act No. 47 of 2016

⁸⁴⁷ Section 5(1) read together with section 2 of the Bribery Act No. 47 of 2016

⁸⁴⁸ Section 5(1) of the Consumer Protection Act No. 46 of 2012; Article 46(1) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸⁴⁹ Section 12(1) & (2) of the Consumer Protection Act No. 46 of 2012

- (d) Comply with Article X on Competition of OECD guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) concerning competition law, anti-competitive behaviour and co-operation with competition authorities.
- Agreements between undertakings, decisions by associations of undertakings, decisions by undertakings or concerted practices by undertakings which have as their object or effect the prevention, distortion or lessening of competition in trade in any goods or services in Kenya, or a part of Kenya, are prohibited.⁸⁵⁰
- The Competition Authority may on its own initiative or upon receipt of information or complaint from any person or Government agency or Ministry, carry out an investigation into any conduct or proposed conduct which is alleged to constitute or may constitute an infringement of prohibitions relating to restrictive trade practices, or prohibitions relating to abuse of dominance.⁸⁵¹
- The Competition Authority may enter any premises in the occupation or under the control of a trader, manufacturer, producer, commission agent, clearing and forwarding agent, transporter or other person believed to be in possession of relevant information and documents and inspect the premises and any goods, documents and records situated thereon for purposes of its investigations.⁸⁵²
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard, as they are set within the same spirit of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (e) Comply with Article XI on Taxation of OECD guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011), concerning compliance with tax laws and regulations.
- The national government has the power to impose income tax, value added tax, customs duties and other duties on import and export goods, and excise tax. A county government may impose property rates and entertainment tax.⁸⁵³
- Local laws adequately satisfy the requirements of the international standard as they are set within the same spirit of the international standard; hence there is no gap.
- (f) Comply with the principles enunciated under the UN Entity for gender equality and empowerment of women and UN Global Compact "Women's Empowerment principles namely gender equality, equal treatment at work, health and safety, education and training, enterprise development, equality through communities and reporting on the issues.
- Not more than two-thirds of the members of elective or appointive bodies shall be of the same gender.⁸⁵⁴
- No employer should discriminate directly or indirectly against an employee or prospective employee
 or harass an employee or prospective employee on grounds of sex in respect of recruitment, training,
 promotion, terms and conditions of employment, termination of employment or other matters arising
 out of the employment.⁸⁵⁵

⁸⁵⁰ Section 21(1) of the Competition Act No. 12 of 2010

⁸⁵¹ Section 31(1) of the Competition Act No. 12 of 2010

⁸⁵² Section 32(1) of the Competition Act No. 12 of 2010

⁸⁵³ Article 209 of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸⁵⁴ Article 27(8) of the Constitution of Kenya 2010

⁸⁵⁵ Section 5(3) of the Employment Act No. 11 of 2007

- Employers should ensure that all employees participate in the application and review of safety and health measures.⁸⁵⁶
- As far as we are aware, Kenyan legislation does not entirely provide for the specific principles set out in the United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and Empowerment of Women and the United Nations Global Compact 'Women's Empowerment Principles', although it is important to note that section 5(2) & (3) of the Employment Act requires employers to treat all their employees equally, and not to discriminate against a particular class of employees, and this includes women. However, for good measure, companies need to comply with the following principles in addition to those provided under Kenyan law as set out above, in order to meet the Social requirements under ESG:
 - i. Companies should promote education, training and professional development for women;
 - ii. Companies should implement enterprise development, supply chain and marketing practices that empower women;
 - iii. Companies should promote equality through community initiatives and advocacy; and
 - iv. Companies should measure and publicly report on progress to achieve gender equality.

GOVERNANCE

CURRENT INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL TOPICS AND STANDARDS

The standards prepared in respect of Governance are based on the requirements set out by FTSE Russell.⁸⁵⁷ The key areas of focus are:

- 1. Anti-Corruption:
- 2. Corporate Governance:
- 3. Risk Management; and
- 4. Tax Transparency.

The GRI provides for a number of general disclosures relevant to general corporate governance, risk management and anti-corruption, applicable for every organisation preparing a sustainability report. As far as the current GRI framework is concerned, there are no specific reporting requirements for tax. However, the GRI published a draft standard on tax and payments to governments in December 2018. This is reported to be the first global standard designed to help organisations understand and communicate the impact of their tax strategies on the economies and societies they operate in using country by country reporting techniques.⁸⁵⁸ The draft GRI Standard was open for public comment until 15 March 2019, and the final version of the Standard is expected to be released in the last quarter of 2019.⁸⁵⁹

In summary, the GRI tax reporting requirements are likely to address:

⁸⁵⁶ Section 6(2)(g) of the Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007

⁸⁵⁷ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings and Data Model 2018

⁸⁵⁸ https://www.taxjustice.net/2018/12/13/gri-invites-feedback-on-its-first-global-tax-transparency-standard/

⁸⁵⁹ https://www.taxjustice.net/2018/12/13/gri-invites-feedback-on-its-first-global-tax-transparency-standard/

- 1. Approach to tax and payments to governments;
- 2. Tax governance, control, and risk management;
- 3. Stakeholder engagement and management of concerns related to tax and payments;
- 4. Entities and activities by tax jurisdiction; and
- 5. Country-by-country reporting.860

Such requirements will no doubt require organisations to record its approach to tax transparency, including (i) use of tax strategy, linked to business operations for each tax jurisdiction in which the organisation has resident entities; (ii) board oversight of the management of tax risks; (iii) disclosure of corporation tax paid globally, with country to country reporting; and (iv) reduce or refrain from the use of offshore secrecy jurisdictions for the purpose of tax planning.⁸⁶¹

The FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018 offers some guidance on the international standards likely to apply to Tax Transparency:

- 1. GTX01: There should be a policy or commitment to: (a) tax transparency or tax responsibility; (b) align tax payments with revenue generating activity, or reduce or refrain from the use of offshore secrecy jurisdictions for the purposes of tax planning.
- 2. GTX02: Organisations should commit to comply with and follow the spirit if the law or engage in tax fairness in all operating countries.
- 3. GTX04: The board should have oversight of the tax policy. There should be evidence of the board oversight of the management of tax risks, and there should be a named position responsible for the aforementioned at board level.
- 4. GTX05: The Audit Committee should be responsible for oversight of implementation of the company's Corporate Tax Policy, and they should report on its oversight activities. The responsibility for oversight of the implementation of the tax policy should be in the Audit Committee's Terms of Reference.
- 5. GTX06: The organisation's CEO, CFO or other executives should make a public statement explicitly covering corporate tax transparency.
- 6. GTX10: There should be external verification of tax data for global operations: (a) with limited breakdown (as a minimum domestic and international breakdown); and (b) with country breakdown.
- 7. GTX12: There should be disclosure of corporation tax paid globally: (a) with at least domestic and international breakdown; and (b) with country by country breakdown.

OBSERVATIONS ON STANDARDS IN KENYA

During our research into local standards we identified the following issues relevant to the extent of the implementation of international compliance and reporting standards for ESG in Kenya:

__

⁸⁶⁰ https://www.globalreporting.org/standards/media/2082/public-comment-form-exposure-draft-standard-for-tax-and-payments-to-governments.pdf

⁸⁶¹ LSEG ESG Report: "Your Guide to ESG Reporting", January 2018

- i. Kenya hosts a local network of the United Nation's Global Compact: Global Compact Network Kenya (GCNK). This network was set up in 2004, and relaunched in 2007 to "spearhead and catalyse actions aimed at promoting good business practices by building capacity and awareness of ethics, integrity and Corporate Social Responsibility in furtherance of the UN Global Compact's 10 principles". 862 It is reported to have 145 participants. 863 In 2012 the GCNK launched a UNGC Codes of Ethics for business in Kenya ("UNGC Codes of Ethics") to provide a local guiding framework for ethical business practice, to complement individual company's governance policies and practices: it has 575 signatories. 864 This includes the Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE), who became a signatory in May 2016. Lancet Kenya is reported to be among one of the first signatories to the UNGC Codes of Ethics. It adopted the Code voluntarily in 2017, and, in doing so, issued a revised anticorruption policy & anti-bribery code of conduct for the company. 865
- ii. Kenya has ratified the UN Convention of Corruption of 2005 ("UNCAC"), which is the underlying legal instrument for The 10th Principle Against Corruption. The 10th Principle Against Corruption has been quoted extensively in our international standards.
- iii. There are extensive corporate governance guidelines set out in the Mwongozo Report of 2015, (a code of governance for government owned entities), 866 which adopts many of the OECD guidelines, (together with corporate governance standards of South Africa and Malaysia). However, the guidelines only apply to state corporations. Furthermore some parts of the Constitution of Kenya, which are relevant to governance, are also only applicable to state officers: Article 73 concerning leadership and integrity is an obvious example.
- iv. Finally, as far as the local standards for publically listed companies in Kenya are concerned, most governance standards are derived from the Kenyan Capital Markets Authority ("CMA") Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public in 2015 ("the Code"). The Code applies to all entities who have received approvals from the CMA to issue securities to the public whether those issuers have been listed or not. The Code came into effect on 4 March 2017, along with a suite of corporate governance reference materials including a reporting template, scorecard, and scorecard methodology. These documents were intended to promote continuous improvement of governance practices in Kenya. 867 We make the following observations in relation to the practical implementation of the Code:
 - the Code was intended to benchmark international best practice, but to also take into account
 the local environment. The steering committee responsible for the development of the code took
 into account relevant legislation from the following jurisdictions: UK, South Africa, Malaysia,
 Brazil and Australia, as well as research conducted by the IFC and the World Bank;
 - the Code is principle based rather than rule based, and contains a mixture of both mandatory requirements⁸⁶⁸, and voluntary requirements. The voluntary requirements are subject to a 'apply

⁸⁶² http://www.globalcompactkenya.org/index.php/en/about/global-compact-network-kenya

⁸⁶³ https://www.unglobalcompact.org/engage-locally/africa/kenya

⁸⁶⁴ http://www.globalcompactkenya.org/index.php/en/about/code-of-ethics/code-of-ethics-signatories

⁸⁶⁵ https://lancet.co.ke/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Revised-Anti-Corruption-and-Anti-Bribery-Code-of-Conduct.pdf

⁸⁶⁶ http://www.scac.go.ke/2015-02-16-09-34-58/mwongozo

⁸⁶⁷ Report on the State of Corporate Governance for Issuers of Securities to the Public in Kenya 2018: (https://www.cma.or.ke/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=527:report-on-the-state-of-corporate-governance-for-issuers-of-securities-to-the-public-in-kenya-2018&catid=12:press-center&Itemid=207)

⁸⁶⁸ The mandatory requirements were initially stipulated in the Capital Markets (Securities) (Public Offers, Listing and Disclosures) Regulations, 2002

or explain' standard. Therefore there is some flexibility as to the extent in which each issuer adopts and implements all provisions of the Code;

- all issuers are required to complete the reporting template and its annual report within four months of the end of the financial year. The same should then be uploaded onto the issuer's website;
- in 2018, the CMA undertook an analysis of the information available to the public (and therefore available to shareholders and potential investors) in respect of 56 issuers of securities to the public in Kenya (out of a total of 67) for the financial year 2017/2018 ("the CMA 2018 Governance Report"). The Code's scorecard assessed issuer's performance in the following areas (i) commitment to good corporate governance, (ii) board operations and control, (iii) rights of shareholders, (iv) stakeholder relations, (v) ethics and social responsibility, (vi) accountability, risk management and internal control, and (vii) transparency and disclosure;
- the findings of the CMA 2018 Governance Report suggest a 55% overall score (fair status) in the application of corporate governance practices by Kenyan issuers of securities to the public, and 30% require improvement. However, it is notable that 10 issuers were excluded from the assessment as these issuers failed to submit either the reporting template or a full set of annual reports, which were required for the CMA to properly assess compliance with the Code; and
- a total of 19 key challenges were identified in the CMA 2018 Governance Report. We have reference these challenges (where relevant) within our gap analysis. One of the overall recommendations identified by the CMA was for issuers to works towards integrated reporting. The CMA has identified that it will (in 2019) assess and adjust its reporting template and scorecard to reflect current global practices whilst also taking into account the Kenyan context.

It will be interesting to see how the CMA addresses the issues identified in the CMA 2018 Governance Report, and any new regulatory requirements will no doubt enhance the overall compliance landscape in Kenyan as far as good governance practices are concerned. Some of the 'next steps' identified in the CMA 2018 Governance Report include (i) for the CMA, "in consultation with the Nairobi Securities Exchange and the issuers, will develop a corporate governance index to give issuers an opportunity to differentiate themselves in the market and tap into a growing pool of money committed to good governance and sustainability"; and (ii) for the CMA to, "take appropriate enforcement action on violations of the mandatory provisions and continues reporting obligations which will be published as appropriate."

C. GOVERNANCE STANDARDS (INTERNATIONAL AND LOCAL) WITH COMPARISON ANALYSIS

44. Governance Structure

GRI Reporting Standards (102-18)

- a. Governance structure of the organisation, including committees of the highest governance body.
- b. Committee responsible for decision making on economic, environmental and social topics.

Report on the State of Corporate Governance for Issuers of Securities to the Public in Kenya 2018: (https://www.cma.or.ke/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=527:report-on-the-state-of-corporate-governance-for-issuers-of-securities-to-the-public-in-kenya-2018&catid=12:press-center&Itemid=207)

- (a) A board, comprising of executive and non-executive directors, should be appointed to act on an informed basis and in the best long-term interests of the organisation with good faith, care and diligence, for the benefit of shareholders, while having regard to relevant stakeholders.⁸⁷⁰
- Every company shall be headed by an effective board, which shall offer strategic guidance, lead and control the company, and is accountable to its shareholders.⁸⁷¹
- Also see Standard 48(b) below on the composition of the highest governance committee.
- The provisions of the Code matches the requirements set by international standards.
- (b) Board members should disclose their levels of expertise ⁸⁷² and know the business of the organisation, its operations and senior management well enough to contribute effectively to board discussions and decisions.⁸⁷³
- The board shall establish clear roles and responsibilities in discharging its fiduciary and leadership functions, and the board shall be structured in a way that it has different skills and expertise within itself.⁸⁷⁴
- In exercising fiduciary duties, each board member must:
 - (a) exercise reasonable degree of care, skill and diligence; and
 - (b) act in the best interests of the company and not for any other purpose. 875
- A director of a company shall act in the way which the director considers, in good faith, would members as a whole, and in so doing the director shall have regard to:
 - (a) the long term consequences of any decision of the directors;
 - (b) the interests of the employees of the company:
 - (c) the need to. foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
 - (d) the impact of the operations of the company on the community and the environment;
 - (e) the desirability of the company to maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
 - (f) the need to act fairly as between the directors and the members of the company. 876

⁸⁷⁰ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 1

⁸⁷¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3

⁸⁷² FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG02

⁸⁷³ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 1.3

⁸⁷⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015; Recommendation 2.3.1

⁸⁷⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guidance to Recommendation 2.3.1

⁸⁷⁶ Companies Act 2015: Section 143(1)

- A director of a company shall exercise independent judgment.⁸⁷⁷
- The provisions of the Code and the Companies Act 2015 match the requirements set by international standards, save for there is no requirement in Kenya for board members to disclose their level of expertise to investors/the public. However, in reality, many organisations may do so.
- (c) The board should ensure that the necessary resources are in place for the organisation to meet its objectives, and measure performance against them.⁸⁷⁸
- The board shall establish procedures to allow its members access to relevant, accurate and complete information and professional advice in order to discharge its duties effectively. In the course of seeking accurate information in order to discharge its duties and responsibilities properly, the board shall seek legal, financial, governance or any other expert advice necessary.⁸⁷⁹
- The provisions of the Code match the requirements set by international standards.
- (d) The board should be chaired by an independent non-executive director. The chair should be independent on the date of appointment. He/she should lead the board, and be responsible for the boards overall effectiveness in directing the organisation's strategy.⁸⁸⁰
- The chairperson of an issuer shall be a non-executive board member. The chairperson shall not be involved in the day-to-day running of the business. The responsibilities of the chairperson shall include leading the board in oversight of management.⁸⁸¹
- Every person who is a chairperson of a listed company shall not hold such position in more than two listed companies at any one time, in order to ensure effective participation in the board.⁸⁸²
- The provisions of both the Code and the NSE Listing manual match the requirements set by international standards, and provide clear guidance as to the restrictions placed on a chairperson holding a similar position in other listed companies.
- (e) The chair should ensure that the board as a whole has a clear understanding of the views of the shareholders. He/she should, in addition to formal general meetings, seek regular engagement with shareholders in order to understand the views on governance and the performance of the organisation.⁸⁸³
- See Standard 47(a) in relation to consulting stakeholders on economic, environment and social topics, and Standard 68(a) on confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken.
- The provisions of the Code match the requirements set by international standards.

⁸⁷⁷ Companies Act 2015: Section 144(1)

⁸⁷⁸ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Principle 1C

⁸⁷⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.5

⁸⁸⁰ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 2.1; UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Principle F

⁸⁸¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.3 and 2.3.4

⁸⁸² NSE Listing Manual 2002: CO.F.00: F.04

⁸⁸³ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 3

- (f) The division of responsibilities of the chair, and any other person of the board should be clearly established, and set out in writing, and agreed by the highest governance body, and there should be a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for the board's decision.⁸⁸⁴
- The board shall establish clear functions reserved for the board and those to be delegated to the management.⁸⁸⁵
- The functions of the board shall be separate from those of the Management.
- The board shall establish, periodically review and make public a board charter. The charter shall set out the strategic intent and outline the board's roles and responsibilities. The charter shall be a source reference and primary induction literature for incoming board members and, provide insights to prospective board members and senior management. It should also assist the board in the assessment of its own performance and that of its individual directors. The charter shall be made public by being published on the company's website.⁸⁸⁶
- The provisions of the Code match the requirements set by international standards.
- (g) The board should also establish committees with responsibility for addressing specific topics. Specialised topics include nomination, audit, remuneration, sustainability, risk management, and specific economic, environmental and social topics. The duties and membership of such committees should be fully disclosed.⁸⁸⁷ The board shall also ensure that each committee has its own charter or terms of reference, and that this charter or terms of reference is disclosed.⁸⁸⁸
- The board shall establish relevant committees with their own charter or written terms of reference, which set out their authority and duties. Such committees shall include topics concerns with the broad functions of the company such as: audit, board nominations, risk management, remuneration, finance, investment and governance.⁸⁸⁹
- The committees shall be appropriately constituted with members who have the necessary skills and
 expertise to handle the responsibilities allocated to them. Where some skills are not available, the
 board may co-opt independent and external professionals to that committee.
- The board shall review the mandate of the committees periodically to ensure that they remain relevant.
- The board shall:
 - (a) establish audit and nomination committees;
 - (b) appoint chairpersons of committees;

⁸⁸⁴ UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: A.A.1

⁸⁸⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.2

⁸⁸⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.6.2;

⁸⁸⁷ IFC Corporate Governance Progression Matrix 2017; ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 1.6; UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: A.2.1; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG09

⁸⁸⁸ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG09

⁸⁸⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.2.2

- (c) determine the procedure and process within which the committee may be allowed to engage independent professional advice at the company's expense; and
- (d) review the effectiveness and performance of committees annually.890
- The Code requirements match international standards, however the formation and composition of both a nomination committee and a remuneration committee were identified as key area of development in the CMA 2018 Governance Report.
- (h) Where the board chooses not to establish such committees, the board should disclose this, and the procedures it employs to discharge its responsibilities effectively in an independent manner.⁸⁹¹
- No local standard identified.
- There is no provision for organisations in Kenya to disclose its reasons for why it chooses not to establish committees. There should be guidance on this.
- (i) In the organisation's annual report, the board should:
 - i. set out the number of meetings of the board and any committees;
 - ii. disclose the average attendance rates for some individual board/committee members;
 - iii. disclose the attendance rates of all individual directors at both board and committee level; and
 - iv. provide a summary of the outcomes relevant to economic, environmental and social topics.892
- No local standard identified.
- However, boards of publically listed companies are required to disclose, in an informative way, details of the activities of Audit Committee, the number of Audit Committee meetings held in a year and details of attendance of each Audit Committee member at such meetings.⁸⁹³ This requirement should be extended to all committees.

45. Delegating Authority

GRI Reporting Standards (102-19)

a. Process for delegating authority for economic, environmental and social topics from the highest governance body to senior executives and other employees.

Standards

(a) The board should be trained on ESG risk issues. At least one director should have experience in analysing and interpreting ESG risks. In sensitive industries, one director or more should have indepth knowledge of ESG risks.⁸⁹⁴

⁸⁹⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.2.2

⁸⁹¹ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 1.6

⁸⁹² UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: A.1.2; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG10 and GCG11

⁸⁹³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 6.5.2

⁸⁹⁴ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

- The board and its committees shall have the appropriate balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge of the company and its business, to enable them discharge their respective duties and responsibilities effectively.⁸⁹⁵
- The local requirement for public listed companies goes some way to meet the requirements by the
 international standards, in terms of requiring a balance of skills, knowledge and experience. Notably
 the there is no specific requirement for the board to be trained, or have experience in analysing
 and/or interpreting ESG risks.
- (b) ESG issues should be a recurring board agenda item. The board should approve ESG strategy and policies, routinely review ESG performance, ensure there is appropriate dialogue between the company and key stakeholders and ensure that management systems are in place to identify and manage ESG risks and impacts.⁸⁹⁶
- The board shall promote timely and balanced disclosure of all material information.
- The board shall ensure the company discloses its environmental, social and governance policies and implementation thereof in its annual report and website.⁸⁹⁸
- Also see Standard 58(a) on the highest governance body's role in sustainability reporting.
- The provisions of the Code are set within the spirit of international standards.
- (c) The board should establish a special board-level committee to review ESG issues. 899
- No local standard identified.
- Kenyan companies should have a board level committee to specifically address ESG issues.
- (d) The board should delegate the day to day functions to senior management with appropriate levels of expertise. There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the role of the chair of the board and executive management. This should be communicated in the annual report.⁹⁰⁰
- See Standard 44(f) concerning governance structure and division of responsibilities.
- As far as we are aware, Kenyan companies are not required to address the division of responsibilities in their annual report.
- (e) The board should have access to the advice of a company secretary, who is responsible for advising the board on all governance matters. Both the appointment and the removal of the company secretary should be a matter for the board.⁹⁰¹

⁸⁹⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.2.1

⁸⁹⁶ Beyond The Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

⁸⁹⁷ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 7.1

⁸⁹⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 7.1: Guideline (j)

⁸⁹⁹ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 1.6

⁹⁰⁰ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 2.1;

⁹⁰¹ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 16

- A private company is required to have a secretary only if it has a paid up capital of five million shillings or more.⁹⁰²
- Every public company is required to have at least one secretary, and the directors of that public company shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that the secretary is (a) a person who appears to them to have the requisite knowledge and experience to discharge the functions of a secretary of the company; and (b) is the holder of a practising certificate issued under the Certified Public Secretaries of Kenya Act.⁹⁰³
- The Board shall have power to appoint or remove the company secretary.
- The requirement for public listed companies in Kenya goes some way to meet the requirements by the international standards, by mandating the role of the company secretary. As we are aware, the appointment and the removal of the company secretary is not mandated to be a matter for the board. (However, it is provided for as a guideline to Recommendation 2.3.9 of the Code).
- (f) The day to day compliance function, (ensuring compliance with economic, environmental and social topics, policies and procedures, code of ethics and/or conduct), through a designated fulltime corporate compliance officer and/or company secretary.⁹⁰⁵
- No local standard identified, but the Code suggests that all governance matters should be handled by an organisation's company secretary.⁹⁰⁶
- Whilst many companies in Kenya may already comply with the international standard, it does not appear to be a mandatory requirement.

46. Executive level responsibility for economic, environment and social topics

GRI Reporting Standards (102-20)

- a. Whether the organisation has appointed an executive level position or positions with responsibility for economic, environmental and social topics; and
- b. Whether post holders report directly to the highest governance body.

Standards

(a) The board should assign responsibilities for oversight and implementation of economic, environmental and social topics (including risk management) to senior management within the organisation.⁹⁰⁷

⁹⁰² Companies Act 2015: Section 243

⁹⁰³ Companies Act 2015: Section 244; NSE Listing Manual 2002: CO.F.00: F.07

⁹⁰⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline (a) to Recommendation 2.3.9

⁹⁰⁵ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹⁰⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline (d) to Recommendation 2.3.9

⁹⁰⁷ Business Principles for Countering Bribery: A Multi-Stakeholder Initiative led by Transparency International 2013: 4

- There should be a clear flow of information between the management and the board in order to facilitate both quantitative and qualitative evaluation and appraisal of the company's performance. 908
- The requirement for public listed companies in Kenya goes some way to meet the requirements by the international standards, as it clearly addresses the importance of the exchange of communication and information between the board and senior management. However, there are no standards which specifically require the board to allocate responsibility and oversight of ESG topics to the senior management of the organisation.
- (b) It is recommended that the implementation of environmental and social management systems be placed within strong corporate governance mechanisms, including a designated corporate governance officer or corporate secretary. 909
- The national values and principles of governance bind all state organs, state officers, public officers and all persons whenever any of them (a) applies or interprets the Constitution; (b) enacts, applies or interprets any law; or (c) makes or implements public policy decisions. The national values and principles of governance include: (i) patriotism, national unity, sharing and devolution of power, the rule of law, democracy and participation of the people; (ii) human dignity, equity, social justice, inclusiveness, equality, human rights, non-discrimination and protection of the marginalised; (iii) good governance, integrity, transparency and accountability; and (iv) sustainable development.⁹¹⁰
- See Standard 45(f) above on Delegating Authority.
- The Code provides for ESG policies to be prepared and implementation to be documented in the
 annual report and website. There is no mandatory requirement as to who should have day to day
 oversight of such matters, and so governance mechanisms will depend upon an individual
 organisation's approach and degree of implementation of <u>all</u> standards within this section.

47. Consulting stakeholders on economic, environment and social topics

GRI Reporting Standards (102-21)

- a. Process for consultation between stakeholders and the highest governance body on economic, environmental and social topics;
- b. If consultation is delegated, describe to whom it is delegated and how the resulting feedback is provided to the highest governance body.

- (a) The board, (particularly non-executive directors), should implement communication channels for meaningful dialogue on governance matters with shareholders, creditors and other stakeholders as appropriate.⁹¹¹
- The board shall ensure effective communication with stakeholders and proactively supply relevant information to stakeholders. In addition, the board shall establish whistle-blowing mechanisms that

⁹⁰⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.3

⁹⁰⁹ IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency: 2.1

⁹¹⁰ Article 10 of the Kenyan Constitution 2010

⁹¹¹ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 1.2

encourage stakeholders to bring out information helpful in enforcing good corporate governance practices.912

- The board shall proactively manage relationships with stakeholders through transparent and effective communication. Constructive engagement with stakeholders shall be deliberate and planned.⁹¹³
- The Code's requirement for public listed companies in Kenya matches the requirements set by international standards, but the CMA suggests that issuers should develop policies and strategies to manage relations with different/key stakeholders.⁹¹⁴
- (b) Based on the size and impact of the company, stakeholders typically include:
 - i. local communities directly affected by the organisation;
 - ii. customers and regulations;
 - iii. workers, contractors, and primary-supply-chain workers;
 - iv. neighbouring projects; and
 - v. international NGOs and CSOs. 915
- Stakeholders are considered to be any group who can affect, or be affected by the company, its
 decision and its reputation. They include shareholders, customers, suppliers, employees, creditors,
 regulators, lenders, media, auditors and potential investors, but may also include the community,
 government and other associations.⁹¹⁶
- The definition of stakeholders as provided for in the Code matches the requirements set by international standards.
- (c) The board should describe the organisation's policy and strategy for stakeholder engagement, including the following:
 - stakeholder identification:
 - ii. stakeholder analysis to identify the needs and interests of diverse stakeholders;
 - iii. differentiated approaches for priority groups;
 - iv. disclosure and consultation;
 - v. grievance mechanism and reporting; and
 - vi. management-level mechanisms to raise and resolve consistent stakeholder issues.917
- The board shall have a stakeholder-inclusive approach in its practice of corporate governance. It shall identify its various stakeholders and develop strategies and suitable policies to map out areas of interaction with different stakeholder groups.⁹¹⁸

⁹¹² The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 4.2

⁹¹³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendations 4.2; 4.2.1; 4.1.3

⁹¹⁴ Report on the State of Corporate Governance for Issuers of Securities to the Public in Kenya 2018:

⁽https://www.cma.or.ke/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=527:report-on-the-state-of-corporate-governance-for-issuers-of-securities-to-the-public-in-kenya-2018&catid=12:press-center<emid=207)

⁹¹⁵ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹¹⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Chapter 4

⁹¹⁷ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹¹⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendations 4.1.1 and 4.1.2

- The board shall establish a formal process to resolve both internal and external disputes.
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of international standards.
- (d) Secure and accessible channels should be provided, through which employees and shareholders can raise concerns ("grievance mechanisms"). Such mechanisms should be effective, in confidence and without risk of reprisal and/or retaliation.⁹¹⁹
- See Standard 68(a) below on communication critical concerns.
- Standard 68(a) below on communication critical concerns addresses the requirements concerning
 whistle-blowing procedures. There does not appear to be any requirement for Kenyan companies to
 implement a procedure to manage grievance mechanisms.
- (e) Grievances and complaints, as well as the company's responses, should be documented to ensure resolution of concerns, and this documentation should be updated at least annually. Reporting should be consistent with international standards (AA 1000 Standards on Stakeholder Engagement and Accountability Principles and ISO 26000). Unresolved stakeholder issues should require a management action plan. 920
- No local standard identified.
- Whilst companies in Kenya may already comply with international standards, it does not appear to be a mandatory requirement.
- (f) Grievance mechanisms should be resolved with participation of a shareholder/employee representative and the board should be informed about grievance outcomes, trends and root causes on a regular basis by senior management.⁹²¹
- No local standard identified.
- Whilst companies in Kenya may already comply with international standards, it does not appear to be a mandatory requirement.
- (g) The board should ensure that shareholders have the right to vote on major decisions which may change the nature of the organisation in which they have invested. Such rights should be described in the organisation's governing documents and include shareholder approval to authorise. 922
- The board shall take into account the interests of all key stakeholder groups before making its
 decisions.⁹²³

⁹¹⁹ Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business 2013; Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

⁹²⁰ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹²¹ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹²² ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 8.2

⁹²³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 4.1.1

- To the extent that the duty is vested in general meetings, the shareholders should ensure that only
 credible persons who can add value to the company's business are elected to the board of
 directors.⁹²⁴
- Whilst companies in Kenya may already comply with international standards, it does not appear to be a mandatory requirement, and is likely to be dictated by an individual company's constitutional documents. However, one of the findings of the CMA 2018 Governance Report is that issuers should ensure that all shareholders (including minority and foreign shareholders) are treated in an equitable manner.
- (h) The selection of the organisation's external auditor should be subject to shareholder approval, and the board should consider and report to shareholders on the independence of the auditor on an annual basis. 925
- No local standard identified.
- Whilst companies in Kenya may already comply with the international standards, it does not appear
 to be a mandatory requirement. Provisions should be made for the international standards to ensure
 investor confidence in the autonomy and independence of the external auditor.

48. Composition of the highest governance body and its committee

GRI Reporting Standards (102-22)

- a. Report on the composition of the board, in respect of the following issues:
 - i. executive or non-executive;
 - ii. independence;
 - iii. tenure on the governance body;
 - iv. number of individuals other significant positions and commitments, and the nature of the commitments:
 - v. gender:
 - vi. membership of under-represented social group;
 - vii. competencies relating to economic, environmental and social topics; and
 - viii. stakeholder representation.

- (a) The number of board directors should be disclosed⁹²⁶, and the board should be of a sufficient size to meet the requirements of the business and to ensure any changes to the board can be managed without undue disruption.⁹²⁷
- The board shall be of sufficient size that enables the requirements of the company's business to be met. It shall not be too large to undermine an interactive discussion during board meetings or too

⁹²⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015; Recommendation 2.1.1

⁹²⁵ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 7.9

⁹²⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG03

⁹²⁷ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 7.9; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG41

small such that the inclusion of wider expertise and skills to improve the effectiveness of the board and the formation of its committees is compromised. 928

- The Code's requirement for public listed companies matches the requirements set by international standards.
- (b) At least half of the board (with a minimum of two for smaller companies and excluding the chairman) should comprise non-executive directors, determined by the board to be independent, so that no one individual (or small group of individuals) dominates the board's decision making. 929 The board shall disclose the number of independent directors 930, and the percentage of independent directors on the board should be compared to international norms and country peers 931.
- A private company is required to have at least one director. A public company is required to have at least two directors.⁹³²
- The board shall comprise a balance of executive and non-executive directors, with a majority of non-executive directors. Independent non-executive directors shall be at least one third of the total number of board members.⁹³³
- The board shall disclose in its annual report whether independent and other non-executive directors constitute at least two thirds of the board and if it satisfies the representation of the minority shareholders.⁹³⁴
- The provisions of the Code and the Companies Act, 2015 matches the requirements set by international standards.
- (c) Members of the board should meet specified independence criteria, which should include whether they:
 - i. have been an employee of the organisation (or a subsidiary) within the last five years;
 - ii. have, or had a material business relationship with the organisation (either directly or indirectly) within the past three years;
 - iii. have received fees from the organisation (apart from in their capacity as a member);
 - iv. have close family ties with any of the organisation's advisers, directors and/or senior employees;
 - v. hold, or have held cross directorships or have significant links with other directors through involvement in other companies or bodies;
 - vi. represent a significant shareholder of the organisation, or an officer of, or otherwise associated with, a significant shareholder of the organisation; and

⁹²⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.4

⁹²⁹ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹³⁰ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG04

⁹³¹ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG36

⁹³² Companies Act 2015: Section 129(1)

⁹³³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.3; NSE Listing Manual 2002: Second Schedule

⁹³⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 7.1.1

- vii. have been a director of the organisation for such a period that his or her independence may have become compromised. 935
- An independent board member is one who:
 - (a) has not been employed by the company in an executive capacity within the last three years;
 - (b) is not associated with an adviser or consultant to the company or a member of the company's senior management or a significant customer or supplier of the company or with a not-for-profit entity that receives significant contributions from the company; or within the last three years, has not had any business relationship with the company (other than service as a director) for which the company has been required to make disclosure;
 - (c) has no personal service contract with the company, or a member of the company's senior management;
 - (d) is not employed by a public listed company at which an executive officer of the company serves as a director:
 - (e) is not a member of the immediate family of any person described above, or has not had any of the relationships described above with any affiliate of the company;
 - (f) is not a representative of a shareholder who has the ability to control or significantly influence management;
 - (g) is free from any business or other relationship which could be seen to interfere materially with the individual's capacity to act in an independent manner;
 - (h) does not have a direct or indirect interest in the company (including any parent or subsidiary in a consolidated group with the company) which is either material to the director or to the company. A holding of five percent or more is considered material;
 - (i) does not hold cross-directorships or significant links with other directors through involvement in other companies or bodies; and
 - (j) has not served for more than nine years since they were first elected. 936
- Every person save a corporate director who is a director of a listed company shall not hold such
 position in more than five listed companies at any one time to ensure effective participation in the
 board.⁹³⁷
- The provisions of the Code and the NSE Listing Manual broadly matches the requirements set by international standards, but could be refined to preserve and maintain board independence. The CMA 2018 Governance Report suggest that issuers should develop and implement policies and procedures to annually assess the independence of independent board members.

⁹³⁵ UK Code on Corporate Governance A.3.1; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG02

⁹³⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline 2.4.1

⁹³⁷ NSE Listing Manual 2002: CO.F.00: F.03

- (d) The board should identify in the annual report the names of the directors considered by the board to be independent, and who are able to exercise independent judgment free from any external influence. The board should state its reasons if it determines that a director is independent notwithstanding the existence of relationships or circumstances which may appear relevant to its determination, including the information set out in (c) above. 938
- The board shall have policies and procedures in place to ensure independence of its members. The status of independent board members shall be assessed annually by the entire board, and the board shall determine who the independent members are on an annual basis.⁹³⁹
- The full name, age (or date of birth) home or business address, nationality and function in the group of each of the following persons and an indication of the principal activities performed by them outside the group where these are significant with respect to the group: (a) directors, alternate and proposed directors of the issuer and each of its subsidiaries including details of other directorships; (b) the senior management of the issuer including the chief executive, board secretary and finance director, with details of professional qualifications and period of employment with the issuer for each such person; (c) founders, if the issuer has been established as a family business or in existence for fewer than five years and the nature of family relationship, if any; (d) detailed disclosure of chief executive or other senior management changes planned or expected during twenty four months following the issue and listing of the security or appropriate negative statement. A description of other relevant business interests and activities of every such person as is mentioned. 940
- Whilst the requirements for listed companies in Kenya broadly match the requirements set by the
 international standards, there does not appear to be a requirement for the measures taken to ensure
 board independence to be disclosed in the annual report. (Although many companies may do so).
- (e) Board diversity should be achieved in all respects.⁹⁴¹ The board should be committed to gender diversity by issuing a statement of support, and having targets in place to improve gender ratio. The number and percentage of women on the board should be disclosed, and these should be compared to international norms and country peers⁹⁴².
- The board shall have a policy to ensure the achievement of diversity in its composition, and shall consider whether its size, diversity and demographics make it effective. The appointment of board members shall be gender sensitive and shall not be perceived to represent a single or narrow constituency interest. Where companies establish a diversity policy, the companies shall introduce appropriate measures to ensure that the policy is implemented. 943
- The requirements for public listed companies in Kenya goes some way to meet the set by the
 relevant international standards on the issue of diversity. However, there is no specific disclosure
 obligation on companies to publish the gender ratio of boards. (Although many companies may do
 so).

⁹³⁸ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 2.6

⁹³⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 2.4, Recommendation 2.4.1

⁹⁴⁰ NSE Listing Manual 2002: ID.E.00: E.01 and E.02

⁹⁴¹ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹⁴² FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG05, GCG06, GCG50 and GCG37

⁹⁴³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation & Guideline 2.1.5

- (f) The organisation should, as a matter of good practice, disclose when significant shareholders (or beneficial owners, typically those with more than five percent of shares) are management personnel or board members.⁹⁴⁴
- Executive members of the board shall manage the conflict that arises between their management role and their role in the board.⁹⁴⁵
- Also see Standard 51(d) on conflicts of interest.
- The provisions of the Code are set within the spirit of international standards.
- (g) Non-executive directors should serve for an appropriate length of time to ensure they bring an objective perspective to the board without compromising the independence of the board. The length of tenure of each director should be reviewed regularly by the nomination committee to allow for board refreshment and diversity and retention of corporate knowledge, including on economic, environmental and social topics.⁹⁴⁶
- The tenure of an independent board member shall not exceed a cumulative term of nine years. Upon
 completion of the nine years, an independent board member may continue to serve on the board
 subject to re-designation as a non-independent member.⁹⁴⁷
- The Board shall disclose resignation of a serving Board member in:
 - (a) two newspapers with national reach immediately it happens;
 - (b) the company's website immediately it happens; and
 - (c) the annual report at the end of the financial year.
- In addition, Capital Markets Authority shall be notified immediately the resignation takes place and such notification shall include detailed circumstances necessitating the resignation. 948
- The Code's requirements for public listed companies broadly matches the requirements set by international standards.
- (h) Organisations should be guided by local norms in respect of tenure for both executives and non-executive board members, and those with longer tenure than normal should not be classified as independent in terms of committee appointments or other board functions requiring independence.⁹⁴⁹
- Tenure of an independent board member is capped at nine years. The nine years can either be a
 consecutive service of nine years or a service of nine years with intervals.⁹⁵⁰

⁹⁴⁴ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹⁴⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation & Guideline 2.1.3

⁹⁴⁶ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 3.2

⁹⁴⁷ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015; Recommendation 2.4.2

⁹⁴⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015; Guideline 7.1.1

⁹⁴⁹ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 2.6

⁹⁵⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation & Guideline 2.4.2

- The Code's requirement complies with the requirements set by international standards, by specifying
 the period in which it considers the tenure of non-executive board members for the said board
 member to be considered independent.
- (i) Board composition should be based on a skills matrix. There should be at least one member on the board with an in-depth knowledge and expertise in the economic, environmental and social sectors.⁹⁵¹
- See Standard 50(b) below concerning the nomination and selection of the highest governance body.
- In performing the functions of a director, a director of a company shall exercise the same care, skill and diligence that would be exercisable by a reasonably diligent person with the general knowledge, skill and experience that (a) may reasonably be expected of a person carrying out the functions performed by the director in relation to the company; and (b) the director has.⁹⁵²
- The requirement for public listed companies in Kenya broadly complies with the requirements set by
 international standards, in that the board is required to review its skills matrix on an annual basis.
 However, local requirements do not provide specific requirements for at least one member of the
 board to have an in-depth knowledge and expertise in the economic, environmental and social
 sectors.

49. Chair of the highest governance body

GRI Reporting Standards (102-23)

- a. Whether the chair is also an executive officer in the organisation; and
- b. If so, describe his/her function within the organisation's management and the reasons for this arrangement.

Standards

- (a) The chair should not assume the role of chief executive officer of the organisation ⁹⁵³. If this does happen, it should be subject to the approval of the majority of shareholders, who, should be consulted prior to any appointment. The board should set out its reasons for the appointment at the time of the appointment, and also publish the decision and reasons on the organisation's website, and in its annual report. ⁹⁵⁴
- The functions of the chairperson and the chief executive officer shall not be exercised by the same individual.⁹⁵⁵

953 FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG01

⁹⁵¹ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹⁵² Companies Act 2015: Section 145

⁹⁵⁴ UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: A.3.1; Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018: 2.2; UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 9

⁹⁵⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.3

- The division of responsibilities between the chairperson and the chief executive officer shall be clearly established, set out in writing and agreed by the board and shall be clearly defined in the board's charter.⁹⁵⁶
- The local requirement for public listed companies complies with the requirements set by the
 international standards, although there is no provision in Kenya as to what steps should be taken if
 the Chair does assume the role of the CEO.
- (b) If the company does not have a separate non-executive chairman and chief executive officer, it should appoint a Lead Independent Director. However, as a matter of best practice, even if the company's chair is independent, a Lead Independent Director should still be appointed. The Lead Independent Director provides shareholders and directors with a valuable channel of communication should they wish to discuss any concerns relating to the chair. The board should explain the reasons why its leadership structure is in the best interests of the company in the annual report and keep the structure under review. He have the structure under review.
- No local standard identified.
- Provision should be made for an applicable requirement to match international standards.

50. Nominating and selecting the highest governance body

GRI Reporting Standards (102-24)

- a. Nomination and selection process for the highest governance body, and its committees; and
- b. Criteria used, including whether:
 - i. Stakeholders (including shareholders) are involved;
 - ii. Diversity is considered;
 - iii. Independence is considered;
 - iv. Expertise and experience relating to economic, environmental and social topics are considered.

- (a) The board should establish a nomination committee, comprised of a majority of independent non-executive directors, to lead the process of appointments and succession planning.⁹⁵⁹
- The board shall appoint a nomination committee consisting mainly of independent and nonexecutive board members with the responsibility of proposing new nominees for appointment to the board and for assessing the performance and effectiveness of the directors of the company.
- The chairperson of the nomination committee shall be an independent director.⁹⁶¹

⁹⁵⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.3

⁹⁵⁷ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG43

⁹⁵⁸ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 2.2

⁹⁵⁹ IFC Corporate Governance Progression Matrix 2017; UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 17

⁹⁶⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.2

⁹⁶¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.2.3

- The Code's requirements complies with the requirements set by international standards. However, the CMA 2018 Governance Report had identified this as a challenge which needs to be addressed, which suggests that organisations are not adopting and implementing these standards.
- (b) The main role and responsibilities of the nomination committee should be described in the committee's terms of reference. This includes:
 - i. evaluating the composition of the board taking into account the board diversity policy;
 - ii. developing a skills matrix, by preparing a description of the desired roles, experience and capabilities required for each appointment;
 - iii. leading the process for board appointments and putting forward recommendations to shareholders on directors to be elected and re-elected:
 - iv. upholding the principle of director independence by addressing conflicts of interest (and potential conflicts of interest) among committee members and between the committee and its advisors during the nomination process;
 - v. considering and being responsible for the appointment of independent consultants for recruitment or evaluation including their selection and terms of engagement and publically disclosing their identity and consulting fees;
 - vi. entering into dialogue with shareholders on the subject of board nominations either directly or via the board; and
 - vii. proactively leading and being accountable for the development, implementation and continual review of director succession planning. 962
- The board, through the nomination committee, shall on an annual basis review the required skills
 mix and expertise that the executive directors as well as independent and non-executive directors
 bring to the board and make disclosure of the same in its annual report.⁹⁶³
- The board shall recognise, respect and protect the rights of shareholders. This includes their right
 to participate and vote at general shareholder meetings including the election of directors. The
 shareholders are encouraged to participate in the Annual General Meetings and to exercise their
 votes.⁹⁶⁴
- The nomination committee shall consider candidates for directorships proposed by all the shareholders including the majority shareholders.⁹⁶⁵
- The nomination committee shall recommend to the board candidates for directorships to be considered for appointment by the shareholders. 966

⁹⁶² ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 2.5; UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: B.2.1; ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 3.7

⁹⁶³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.2

⁹⁶⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 3.1

⁹⁶⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.2

⁹⁶⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.2

- The nomination committee shall consider only persons of calibre, credibility and who have the
 necessary skills and expertise to exercise independent judgement on issues that are necessary to
 promote the company's objectives and performance in its area of business.⁹⁶⁷
- The Code's requirements for public listed companies broadly complies with the requirements set by international standards.
- (c) The nomination committee should agree upon an effective succession plan for board members and senior management. 968
- The term of office of the members of the board shall be organised in such a way that ensures that
 there is a smooth transition and that they end at different times. Where possible, no more than one
 third of the board members shall retire at the same time.⁹⁶⁹
- The Code's requirements for public listed companies complies with the requirements set by international standards.
- (d) Appointment to the board should be subject to a formal, rigorous and transparent process, based on merit and objective criteria, including their expertise in economic, environmental and social topics and the contribution they will bring to the organisation.⁹⁷⁰
- Board appointment procedures shall be transparent and clearly documented and approved by the board. The procedures should be formal and a matter for the board as a whole, assisted by the nomination committee, and subject to shareholder approval when necessary.⁹⁷¹
- The appointment process should be well managed to ensure that a balanced mix of proficient individuals is attained and that each of those appointed is able to add value and bring independent judgment to bear in the decision-making process.⁹⁷²
- All persons offering themselves for appointment as directors should disclose any potential area of conflict that may undermine their position or service as director.⁹⁷³
- All persons offering themselves for appointment as directors should disclose any potential area of conflict that may undermine their position or service as a director.⁹⁷⁴
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit in order to achieve the same results as international standards.
- (e) Open advertising and/or an external search should be undertaken for the appointment of the chair and non-executive board members. If an external search agency is used, it should be identified in

⁹⁶⁷ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.2

⁹⁶⁸ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018

⁹⁶⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guidelines 2.1.2 & 2.1.8 ⁹⁷⁰ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018

⁹⁷¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.1

⁹⁷² The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.1.1

⁹⁷³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 2.1, Recommendation 2.1.1

⁹⁷⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 2.1

the annual report, together with a statement of independence in respect of any links between the organisation and the external search agency.⁹⁷⁵

- No local standard identified.
- Whilst companies in Kenya may use open advertising and/or an external search for the appointment
 of the chair and non-executive board members, there does not appear to be any specific requirement
 to do so. This should be considered further, in order to ensure transparency and independence of
 the process, and the board of any organisation.
- (f) All board members should be subject to an annual re-election. Shareholders have the right to vote on this re-election, and their right should be covered in company policy. 976 Board resolutions for re-election should include reasons why individual board members continue to be important to the organisation's long term sustainability. 977 Extending a director's tenure for additional terms should be premised on satisfactory evaluations of his/her contribution. 978
- No local standard identified. However, in our experience these should be provided for in an individual company's constitutional documents.
- Provision for the process of re-election should be specified in order to give investors' confidence in board operations, independence and transparency.

51. Conflicts of interest

GRI Reporting Standards (102-25)

- a. Processes for the highest governance body to ensure conflicts of interest are avoided and managed; and
- b. Whether conflicts of interests are disclosed to stakeholders, including, as a minimum:
 - i. Cross-board membership:
 - ii. Cross shareholding with suppliers and other stakeholders;
 - iii. Existence of controlling shareholders;
 - iv. Related party disclosures.

- (a) The board should ensure that policies and procedures on conflicts of interest are established, understood and implemented by directors, management and employees.⁹⁷⁹
- The board shall put in place a policy to manage conflict of interest. 980

⁹⁷⁵ UK Corporate Code 2018: Provision 20

⁹⁷⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG22

⁹⁷⁷ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 18

⁹⁷⁸ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 3.6

⁹⁷⁹ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 8.3; FTSE Russell ESG Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG07

⁹⁸⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.8. In the Code "Conflict of interest" means a situation that has the potential to undermine the impartiality of a person because of the possibility of a clash between the person's self- interest and professional interest or public interest.

- In exercising fiduciary duties, each board member must act honestly at all times and must not place themselves in a situation where personal interests conflict with those of the company.⁹⁸¹
- The Code's requirement for public listed companies complies with the requirements set by international standards.
- (b) If a board member has an interest in a matter under consideration by the board, they should promptly declare such an interest and be precluded from voting on the subject or exerting influence. 982
- Executive members of the board shall manage the conflict that arises between their management role and their role in the board. Directors shall not take part in any discussions or decision-making regarding any subject or transactions in which they have a conflict of interest.⁹⁸³
- A director of a company shall avoid a situation in which the director has, or can have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or may conflict, with the interests of the company.⁹⁸⁴
- Upon appointment to the board and thereafter, where circumstances so demand, directors shall declare any real or perceived conflict of interest with the company. The company shall maintain a register of declared conflict of interests, which applies equally to the board and the company secretary.⁹⁸⁵
- If a director of a company is in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a proposed transaction or arrangement with the company, or in a transaction or arrangement that the company has already entered into, the director shall declare the nature, and extent of that interest (a) to the other directors; and (b) if the company is a public company, to the members of the company.⁹⁸⁶
- The provisions of the Code and the Companies Act, 2015 comply with the requirements set by international standards.
- (c) The board should disclose the process for approving, reviewing and monitoring related party transactions ("RPTs")987. Any inherent conflicts of interest which, for significant transactions, should include establishing a committee of independent directors. This can be a separate committee or an existing committee comprised of independent directors, for example the audit committee. The committee should review significant RPTs to determine whether they are in the best interests of the organisation and, if so, to determine what terms are fair and reasonable. The conclusion of committee deliberations on significant RPTs should be disclosed in the organisation's annual report to shareholders.988

⁹⁸¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.1

⁹⁸² ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 8.3

⁹⁸³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendations 2.3.1 and 2.3.8

⁹⁸⁴ Companies Act 2015: Section 146

⁹⁸⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.8

⁹⁸⁶ Companies Act 2015: Section 151

⁹⁸⁷ According to IAS 24, a related-party transaction is "a transfer of resources, services, or obligations between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged." A related party is a person or an entity that is related to the reporting entity; FTSE Russell ESG Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG07

⁹⁸⁸ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 8.4

- The board shall put in place a policy on related party transactions, and all related party transactions shall meet the requirements of the law and be approved by the board before being executed. 989
- The board shall disclose all related party transactions. 990
- There shall be public disclosure in respect of any management or business agreements entered into between the issuer and its related companies, which may result in a conflict of interest situation.⁹⁹¹
- The provisions of the Code and the NSE Listing Manual comply with the requirements set by international standards.
- (d) The board should disclose the identity of controlling shareholders (individual, family, or group), how much of the company's shares they ultimately control, how control is held, and whether such shareholders are in a position to effectively dominate the company. This means that any material risks to minority shareholders associated with controlling shareholders, ownership concentration, cross holdings, and voting-power imbalances should be disclosed.⁹⁹²
- A number of provisions, including the following details, should be provided to the NSE regarding an issuer's major shareholders, (which means shareholders ae the beneficial owners of at least 3% or more of each class of the issuers voting rights); (a) names of shareholders, number of shares and outstanding shares of each class owned by each of them, (b) disclose any significant change in the percentage ownership held by any major shareholders during the past three years; and (c) indicate whether the issuer's major shareholders have difference voting rights.⁹⁹³
- NSE requirements are within the spirit of international standards.
- (e) Shareholders should have the right to approve significant RPTs above an appropriate materiality threshold, and this should be based on the approval of a majority of disinterested shareholders.⁹⁹⁴
- Authorisation, may, in the case of a private company, be given by the directors by the matter concerned being proposed to and authorised by them, so long as nothing in the company's constitution invalidates the giving of such an authorisation.⁹⁹⁵
- Authorisation, may, in the case of a public company, be given by the directors of the company by
 the matter concerned being proposed to and authorised by them, but only if the company's
 constitution includes a provision enabling the directors to give such an authorisation and the
 directors comply with the requirements of the provision.⁹⁹⁶

⁹⁸⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.7. *In the code, "related party transaction" means a business deal or arrangement between two or more parties who are joined by a special relationship prior to the deal and includes, a business transaction between a major shareholder, or any company in which he holds shareholding, and the company.*

⁹⁹⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 7.1.1

⁹⁹¹ Nairobi Stock Exchange Limited: Listing Manual 2002: CO.F.00: F.02

⁹⁹² Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018

⁹⁹³ NSE Listing Manual 2002: ID.F.OO: F.01

⁹⁹⁴ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 8.5

⁹⁹⁵ Companies Act 2015: Section 146(4)

⁹⁹⁶ Companies Act 2015: Section 146(5)

 There is no specific mandatory requirement applicable to companies in Kenya. This should be documented in order to give investors' confidence in company operations, its independence and transparency.

52. Role of highest governance body in setting purpose, values and strategy

GRI Reporting Standard (102-26)

a. Highest governance body and senior executives roles in the development, approval and updating of the organisation's purpose, value or mission statements, strategies, policies and goals related to economic, environmental and social topics.

- (a) The board is accountable to shareholders and relevant stakeholders and responsible for preserving and enhancing sustainable value over the long-term. In fulfilling their role effectively, board members should monitor the effectiveness of the organisation's governance, environmental policies and social practices and adhere to all applicable laws. 997
- The functions of the board shall be separate from those of the management team. The board shall
 define the company's mission, vision, its strategy, goals, risk policy plans and objectives, including
 approval of its annual budgets.⁹⁹⁸
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit in order to achieve the same results as international standards.
- (b) The board should have oversight of environmental and social matters as part of the regular agenda of board meetings and it should approve environment and social policies and routinely and review performance.⁹⁹⁹
- The board shall consider not only the financial performance but also the impact of the company's operations on society and the environment. This includes economic, social and environmental performance.¹⁰⁰⁰
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit in order to achieve the same results as international standards.
- (c) The board should assess the basis on which the organisation generates and preserves value over the long term. It should describe, in the annual report, the sustainability of the organisation's business model, taking into account the future opportunities for the organisation, and how its governance contributes towards the deliverance of this strategy.¹⁰⁰¹

⁹⁹⁷ ICGN Global Governance Principles

⁹⁹⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation Guideline 2.3.2

⁹⁹⁹ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

¹⁰⁰⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 5.3.2

¹⁰⁰¹ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 2

- The board shall ensure that all deliberations, decisions and actions are founded on the core values underpinning good governance. The board must be able to justify its decisions and actions to shareholders and other stakeholders who require it to do so.¹⁰⁰²
- The company shall have internal corporate disclosure policies and procedures, which are practical
 and include feedback from stakeholders. These policies and procedures shall ensure compliance
 with the disclosure requirements set out in the listing requirements. In formulating these policies and
 procedures, the board shall be guided by best practices.¹⁰⁰³
- Key areas requiring disclosure and the recommended disclosure practices include company vision, mission, values and strategic objectives. The board shall ensure that the annual report includes a statement on the company's vision, mission values and strategic objectives and how these influence board and management's behaviour towards maximisation of shareholder value.
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit in order to achieve the same results as international standards.

53. Collective knowledge of highest governing body

GRI Reporting Standard (102-27)

a. Measures taken to develop and enhance the highest governance body's collective knowledge of economic, environmental and social topics.

- (a) The board should ensure that written policies are prepared and issued by the organisation to address, at a minimum, compliance with economic, environmental and social issues, and the laws applicable to the organisation in all jurisdictions in which it operates. 1005
- The board shall develop and implement a strategy to ensure the company complies with the Constitution, all applicable laws and regulations, national and international standards, as well as its internal policies. This includes national and county legislation, supporting rules and regulations, relevant circulars and guidelines issued by the Capital Markets Authority and other government entities, applicable regional regulations and international treaties and standards.¹⁰⁰⁶
- The board shall ensure that all deliberations, decisions and actions are founded on the core values underpinning good governance, with the core values being (a) responsibility, (b) accountability (c) fairness, and (d) transparency.¹⁰⁰⁷
- The Code's requirements match international standards.

¹⁰⁰² The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 5.1.1

¹⁰⁰³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation Guideline 7.1.1

¹⁰⁰⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation Guideline 7 1 1

¹⁰⁰⁵ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

¹⁰⁰⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 2.10, Recommendation 2.10.1 and 2.10.2

¹⁰⁰⁷ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 5.1.1

- (b) Board members should be trained on economic, environmental and social risk issues, and, as mentioned above, board composition and composition of the specialist committees should be based on a skills matrix relevant to economic, environmental and social risk issues.¹⁰⁰⁸
- See Standards 44(b) and 44(g) in relation to governance structure.
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of international standards in order to achieve the same results as the international standards in terms of the board and its committees comprising of a mixed and relevant skills matrix. However, there is no specific mandatory requirement for board members to be trained on economic, environmental and social risk issues.

54. Evaluating the highest governance body's performance

GRI Reporting Standards (102-28)

- a. Process for evaluating the highest governance body's performance with respect to governance of economic, environmental and social topics;
- b. Whether such evaluation is independent or not, and its frequency;
- c. Whether such evaluation is a self-assessment; and
- d. Actions taken in response to evaluation of the highest governance body's performance with respect to governance of economic, environmental and social topics, including as minimum, changes in membership and organisational practice.

- (a) The board should, at least every three years, rigorously evaluate the performance of itself (as a collective body), the company secretary, the board's committees and individual directors prior to being proposed for re-election. 1009
- The board shall develop an annual work-plan to guide its activities, which shall, as a minimum, focus on:
 - (a) strategic plan development and review;
 - (b) assessment of management's implementation of strategies, policies and plans;
 - (c) risk assessment and management;
 - (d) budgeting and financial management;
 - (e) quality assurance processes; and
 - (f) board evaluation. 1010
- The board shall determine and agree on its annual evaluation toolkit. The board shall work with independent governance specialists to develop the parameters to be included in the evaluation

¹⁰⁰⁸ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

¹⁰⁰⁹ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 21; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG08

¹⁰¹⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.6.3

toolkit. The parameters, to be contained in an evaluation tool shall be reviewed when necessary so as to keep up with new developments in corporate governance.¹⁰¹¹

- The board shall also review the mandate of all committees periodically to ensure that they remain relevant. The board shall specifically review the effectiveness and performance of committees annually.¹⁰¹²
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of the international standards in order to achieve the same results as the international standards, however there is no direction as to how often board evaluations should be conducted, as compared with the international standards which require evaluations to be conducted every three years. Contrast this with the requirement that the boards of companies in Kenya should review the performance of committees annually, with a legal and compliance audit every two years and an annual governance audit.
- (b) The board should also periodically engage an independent outside consultant to undertake such evaluations. 1013
- The board shall disclose whether evaluation of the board, the chairperson, the chief executive officer
 and company secretary has been undertaken in the annual report and financial statements of the
 company.¹⁰¹⁴
- There is no requirement that a board in a Kenyan company should be evaluated by an external
 consultant. This should be made a requirement, and the process for appointing the said consultant
 should be documented in order to ensure consistency. This is recommended to promote investor
 confidence in board competency, independence and transparency.
- (c) The non-executive directors, led by the Lead Independent Director, should be responsible for performance evaluation of the chair, taking into account the views of executive officers. 1015
- See Standard 44(g) above on governance structure and 54(a) above on evaluating the highest governance body's performance.
- There are no specific requirements and procedures concerning the evaluation of the Chair in Kenya.
 This is recommended to promote investor confidence in board competency, independence and transparency.
- (d) The board should disclose the process for evaluation and, as far as reasonably possible, any material issues of relevance arising from the conclusions and any action taken as a consequence. 1016
- See Standard 54(b) above on board evaluations.

¹⁰¹¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.6.3 ¹⁰¹² Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 2.10, Recommendation

¹⁰¹³ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 3.6; Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018; UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Principle L

¹⁰¹⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 7.1.1

¹⁰¹⁵ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 3.6

¹⁰¹⁶ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 3.6

- The company shall have internal corporate disclosure policies and procedures, which are practical
 and include feedback from stakeholders. These policies and procedures shall ensure compliance
 with the disclosure requirements set out in the listing requirements. In formulating these policies and
 procedures, the Board shall be guided by best practices¹⁰¹⁷.
- The Board shall disclose in its annual report whether it has an audit committee, the members, their qualifications, independence and the mandate of such committee 1018.
- The Code's requirements for public listed companies are set within the spirit of international standards in order to achieve the same results as international standards.

55. Identifying and managing economic, environmental, and social topics

GRI Reporting Standards (102-29)

- Highest governance body's role in identifying and managing economic, environmental and social topics and their impacts, risks, and opportunities, including its role in the implantation of due diligence processes; and
- b. Whether stakeholder consultation is used to support the highest governance body's identification and management of economic, environmental and social topics, and their impacts, risks and opportunities.

- (a) The board should understand the organisation's key economic, environmental, and social topics and have access to expert points of view on these topics through the specialist committees dealing with these topics.¹⁰¹⁹
- The chief executive officer is obliged to provide such necessary information to the board in discharge of the board's business.¹⁰²⁰
- Also see Standard 44(c) on governance structure.
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of international standards in order to achieve the same results as international standards.
- (b) The board should ensure that management systems are in place to identify and manage economic, environmental and social risks and impacts. 1021
- The board shall have an effective risk management framework for the company in place. 1022

¹⁰¹⁷ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 7.1.1

¹⁰¹⁹ COSO & WBCSD: Enterprise Risk Management 2018

¹⁰²⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation

¹⁰²¹ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG05

¹⁰²² The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 6.2

- The board shall ensure that the company discloses its environmental, social and governance policies and implementation thereof in its annual report and website. 1023
- The Code's requirements match international standards.
- (c) The chair should discuss governance and strategy [relating to economic, environmental and social topics] with major shareholders. The standards or policies under which information is compiled and published should be reported.¹⁰²⁴
- The board shall identify mechanisms and processes that can support constructive engagement with stakeholders so as to promote enhanced levels of corporate governance. 1025
- The board should strive, while acting in the best interests of the company, to achieve an appropriate balance between the interests of its various stakeholders, in order to achieve the long-term objectives of the company. The board, while accountable to the company, should take into account the legitimate expectations of its stakeholders in its decision-making.¹⁰²⁶
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of the international standards in order to achieve the same results as the international standards.
- (d) The board should also undertake a robust assessment of the organisation's emergency and principal risks, including those relevant to economic, environmental and social issues. The board should document the fact of the assessment in the annual report, setting out the principal risks, what procedures are in place to identify emerging risks, and a summary of how such risks are being managed and mitigated.¹⁰²⁷
- The board shall confirm the effectiveness of the company's risk management and internal control practices on a regular basis. 1028
- Unless the company is subject to the small companies regime, the directors shall prepare a business review to inform members of the company and assist them to assess how the directors have performed their duties. The report should contain (i) a fair review of the company's business; and (ii) a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the company. It should contain a balanced and comprehensive analysis of (i) the development and performance of the business of the company during the company's financial year; and (ii) the position of the company's at the end of that year, consistent with size and complexity of the business. 1029
- In the case of a quoted company, the directors shall specify in the business review (to the extent necessary for an understanding of the development, performance or position of the company) (a) the main trends and factors likely to affect the future development, performance and position of the business of the company; (b) information about (i) environmental matters (including the impact of the business of the company on the environment); (ii) the employees if the company; and (iii) social

¹⁰²³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 7.1.1

¹⁰²⁴ UK Corporate Governance Code: E.1.1; OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) (Part III of the Guidelines, page 27)

¹⁰²⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 4.2

¹⁰²⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 4.2

¹⁰²⁷ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 28

¹⁰²⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 6.4

¹⁰²⁹ Companies Act 2015: Section 655

and community issues, including information on any policies of the company in relation to those matters and the effectiveness of those policies; and information about persons with whom the company has contractual or other arrangements that are essential to the business of the company.¹⁰³⁰

- Every issuer shall disclose in its annual reports a statement of the directors as to whether the issuer
 is complying with the guidelines on corporate governance issued by the Capital Markets
 Authority.¹⁰³¹
- The requirements as set out in the Code and the Companies Act, 2015 match international standards.
- (e) An annual audit should be conducted by an independent, competent and qualified auditor in order to provide an external and objective assurance to the board and shareholders that the financial statements fairly represent the financial position and performance of the enterprise in all material respects. 1032
- A private company shall appoint an auditor or auditors for each financial year of the company, unless
 the directors reasonably resolve otherwise on the ground that an audited financial statement is
 unlikely to be required.¹⁰³³
- The audit should be completed by a competent and recognised professional accredited for that purpose by the Institute of Certified Public Secretaries of Kenya (ICPSK), and shall comply with the International Standards of Auditing, in order to ensure that the company is operating in compliance with sound governance practices in the following areas:
 - (a) leadership and strategic management;
 - (b) transparency and disclosure;
 - (c) compliance with laws and regulations;
 - (d) communication with stakeholders;
 - (e) board independence and governance;
 - (f) board systems and procedures;
 - (g) consistent shareholder and stakeholders' value enhancement; and
 - (h) corporate social responsibility and investment. 1034
- The Code's requirements match international standards.
- (f) The board should comply with both the letter and spirit of the tax laws and regulations of the countries in which they operate. Tax compliance includes such measures as providing to the relevant authorities timely information that is relevant or required by law for purposes of the correct determination of taxes to be assessed in connection with their operations and conforming transfer pricing practices to the arm's length principle. 1035

¹⁰³⁰ Companies Act 2015: Section 655

¹⁰³¹ NSE Listing Manual 2002: CO.F.00: F.08

¹⁰³² OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011) (PART III of the Guidelines, page 27)

¹⁰³³ Companies Act 2015: Section 717

¹⁰³⁴ NSE Listing Manual 2002: CO.F.00: F.09; Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.11.1

¹⁰³⁵ OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises (2011): Taxation

- Every company liable to tax under, shall also include with the self-assessment and return of income
 an assessment and return of any compensating tax due with respect to such tax year and the
 compensating tax so calculated shall be payable at the due date for the self-assessment.¹⁰³⁶
- Every company shall furnish a return of income a certificate specifying the nature and amounts of all payments of whatever kind made, and the nature of any benefit, advantage, or facility of whatever kind granted, in the case of a company to the directors thereof and to employees whose emoluments are at the rate of eighty thousand shillings a year or more, or, in the case of a partnership, to the partners; and the certificate shall be signed by a majority of the directors or partners (of whom one shall be the partner who signed the return of income of the partnership), as the case may be, or, if there are less than three such directors or partners, by all such directors or partners.¹⁰³⁷
- The statutory requirements for companies in Kenya match the provisions of international standards, and also note the GRI standards which are due to be introduced later this year (listed at the beginning of the section on Governance).

56. Effectiveness of risk management processes

GRI Reporting Standard (102-30)

a. Highest governance body's role in reviewing the effectiveness of the organisation's risk management process for economic, environmental and social topics.

- (a) The board should proactively oversee, review and approve the approach to risk management regularly or with any significant business change and satisfy itself that the approach is functioning effectively. 1038
- The board shall establish an effective risk management framework for the company, in order to determine the company's level of risk tolerance and actively identify, assess and monitor key business risks to safeguard shareholders' investments and the company's assets. 1039
- The Code's requirements match international standards. However this topic has been noted as a challenge in the CMA 2018 Governance Report, and in the same report, and the CMA has recommended that issuers should incorporate ethical and sustainability risks and opportunities in their risk management process.
- (b) The board and senior management should ensure allocation of appropriate resources for risk management, which can include, but are not limited to:
 - i. people, skills, experience and competence;
 - ii. the organization's processes, methods and tools to be used for managing risk;
 - iii. documented processes and procedures;

¹⁰³⁶ The Income Tax Act: S. 52 (B) (4)

¹⁰³⁷ Ibid at s. 54 (1) (b)

¹⁰³⁸ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 5; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM01

¹⁰³⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guidance to Recommendation Principle 6.2, Recommendation 6.2.1 and Guidance

- iv. information and knowledge management systems; and
- v. professional development and training needs. 1040
- The board shall establish an internal audit function which reports directly to its audit committee. The
 board shall also identify a head of internal audit who reports directly to the Audit Committee. The
 head of internal audit shall have relevant accounting or auditing qualifications and be responsible
 for providing assurance to the board that internal controls are operating effectively. 1041
- The directors of a quoted company shall ensure that the company has an audit committee appointed by the shareholders of a size and capability appropriate for the business conducted by the company, 1042 and comply with guidelines on corporate governance listed by the Authority. 1043
- The Code's requirements, and provisions of the NSE Listing Manual are set within the spirit of international standards in order to achieve the same results as international standards.
- (c) The board should establish an audit committee comprised entirely of independent non-executive directors¹⁰⁴⁴. At least one member of the audit committee should have recent and relevant financial expertise. The chair of the board should not be the chair of the audit committee, other than in exceptional circumstances which should be explained in the annual report. The main role and responsibilities of the audit committee should be described in the committee's terms of reference. This includes:
 - i. monitoring the integrity of the accounts and any formal announcements relating to the company's financial performance, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them:
 - ii. maintaining oversight of key accounting policies and accounting judgements which should be in accordance with generally accepted international accounting standards, and disclosing such policies in the notes to the company's accounts;
 - iii. agreeing the minimum scope of the audit as prescribed by applicable law and any further assurance that the company needs. Shareholders (who satisfy a reasonable threshold of shareholding) should have the opportunity to discuss the results of the completed audit should they wish to:
 - iv. assuring itself of the quality of the audit carried out by the external auditors and assessing the effectiveness and independence of the auditor each year. The company should commit to the regular rotation of auditors/audit partner and should oversee the appointment, reappointment and, if necessary, the removal of the external auditor and the remuneration of the auditor. 1045 Audit and non-audit fees should be separately disclosed, and the company should also disclose whether the amount of audit fees exceeds the amount of non-audit fees in the last fiscal year. 1046 There should be transparency in advance when the audit is to be tendered so that shareholders can engage with the company in relation to the process should they so wish;

¹⁰⁴⁰ BS ISO 31000:2018

¹⁰⁴¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 6.5.2

¹⁰⁴² Companies Act 2015: Section 769

¹⁰⁴³ Nairobi Stock Exchange Limited: Listing Manual 2002: CO.F.00: F.01

¹⁰⁴⁴ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG46

¹⁰⁴⁵ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG10

¹⁰⁴⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG49

- v. ensuring that contracts with the auditors do not contain specific limits to the auditor's liability to the company for consequential damages or require the company to use alternative dispute resolution:
- vi. assuring that a robust system of internal financial controls is in place to provide for reliable financial and operational information;
- vii. engaging, when appropriate, new audit firms to improve market competition and broaden the pool of credible audit service providers;
- viii. having appropriate dialogue with the external auditor without management present and overseeing the interaction between management and the external auditor, including reviewing the management letter provided by the external auditors and overseeing management's response; and
- ix. reporting on its work and conclusions in the annual report. 1047
- The board shall establish an audit committee with written terms of reference, with at least three independent directors and non-executive directors.¹⁰⁴⁸
- The audit committee should meet regularly, with adequate notice of the issues to be discussed and should record its conclusions 1049.
- Audit committees shall have adequate resources and authority to discharge their responsibilities.
 The members of the audit committee shall:
 - (a) be informed, vigilant and effective overseers of the financial reporting process and the company's internal controls;
 - (b) review and make recommendations on management programmes established to monitor compliance with the Code of Ethics and Conduct;
 - (c) consider the appointment of the external auditor, the audit fee and the questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditor:
 - (d) discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences the nature and scope of the audit, and ensure co-ordination where more than one audit firm is involved;
 - (e) review management's evaluation of factors related to the independence of the company's external auditor.:
 - (f) in liaison with management, assist the external auditor in preserving independence;
 - (g) review the quarterly, half-yearly and year-end financial statements of the company, focusing particularly on—

¹⁰⁴⁷ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018; ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 5 & 7

¹⁰⁴⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.2.4 & 6.5.1

¹⁰⁴⁹ CGCP 6.5.2

- (h) any changes in accounting policies and practices;
- (i) significant adjustments arising from the audit;
- (j) the going concern assumption; and
- (k) compliance with International Accounting Standards and other legal requirements.
- (I) discuss problems and reservations arising from the interim and final audits and any other matter the external auditor may wish to discuss, in the absence of management where necessary;
- (m) review any communication between external auditor(s) and management;
- (n) consider any related party transactions that may arise within the company or group;
- (o) consider the major findings of internal investigations and Management responses;
- (p) have explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and shall be availed the resources it needs to do so and be accorded full access to information;
- (q) obtain external professional advice and to invite outsiders with relevant experience to attend its meetings if necessary; and
- (r) consider other issues as defined by the Board including regular review of the capacity of the internal audit function. 1050
- The audit committee of quoted company is responsible for:
 - (a) organising the company to promote the effective and prudent management of the company and the directors oversight of that management;
 - (b) establishing standards of business conduct and ethical behaviour for directors, managers and other personnel, including policies on private transactions, self-dealing, and other transactions or practices of a non-arm's length nature;
 - overseeing the operations of the company and providing direction to it on a day-to-day basis, subject to the objectives and policies set out by the audit committee and any other written law;
 - (d) providing the directors with recommendations, for their review and approval, on the objectives, (strategy, business plans and major policies) that are to govern the operation of the company; and
 - (e) providing the directors with comprehensive, relevant and timely information that will enable the directors to review the company's business objectives, business strategy and policies, and to hold senior management accountable for the company's performance.¹⁰⁵¹
- The audit committee of a quoted company shall:

¹⁰⁵⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 6.5.1 ¹⁰⁵¹ Companies Act 2015: Section 770

- (a) set out the corporate governance principles that are appropriate for the nature and scope of the company's business;
- (b) establish policies and strategies for achieving them; and
- (c) annually assess the extent to which the company has observed those policies and strategies. 1052
- The board should disclose, in an informative way, details of the activities of audit committee, the number of audit committee meetings held in a year and details of attendance of each audit committee member at such meetings¹⁰⁵³.
- The chairperson of the board, chief executive officer and the finance director may attend meetings of the audit committee upon invitation by the audit committee 1054.
- The board shall disclose in its annual report whether it has an audit committee, the members, their qualifications, independence and the mandate of such committee 1055.
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of international standards in order to achieve the same results as international standards.
- (d) The organisation should define the scope of its Risk Management Programme and its processes. The Risk Management Programme should be measured against internationally accepted standards of internal audit¹⁰⁵⁶ but should be tailored to reflect (a) the organisation's business risks (material financial, strategic, operational, environmental, governance and social risks (including political and legal ramifications of such risks); (b) reputational consequences¹⁰⁵⁷; (c) circumstances and culture; (d) inherent risks such as locations of the business, the business sector and organisational risks such as size of the business and the use of channels such as intermediaries. ¹⁰⁵⁸ The Risk Management Programme and its processes should be documented and reported through appropriate mechanisms such as the company's codes, charters or policy documents. ¹⁰⁵⁹
- The board shall set out its responsibility for internal control in its charter and shall delegate to the
 management the responsibility of designing, implementing and monitoring effectiveness of internal
 control systems. The board shall set out in its charter the role to be played by management in
 enhancing a good system on internal controls.¹⁰⁶⁰

¹⁰⁵² Companies Act 2015: Section 770

¹⁰⁵³ CGCP 6.5.2

¹⁰⁵⁴ CGCP 2015 6.5.2

¹⁰⁵⁵ CGCP 2015 6.5.2

¹⁰⁵⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM04

¹⁰⁵⁷ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 5

¹⁰⁵⁸BS ISO 31000:2018; Business Principles for Countering Bribery: A Multi-Stakeholder Initiative led by Transparency International (2013): 4; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM07

¹⁰⁵⁹ BS ISO 31000:2018; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM07

¹⁰⁶⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendations 6.3.2 and 6.3.3

- Internal auditors shall carry out their functions in accordance with the International Standards in Auditing (ISA), any standards promulgated by the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA) and the Code of Ethics and Conduct¹⁰⁶¹.
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of international standards in order to achieve the same results as international standards.
- (e) The board should ensure that authorities, responsibilities and accountabilities for relevant roles with respect to risk management are assigned to a senior executive. The senior executive would be responsible for risk reporting to the chief executive officer or a board risk committee. This senior executive should be separate from the Head of Audit, or the board risk committee should be separate from the audit committee 1062. The board should ensure they communicate the identity of those individuals who have the accountability and authority to manage risk to all levels of the organisation. 1063
- See Standard 44(f).
- Whilst companies in Kenya may already comply with the international standards, there are no specific provisions concerning allocation of responsibilities and accountabilities to senior management with regard to risk management (other than the division of responsibility between the board and management). This, together with clear guidelines of separation of roles and powers should be provided for to increase investor confidence in independence and transparency.
- (f) The board should carry out an annual reviews of the effectiveness of the organisation's Risk Management Programme, and tested periodically for its adequacy, to address external and internal changes. It should report on its reviews in the annual report. It should measure the organisation's risk management framework performance against its purpose, implementation plans, indicators and expected behaviour. 1064 If gaps or improvement opportunities are identified, the organisation should develop plans and tasks and assign them to those accountable for implementation. 1065
- The board shall, at least annually, ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the company's risk management practices and internal control systems is conducted and report to shareholders that they have done so. The review shall cover all material controls including financial, strategic, operational and compliance. 1066
- The Code' requirements match international standards.
- (g) The organisation should ensure that an internal audit of its functions, (including the implementation of economic, environmental and social topics), policies and procedures is undertaken on a periodic basis.¹⁰⁶⁷

¹⁰⁶¹ Ibid

¹⁰⁶² FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM02

¹⁰⁶³ BS ISO 31000:2018

¹⁰⁶⁴ UK Corporate Governance Code C.2.3: BS ISO 31000:2018

¹⁰⁶⁵ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 7.6; BS ISO 31000:2018

¹⁰⁶⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 6.4, Recommendation 6.3.1 and Guidance

¹⁰⁶⁷ Beyond The Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

- The board shall put in place an effective system of internal control, and review on a regular basis the adequacy and integrity of the company's internal control systems and the management of information systems, including compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules and guidelines. Periodic testing of the effectiveness and efficiency of the internal control procedures and processes must be conducted to ensure that the system is viable and robust.¹⁰⁶⁸
- The board shall organise for a legal and compliance audit to be carried out periodically, (at least on an annual basis), with the objective of establishing the level of adherence to applicable laws, regulations and standards, and the findings from the audit are acted upon and any non-compliance issues arising corrected as necessary.¹⁰⁶⁹
- A comprehensive independent legal audit shall be carried out at least once every two years by a legal professional in good standing with the Law Society of Kenya, and the findings from the audit are acted upon and any non-compliance issues arising corrected as necessary.¹⁰⁷⁰
- The Code's requirements match international standards.
- (h) Where an internal audit function has not been established, full reasons for this should be disclosed in the annual report, as well as an explanation of how adequate assurance of the effectiveness of the system of the Risk Management Programme has been obtained.¹⁰⁷¹
- No local standard identified.
- There is no specific provision for companies in Kenya to report on the reasons for not establishing an internal audit function. This should be provided for to increase investor confidence in the transparency of the organisation, and its ability to identify/monitor/address risks within the organisation.
- (i) The board should publish the report from the external auditor which should provide an independent and objective opinion whether the accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the organisation.¹⁰⁷²
- The board shall subject the company to an annual governance audit, as a minimum requirements.
 After completion of the audit, the board shall provide an explicit statement on the level of compliance.¹⁰⁷³
- At least once a year, the audit committee shall meet with the external auditors without members of management being present¹⁰⁷⁴.
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of the international standards in order to achieve
 the same results as the international standards.

¹⁰⁶⁸ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 6.3, Recommendation 6.4.1 and Guidance

¹⁰⁶⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.10.3

¹⁰⁷⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.10.3

¹⁰⁷¹ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 7.6

¹⁰⁷² ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 7.7

¹⁰⁷³ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 2.11 ¹⁰⁷⁴ GCP 6.5.2

- (j) Organisations should ensure that timely and accurate information is disclosed on all material matters regarding their activities, structure, financial situation, performance, ownership and governance. This information should be disclosed, and, where appropriate, along business lines or geographic areas. Disclosure of policies should be tailored to the nature, size and location of the organisation, with due regard taken of costs, business confidentiality and other competitive concerns. 1075
- The Board shall promote timely and balanced disclosure of all material information concerning the company.¹⁰⁷⁶
- The Code's requirements are set within the spirit of the international standards in order to achieve the same results as the international standards.

57. Review of economic, environmental and social topics

GRI Reporting Standard (102-31)

a. Frequency of the highest governance body's review of economic, environmental and social topics and their impacts, risks and opportunities.

- (a) The board should agree with senior management, (including the officer who has responsibility for corporate compliance), on the process adopted by the organisation to undertake monitoring and continuous improvement of economic, environmental and social topics, which should include:
 - i. who is responsible for the process;
 - ii. how often it takes place;
 - iii. how results are taken into account including review and oversight by senior management and/or the board or appropriate board committees; and
 - iv. the procedures for internal and external communication of the monitoring and improvement process and the results. 1077
- See Standard 44(f) above on governance structure.
- Whilst the Code requires a board to establish and spate the functions of the board and the officers managing company operations, there does not appear to be a specific requirement in respect of the monitoring and evaluation process to be adopted with regard to ESG topics. Companies may already comply with this requirement, but, for consistency, and confidence in company operations, it is recommended that the international standards be adopted as requirements.
- (b) The board should meet regularly to discharge its duties, and directors should allocate adequate time to board meeting preparation and attendance.¹⁰⁷⁸
- See Standard 44(f) above on governance structure.

¹⁰⁷⁵ OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises 2011 (Part III of the Guidelines, Page 27)

¹⁰⁷⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 7.1

¹⁰⁷⁷ Beyond The Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

¹⁰⁷⁸ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 1.3; UK Corporate Governance Code: A.A.1

- The Code requires companies to establish its own charter, which, should include the above details. On this basis, the Code's requirements match international standards.
- (c) Independent directors should meet separately from other board members at least once a year. 1079
- No local standard identified.
- For confidence in board independence and transparency in company operations, it is recommended that the international standard be adopted.
- (d) There should be periodic economic, environmental and social internal audits, and the company should ensure there are provisions for fines and settlements specified for ESG issues in audited accounts.¹⁰⁸⁰
- See Standards 55(e), 56(b), 56(i) and 56(j) above on identifying and managing economic, environmental, and social topics, and the effectiveness of risk management processes.
- The Code requires issuers to complete various audits (annual financial audit, annual governance audit, legal and compliance audit every two years), there is no mandatory requirement for periodic audits to specifically target economic, environmental and social issues.

58. Highest governance body's role in sustainability reporting

GRI Reporting Standard (102-32)

a. The highest committee or position that formally reviews and approves the organisation's sustainability report and ensures that all material topics are covered.

- (a) The organisation should set up a policy for review of sustainability issues. It should include:
 - i. economic, environmental and social topics are recurring items on the board agenda;
 - ii. board approval of sustainability strategy and policies;
 - iii. board oversight of economic, environmental and social issues, and the formation of any specific committee to review sustainability issues; and
 - iv. the review process for the effectiveness of economic, environmental and social management processes, including a grievance reporting mechanism.¹⁰⁸¹
- The board shall ensure that the company's strategies promote the sustainability of the company. The board shall have formal strategies to promote sustainability. Attention shall be given to environmental, social and governance aspects of the business which underpin sustainability. 1082
- The Code's requirements match international standards.

¹⁰⁷⁹ IFC Corporate Governance Progression Matrix 2017

¹⁰⁸⁰ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM14

¹⁰⁸¹ Beyond The Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

¹⁰⁸² The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.3.6

- (b) The officers responsible for economic, environmental and social matters should report to the board and the sustainability committee. 1083
- See Standards 46(a), 55(a), 55(b), and 55(d) above on executive level responsibility for economic, environment and social topics, and identifying and managing economic, environmental, and social topics.
- The Code's requirements match international standards.
- (c) The board should assess the basis on which the organisation generates and preserves value over the long term. It should describe, in the annual report, the sustainability of the organisation's business model, taking into account the future opportunities and risks for the organisation, and how its governance contributes towards the deliverance of this strategy.¹⁰⁸⁴
- See Standards 44, 52(c) and 55(b) above on governance structure; the role of the highest governance body in setting purpose, values and strategy; identifying and managing economic, environmental and social topics.
- The Code's requirements match international standards.

59. Communicating critical concerns

GRI Reporting Standard (102-33)

a. Process for communicating critical concerns to the highest governance body.

- (a) The organisation should prepare and maintain a formal published Code of Conduct ("Code of Conduct")¹⁰⁸⁵, approved by the board, on managing risks posed to the business. This should include:
 - i. the organisations commitment to tackle bribery and corruption within the business;
 - ii. conflicts of interest;
 - iii. non-compliance procedures and reporting; and
 - iv. the role and oversight of the board of directors, any appropriate board sub-committee, such as the audit committee. 1086
- The board shall ensure that a Code of Ethics and Conduct ("Code of Ethics and Conduct") is developed and implemented, stipulating the ethical values, standards as well as specific guidelines that the company shall adhere to, in its interaction with its internal and external stakeholders. The board should ensure that compliance with the Code of Ethics and Conduct is integrated in the operations of the company.¹⁰⁸⁷

¹⁰⁸³ Beyond The Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

¹⁰⁸⁴ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 2

¹⁰⁸⁵ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM02

¹⁰⁸⁶ ICGN Statement and Guidance on Anti-Corruption; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018

¹⁰⁸⁷ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendations 2.6.1, 5.2.2 and 5.2.3

- The Code's requirements match international standards. However, the CMA 2018 Governance Report has noted that issuers should ensure that the Code of Ethics and Conduct is implemented by all directors, management and employees. This suggests that not all issuers are following the Code's requirements.
- (b) The Code of Conduct should be effectively communicated into the company's strategy and operations. 1088
- The board shall ensure that compliance with the Code of Ethics and Conduct is integrated into the strategies and operations of the company, and the Code of Ethics and Conduct shall be reviewed and updated on a regular basis.¹⁰⁸⁹
- The Code's requirements match international standards.
- (c) The board should foster a corporate culture which ensures that employees understand their responsibility for appropriate behaviour. There should be appropriate board level and staff training in all aspects relating to corporate culture and ethics. Due diligence and monitoring programmes should be in place to enable staff to understand the Code of Conduct and apply it effectively to avoid company involvement in inappropriate behaviour.¹⁰⁹⁰
- The board shall disclose the company's Code of Ethics and Conduct on its website.
- The Code's requirement provides transparency on the way in which a company conducts its operations, however, in order to comply with international standards, companies should be expected to provide training on its Code of Ethics and Conduct in order to ensure the principles are supported and adopted by all employees. This would improve investor confidence in any organisation. The CMA 2018 Governance Report has noted that all issuers should ensure that all directors, CEO's and management are made fully aware of the requirements of the Code.
- (d) The board should ensure that the company has in place an independent, confidential mechanism whereby an employee, supplier or other stakeholder can (without fear of retribution) raise issues of critical concerns with regards to potential or suspected breaches of a company's Code of Conduct. 1092 The organisation should review this mechanism by the board at each of its meetings. 1093
- The Code of Ethics and Conduct shall include appropriate communication and feedback mechanisms which facilitate whistle-blowing¹⁰⁹⁴.
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards.

¹⁰⁸⁸ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): Principle 4

¹⁰⁸⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendations 5.2.2 and 5.2.3

¹⁰⁹⁰ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 4.5

¹⁰⁹¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline (e) to Recommendation 7.1.1

¹⁰⁹² ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 4.2

¹⁰⁹³ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 6

¹⁰⁹⁴ CGCP 2015 5.2.4

- (e) The Code of Conduct should be reviewed by the audit committee annually, including a review of the effectiveness of the mechanisms in place to report wrongdoing.¹⁰⁹⁵
- The board shall include in its annual report a statement on compliance with corporate governance principles. The statement shall indicate aspects of this Code which have not been applied, the reasons thereof, indicative timelines and proposed strategies towards application.¹⁰⁹⁶
- The Code provides requirements which uphold the principles of the international standards, but any
 organisations Code of Ethics and Conduct should be reviewed annually to ensure that its provisions
 remain relevant to the organisation.

60. Nature and total number of critical concerns

GRI Reporting Standards (102-34)

- Total number and nature of critical concerns that were communicated to the highest governance body; and
- Mechanism(s) used to address and resolve critical concerns.

- (a) The officer(s) with responsibility for day to day governance and corporate compliance matters should report to the audit committee on all matters reported to him/her/them as violations of the organisation's code of conduct policy.¹⁰⁹⁷
- No specific standard identified.
- Specific provision should be made for the obligations of the officer who has responsibility for day-today governance issues (i.e. company secretary).
- (b) The audit committee should report serious violations to the board, and the board should ensure that proportionate and independent investigation of concerns are undertaken, recorded for follow up action and/or reported to the relevant authorities where appropriate.¹⁰⁹⁸
- See Standard 56(c) above on the effectiveness of risk management processes.
- Whilst the Code sets out the mandate of an audit committee, specific provision should be made for its obligation to report serious violations to the board, and to ensure that appropriate action is taken by the board.

¹⁰⁹⁵ Beyond The Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM12

¹⁰⁹⁶ Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline (r) to Recommendation 7.1.1

¹⁰⁹⁷ Beyond The Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM08

¹⁰⁹⁸ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 6; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM08

61. Remuneration policies

GRI Reporting Standards (102-35)

- a. Remuneration policies for the highest governance body and senior executives for the following types of remunerations:
 - i. fixed pay and variable pay, including performance based pay, equity based pay, bonuses and deferred or vested shares:
 - ii. sign-on bonuses or recruitment incentive payments;
 - iii. termination payments;
 - iv. clawbacks; and
 - v. retirement benefits, including the difference between benefit schemes and contribution rates for the highest governance body, senior executives, and all other employees.
- b. How performance criteria in the remuneration policies relate to the highest governance body's and senior executives objectives for economic, environmental and social topics.

- (a) The board should oversee the formulation of a formal and transparent policy for determining remuneration for board members and senior management of the organisation. Remuneration policies should be designed to support the organisation's strategy to help ensure long-term performance and sustainable value creation. 1099 Such policies should include:
 - i. reference to how awards were deemed appropriate in the context of the organisation's underlying performance and long term strategic objectives;
 - ii. whether remuneration consultants were involved in the process; and
 - iii. reporting on fixed and variable remuneration of executive officers, directors and the chief executive officer on an individual basis, whilst also taking into account the organisation's overall approach to human resource strategy. This extends to non-cash items such as director and officer insurance, pension provisions, fringe benefits and terms of severance packages (if any). 1101
- The board shall establish and approve formal and transparent remuneration policies and procedures that attract and retain board members, which should include:
 - (a) clear stipulation of the elements of such remuneration, including directors' fees, attendance allowances and bonuses:
 - (b) that the remuneration policies are aligned with its strategies; and
 - (c) the remuneration policies and procedures shall be disclosed in the annual report. 1102
- Also see Standard 62(b) below on the process for determining remuneration.

¹⁰⁹⁹ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Principle P

¹¹⁰⁰ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG14

¹¹⁰¹ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP) 6.4

¹¹⁰² The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.9.1

- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards.
- (b) The board is responsible for ensuring that remuneration is reasonable and equitable in both structure and quantum, and is determined within the context of an organisation's values, internal reward structures and competitive drivers while being sensitive to the expectations of stakeholders and societal norms. 1103
- Companies shall remunerate board members fairly and responsibly. 1104
- The board shall determine the remuneration of the directors. ¹¹⁰⁵
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, but organisations, as a
 matter of policy, should be required to take into account the factors considered by the international
 standards (as set out above). Further, issuers should disclose the same. This has been noted in the
 CMA 2018 Governance Report.
- (c) The board should balance salary levels appropriately in comparison with the level of benefits such as bonuses, deferred stock options or long-term incentive plans (LTIPs). Performance related elements (such as LTIPs) should integrate risk considerations so that there are no rewards for taking inappropriate risks at the expense of the organisation and its shareholders. 1106
- The Board shall, annually, disclose in its annual report, its policies for remuneration including incentives for the board and senior management particularly quantum and component of remuneration for directors including non-executive directors on a consolidated basis in the following categories:
 - (i) executive directors' fees;
 - (ii) executive directors' emoluments;
 - (iii) non-executive directors' fees; and
 - (iv) non-executive directors' emoluments.
 - (v) share options and other forms of executive compensation that have to be made or have been made during the course of the financial year; and
 - (vi) aggregate directors' loans. 1107
- The Code provides requirements which uphold the principles of the international standards, but
 organisations, as a matter of policy, should be required to take into account the factors considered
 by the international standards (as set out above).
- (d) Performance related elements should be rigorous and measured over timescales, and with methodologies, which help ensure that performance pay is directly correlated with sustained value creation, including objectives for economic, environmental and social topics for the period under consideration and the future period of review, and to reward longer term performance.¹¹⁰⁸

¹¹⁰³ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP); UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Principle Q

¹¹⁰⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Principle 2.9

¹¹⁰⁵ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.9.2

¹¹⁰⁶ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP) 6.2 & 6.3; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG27

¹¹⁰⁷ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline 7.1.1

¹¹⁰⁸ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP) 6.3; GRI 2016 Reporting Recommendation 4.2; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG27

- The remuneration of the executive directors shall include an element that is linked to corporate performance, including a share option scheme, so as to ensure the maximisation of the shareholders' value.¹¹⁰⁹
- The Code provides requirements which uphold the principles of the international standards, but organisations, as a matter of policy, should be required to take into account the factors considered by the international standards (as set out above).
- (e) The board should also ensure that aggregate remuneration is appropriately balanced with the needs to pay dividends to shareholders and retain capital for future investment. 1110
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standards 61(b) and 61(d) above on remuneration policies.
- This should be included as a basis requirement for organisations to take into account when considering remuneration decisions.
- (f) The board should ensure that pay for a non-executive director and/or a nonexecutive chair is structured in a way which ensures independence, objectivity and alignment with shareholders' interests. Remuneration for non-executive directors and non-executive chairs should not include share options or other performance related elements.¹¹¹¹
- The remuneration of non-executive directors shall be competitive and in line with remuneration for other non-executive directors in the same industry.¹¹¹²
- The Code provides requirements which uphold the principles of the international standards, but
 organisations, as a matter of policy, should be required to take into account the factors which
 international standards considered should be excluded (as set out above).
- (g) Policies should include provisions that enable the organisation to withhold the payment of any sum ('malus'), or recover sums paid ('clawback'), in the event of serious misconduct or a material misstatement in the organisation's financial statements¹¹¹³.
- No local standard identified.
- The above matters should be considered by the board and specific policies should be prepared to identify the issues identified as international standards.
- (h) If termination payments are provided, the organisation should explain whether:
 - notice period for the board and senior management are different from those for other employees;
 - ii. termination payments for the board and senior management are different from those for other employees;
 - iii. any payment other than those related to the notice period are paid to the departing board members and senior management; and

¹¹⁰⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline 2.9.2

¹¹¹⁰ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP) 6

¹¹¹¹ UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: D.1.3; ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP) 6.9

¹¹¹² The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline 2.9.2

¹¹¹³ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP) 6.3

- iv. any mitigation clauses are included in the termination arrangements. 1114
- No local standard identified.
- The above matters should be considered by the board and specific policies should be prepared to identify the issues identified as international standards.

62. Process for determining remuneration

GRI Reporting Standards (102-36)

- a. Process for determining remuneration;
- b. Whether remuneration consultants are involved in determining remuneration and whether they are independent of management; and
- c. Any other relationship that the remuneration consultants have with the organisation.

- (a) The board should establish a remuneration committee of at least two independent non-executive directors. 1115 Terms of reference for the committee should be agreed, setting out the authority delegated to it by the board. 1116
- The board of directors shall set up an independent remuneration committee or assign a mandate to a nomination committee or such other committee executing the functions of a nomination committee, consisting mainly of independent and non-executive directors, to recommend to the board the remuneration of the executive and non-executive directors and the structure of their compensation package.
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, but this has been identified as a challenge in the CMA 2018 Governance Report. The existence of an independent remuneration committee is critical to an organisation's compliance with all international standards on remuneration policies and procedures. This is required to instil investor confidence in the same.
- (b) The remuneration committee should have responsibility for setting remuneration for all executive directors and the chairman, and recommend and monitor the structure for senior management, with reference to the standards set in the organisation's remuneration policies.¹¹¹⁸
- The directors' remuneration shall be sufficient to attract and retain directors to run the company effectively and shall retroactively be approved by shareholders in an annual general meeting.¹¹¹⁹

¹¹¹⁴ GRI 2016 Reporting Recommendation 4.3

¹¹¹⁵ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG47

¹¹¹⁶ UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: D.2.1 & UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 32

¹¹¹⁷ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline to Recommendation 2.9.2

¹¹¹⁸ Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018; ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP): 6

The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline to Recommendation 2.9.2

- The board shall develop appropriate staffing and remuneration policy including the appointment of the chief executive officer and the senior staff, particularly the finance director, operations director and the company secretary as may be applicable.¹¹²⁰
- The board shall determine the level of remuneration of the directors.
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards.
- (c) The remuneration committee should have a detailed process for setting remuneration ¹¹²². This should be included in the annual report, and should set out in writing, the following:
 - i. the strategic rationale for executive directors' remuneration policies, and the performance metrics:
 - ii. reasons why the remuneration levels provided were appropriate, including pay ratios and pay gaps;
 - iii. what engagement has taken place with shareholders and the impact this had on policy and outcomes:
 - iv. what engagement has taken place with the organisation's employees to explain how executive remuneration aligns with the organisation's generic policy on pay; and
 - v. to what extent discretion has been applied to remuneration outcomes and the reasons why. 1123
- An executive directors' remuneration shall be structured in line with remuneration for other directors in the same industry and shall be aligned with the business strategy and long-term objectives of the company.¹¹²⁴
- The Code provides requirements which uphold the principles of the international standards, but organisations, as a matter of policy, should be required to take into account the factors considered by the international standards (as set out above).
- (d) No board member and/or senior management should be involved in deciding their own remuneration. 1125
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standards 61(a) and 61(b) on remuneration policies.
- The Code's requirements (See Standards 61(a) and 61(b)) uphold the principles of international standards, but organisations, as a matter of policy, should include the above restriction as a matter of policy.
- (e) The remuneration committee should exercise independent judgment and discretion when authorising remuneration outcomes, taking into account the performance of both the organisation and the individual.¹¹²⁶

¹¹²⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline to Recommendation 2.9.2

¹¹²¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 2.9.2

¹¹²² FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG19

¹¹²³ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 41

¹¹²⁴ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline to Recommendation 2.9.2

¹¹²⁵ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Principle Q

¹¹²⁶ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Principle R

- No specific local standard identified, but see Standards 61(a) and 61(b) on remuneration policies.
- The Code's requirements (See Standards 61(a) and 61(b)) uphold the principles of international standards.
- (f) The remuneration of non-executive directors should be determined by the organisation's governing documents, or by the board, and should reflect the time, commitment and responsibilities of the role. 1127
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standard 61(b) on remuneration policies.
- The Code's requirements (See Standard 61(b)) upholds the principles of international standards.
- (g) Where a remuneration consultant is appointed, it should be a decision of the remuneration committee. The consultant should be identified in the annual report, with a statement as to whether there is any connection between the consultant, the organisation and/or its directors. 1128
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standards 61(a) and 61(b) on remuneration policies
- The Code's requirements (See Standards 61(a) and 61(b)) uphold the principles of international standards, but specific provision should be made as to the processes to be adopted if an organisation employs the services of a remuneration consultant.

63. Stakeholders involvement in remuneration

GRI Reporting Standards (102-37)

- a. How stakeholders views are sought and taken into account regarding remuneration; and
- b. If applicable, the results of votes on remuneration policies and proposals.

- (a) Information on the remuneration of the members of the board and senior management should be disclosed to shareholders. 1129
- The board remuneration policies and procedures shall be disclosed in the annual report.¹¹³⁰
- The remuneration package to directors shall be appropriately disclosed.
- The directors of a quoted company shall prepare a directors' remuneration report for each financial year of the company. 1132 As soon as practicable after the directors have finished preparing the

¹¹²⁷ UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: D.1.3; UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 24

¹¹²⁸ UK Corporate Governance Code 2018: Provision 35

¹¹²⁹ IFC Corporate Governance Progression Matrix 2017

¹¹³⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015; Guideline (c) to Principle 2.9

¹¹³¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline to Recommendation 2.9.2

¹¹³² Companies Act 2015: Section 659

directors' remuneration report, the directors shall approve the report and shall arrange for one of them or the secretary of the company to sign it.¹¹³³

- A quoted company shall ensure that its annual financial statement and directors' report is made available on its website and remains available on the website until the annual financial statement for the next financial year of the company is made available in accordance with the Companies Act.¹¹³⁴
- Statutory provisions uphold the principles of international standards.
- (b) Shareholders should be invited to approve all new long-term incentive schemes, and significant changes to existing schemes. 1135
- The board shall proactively supply relevant information to stakeholders, and have regard for the best interests of the company in determining what information is to be shared.¹¹³⁶
- There does not appear to be a universal requirement for organisations in Kenya to obtain shareholder approval of significant changes, unless this is provided in an organisation's constitutional documents. Provision of the same should be provided for to comply with international standards.
- (c) The chair should arrange for the chair of the remuneration committee to be available to answer questions at the Annual General Meeting.¹¹³⁷ The company should disclose the number of days between the date of notice and the date of the Annual General Meeting¹¹³⁸, and this should be published relative to international norms and country peers.¹¹³⁹
- See Standard 63(c) on stakeholders involvement in remuneration.
- Every shareholder shall be entitled to ask questions, seek clarification on the company's
 performance as reflected in the annual reports and accounts or on any matter that may be relevant
 to the company's performance or promotion of shareholders' interests and to receive explanation
 from the directors and/or management. This right shall be exercised in such a way as not to disrupt
 the business of an Annual General Meeting. 1140
- All shareholders have a right to receive relevant sufficient and timely information concerning the
 date, location and agenda of the Annual General Meeting as well as full and timely information
 regarding issues to be decided during the Annual General Meeting. Such information shall be
 received at least 21 calendar days before the Annual General Meeting. 1141
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards.
- (d) Shareholders should have an opportunity, where a jurisdiction allows, to a binding vote on executive remuneration policies (annually), particularly where significant change to remuneration structure is

¹¹³³ Companies Act 2015: Section 661

¹¹³⁴ Companies Act 2015: Section 670

¹¹³⁵ UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: D.2.4

¹¹³⁶ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline 4.2.1

¹¹³⁷ UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: E.2.3

¹¹³⁸ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG19

¹¹³⁹ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG38

¹¹⁴⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Guideline 3.1.1

¹¹⁴¹ Ibid at 267

proposed.¹¹⁴² The shareholders right to vote should be evidenced in the Annual General Meeting, and it should be executively covered in a company policy.¹¹⁴³

- The directors of a quoted company shall, before the general meeting at which the financial statement is to be presented, give to the members of the company entitled to be sent notice of the meeting notice of the intention to move at the meeting, as an ordinary resolution, a resolution approving the directors' remuneration report for the financial year.¹¹⁴⁴
- Statutory provisions uphold the principles of international standards.
- (e) Shareholders should have an advisory vote on the annual remuneration report. In the absence of local legal requirements for a binding vote or equivalent, and in cases where a significant minority of shareholders (e.g. 25%) vote against a report, a binding vote should be triggered the following year.¹¹⁴⁵
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standard 63(d) above on stakeholders' involvement in remuneration.
- Whilst the Companies Act 2015 provides for members to vote on the directors' remuneration report, there is no specific provision for advisory vote/binding vote.
- (f) Where required by the organisations governing documents, shareholders should determine the remuneration of the non-executive directors.¹¹⁴⁶
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standard 63(d) on stakeholders' involvement in remuneration.
- This requirement would be dictated by an organisation's governing documents.

64. Annual total compensation ratio

GRI Reporting Standard (102-38)

Ratio of the annual total compensation for the organisation's highest-paid individuals in each country of significant operations to the median annual total compensation for all employees (excluding the highest paid individual) in the same country.

- (a) The organisation should, for each country of significant operation,:
 - i. identify the highest paid individual for the reporting period, as defined by total compensation;
 - ii. calculate the median annual total compensation for all employees, expect the highest paid individual; and

¹¹⁴² ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP) 6.6

¹¹⁴³ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GCG21

¹¹⁴⁴ Companies Act 2015: Section 681

¹¹⁴⁵ ICGN Global Governance Principles (GGP) 6.7

¹¹⁴⁶ UK Corporate Governance Code 2016: D.2.3

- iii. calculate the ratio of the annual total compensation of the highest paid individuals to the median annual total compensation for all employees.¹¹⁴⁷
- A listed company should disclose the total aggregate of the remuneration paid and benefits in kind granted to the directors of the issuer by any member of the group during the last two completed financial years under any description whatsoever.¹¹⁴⁸
- Whilst the NSE provides for some form of disclosure, there is a gap in reporting requirements.
 Provision of international standards should be made in order to instil investor confidence. Contrast
 this with the Mwongozo Guidelines applicable to government owned entities which requires the
 same to disclose the remuneration of directors, individually and collectively, and the salaries and
 remuneration of the Chief Executive Officer and the senior management.
- (b) The organisation should, for each country of significant operation, define and report of the composition of the annual total compensation for the highest paid individual and for all employees as follows:
 - i. list the types of compensation included in the calculation;
 - ii. specify whether full and part time employees are included in this calculation;
 - iii. specify whether full time equivalent pay rates are used for each part time employee in this calculation; and
 - iv. specify which operations or countries are included, if the organisation chooses not to consolidate this ratio for the entire origination. 1149
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standard 64(a) above on annual total compensation ratio.
- Whilst the NSE provides for some form of disclosure, there is a gap in reporting requirements. Provision of international standards should be made in order to instil investor confidence.
- (c) The organisation should consider the following components as a basis for its calculation:
 - i. base salary, guaranteed, short term, and non-variable cash compensation;
 - ii. cash compensation: sum of base salary + cash allowances + bonuses + commissions + cash profit sharing + other forms of variable cash payments; and
 - iii. direct compensation: sum of total cash compensation + total fair value of all annual long-term incentives, such as stock options awards, restricted stock shares or units, performance stock shares or units, phantom stock shares, stock appreciation rights, and long term cash awards.¹¹⁵⁰
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standard 64(a) above on annual total compensation ratio.
- Whilst the NSE provides for some form of disclosure, there is a gap in reporting requirements.

¹¹⁴⁷ GRI Sustainability Reporting Standard 2016: Reporting Recommendation 4.4

¹¹⁴⁸ NSE Listing Manual 2002: ID.E.00: E.04

¹¹⁴⁹ GRI Sustainability Reporting Standard 2016: Reporting Recommendation 4.5

¹¹⁵⁰ GRI Sustainability Reporting Standard 2016: Reporting Recommendation 4.5

65. Percentage increase in annual total compensation ratio

GRI Reporting Standard (102-39)

Ratio of the percentage increase in annual total compensation for the organisation's highest paid individual in each country of significant operations to the median percentage increase in annual total compensation for all employees (excluding the highest paid individual) in the same country.

- (a) The organisation should, for each country of significant operation,:
 - i. identify the highest paid individual for the reporting period, as defined by total compensation;
 - ii. calculate the percentage increase in the highest paid individual's compensation from the prior reporting period to the current reporting period;
 - iii. calculate the median annual total compensation for all employees except the highest paid individual:
 - iv. calculate the percentage increase of the median annual total compensation from the previous reporting period to the current reporting period; and
 - v. calculate the ratio of the annual total compensation percentage increase of the highest paid individual to the median annual total compensation percentage increase for all employees. 1151
- No specific local standard identified.
- Whilst the NSE provides for some form of disclosure (see Standard 64(a) above), there is no requirement for organisations in Kenya to disclose detailed information in relation to compensation of its employees. Provision of international standards should be made in order to instil investor confidence.
- (b) The organisation should, for each country of significant operation, define and report of the composition of the annual total compensation for the highest paid individual and for all employees as follows:
 - i. list the types of compensation included in the calculation;
 - ii. specify whether full and part time employees are included in this calculation;
 - iii. specify whether full time equivalent pay rates are used for each part time employee in this calculation; and
 - iv. specify which operations or countries are included, if the organisation chooses not to consolidate this ratio for the entire origination. 1152
- No specific local standard identified.
- Whilst the NSE provides for some form of disclosure (see Standard 64(a) above), there is no requirement for organisations in Kenya to disclose detailed information in relation to compensation

¹¹⁵¹ GRI Sustainability Reporting Standard 2016: Reporting Recommendation 4.6

¹¹⁵² GRI Sustainability Reporting Standard 2016: Reporting Recommendation 4.5

of its employees. Provision of international standards should be made in order to instil investor confidence.

- (c) The organisation should consider the following components as a basis for its calculation:
 - i. base salary, guaranteed, short term, and non-variable cash compensation;
 - ii. cash compensation: sum of base salary + cash allowances + bonuses + commissions + cash profit sharing + other forms of variable cash payments; and
 - iii. direct compensation: sum of total cash compensation + total fair value of all annual long-term incentives, such as stock options awards, restricted stock shares or units, performance stock shares or units, phantom stock shares, stock appreciation rights, and long term cash awards.¹¹⁵³
- No specific local standard identified.
- Whilst the NSE provides for some form of disclosure (see Standard 64(a) above), there is no requirement for organisations in Kenya to disclose detailed information in relation to compensation of its employees. Provision of international standards should be made in order to instil investor confidence.

66. Operations assessed for risks related to corruption

GRI Reporting Standards (205-1)

- a. Total number and percentage of operations assessed for risks related to corruption; and
- b. Significant risks related to corruption identified through risk assessment.

<u>Standards</u>

(a) The organisation should have a formal published written policy, approved by the board, on managing risks posed to the business by bribery and corruption – actual, potential or perceived ("Anti-Corruption Policy"). 1154 The policies and procedures should apply to directors, officers, employees and contracted parties such as agents, lobbyists and other intermediaries. The organisation should ensure a corruption risk assessment is carried out. This risk assessment should cover the elements and types of corruption including bribery, and anti-corruption comprehensively. 1155 The Anti-Corruption Policy should set out how often the risk assessment procedure is carried out, who is in charge, which parts of the organisation are covered, and how results are dealt with. The organisation should also describe the business units and subsidiaries for which a risk assessment has been undertaken. 1156

¹¹⁵³ GRI Sustainability Reporting Standard 2016: Reporting Recommendation 4.5

¹¹⁵⁴ World Bank Group Integrity Compliance Guidelines; ICGN Statement and Guidance on Anti-Corruption Practices, 2009; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC01 and GAC02

¹¹⁵⁵ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC09

¹¹⁵⁶ Business Principles for Countering Bribery: A Multi-Stakeholder Initiative led by Transparency International (2013): 5.1; Reporting Guidance on the 10th Principle Against Corruption

- A public or private entity shall put in place procedures appropriate to its size and the scale and to the nature of its operation, for the prevention of bribery and corruption.¹¹⁵⁷
- See Standard 59(a) above on communicating critical concerns with regard to an issuer developing and implementing a Code of Ethics and Conduct.
- Also note the UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012, which requires signatories to, "actively develop anticorruption programmes, institute internal control systems, and build a culture of corruption-free business practice."
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, although there is a lack
 of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on
 bribery and corruption.
- (b) The Anti-Corruption Policy should be comprehensive 1158 and reflect the size, business sector, potential risks and locations of operation that clearly and in reasonable detail articulates values, policies and procedures to be used to prevent corruption (including bribery) from occurring in all activities under its effective control. 1159
- See Standard 66(a) above in relation to operations assessed for risks related to corruption.
- Also see Standard 59(a) above on communicating critical concerns with regard to an issuer developing and implementing a Code of Ethics and Conduct.
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, although there is a lack
 of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on
 bribery and corruption.
- (c) The Anti-Corruption Policy should also:
 - i. commit the organisation to eliminating bribery and corruption within the business;
 - ii. come under the oversight of the board of directors¹¹⁶⁰ or an appropriate board sub-committee, such as the audit or governance committee;
 - iii. define corruption broadly to include any of the following areas:
 - a. conflicts of interest:
 - b. bribes:
 - c. political contributions;
 - d. charitable contributions and sponsorships;
 - e. facilitation payments;
 - f. gifts, hospitality and expenses; 1161 and

¹¹⁵⁷ Bribery Act 2016: Part II Section 9(1). Under the Anti-Corruption and Economic Crimes Act 2003, corruption means (a) an offence under any of the provisions of sections 39 to 44, 46 and 47; (b) bribery; (c) fraud; (d) embezzlement or misappropriation of public funds; (e) abuse of office; (f) breach of trust; or (g) an offence involving dishonesty (i) in connection with any tax, rate or impost levied under any Act; or (ii) under any written law relating to the elections of persons to public office.

¹¹⁵⁸ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC10

¹¹⁵⁹ Business Principles for Countering Bribery: A Multi-Stakeholder Initiative led by Transparency International (2013); FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC10

¹¹⁶⁰ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC03

¹¹⁶¹ Business Principles for Countering Bribery: A Multi-Stakeholder Initiative led by Transparency International (2013)

- iv. specify countering relevant forms of corruption, and at least two forms of bribery related activities. 1162
- See Standard 59(a) above on communicating critical concerns with regard to an issuer developing and implementing a Code of Ethics and Conduct.
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, although there is a lack
 of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on
 bribery and corruption.
- (d) The Anti-Corruption Policy should be consistent with all laws relevant to countering corruption and bribery in all the jurisdictions in which the organisation operates. It should apply to all directors, officers, employees and third parties and applying to all controlled subsidiaries, foreign and domestic.¹¹⁶³
- The Cabinet Secretary shall, in consultation with the Commission, publish guidelines to assist private and public entities in the preparation of procedures to prevent bribery. 1164 (Although we are unaware of the guidelines which were to be published by the Cabinet Secretary).
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, although there is a lack
 of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on
 bribery and corruption.
- (e) One or more senior officers should be appointed to oversee and co-ordinate the Anti-Corruption Policy with an adequate level of resources, authority, and independence, reporting periodically to the body with ultimate responsibility for the organisation. The appointed senior officers should monitor the anti-corruption programme and periodically review its suitability, adequacy and effectiveness, and implement improvements as appropriate. They should periodically report to the audit committee or the board the results of the review.¹¹⁶⁵
- No specific local standard identified.
- There is a lack of guidance as to how organisations should implement policies on bribery and corruption.
- (f) The board should demonstrate visible and active commitment to the implementation of the Anti-Corruption Policy¹¹⁶⁶.
- No specific local standard identified, but see Standards 44(c), 44(h), 46(b), 52(a), 52(c), and 54(d) in relation to governance structure, executive level responsibility for economic, environment and social topics, role of the highest governance body in setting purpose, values and strategy, and evaluating the highest governance body's performance.
- Also see Standard 59(a) above on communicating critical concerns with regard to an issuer developing and implementing a Code of Ethics and Conduct.

¹¹⁶² FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC01 and GAC02

¹¹⁶³ Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business 2013

¹¹⁶⁴ Bribery Act 2016: Part II Section 12 (1)

¹¹⁶⁵ PACI Principles for Countering Bribery; ICC Rules on Combating Corruption; Business Principles on Countering Bribery

¹¹⁶⁶ APEC Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct for Business/World Bank Integrity Compliance Guidelines

- Also see the UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012, which requires its signatories to, "embrace corruptionfree practices to ensure that users can trust our products and services."
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, although there is a lack
 of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on
 bribery and corruption.
- (g) The organisation should apply and communicate the Anti-Corruption Policy in its dealings with third parties such as agents and other intermediaries, consultants, representatives, distributors, contractors and suppliers, consortia, and joint venture partners (hereinafter "business partners"), including, inter alia, the following essential elements:
 - i. properly documented risk-based due diligence pertaining to hiring, as well as the appropriate and regular oversight of business partners;
 - ii. informing business partners of the organisation's commitment to abiding by laws on the prohibitions against foreign bribery, and of the Anti-Corruption Policy or measures for preventing and detecting such bribery; and
 - iii. seeking a reciprocal commitment from business partners. 1167
- No specific local standard identified, but see UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012, which requires it signatories to, "encourage business partners to share our commitment to responsible business".
- Also see Standard 59(a) above on communicating critical concerns with regard to an issuer developing and implementing a Code of Ethics and Conduct.
- There is a lack of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on bribery and corruption.
- (h) The organisation should monitor the conduct of its business partners and should have a contractual right of termination in case of conduct inconsistent with the Anti-Corruption Policy. 1168
- The Board should recognise, test, where necessary, and respect the governance practices of stakeholders in an effort to improve the company's own governance practices.¹¹⁶⁹
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, although there is a lack
 of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on
 bribery and corruption.
- (i) The audit committee or the board should make an independent assessment of the adequacy of the Anti-Corruption Policy and disclose its findings in the annual report to shareholders.¹¹⁷⁰

¹¹⁶⁷ OECD Good Practice Guidance on Internal Controls, Ethics and Compliance; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC04 and GAC11

¹¹⁶⁸ Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business 2013

¹¹⁶⁹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015:Recommendation 4.1.5

¹¹⁷⁰ Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business 2013

- The board shall ensure that the company's performance on ethics is assessed, monitored and disclosed.¹¹⁷¹
- See Standard 60(b) above in relation to nature and total number of critical concerns.
- The Code's requirements uphold the principles of international standards, although there is a lack of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on bribery and corruption.

67. Communications and training about anti-corruption policies and procedures

GRI Reporting Standards (205-2)

- a. Total number and percentage of governance body members that the organisation's anti-corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to, broken down by region;
- b. Total number and percentage of employees that the organisation's anti-corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to, broken down by employee category and region;
- Total number and percentage of business partners that the organisation's anti-corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to, broken down by type of business partner and region.
 Describe if the organisation's anti-corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to any other persons or organisations;
- d. Total number and percentage of governance body members that have received training on anticorruption, broken down by region; and
- e. Total number and percentage of employees that have received training on anti-corruption, broken down by employee category and region.

Standards

(a) In addition to the requirement of the Anti-Corruption Policy set out in Standard 66, organisations should also:

- i. include a formal public policy of zero tolerance of corruption in all its forms in prominent locations (annual report, website, other appropriate forums), and a commitment to be in compliance with all anti-corruption laws; and
- ii. communicate to all employees and business partner where the Anti-Corruption Policy can be found and/or how they are made available. 1172
- No specific local standard identified, but see UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012, which requires signatories
 to, "avoid corrupt practices that can harm the good reputation of our shareholders and other
 investors."

 ¹¹⁷¹ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 5.2.4
 1172 PACI Self-Assessment Template, 2008; FTSE4Good Countering Bribery Criteria, 2005; Reporting Guidance on the 10th Principle Against Corruption

- There is a lack of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on bribery and corruption.
- (b) The organisation should provide anti-corruption training programme (Anti-Corruption Training Programme) periodically (at least annually). The Anti-Corruption Training Programme should cover the elements of corruption (including bribery) and anti-corruption comprehensively. The board, senior management and employees should attend the Anti-Corruption Training Programme. This will help them identify corruption risks in the daily business dealings of the organisation. Where appropriate, business partners should also receive attend the Anti-Corruption Training Programme. 1174
- No specific local standard identified.
- There is a lack of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on bribery and corruption.
- (c) The Anti-Corruption Training Programme should be assessed periodically for effectiveness. All relevant personnel with decision making authority or in a position to influence business results should certify, in writing, that they have complied with the Anti-Corruption Training Programme, and have communicated to the designated corporate officer responsible for integrity and compliance matters any information they may have relating to a possible violation of the Anti-Corruption Training Programme by other corporate personnel or business partners.¹¹⁷⁵
- No specific local standard identified.
- There is a lack of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on bribery and corruption.
- (d) The organisation should establish effective internal and external communication of the Anti-Corruption Training Programme¹¹⁷⁶, and be open to receiving communications from and engaging with stakeholders with respect to the Anti-Corruption Training Programme. This should include:
 - i. internal communications concerning the Anti-Corruption Training Programme, such as campaigns, management communications, departmental meetings, publications, business conduct guidelines, internet or intranet resources, and describe the frequency of such communications (e.g., quarterly, annually); and
 - ii. provide monitoring measures such as results of surveys of employee attitudes, publications in local languages, and if the Anti-Corruption Training Programme has been translated into multiple languages, describe the principal languages.¹¹⁷⁷
- No specific local standard identified.
- There is a lack of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on bribery and corruption.

¹¹⁷³ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC08

¹¹⁷⁴ ICC Rules on Combating Corruption; Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business 2013

¹¹⁷⁵ APEC Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct for Business; World Bank Group Integrity Compliance Guidelines

¹¹⁷⁶ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC07

¹¹⁷⁷ Reporting Guidance on the 10th Principle Against Corruption

- (e) Organisations should also consider issuing a statement of support for international legal frameworks such as the UN Convention Against Corruption or for a regional convention ratified by the jurisdiction in which it operates, such as the OECD Convention. The organisation could also describe their initiatives, if any, to mark the annual Anti-Corruption Day (9 December).¹¹⁷⁸
- Kenya has ratified the UN Convention Against Corruption and 575 organisations (including the NSE) are signatories to the UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012.
- Kenya as a country is making a notable effort on the world stage to tackle corruption. The Kenya Association of Manufacturers ("KAM") who launched the UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012 should be empowered to encourage more organisations to become signatories. By way of example, the Kenya Private Sector Alliance ("KEPSA") is reported to have over 500,000 members through Business Member Organizations and Companies. Compare this with the reported 575 signatories of the UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012.

68. Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken

GRI Reporting Standards (205-3)

- Total number and nature of confirmed incidents of corruption;
- b. Total number of confirmed incidents in which employees were dismissed or disciplined for corruption;
- c. Total number of confirmed incidents when contracts with business partners were terminated or not renewed due to violation related to corruption; and
- d. Public legal cases regarding corruption brought against the organisation or its employees, during the reporting period and the outcome of such cases.

<u>Standards</u>

- (a) The Anti-Corruption Policy should encourage employees and others to raise concerns and report suspicious circumstances as early as possible. 1179
- The board shall establish and put into effect a whistle blowing policy for the company. The board shall disclose the company's whistle blowing policy in its annual report and on its website. The aim of the policy shall be to:
 - (a) ensure all employees feel supported in speaking up in confidence and reporting matters they suspect may involve anything improper, unethical or inappropriate;
 - (b) encourage all improper, unethical or inappropriate behaviour to be identified and challenged at all levels in the company;
 - (c) provide clear procedures for reporting of such matters;

¹¹⁷⁸ Reporting Guidance on the 10th Principle Against Corruption: B2

¹¹⁷⁹ APEC Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct for Business

- (d) manage all disclosures in a timely, consistent and professional manner; and
- (e) provide assurance that all disclosures shall be taken seriously, treated as confidential and managed without fear of retaliation. 1180
- The Code's provisions comply with the requirements set by international standards. However, the CMA 2018 Governance Report notes this is a challenges for many issuers, and so all should be encouraged to disclose their whistleblowing policy on their website and in the annual report.
- (b) The organisation should make clear that compliance with the Anti-Corruption Policy is mandatory and that no employee will suffer demotion, penalty or other adverse consequences for refusing to pay bribed even if it may result in the enterprise losing business.¹¹⁸¹
- No action or proceeding, including a disciplinary action, may be instituted or maintained against a person in respect of:
 - (a) assistance given by the person to the Commission or an investigator; or
 - (b) a disclosure of information made by the person to the Commission or an investigator. 1182
- No action or proceeding, including a disciplinary action, may be instituted or maintained against a witness in respect of:
 - (a) any assistance given by the witness to the court or to a law enforcement agency; and/or
 - (b) a disclosure of information made by the witness to the court or to a law enforcement agency. 1183
- Statutory protection is offered for whistle-blowers in Kenya, however it remains open to individual
 organisations as to how they communication the consequences of compliance (and non-compliance)
 of their anti-corruption policies to their employees.
- (c) There should be confidential, secure and accessible channels through which staff (including contractors, joint ventures, or other parties working with the company), shareholders, and other stakeholders and members of the public can report suspicious circumstances ('whistleblowing') to notify breaches of the Anti-Corruption Policy. 1184 Such mechanisms should be effective, in confidence and without risk of reprisal and/or retaliation. 1185
- See Standards 68(a) and 68(b) above in relation to confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken.
- A whistle blower or a witness under the Bribery Act shall be entitled to protection of such extent as may be determined by the Witness Protection Agency.¹¹⁸⁶

¹¹⁸⁰ The Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015: Recommendation 5.2.5

¹¹⁸¹ Business Principles for Countering Bribery: A Multi-Stakeholder Initiative led by Transparency International 2013

¹¹⁸² Section 65 of the Anti-Corruption and Economic Crimes Act 2003

¹¹⁸³ Section 33 of the Witness Protection Act 2006

¹¹⁸⁴ FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GRM20 and GAC05

¹¹⁸⁵ Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business (2013); Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit For Disclosure And Transparency 2018

¹¹⁸⁶ Bribery Act, 2016: Section 21(3)

- Any person who knowingly or negligently discloses the information of informants and witnesses and a result of which those informants are harassed or intimidated commits an offence and shall be liable upon conviction to a fine not exceeding one million shillings or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding one year or to both.¹¹⁸⁷
- The Code and Kenyan statutes make provision for whistleblowing processes and protection for those who report suspicious circumstances in accordance with those processes.
- (d) All bona fide reports of corruption should be documented and investigated. 1188
- Every state officer, public officer or any other person holding a position of authority in a public or private entity shall report to the Ethics & Anti-Corruption Commission within a period of twenty-four hours any knowledge or suspicion of instances of bribery.¹¹⁸⁹
- Any other person who, despite being aware of or suspicious of the commission of an offence under this Act, fails to report the act to the Ethics & Anti-Corruption Commission within a period of twentyfour hours any knowledge or suspicion of instances of bribery commits an offence.¹¹⁹⁰
- Whilst there is provision under the Bribery Act of the obligation to report corruption, companies should also ensure that there are policies and procedures in place to ensure that all complaints are documented and investigated. This is necessary to ensure investor confidence in company operations, its independence and transparency of operations.
- (e) When misconduct is identified, reasonable steps should be taken to respond with appropriate corrective action and to prevent further or similar misconduct and other violations of its programme. Appropriate sanctions for violations of the Anti-Corruption Policy, up to and including termination in appropriate circumstances, should be applied.¹¹⁹¹
- Where a private entity fails to put in place procedures to prevent bribery, and where that failure is proved to have been committed with the consent or connivance of (a) a director or senior officer of the private entity, or (b) a person purporting to act in such a capacity, or occupying such a position, by whatever name called, the director, senior officer or other person commits an offence. The maximum statutory penalties for offences falling within the ambit of the Bribery Act are imprisonment for a term not exceeding ten years, or to a fine not exceeding five million shillings, or both, and may also be subject to a mandatory fine of five times the amount of the benefit or loss. Additional penalties include disqualification as a director/partner and/or debarment from holding public office/transaction with the Government.¹¹⁹²
- The Bribery Act provides for penalties where organisations fail to adopt and implement procedures to prevent bribery. However, in order to boost investor confidence, organisations should ensure that such procedures are clearly documents, including the corrective action that may be taken where misconduct is identified by the organisation. The UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012 requires its signatories to "actively develop anticorruption programmes, institute internal control systems, and build a culture of corruption-free business practice."

¹¹⁸⁷ Bribery Act, 2016: Section 21(5)

¹¹⁸⁸ Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business 2013

¹¹⁸⁹ Bribery Act, 2016: Section 14(1)

¹¹⁹⁰ Bribery Act, 2016: Section 14(2)

¹¹⁹¹ Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business 2013

¹¹⁹² Bribery Act 2016: Sections 18 and 19

- (f) List in a corporate publication: (e.g. annual report, sustainability report and/or website) the total amount of political contributions made; any current public investigations, prosecutions or closed cases arising out of the Anti-Corruption Policy, including the nature and number of incidents dealt with, the number of staff disciplined or dismissed due to non-compliance with anti-corruption policy/policies and the cost of fines, penalties or settlements the organisation faces in relation to corruption¹¹⁹³.
- No specific local standard identified, but see UNGC Codes of Ethics 2012, which provides that in a signatory's first year following its commitment to the Code, the signatory is required to, "make it public that they have committed to the Code (on a website, in an annual report, or through the annual Global Compact Communication on Progress report)".
- There is a lack of guidance as to what organisations should include when setting out its approach to policies on bribery and corruption. In order to boost investor confidence in an organisation's transparency and corruption practices, it would be helpful for signatories (and organisations in Kenya generally) to report on adherence to the Code.

¹¹⁹³ Reporting Guidance on the 10th Principle Against Corruption: B7; FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018: Indicator legend GAC12, GAC13 and GAC14

BIBLIOGRAPHY

ENVIRONMENT

International Standards

- Bamako Convention 1998
- 2. Basel Convention 1992
- 3. CSBI A cross-sector guide for implementing the Mitigation Hierarchy (The Biodiversity Consultancy) 2015
- Draft Guidance Notes on Tools on Environmental Regulation and Standards, Monitoring, Inspection, Compliance, and Enforcement 2012
- 5. Energy Charter Protocol on Energy Efficiency and Related Environmental Aspects 1994
- 6. FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018
- 7. IFC Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Management of Living Natural Resources
- 8. IFC EHS Guidelines on Contaminated Land
- 9. IFC Environmental, Health and Safety Guidelines
- 10. IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012
- 11. IFC Performance standards, Environmental, Health, and Safety Guidelines for Water and Sanitation
- 12. IUCN Guidelines for Applying Protected Area Management Categories 2008
- 13. IUCN Guidelines for Protected Areas Legislation 2011
- 14. Kyoto Protocol 1998
- 15. Montreal Protocol 1987
- 16. Paris Agreement 2015
- 17. The Energy Charter Protocol on Energy Efficiency and Related Environmental Aspects 1994
- 18. UNDP Social and Environment Standards
- 19. UNDP Sustainable Development Goals
- 20. United Nations Convention on Biological Diversity 1992
- 21. Water for Business: Initiatives guiding sustainable water management in the private sector 2012
- 22. World Resources Institute (WRI) and World Business Council Report for Sustainable Development (WBCSD) 2004

Local Standards

1. Biosafety (Environmental Release) Regulations 2009

- Biosafety (Import, Export and Transit) Regulations 2011
- 3. Biosafety Act No. 2 of 2009
- 4. Climate Change Act No.11 of 2016
- 5. Community Land Act, Act No. 27 of 2016
- 6. Energy (Energy Management) Regulation 2012
- 7. Energy Act 2019
- Environment (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations 2003
- 9. Environment Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedures 2002
- Environment Management and Co-ordination (Wetlands, River Banks, Lake Shores and Sea Shore Management) Regulations 2009
- 11. Environment Management and Co-ordination Act No. 8 of 1999
- 12. Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations 2003
- 13. Environmental and Co-ordination (Water Quality) Regulations 2006
- 14. Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Air Quality) Regulations 2014
- 15. Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Conservation of Biological Diversity and Resources, Access to Genetic Resources and Benefit Sharing) Regulations 2006
- 16. Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Controlled Substances) Regulations 2007
- 17. Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Fossil Fuel Emission) Regulations 2007
- 18. Environmental Management and Co-ordination (Waste Management Regulations) 2006
- 19. Forest Conservation and Management Act No. 34 of 2016
- 20. Kenya Agricultural and Livestock Research Act No. 17 of 2013
- 21. Kenya Climate Smart Agriculture Implementation Framework, 2018-2027 (KCSAIF)
- 22. Kenya National Biodiversity Strategy Action Plan
- 23. Land Act No. 6 of 2012
- 24. Mining Act No. 12 of 2016
- 25. Montreal Protocol 1987
- 26. National Action Plan on Climate Change
- 27. National Energy Plan
- 28. Natural Resources (Benefit Sharing) Bill 2018
- 29. NEMA Impact Assessment Guidelines and Administrative Procedures 2002
- 30. Occupational Safety and Health Act No 15 of 2007
- 31. Petroleum (Exploration and Production) Regulations 1984
- 32. Petroleum (Exploration, Development and Production) Act 1985
- 33. Protection of Traditional Knowledge and Cultural Expressions Act No. 33 of 2016

- 34. Science, Technology and Innovation Act 28 of 2013
- 35. Sessional Paper Number 4 Energy Policy of Kenya
- 36. The Constitution of Kenya 2010
- 37. The Crops Act No.16 of 2013
- 38. The Energy (Energy Management) Regulations 2012
- 39. The Energy (Solar Water Heating) Regulations 2012
- 40. The Energy Act No.12 of 2006
- 41. The Kyoto Protocol Dec. 10, 1997, U.N. Doc FCCC/CP/1997/7/Add.1, 37 I.L.M. 22 (1998The Penal Code Cap 63, Laws of Kenya
- 42. The Protection of Traditional Knowledge and Cultural Expressions Act No.33 of 2016
- 43. Waste Management Regulation
- 44. Water Act No.43 of 2016
- 45. Wildlife Conservation and Management (Activities in Protected Areas) Regulations 2015
- 46. Wildlife Conservation and Management (Marine Protected and Marine Conservation Areas)
 Regulations 2016
- 47. Wildlife Conservation and Management (Protection of Endangered and Threatened Ecosystems, Habitats and Species) Regulations 2016
- 48. Wildlife Conservation and Management Act No. 47 of 2013

SOCIAL

International Standards

- 1. Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action Fourth World Conference on Women
- 2. FTSE Russell ESG Data Model 5th Research Recycle (2018 / 19)
- 3. ICC Consolidated Code of Advertising and Marketing Communication Practice 2011
- 4. IFC Performance Standards on Environmental and Social Sustainability 2012
- 5. IFC Stakeholder Engagement: A good practice handbook for companies doing business in emerging markets 2007
- 6. ILO Code of Practice in Recording and Notification of Occupational Accidents and Diseases
 1996
- 7. ILO Collective Agreements Recommendation No. 91 1951
- 8. ILO Collective Bargaining Convention No. 154 1981
- 9. ILO Co-operation at the Level of the Undertaking Recommendation No. 94 1952
- 10. ILO Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention No. 111 1958
- 11. ILO Employment Injury Benefits Convention No. 121 1964

- 12. ILO Employment Promotion and Protection against Unemployment Convention No. 168, 1988
- 13. ILO Equal Remuneration Convention No. 100 1951
- 14. ILO Forced Labour Convention No. 29 1930
- 15. ILO Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention No. 87 1948
- ILO Guidelines on Occupational Safety and Health Management Systems 2001
- 17. ILO Holidays With Pay Convention No. 132 1970
- 18. ILO Invalidity, Old Age and Survivors' Benefits Convention No. 128 1967
- 19. ILO Maternity Protection Convention No. 183 2000
- 20. ILO Medical Care and Sickness Benefits Convention No. 130 1969
- 21. ILO Minimum Age convention No. 138 1973
- 22. ILO Minimum Wage Fixing Convention No. 131 1970
- 23. ILO Occupational Health Services Convention No. 161 1985
- 24. ILO Occupational Safety and Health Convention No. 155 1981
- 25. ILO Paid Education Leave Convention No. 140 1974
- 26. ILO Right to Organise and Collective Bargain Convention No. 98 1949
- 27. ILO Seafarers Welfare Convention No. 163 1987
- 28. ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention No. 102 1952
- 29. ILO Termination of Employment Convention No. 158 1982
- ILO Tripartite Declaration of Principles Concerning Multinational Enterprises and Social Policy
 2006
- 31. ILO Workers Representative Convention No. 135 1971
- 32. ILO Workers With Family Responsibilities Convention No. 156 1981
- 33. ILO Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention No. 182 1999
- 34. International Code of Conduct for Private Security Service Providers 2010
- 35. John Ruggie Final Report 2011
- 36. OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises 2011
- 37. OECD Recommendation of the Council on the Principles for Transparency and Lobbying 2010
- 38. UNESCO Declaration on Race and Racial Prejudice 1978
- 39. United Nations Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women 1979
- 40. United Nations Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination 1965
- 41. United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 2006
- 42. United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child 1989

- 43. United Nations Declaration on the Elimination of All Forms of Intolerance and Discrimination based on Religion and Belief 1981
- 44. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National and Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities 1992
- 45. United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and Empowerment of Women
- 46. United Nations Global Compact Women's Empowerment Principles 2011
- 47. United Nations Guiding Principles on Business and Human rights 2011
- 48. United Nations International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families
- 49. United Nations International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 1966
- 50. United Nations International Covenant on Economic Social and Cultural Rights1966
- 51. United Nations Slavery Convention 1926
- 52. Universal Declaration of Human Rights 1948

Local Standards

- 1. Bribery Act No. 47 of 2016
- 2. Children Act No 8 of 2001
- 3. Community Land Act No. 27 of 2016
- 4. Consumer Protection Act No 46 of 2012
- 5. Election Campaign Financing Act No. 42 of 2013
- 6. Employment Act No. 11 of 2007
- 7. Employment and Labour Relations Court No. 20 of 2011
- 8. Investment Promotion No. 6 of 2004
- 9. Joseph Letuya & 21 others v. Attorney General & 5 others [2014] eKLR
- 10. Kenya Information and Communications Act No. 2 of 1998
- 11. Kenya Maritime Authority Act Chapter 370 Laws of Kenya
- 12. Labour Institutions Act No 12 of 2007
- 13. Labour Relations Act No. 14 of 2007
- 14. Mining Act No. 12 od 2016
- 15. Nairobi International Financial Centre No. 25 of 2017
- 16. National Employment Authority Act, 2016 No. 3 of 2016
- 17. National Hospital Insurance Fund Act No. 9 of 1998
- 18. National Resources (Class of Transactions subject to Ratification) No. 41 of 2016
- 19. National Social Security Fund Act No. 45 of 2013

- 20. Occupational Safety and Health Act No. 15 of 2007
- 21. Pensions Act Chapter 189 Laws of Kenya
- 22. Persons with Disabilities Act No 14 of 2003
- 23. Petroleum (Exploration and Production) Act No. 22 of 2012
- 24. Private Security Regulations Act No. 13 of 2016
- 25. Retirement Benefits Act No. 3 of 1997
- 26. Sexual Offences Act No. 3 of 2006
- 27. The 2010 Constitution
- 28. The Environmental (Impact Assessment and Audit) Regulations 2003
- 29. Trade Description Act Chapter 505 Laws of Kenya
- 30. William Arap Ng' Asia & 29 others v. Baringo County Council, Koibatek County Council and the Attorney General, High Court of Kenya at Nakuru, Civil suit No. 522 of 1998 (unreported)
- 31. Work Injury Benefits Act No. 13 of 2007

GOVERNANCE

International Standards

- 1. Anti-Corruption Ethics And Compliance Handbook For Business 2013
- 2. APEC Anti-Corruption Code of Conduct for Business 2007
- 3. Beyond the Balance Sheet: The IFC Toolkit for Disclosure and Transparency 2018
- 4. BS ISO 31000:2018
- Business Principles for Countering Bribery: A Multi-Stakeholder Initiative led by Transparency International 2013
- 6. COSO & WBCSD: Enterprise Risk Management 2018
- 7. Exposure draft of GRI topic-specific Standard: Tax and Payments to Governments 2018
- 8. FTSE Russell ESG Ratings and Data Model 2018
- 9. FTSE Russell ESG Ratings Methodology Document 2018
- 10. FTSE4Good Countering Bribery Criteria 2005
- 11. GRI Sustainability Reporting Standard 2016
- 12. ICC Rules on Combating Corruption 2011
- 13. ICGN Global Governance Principles 2017
- 14. ICGN Statement and Guidance on Anti-Corruption 2015
- 15. ICGN Statement and Guidance on Anti-Corruption Practices 2009
- 16. IFC Corporate Governance Progression Matrix 2017
- 17. LSEG ESG Report: "Your Guide to ESG Reporting" January 2018

- 18. OECD Good Practice Guidance on Internal Controls, Ethics and Compliance 2010
- 19. OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises 2011
- 20. PACI Principles for Countering Bribery 2016
- 21. PACI Self-Assessment Template 2008
- 22. Reporting Guidance on the 10th Principle Against Corruption 2009
- 23. Stand Together Against Corruption 2013
- 24. UK Corporate Governance Code 2016
- 25. UK Corporate Governance Code 2018
- 26. World Bank Group Integrity Compliance Guidelines

Local Standards

- 1. A Code of Governance for Government Owned Entities (Mwongozo) 2015
- 2. Code of Corporate Governance Practices for Issuers of Securities to the Public 2015
- 3. Nairobi Stock Exchange Limited: Listing Manual 2002
- 4. The Anti-Corruption and Economic Crimes Act 2003
- 5. The Bribery Act, 2016
- 6. The Constitution of Kenya 2010
- 7. The Income Tax Act, CAP 470
- 8. The Witness Protection Act 2006

Annexe 1

Employment

- ILO Social Security (Minimum Standards) Convention (No. 102) 1952
- ILO Medical Care and Sickness Benefits Convention (No. 130) 1969
- ILO Employment Promotion and Protection against Unemployment Convention (No. 168) 1988
- ILO Invalidity, Old Age and Survivors' Benefits Convention (No. 128) 1967
- ILO Employment Injury Benefits Convention (No. 121)1964
- ILO Maternity Protection Convention (No. 183) 2000
- ILO Workers with Family Responsibilities Convention (No. 156) 1981
- ILO Minimum Wage Fixing Convention (No. 131) 1970
- ILO Paid Education Leave Convention (No. 140) 1974
- ILO Holidays with Pay Convention (No. 132) 1970
- ILO Hours of Work (Industry) Convention (No. 001) 1919
- ILO Hours of Work (Commerce & Offices) Convention (No. 030) 1930

- The United Nations International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of all Migrant Workers and Members of their Families 1990

Labour / Management Relations

- ILO Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention (No. 87) 1948
- ILO Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention (No. 98) 1949
- ILO Collective Bargaining Convention (No. 154) 1981
- ILO Workers' Representatives Convention (No. 135) 1971
- ILO Termination of Employment Convention (No. 158) 1982

Training and Education

- ILO Paid Educational Leave Convention (No. 140) 1974

Diversity and Equal Opportunity, and Non Discrimination

- ILO Equal Remuneration Convention (No. 100) 1951
- ILO Discrimination (Employment and Occupation) Convention (No. 111), 1958
- The United Nations International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families 1990
- The United Nations International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination 1965

Occupational Health and Safety

- ILO Occupational Safety and Health Convention (No. 155) 1981

Freedom of association and collective bargaining

- ILO Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention (No. 87) 1948
- The United Nations International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 1966
- The United Nations International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 1966
- ILO Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention (No.98) 1949
- The United Nations International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination 1965
- ILO Collective Bargaining Convention (No. 154) 1981
- The United Nations International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families 1990
- ILO Equal Remuneration Convention (No. 100) 1951

Child Labour

- ILO Minimum Age Convention (No. 138) 1973
- ILO Worst Forms of Child Labour (No. 182) 1999

Forced or compulsory labour

- The United Nations International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights 1966
- The United Nations International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of their Families 1990

- ILO Forced Labour Convention (No. 029) 1930

Rights of indigenous people

- ILO Indigenous and Tribal Peoples Convention (No. 169) 1989

Human assessment

- ILO Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention (No. 87) 1948
- ILO Right to Organise and Collective Bargaining Convention (No.98) 1949
- ILO Equal Remuneration Convention (No. 100) 1951
- ILO Minimum Age Convention (No. 138) 1973
- The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities 2006